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SKETCHES
HISTORICAL AND DESCRIPTIVE
I¥ THRE COUNTY OF LINCOLN.

——aw—

.'CROYLAND OR CROWLAND
CONTINUED.'

O —ese—
Tue abbot of Croyland bad both the churchi
and priticipal manor of Baston: -but one' John
Witham, esq. pretended to be lord of- the whole
town, and besides several nrregular acts, for se=
veral years' withheld an ancient rent of two
pounds of white incensé for a piece of land theré
called Boycotegrene. He claimed also a chapel;

which by leave of ‘the abbot of Croyland hid -

been built on the wiste for the convenience of

travellers, ‘and not only held his court in it, but

ordered his servants to put his horsey i mto,m gl
- VOL, 1L,

“



2 CROYLAND.

by way of encouraging them to this act of
" profaneness, made water over the walls. At
length almost vuinetl! By lwsuiid,, He was obliged
to acknowledge the abbot’s right, and end his
days impevorty..

Amidst the confusion of the civil war, Henry
VI. came hither, 1460, imLent, to-pay his devo-
tion to St. Guthlac, and staid three days and
three nights, and was so-pleased with the devout
behaviour of the convent, that he desired to be
addiitted into the brotlierhood; im return for
which he granted them a charter of liberties,
with return of writs,

Upon the defeat and death of the duke of
York at Wakefield this year, the northern men
rose,, and committed: the most dreadful ravages.
The- inhabitants of Croyland were so. alazmed;
that they brought their effeuts. to.the abbey, whu
on their part concealed. all theirs;; penformed
continual progessions round. the tomb. of St
Guthlac ;. kept constant watch,, aud. fortified alt
the mouths of. their dykes.and .canals. withistakess
broke up- their causewstys and banks, and: suffep
ed none.to gp out or in without. leave.. 'Ehe
Army-came-within. sixi miles of themg, but: wexe.at
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fengfh repulsed -and dispersed by Edward earl
of March, afterwards king Edward IV. :
The first step of Edward 1V, after he was
crowned and met his parliament, was to yesume
and annul all the acts and grants vof the three

$enrys 1V, V. and V1. in which were included
" he charter respecting vacancy in ‘this abbey,

gronted by Henry V. to abbot Overton, and ‘the
fate charter of liberties granted by Henry VI.
Abbet Lytlyngton now drew mear his -end.
e was an exemplary benefactor to this convent,
‘to whom, among other presents to their vestry,
de gave nine copes of cloth of gold, exquisitely
Heathered, valued at 240l.; one rich suit of vest-
‘ment of red and gold,. viz, three copes, with a
chesubie, -and three tunics, which cost 1601.; a
gilded: table for the high altar, with its screea
behintl and. before; he made the ceiling in the
dower part of the church; glazed @l the win-
-dows, andl ‘vaulted all the ailes of the same with
stone; and made ‘the great organ over thé en-
trance of the church, besides a lesser in the
«hoir, which was brought on the shoulders of
two porters from ‘London to Croyland. He
caused a table to be carved for our Lady’s altar; .
and among the jewels in the vestry gave the:
B 2.
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principal cross for processions, a magnificent
chalice with other vessels and several massive

candlesticks, all of silver gilt, instead of the old

anes.
Among the monks his cotempories who were

benefactors, were John Leycester, who gave a .

handsome vestment, valued at 401. and 40 marks,
towards recasting the great bells in the outer
steeple. Simon Swynshed gave a fine cope and
albe, with his name wnigmatically wrought on
the breast, worth above 201. William Swynshed
repaired the chapel of the Trinity in- the infirm-
ary, which was ready to fall, and leaded the roof,
and gave new benches, &c. to the choir, and a
tabernacle of the Trinity. Thomas Walden con-
tributed 201. towards the beautiful carving ovey
the high altar. Jokn Laxtos rebuilt a newly
purchased house in the town, and gave it to find

our Lady’s light in the infirmary. John Wisbech,

afterwards abbot, gave another house to the
chamberlain, to pay four shillings on Christmas-
day annually, guatenus ad reparationem conven-
tus in eorum minutionibus®. Thomas Leverton

* Nobody“in Peterborough Abbey could let blood
(accipere minutionem ), an opcration so necessary to se-

dentary people subject to repletion, witheut an ordep -



gave anolver bo the master of the works, to fad
the monks with cheese for supper in summer,
and \n winter on the festival fix nomine Domind,
ouly ia the fower hatl. Tt acble and indus-
wiows wman, Richord Beugwgton, was their
greatest benefactor, apd gewo 201, to ghase the
windows west of the awve.
There was in the town of Croyland 2 poer le-
bouring man, named John Wayle, absut 40 years
old, who had committed somre great crime wivioh .
$e would aet disclose. te any one, After vecaiv-
ing whe. sacroment . at Easter he, was suddenly
svizsed with mdeess, snd se ceatinaed withowt
sebicf from emy of the saints, ill by the merits of .
8t.‘Guthilac ke was restered o hbis veasou, :
Ia the yeer 1464 Murgarct dutchess of Somer-

from the prior, who Yet some of them have it often,
m’e mmore melﬁ spme after 5 weeks, some after <
and some not till after 8 or 10 or 15, or half a year:
which last seems to-have been the ease here alluded to.
To take away therefore all trouble ont of iheir minds,
abbot Robert de Lyndsey, 1214, ordained that the con-
sent shonld he divaded 1uto six parts; and on the dny
of letting blood, he that was the senior of the part
whose turn it was to have the benefit of it should ask
leave (lcentiam minuendi) under kis hand for his breth- -
fen from the Hior. Abbot Walter divided them into
Sze parts. They who were (minnti) 18t bised were
fre,qucn%lz rfreshed in the refectory thrice a day with a |
regular diet,  Gaumton’s Hist. of Peterb, p. 296,
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set, who resided at her castle of Maxey, was re-
ceived into the sisterhood, together with her
daughbter and heir Margaret countess of Rich:
mond. Notwithstanding this she kept posses-
sion of Goggisland, and the stome crosses set up
in abbot Ashby’s time by the advice and assist-
ance of John of Gaunt were now thrown dowsn
by the people of Depyng.

_Abbot Lytlyngton sent the three old bells to-
London to be new east into five, which, includ.~
ing the carriage, amounted to.160l. Before-
they were hung they were consecrated by-Nicho-
las bishop 6f Elphin, suffragan to John bishop
of Lincola, and called Guthlac, Bartholomew,
Michael, Mary, and Trinity. As- they were
raisiug a great beam to roef and fleor the new-
built belfrey, the tackle suddenly gave way, and
fell down, bearing all the building below before
it; but though there were twenty workmen un-
der, not oune received any hurt.

In 1467 a great flood overflowed the district
of Helland; and ameng the many prognostics of
calamity, such as showers of blood, &c. there
appeared in the air armies, both foot and horse,
conducted by St. George with his red cross.
About this time the king quarrelled with the
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earl of Warwick, and forbid him and the rest of
bis faithful lords his presence.. The northern
men also rose under Robin of Redysdale, .and
marched to supporst the earl.. The king on this
alarm weat. 6nx-_a- pilgrimage to. St. Ednund
te Norwicly; on returning by Walsingham: te
Lynn, and so .by Wisbeach. to. Dovedale, rode
with a suit of ;200 horse to Croyland, where be
ledged one night, and next day walked through -
the town to the West end, and after praisiug the
situation .of the. stone bsidge and houses, taok
ship with his train and went to Fedringhey eas.
tle, where the queen was. He staid there till his-
troops came up, with whom he marched to New--
ark and Nottingham, at which last place he re-
ceived news of the defeat of the earl Pembroke
with the Welsh under his command at Banbury,

The alarm. spread in consequence.of. this de-
feat reached Croyland, but by the interposition .
of Providence, and the gpod conduct of the earl
of Warwick, the troops returned home the short-
est way by Trent, .

In the mean ume -the. abbet;.. who had beea
long afflicted. with the piles, which he had con-
tracted by frequent riding on horseback, finjsh-
ed his course, after-having governed this. house
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42'years and eight months, in the 85th year of
his age, and 69th of his profession, Jamuary 16,
11489, 9 Edward VI. With him ends this second
.eontinuation of the History of Oroyland. Itis
resumed again by another hand the same year;
when Jokn de Wisbech, prier of Treston, was
elected abbot February 18. He rebuilt the
. chapel of Bt. Pega of Payland, which had fong
feen in ruins, and completed the state apart-
menis between the west part of the church and
the almonry, which had been begun by his pre-
deeessor. He also buitt the great gramary ad-
§joining to the bakehouse, mmde lighter the dask
reems forthe abbet’s efficers near the eloysters,
and built eonvenient apartments in Buckingham
cotlege, Cembridge, for the scholars of this
house to sleep and study in. He ehanged the
annual serviee of four masses of wax to be fur-
mished by this town te Peterberough abbey into
2 pension of 20 shiltings; and he first abolish-
ed the ancient custom, or rather abuse, of giving.

. little knives to all comers on 8t. Bartholomew's .

‘day, thereby exempting both the abbot and con-.

vent from a great and needless expence. He.

¥kewise obtained from the pope a bull, to allow
" +he eating of meat in Lent. In his time happeued
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a fire in the town, which, though it lessened the
revenues of the monastery 20 marks a year, yet
the inhabitants by his bounty were encouraged
to rebuild immediately, He died November 19,
16 Edward'IV, 1476.

His successor was Richard Croyland, S.'T. P.
elected December 17, 1476, having been hefore
steward of the house. He held this abbacy only
seven years, during the troubles at the close of
the reign of Edward VI, to the short reign. of
Richard III. and died November 10, 1483. He
was a man of so studious a turn that he not only
bought many books for the llbrary, but gave se-
veral written with his own hand. The people of
Depyng took advantage of this his turn to renew
their depredations in Goggisland, carrying away.
the rushes which hag been cut by the ‘servants.
and tenants of the monastery, or beating angd.
plunging them in the water, fo that the abbot
was forced to leave his apartment, and . receive
their complaints in the body of the church,
When it was uecessary for any person to cut.
down the bank of Goggisland fen to carry off a.
flood, they laid heavy fines on the abbot, dis-.
training and seizing corn coming from Langtoft.
and Baston by the wates which. runs. from Dee.
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pyng, and they shot with. atrows. the cellavers.
.guard-dog. The tepants. aad parishoners of:
"Whaplode, who were dependants. on. this house,,
.gave this worthy abbot great- trouble, falling in a.
most violent manner on friar Eambert Fossedyk,
steward of the place, forbidding him to cut dewn.

‘the trees growing in Whaplode church-yard, and:
threatening his life, if he had net bolted himself:
in -within the eburch. But all these injuries were’
smdll in comparisen of William Ramsey, abbot-of -
Peterborough, whe <laimed Alderland fen and
other undisputed lands and privileges -of -this
-house: which dispute was at last -adjusted by-
-archbishop Rotherham, in a way, says the histe-.
rian, which shews which side ‘he intemded: to.

favour,

" On the death of abbot Croylend Lambert
Fossedyk before mentioned, hatchelor in decrees,
-was elected his suecessor, January 12, 1 Richand
¥1I. 1484. He enjoyed his dignity but two
-years, and died of the sweating sickness i,
-cighteen hours, Octeber or November 14, 1486,

“a little after the close of Richard M¥’s. reigu.

He was succeeded by Edmund Thorp, S. T. B..
prior of this house, elected Novenrber 1487, in.
‘whose time were settled by the church justices,
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the three great disputes about thie preeimets of
@reylsntl, which the men of Multon' and Weston
had se' much-contested ;; the’ Boundaries- of: the:
demesnes, and the. right of commoen in Goggiss
lantl,. controverted by the' people’ of Depyng,:
which the'prudenee of the king's: mother coms
promised; and: {he. elaim to Alderland: fen leftt
undetermimed! by the forementioned aviard; that
the abbot and convent of Croyland should:
pry those of: Retérborough 101, per amum,. till
they could parehdse andisetile-on them lands te
that amount, er appropriate and unite the
churches of: Brinkhurst or Eston:in Leicester-
shire to the:said monastery at the:same expence.
Abbot Edmand chose the latter propemsal, and
obtained. the king’s licence: aceordingly.. With
this the third: continuator of.the history of Croy-
land ends, Apgil 30,.1486; What follows there
is no mere thamthe necessary-instruments of the
said appropeiations,

It appears from the records- cited. by Brown
Willis that this-abhot died 1487,  and was suc-
ceed by1

Philip Everidge; Everard, on Evenmnue,
Willinm Gedyng; 1504 ¢
Rizhent Berkeny ow Berdeney, 16875
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John Welles, alias Bridges.

He, with William Pynchbeck, prior, Richard
Slefurth, prior of Freston, cell to this house,
Anthony Overton, and 27 other mouks, sub-
scribed- to the king’s supremacy 15634. After
which, continuing abbot till the dissolution 1639,
and joining in the surrender of the convent, he
obtained for life 2 pension of 138l, 6s. 8d. per
annum. ’

In 15653 these pensions remained in charge to
some of their surviving unpensioned :

L. s.
John Rotheram ...... 8 0
John Grene ........ 7T ©
Richard Martyne .... 8 0
Thomas Greneham .. 6 13
John Ireforde........ 6 13
Nicholas Wynne .... 6
William Test ........ 6
Robert Townsend .... 6
Peter Frexetonne .... 5
William Gotobedde .. &
William Denton ...... 5
William Portington .. 5 0

The revenues of this abbey at the dissolution
were valued at 10831, 15s. 8d., or 12171, 5s, 11d.

- - -
OO X O®OO B O OSON
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'The seal of this house, as given by Reyner, p.
215, and Fuller, p. 223, engraved iu Tanners
Noticia xcr11. bore quarterly 1, 4. Three St.
Bartholomew’s knives; 2. 8. Three St. Guth-
Tac’s whips. Bat in an Ashmolean MS. No. 763,
there is another coat G. a cross flory O. within
a border azure, enealuron of nine cross croslets -
A. 8o also in Mr. Cole’s collections from a
roll of the lords of parliament.

The scite of the abbey was granted, probably
with the manor of Croyland, and the demesne
lands thereto belonging, by letters patent, 4 Ed-
ward V1. to.Edward lord Clinton,

Charles 11, by letters patent under the great
seal of England, bearing date September 15th,
in the twenty-third year of his reign, did grant to
Sir Thomas Orby (who attended his majesty in
his exile) his executors, administrators, and as-

. signs, the maunor of Crowland, otherwise Croy-
land, all demesne lands, and all farm rents of
the tenants by copy of court roll, amounting to
the yearly sum of 15l. 10s. 23d. or thereabouts,
with all other rights and profits belonging to the
siid manor; and also the great Marsh called
Great Pursant, containing by estimation 6043
acres more or less (excepting the marshes o

VoL, 1I c o
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~ waste grosmds called Gog Jalond and Alderlants)
for sixty years from June 27, 1695, at the yearlp
‘reat of ¥78l. 1543..6d. The sail wanor, lands,
&p. afterwards came: tg Siv Chetles Orby, bart,
the eldest 2en of the abovesaid Sit Thombs, dad
at the decease of: the s3id Sir Chanles, to Sir Tha+
was Orby the younges yon of the abovesaid 8ir
Thomas the grawtee or lessee of the same premi
ses, for the residue of the said tetm them unén.
pred; who afterwards assigeed the same utito
Rebert Huster, esq. his executors, &c. whih
said Robert married Eligabeth, widow of lord
Hayes, and the daughter and enly chitd: of the
-said Sir Thomas the sen, aud was a major-gene-
ral, and appeinted by que;n Ame -governor of
New York in - America, and durieg his govers-
ment there was direeted by her majesty 10 pro-
vide subsistenee for about 3000 Pahlineb,-'scnl
fromr Great Britain to be employed i raising and
manufasturing naval stores ; and by an gecound
" stated in 1784, it.appeass that the said Roberm
had disbursed 20800]. and upwarde in that. we-
dertaking, no:part.of. which: wat ever. paid to the
gaid Robest or his: representatives. .Upoa ‘the .
death of the said Robert in 1784, his son Tho-
mas Orby Huater, ésq. became vested .in: the-re-
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sidue of the said term wnexpired by the fate will
of his said futber Rebert. On February 14, 19
Lxopare 1L the said manor, &e. weve granted, by
Betters patent, to the said Thomas Orby. Huater,.
his executors, &o. for eleven years, to commence:
drom June 24, 17565, at which time the term:
granted by Charles I1. did expire, at the ancient
yeardy rent abeve mentioned,. payable helf-year-
dy. And the said king further granted by letters
patent dated June 22, in the [9th year of his.

. :eign,"to tthe said Thomas Orby Huater, his exe-

cmtors, &%. the said manors, &e. for the term of

‘mine years and three quarters of a veat, to com-

menpe from June 24, 1769, paying the yearly
aent abowe mentioned, in the manner oforesaid.
After this, ip the 25th year of the spid king’s
xeign, the said manor, &c. by virtue of an act of
parliament then passed, were alienated from the
erown 'by the sait king’s grant te the said Tho-
mas Orby Hunter and his heirs, paying the afore-
ssid rent, and alse such additienal rent, in lieu
of a fine or ponsideration money for the purchase
of the premises as was to be ascertained by the
proper officers of the crown for the time l{dng,'
oa St. Michael and Lady-dayin every year, by
equal-portigns, o his seid miajesty, his heirs, &e.
s cs
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at the receipt of the exchequer of his said ma-
jesty, his heirs, &c. After the death of the
abovesaid Thomas Orby Hunter, which happens
ed October 20, 1769, this manor, &c. descended
by a devise in his last will, to Charles Orby
Hunter, esq. his eldest son, who being unabl= to
discharge the heavy mortgage with which it had
‘been encumbered in time of the Orbys, the mort-
gagee entered into possession of it abeut five
years ago.

By no account have we been able to collect
who was in possession of this manor, &c. before
. the family of the Orbys. In the interval between

them aud the lord Clintoa, n possessor appesrs
except Valentine Walton and Adrian Scrope, two
- of the regicides, who purchased {of whom doés
‘not appear) the manor of Croyland andpart of
the manor of Spalding, being parcel of the
.queen mother’s jointer. . They were restored to -
the queen mother by parliament, 28 June, 1660.
Mr. Wray, who was here in 1661, rode from
Croyland to. Spalding upon a very firm bauk
for the space of eight miles, thrown up by Col.
Walton, ' ,

.In the year 1643, the town of Croyland was

by the iohabitants thereof made a garrison fop
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fhe img, which they had. great reason to do, et
ouly to shew themseives good subjects, bat good
teagnts, they holding thair tands of him. Apnil
14, that year, came the partiswent forces to Pe-
terboromgh, in ovder to the beseiging of Croy-
land.. Oromwell bimself lay wt- Peterborowsh
with a vegimeat of herse to ¢atry om the siege.
A company of foot came thither before, under
col. Hubbert, raised by patizwent in the asbodi-
ated comnties for the same purpose, "The town
was taken on the 9th of May followimp, and
Cremweli and Ms-forces marchied away:te Stam- -
THE CHURCH, o
Mr. Ray déseribes the cheroh, i. ¢ part of thre .
body, the choir and crovs buildings being ‘ell
falten down, * es having the Toof within covered
with wood curiously gilded, pert of which now
‘hangs in a house in the town, end round about
and on the sides anderneath the yoof artifitinlly
carved many species of animals, beth birds amd
Bensts. In the time of the late wars this church
was made a garrison, and held for the king.
When it was taken by the parlizment, otie of the
town soldiers affrighted got up to the top of the
c3
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<church, above the wood wherewith it is covered,
and walked along #ill he came to a place where

‘wanted a board; there, whether casually slipping,
.down (or being astonished by the soldiers call-

.ing upon him to come down) he hung a long
time by the arms, till at last being weary he fell
" into the church, which is of a great height; but

yet was not so dashed to pieces by. the fall, but

that he lived a day or twe.”

From this application of the church during the
<civil war, we may date the ruin of what then re-
mained ; for it had. probably been reduced to
the state in which Mr. Ray saw it by some of.its
lay proprietors after the dissolution, when the
. nave with its ailes was left standing for a parish
church. Mr. Seribo about seven years ago.buri-
¢d an old man near 90 years old, who had beea
baptised in the now ruined nave. The people
of the place told Mr. Willis the choir extended
five pillars farther, perlaps exclusive of the Lady
Chapel, which we have seen was -on the north
side. Besides this there was another Lady Cha-
pel on the south side of the church, with a loftw
screen. '

. At present the north aile, built by abbot

Bardeney before 1247, serves for the pazish
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church. It is in length 90 feet, and in Lreadth
24; decently fitted up, but contaius no remains
of antiquity. Six arches support it on the south

- side: the roof has groined aches; in the key'

stones a head, a rose, ih g arebus of a tree is-
sning ont of aton for vevees.ee., a flower, and
the letters engraved. The font is octagonal, -
adorned with arch werk and roses on the base..
From the wall of the south side, within the.
old church, projects horizontally a wooden an-
gel or figure, called the Devil with a dark lant-
horn, which formerly contributed to support the
roof of tl:c mave. The walls have bulged so
much that they are supported by strong but-
tresses on each side, whose materials, taken from
the. ruined part of the church, will hasten its
fall.  Within the north side, over the veétry, has .

_ been built a school, ascended to formerly by

the stairs leading into the singing gallery, but
now by steps from without hetween the but-
tresses.

Over the porch hath formerly been a chamber
with three windows, and ou the right side of the
porch, near the door eutering into the belfry, is
a small room, aucicntly used as a charnel-house ;.
and opposite to it, on the left, is anothér, to what
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uve anciently appropriated ne tradition tetls us,
but wherein, as many eld inhabitents inform me,

there was, abeut fifty yeafs ege, one Cliristepher -

Kitchen, @ mad man, clrained toa post, to pre-
vent any mischief that might ensue frof him to
the inhabitants. - - These rooms have beea for
" some tinie past stepped ap.,

The pulpit, made of Norway oak, with the
reading -desk, is placed against the south wall,
and almost opposite to these is an arched open-

ing, wherein hath been a door into -the north.
church yard, but which is now stopped up. At

the distance of about seven yards from the altar,
is ‘an old sereen curfously carved, and whieh ap-
pears tohave been highly gilded andpainted. The
ascent to the altar is by two steps, on the high-
est of which is ahandsome balustrade of Norway
oak, surrounding the altar on three sides; and
zbove the altar is a large wiudow towards the
east. The church is well furnished with silver
" plate, having a quart chalice, and a large and a
small paten, with a large, handsome, and scol-
foped basin for baptisms, on some of which are
engraved the arms of the abbots of this plaee.
The nave of the old chureh is 144 feet long
by 28 wide, exclusive of the south aisle, which
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is 12 feet wide; so that the parish church pro-
bably inclqdes more thau the north aile; which
otherwise would be twice as wide as the south,
On each side of the nave are nine pointed :
arches near eleven feet wide, alteruatély round,
bexagoun, and concave, whose pillars are cluster-
ed like those in the nave of Wesminster, but
smaller ; and from the ground to the top of the
present walls, which waat but little of the height
on-which the roof rested, is 25 yards. Oune of
these fine pillars is miserably cracked. Eight
‘windows of the clerestory on the south side re-
- imain with all their tracery, except in the fifth
from the west, with the stone bases of arches
that supported the roof; but on the north side -
they have been thrown down on repairing the
church about thirty years ago, from an appre-
hension that their rocking would weaken the
church. An attempt was made not many years
since to pull down a whole window, the first
from the west, but just as it was nodding to its
-fall the rope broke. The arch entering this nave
is adorned with Gothic nich-wotk, of the style
used iu the reign of Henry V1.

The pillasters which supported the roof of the
.south aile remain about 6 feet high. At the
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east end of this aisle is a doer stopped up that
ded iato the cloister, the arch angular, ddorged
with massive zig-zag, and behind it & painted
arch of later date, sided by a lesser poiated arch.
Theve was another door near the west esul, The
asch of the present east window, which wos the
west arch of the tewer, has two rows of double
uig-zzg, and en the outside a third of deutals.
‘The .capitals of the two pillars differ: that on
the south side is made up of Greek mouldings,
‘beautifully diminishiag, that on the gorth side of
Saxea foliage, &c. Purt of an azeh in the north
wall beautiful leafage. Within the great arch
5 a small oblong window of eight or nine bays,
in double rows; umder this a faseia -9f guatve-
foils; below that. two doors stopped up, aud
above them the defaced remains of a.short im-
scriptien im blaek {etter. Within the memsry of
the presemt sexton a considerahle part of the
Lord’s prayer and ereed were legible an ¢his divi-
sion wall. The back part of this lower divisicn
iv adorned with rows of arches in relipf, with de-
fuved shields and quatrefoits over them, and
against the doors are two buttresses. This was
A screen separating the nave and the choir, and
by the style of the ernaments, sppears to be of
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the reign of Henry V1. bst contrary to the wsuul
mede, it was under the west anch of the toavér.
@s each side the great west door within was a
lofty archy, thut et thre north side hid by a won-
strous buttress built apainst the puesent chrasch.

‘The small remains. of the south aile, its west
end, preserves the Norimew style of drchitectave
in four stories of small arches. The first five
from the greund have: zig-zag arcles, snd among:
the rade ornaments cut i ovér them; ond seds ¥
douipass and twe circlés, to which corresponds
on the other sidea rude figusey which Mr.. Essex
ooujectures repressms: the lewls or msérament
for raising stene by with its cords. Fhe second
row of shorter roundd piliars have five blunt.
peinted arehes; over these five move vound pilkavs
with. interlaced arches withiiy tlivee semicittles,
audi over all a pointed arch Between thtee rowad
ones, without aty pillarss. There was: anotlrer
row of pointed arclies above, entitd 1726, This
partof the buildilg appems to have been ai caes
ingtoan oldew wall, which: is seen behind! it, dnd
a considerabde -cavity between: them; butthede
is:nothing singwlar in this.. Time and' frovt may
have soparated the: outer casing fyomn the dnnew

puvia ofthe wall, Theinterlaoed wrehes oufitid -~
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pillars are not so ancient as the round arches,
_but were used in tbe same building. These
arches are changed into, six windows in King's
print, where this ailé is represented as entire,
with its leaden roof, ten buttresses, and seven
windows: under the windows marks of arches,
which may have belonged to the cloyster, whose
pedestals still remain. Two lofty south win.
.dows of the choir are also shewn, and of the
south transépt. In every other instance the
whole view is so distorted, that the west frout of"
the nave and nortb aile are nearly equal, er the
former léss than the latter; the projecting porch
thrown to one end of the north aile, the figures
peither so numerous, nor so arranged as at plfé-
sent. The east window of this arch remains,
. and the sweep of a range of others on the west
side of the south transept. The south wall of
the south aile was entire when Dr. Stukeley took
his view, 1724, and when Collins of Peterbo-
rough and 8. Buck drew it, 1726, At the west
end of the north aile, or present church, the Dr,
placed St. Nicholas’s chapel. The south but-
tress of the west front has a door-way in i,
which Dr. Stukeley supposes entered into St.
Guthlac’s original cell and chapel at the wes®




CROYLAND, ' 25

‘end of the south aile on which, he says, the but.
tress is built, on the brick work of the cell on
rebuilding the church, A. D. 716. None of this
brieck work now remains; nor is there much
probability in his supposition.

In the west end of that part of the middle aile
now standing, is a hole extending about five feet
inward, called “little ease,” in which, it is said,
monks who had committed particular crimes
were imprisoned ;—it might also serve for a pe-
nitentiary, as the person when in it could neither
sit, lie down, nor ‘stand without stooping,
Ameng a varicty of devices in very fine sculp-
ture in the west front, over- the entrance, is a

" sow and nine pigs, which were the only animals
found in the island when St, Guthlac wnd his
party first Janded. Here is also a remarkably

 fine figure of & woman, but the head is gone;
this was probably Pega, Guthlac’s sister.

“The free-masons who were employed in build-
ing the west end of the: aile, rudely cut upin
-the face of it a pair of compasses, and some
other instrument, probably a lewis, with two cir-
eular figures: oneof them 1 suppose is intended
for the sun, with flames bursting from the cir-
eumference, the other may be desigued-to repre-

YOL. II. »
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. seat the moon or a star. These never could be
ment as ornaments to. the wdrk; and if they have
any meaping at all, they seem to relate to the
mysteries of masoury, and might be intended as
emblems or signs of something known to the
free-masons only. , -
In the west front of the nave are the remains
of two styles of building. The great west deer
with the statues on each side, part of the win-
dow above it, with the tabernacles as high as the
springing of the arch, are of Henry the Third’s
time; but the upper part of the window, and the
niches ahove, are of Edward the First's, From
hence I conjecture, that this frant was built by
abbot Longchamp ; but the fronton and turrets
being blown down when Ralph. Merske was ah-
bot, they were rebuilt in the latter part of his
time, or in the beginning of his successor’s, Rich-
ard Croyland. If the whole of this frort when
_perfect was as elegant as the lower part from the
ground to the springing of the arch of the great
window, it was as beautiful a piece of architec-
ture as any of equal dimensions in the kingdom
at that time ; but by the destruction of the up-
per parts, its elegance was greatly impaired, and
when it. was rebuilt its original beauty was met




@ROYLAND, 27

restored ; afor although several of the statues ap-
pear to be of the same age as those below, there
is a manifest difference-in the architecture.

There s.re some traces of that style of building
ased in the reign of Henry the Third, in the
walls of the north aile towards the east end,
which must have been the work of abbot Barde-
ney, who rebuilt that aile, and made it eleven
feet wider ; but it has undergone considerable
alterations since that time, so that, excepting .
some remains of the north wall, little of it is left
to distinguish what was done in that age. ‘

In the time of Edward the First or Second,
the windows in this aile were altered; and in the
reign of Henry the Fourth, chapels were built
agyinst the north wall, and the opposite windows
removed into themr. The tower at the west end
of this aile, and the two large buttresses against
the west front, are of the same age, and it is pro-
bable were: all executed under the direction of
William Croyland, mastet of the works, who
built the arches and pillars of the nave, But
the roof and ceiling of the nave, and the stone
vaultings of the north and south ailes, were nof
completed until the reign of Henry the Sixth.
The south buttress against the west end of the

‘D3




28 GROYLAND.

nave has two door-ways, one above she other.
Of what use they were | cannot say, unless there
has been a stone stair-case leading to some apart-
ment which joined to the church, wh’gl is not
improbable; but Dr. Stukeley supposed it was
built on the brick-work of St. Guthlac’s original
cell whean the church was rebuilt, A. D. 716, and
that the doof-way opened iuto.the original cha-
pel, Which he supposes was at the west end of
the south aile, But Guthlac’s cell and chapel
were little better than wooden huts, which could
have no foundation capable of bearing the weight
of .such a mass of stone as is contaimed in this
buttress. By what authority the Dr. has deter-
mined' the scite of Guthlac’s cell and chapel to
have been at the west end of the south aile does
not appear; but we may venture to say, that
this buttress has no relation to it, any more than
" its opposite on the north: for they were both
built at the same time by the same architect wha
rebuilt the nave of the church, and were intend-
ed as abutments to resist the tlrust of the arches
to be built within the nave; aud at the same
time the two aukward buttresses were built at
the east end of the nave against the .tower to
resist the thrust of the agches which sup-
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ported it witen those in the nave were taken
down,

The monks’ choir was separated from the navé
By 4 stoné screen of cotvenient height finished
at the top with a double row of quatrefoils. In
it were two doors, and between them two altars,
one towards the nave for public service, the
other for the monks only ; the doors were made
for the eonvenience of tlhiose who officiated ot
the altar next the nave, and for the monks when
they came out of the choir in proceusipn. .- The
present screen- was. built when the nave was
finished, in the reign of Heary the Sixth; but
the window and all the wall-above the fascia of
quatrefoils was added after the Reformation,
when the ntve was inclosed for the use of the
parish,. The back of this screen towards the:
monks’ ehoir was handsomely ornamented with
arches and tracery; but the side neat the nave
was plam and covered with tapestry, ot other-

wangmgs as. high as the fascia,

The choir, which extended near 100 feet be-
yond the screen, exclusive of the tribune, must:
have: undergone many alterations since it was.
built by Ethelbald ; but they seem to have con-
tinued the same plan, by building upon. the:

n.3
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original foundatiens, und whatever alterations
they might make in the style of the building in
the eastern part of it, the tower which was over
the west end remained unaltered uatil the final
destruction, . , ¢

The high altar stood at, the entrance into the
tribune, under a baldachin, or.ciborium, richly
carved, and inclosed. all round with a-ballus-
trade ; beyond it towards the east was the shrine
of St. Guthlac.

The transept was “intersected by the chon',
which divided it into two parts, north and souths
In each arm there were ‘three porticoes on the
east side. The furthest iu the north arm was
the chapel of Thomas Wells,.abbot, who was bu-
ried there in the year 1253. Oune was dedicated
to.our Lady: and the other might be the chapel
of St. Jobn the Evangelist. In the south arm
there were {three porticoés like thoge in the
north; one was a lady-chapel, another a vestry,
and it is probable the other was e sacrntV OF
munirent room ; a new screen was made to ‘this
lady-chapel in Henry the Sixtl’s time, by Simon
Eresby. All these chapels, the poiticoes or
ailes of the nave, and round the choir, were
vaulted with stone; and the tribune over the
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high aitar was covered with a half dome.. But
_ the nave and choir were cieled with wood paint-
ed, agrecable to the custom of those times.

If we may judge of Ethelbald’s church from
the plan and what remains of the superstructure,
it was a regular and not inelegant building, and
although it suffered greatly by fire in the time of
Ingulphus, it does not appear to have undergone
any material change in. its form when the east
end and south arm of the transcept were rebuilt
under the direction of Odo and Arnold. The
first deviation from the original plan was made
in the time of Henry the Third, when the north
aile was taken,down and made wider ; this des-
Aroyed the regularity of the plan, and conse-
quently added nothing to the beauty. of the build-
ing. In the same reign the beautiful west front
was added (o the nave; and the whole of the
church to the tower was intended to be rebuilt
in the same style, as appears by the preparations
made for it. Had this been done, the south aile
would liave been equal in width with the north,
=nd the whole west front would fLave been com-
pleted in the s2me style as that in the center.
Thus the regularity and uniformity of the build-
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ing would. have been preserved, though ifs pro--

portions would have been.a fittle impaired.

In the time of Henry the Sixth, William Croy-
land, *many years master of the weorks, under
whose direction many parts of the church and
abbey were repaired and some rebuilt, had an
opportunity of completing the design which was
begun in the reign of Henry the Third, the
whole nave being then’rebuilt under his direc-

tion; ‘but he was deficient in the art of design--

ing, ahd wanted judgement to execute. We

must attribute every deformity apparent in this.

building to his want of taste; the ridiculous tow
er and clumsey spiré at ote corner of the west

front, the two enormous buttresses built agdinst:
the elegant front of the nave, and those as als- -

~ -surdly placed within the church against the tow-

er of the tansept, wete-designed by him; and to-

his want of judgement in the execution of his

work, may be imputed most of the defects whith -

must have appeared soon after the work was fin-
ished, and now threaten destruction to the most
beautiful remains of the building ; for the ;orks
which he intended for its support wete the pﬁ.
mary cause of its ruin,
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The buildings and offices belonging to this
abbey must have been very extensive, as appears
from the number of mouks and lay-brothers, be-
sides servauts. resident there, and upwards of
100 monks of other monasteries, who all, when
they came, had a stall in the choir, a seat in the
refectory, and a bed in the dormitory ; besides
these they often entertained many strangers, who
found among them a comfortable retreat in
times of danger. But these monk were no less
famous for their learning than hospitality; the
nobility. sent their children to them for instruc-
tion; and to them the university of Cambridge
was obliged for the revival of learning, if not the
first institution of public lectures among them,
But all the buildings belonging to this once
famous manastery and ancjent seminary of
learning, except a small part of the church, are
now so completely destroyed, that not a stone is
left by which we can trace them. In the place
where the abbot’s apartments ouce stood there
is a trench almost filled up, which the people of
the place suppose was a canal, made to bring the
stones and other materials to the ‘church while
it was building, but in reality it was an intrench-
ment, made when it was garrisoned in the time
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of the civil war, as the two bastions yet remain-
ing sufficiently evince. This intrenchment is
about 30 yards south of the church and paral-
lel to it, which being very near the extent of the
cloister that way, the abbot’s apartments, which
were against the south side of them, must have
stood where the church now ruas. -

The abbol’s apartments, the cloisters, and
some others' adjoining the church, were built
with stone, but the rest of the offices with tim-
ber; and as these required very shallow founda-
tions, they were very soon esrased sfter the
buildings were dcstroyed, and the stones and
raminel carried away to repair houses or mend
reads, the ground was lcft with such irregular
eavities, that it is impossible to trace any plan of
the buildings from them. .

That the original plan of this cliurch was a
Latin-cross, terminated with a semicircular tri-
bune, conformable to the mode of building in-
troduced by the Roman missionaries soon after
the convertion of the Saxons, will admit of little
doubt by those who are acquainted with the

principles of ancient architecture : and that the

superstructure corresponded with the plan can
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be as little doubted by those who examine the
small remains of it with attention.

At the east end of the ruin now standing stood
the screen, or high altar; this was the entrance
into the sanctum sanctorum, and on each side of
it were formerly twe chapels, That the high
altar was at the east end of the remaining ruin
is extremely pliin, both from Mr. Essex’s plan
of the church, &c. and from the arms of the ab~
bots: this east end displays an exquisite speci-
men of Anglo-Saxon architecture.’

What was formerly the grand middle, aile of
this superb structure, is now covered only by
- the cawopy of heaven; its floor is gone, and it is
used as a.burying ground.

In the north aile, which now serves. as the
parish church, we observed the. following in-
sériptions: )

In the middle aile: ,

Here lie the remains of the Rev. Moor Scribo,
B. A. Rector of this parish 42 years, who de-
parted this life July the 13th, 1808, in the 85th
year of his age.

It is said that this gentleman compiled a con-
siderabla part of Mr. Gough’s History of Croy-
land, ‘




868 CROYLAND,

On a neat marble tablet in the south wall:
Near this place, in a vault,
bie the remains of William Wyche,
~ who departed this life
December the 7th, 1807,
aged 05 years,
Spes in Deo.
William, son of William & Abigail Wyche,
died Jannary 28th, 1810,
aged 28 years,
Multis ille bonus flebilis occidit.
Against the east wall of the present church:
George Baguley, died Dec. 7, 1761, aged 89,
, He married Frances, relict of William Cherington.
She died August 1, 1787, aged 60.
Reader, stay, it is but just: "
Thou dost not tread on comman dust.
For underneath this stoue doth lie,
One whgse name can never die.
Trace ker through all the scenes of life,
You'll find ber freé from envy, hate, und strife. .
Mary, wife of Robert Darby, died Jun. 19,
17268-0, nged 80.
> Cujus anime propicictur Deus. -
She, whose unblemisht life a husband blest,
From cares and labour here is come to rest.
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Chaste love, and tender mother, all that's ‘good,
She daily shewed, and as wel understood. .
"The poor have lost a friend, i a good wife ; -
But she, i trust, hath gained eternal life.
Qn a woodeu tablet against the north wall:
Beneath this place, in 6
foot in length, against the clerk’s
pew, lyeth the body of Mr.
Abrabam Badley, He died the 3 of Jan.
1704. Also, ye body of Mary his
widow. She died the 21 of May, 1705.
Also the Bpdy of Abraham, son of ye
gaid Abraham and Mary. He dyed ye 13 Jan,
 1704. Alse2 which dyed in their
Enfantry. Man’s life is like
unto a winter’s day, some brake
their fast, and so depart away;
‘Others stay dinner, and depart full fed,
the longest age but sups,
and goes to bed. O, reader, yt behold
and see, as we are now, so must you bee. 1708.
-Ona small brass phate in the nave:
Here Iyeth the body of Elizabeth,
the wife of William Maliby, and 9 of their
children. She was interred -

ye 6th day of Aug. 1604,
VOL. II. B
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On a flat stene:
In memery of .
. Luke Cowley, gent,
who. departed - this life | :
Oct. 18, 1323, L
aged B4.
Tlie same propitious day which gave him birth,
~ After a life well spent, resum’d his breath.
In memory of Mary the . '
relict of Luke Cowley, gent,
who departed this life
-Feb, the 15, 1730, -
aged 81,

. CROYLAND BRIDGE.

or
s

The triangular bridge at- Croyland is a curi-
esity worthy notice for the singulurily of its
form, niore thau its:extent, or auy difficulty in
the construction. The plan of it is formed by

- three squares.and au equilateral triangle about
whiehthey aze placed. The bridge bas three
fronts; three ways over its, and. thnee under.it.
And conteary to-what js generally said about it’

 standing.in three counties, it is-all of it in Lin-
«olnshire. The walls, which extend beyond the
«spening of the avches. an' the abutments to form
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P
 the wings of the bridge, are placed irregularlyto -
suit the course of the streams.

About the year 1762, a bridge of this kind was
bailt in France, on the road between St.-Omar’s
and Calais, upoh the meetiug of four canals, Tt
is a magunificent dome pierced with four large
arches upon a circular plan, and supported by
four abutments. Tour fine canals meet under
it, and as many spacious roads cross each other
on the top of it.: It is called the Pont sans pu-
veil with great propriety, being excellently-well
‘coatrived to answer all-the purposes of travelling
by land or water, The design is plain, ‘but not
inelegant, and it is en admirable piece of mason.
1y. 'These properties are wanting in the bridge -
at Croyland, where the ascents-und descerts are
s steep, that ncither-carriages mor horses ean
Pass overiit, and foot passengers use it with diffi-
culty. T shert, it seems 'te have ‘been built ra-
ther to ‘be admired for the singularity of its
form, than #ts utility as a bridge. Hence it bas
been supposed, that it was built under the direc-
tion of the abhots, rather to excite admiration,
and furnish a pretence for granting indulgences

"and collecting money, than for real nse: but I
-eannot agree with this conjectuse, though it was
£33
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. built in superstitious age, when every artifice
was employed to impose upon the igoorant fer
the purpose of collecting money; because there
" is nothing so wonderful in-its construction as to
excite either adwiration or devotion, unléss the
plan of it was intended as an emblem of the Tri-
nity; there being.three arches united in one
arch, and three ways in one over it. But I can-
pot believe the builder had any such inteation,
because the singular situation of it naturally re-
-quired the form he gave it, which is not unlike
. ‘the common emblem of the Trinity. That it was
. built for a religious boundary is the most rea-
_souable canjecture; though, strictly speakiug,
it cannet Le a boundary, it being five miles at
. least from the nearest part of their bounds; but
it may be considered as the place from whence
sheir bounds .are measured. ‘It was used for
.that purpose by Ethelbald when he first settled
their bounds, as appears by his charter; and-it’
was used for the same purpose in succeediug
times, as appears in the charters of Witlaf, Ber--
-tulph, and Edred, Henece it has been supposed
that it was built in the time of Etheibald ;
this opinion seems to be confirmed by his statuc
being placed upon it, In the chaster of Edred,
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dated ln the geer of Chuist 943, it is valied the,
Friangelor Bridge at Croylewd ; bwt ih the:pre.

+oeding charters, whish sonfism the. boundaties,
¢ is‘calied dhe Bridge of Croyland, without the
appeliation: of Tiiengaler; and From thenoe I
sheuld eonclude, ghat it was.not built tong be-
fore she chorter of Edrved was grnmted, probably
i the year 841; but.fbe prosest brillge.is.not
older shan the time of Edward the first er ee-
cond; consequently it must jave besn sebulit
since tire time of Edred, if there wis a stobe

~ dridge there in his time, which nray be doubrted, -
‘When this 'island was a seditery desest, inac-

" cessiblesom all sides but by water, :a beidge was
useless ; and when it wes inhabitest by Gethlac,
.or three or four bermits only, their oells were
dess expesed to the sudden attucks of barbarians
evithout a bridge than with it, But when-Esliel-
tbd, in conformity to his vow, bhatl reseived 10
build a monastery there,. accommodations 'of
every kind avere wanting, not only for these who
were to be.employed in the buildings, but for -
the monks who were to inhabit it, for whese use
be gave leave to build a town, with right of com~
-mmon for themselves and servants, ‘ _

Before they began to work, a lodge was of

. E3
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.£pussé; provided, for the masons-to work: in, and
--huts.to lodge in and dress their victudls in, be-
sides .the. neoessary accommodations for othey
; workmen of various denominations; all which
. were undoubtedly erected on the east bamk of
- the, Welland, as near the spot where. Guthlae's
- wooden Oratory stood as could conveniently be.
- On both sides the opposite banks, where the
- rivers Nyne, Welland, and Cat-Water unite,
..houses and cottages were built -for .the inbabi-
- tants of the new town, by whem they were to be
- . supplied with the necessaries of life. At the
same time & bridge must be built for the conve-
nience of those who lived on the opposite sides
. of the river. This we may conclude was a
wooden bridge, being easier and sooner built
_than one of stone. This bridge is mentioned in
- the several: charteis of Ethelbald, Witlaf, and
Bertulph, by the name of Croyland Bridge.
The triangular bridge was -not built then; and
it is probable the inhabitants had no access to
. the monastery, while it was building, but by
boats; and, aftei it was fahabited, any other
_ communication would have been inconsistent
with the security of the place. For in those
days it was as necessary to fortify monasteries

L
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‘ as castles, with mils, gites, mioats, and draw-

bridges, they being as much in dmger of sudden
. attacks frem their pewerful neizhbours, as from

the ineursions of the Danes, when no man was safe
in his own house, unless that house was a castle.

- For these reasens, 1-apprehend, the only sp-

proach to the abbey, during the first 200 years
‘after it was built, was by water.

The Triangular Bridge mentioned in Edred's
charter was probably built by Turketyl when he-
restored the boundary stones. If that bridge
had been built with stone, it would have been
guarded by a strong gate, with porteullises and
other works, agreeable to the custom of those
times ; but as there are no traces of any such
works, I conclude, that bridge was made of
wood ; and that the branch leading to the mon-
astery was guarded by a drawbridge; or so put
together that it might be totally removed upon
any emergency. As the present bridge cannot
be older than the time of Edward the First, I see
no reason why it might not be built in the be-

- ginning of his reign; for the causes which before

prevented their building a stone bridge no longer
existed, They had nothing to fear from the in-
gursions of foreiguers; the oppressive feudal

:
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Yords were nolonger eo formidatile as they had
been; and u bridge misht at thiat time be built
without danger ‘to the monks, who were suffici-

. emly safe within the walls of the abbey. But
why they should beil a bridge which no carsi-

- age-or horse could puss over, mor'any foot pas-

. ~senger comweniently walk over, is somewhat dif-

ficult to account fer, Had tliey intendad it for
common uses, without doubt those who built it
could hiave built one convenient for every par-
pose; but [ am inclined. to think it was net in-
tended for such uses, but for the suppoert of a
teiangular stone crossn o' a pedestal of the same
forni, set up at the same time to amswer two
pul"pmes ; first, to mark the spot, which i all -
their charters was the place from whense theis
founds were measured, and for a market-cvoss.
“That it was used for the first of these purpeses,
s very probuble ; aud that statue of Ethethald,
now ankwardly placed on ene side, was set ppon
the pedestal at the feot of the pyramid or cross,
te -commemorate their founder er benefacter,
who first settled their bomnds, and made thut
spo& the center of them. H was no uncommon

: thmg at that time to set crosses upon bridges in

Tecesses over the pnen, either to mark the dm-
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sion of counties, or the bounds of parishes, and
sometimes for religious uses, as those were which
stood ou the sides of public roads. For this
purpose chapels were sometimes built upon
large bridges and by thc sides of great roads.
As no people were more tenacious of their privi-
leges and property than the monks, without
doubt they made the perambulation of their
bounds as often as the state of the country
permitted, These peramhulations were made
with solemn processions from the church to
the high cross, where the host was exposed
with great solenimity to the people, who there
‘received the benediction; and, joining the pro-
cession, proceeded from thence with banners
displayed, chanting litanies and psalms to sa-
lemn music, as they marched to the several
places where their bounds were marked by
stones or crosses; and if any had ‘been thrown
down by storms or floods, they were set up
again; or, if any were lost, they restored them
with the usual ceremonies. For this and other
purposes of the same nature, no bridge was bet-
ter situated or better contrived. It'served like-
wise for a market-cross. A market aud a fair
were granted in the reign preceding that jn
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“which we suppose the bridge was built, “Mar-
- ket-crosses were generally raised on high steps ;
the !pwernost serving us a bench to 1l|o§e who
served the markets with -the produce of the
neighbouring towns; but the space about this '
cross would not adwmit such steps, had the shua.
tion required them; therefore they made stone
seats against the walls of thewings to answer the
same purpose. After the dissolution of the ah-
bey, the bridge ceuld not be used for any relig-
ious purpose ; and 1he cross being no longer es-
- teemed, it is probable thev remo- ed it to mthe a
clear passage over the dridge, and that the sta-
tue of Ethelhald (who was no saint) was then
placed on the stone seat where it still remeins,
On leveling the drills, a few yvears ago, in the
pasture where the alsbey pace stoed, meny stone
coffins were fonnd, and one in particatar was
very large; this undoubtedly belonged to abbot
- Biward, who is said to have been of a gigautic
‘sive: the skull wus extremely dorge. The sh-
‘bot’s fishpond has been filfed up mamy vesrs ;—
and is new planted with willews: it was-et »
small distance frem the €ast end of the chureh,
on the right hand side of the road now leading

« <:alding,

R
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X. O. Hunter, Eeqw is Lerd of this maner;
agl . the sagie gentleman, Mr. Jas, Whitsqd, Me,
C. Wyche, Mr. S. Cherrington, and Mr. John
Smith; are the principal proprietors of land in .
this parish. :

The pasisk, eonsisting of abbey lands, is tithe
free.

In Porsland the laad is mustly pasture, but.
the remaindes of the pamh is prigeipally
ploughed,

‘The mumber of acres in the pw&h is abaut .
14,000, sad the average rent: twenty-five shil-
lings per acre, The femces cousist of moge o
ditches: than hedges. .

Persland is dmined by several wind engmes,
which throw the water iuto dsains, and these
carry it to the sea. A coarse kind of hemp is
grown here in considerable guantities by the
small farmers, which: helps: to supply the Buitish
Navy, ‘ Many of the pooref sort of the ighabi-.
tants bere live, espeeially in the winter season,
by fishing and fowling in a place called Cowbit
Wash, which cousists of several hundred acres
of land covered almast constantly with water,
and produecing excellent pilte and. eels; heside
much: water fowl. - .

.

-y
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. The fellowing circumstances claim the, attea-
tion of Geologists. In the parish of Croylmd I

was informeéd that about 40 years ago, a- man

eould thrist into the ground a ten feet staff to
the head, with much ease ; the soil at that time
principally consisting of moor. or rotten vegeta-

bles. At this time I saw, in the very same place,

gravel, consisting of fine Jarge white quartz peb-

bles, within half a yard of the surface; the stra- -

tum of gravel being about three feet thick, and
under it a large kind of sand. A man digging
gravel there told me likewise, that, ten years

ogo, he opened'a particular spot which he-

pointed out, in order to get gravel, and found
nothing byt a large gritty sand, like to that be-
neath the gravel, where be was then digging; but
that this year he had opened the sume spot again
and had found gravel as large as what I then
saw, many of the pebbles of which.are as large

as marbles, and some even as large as pigeons’ '

eggs. Should this appear to militate against
commonly received opinions, it may still be true;
for the wisest of mankind sometimes err, and the
_ operations of nature are sometimes difficulf to
investigate, even by the closest observers.

*Tis true that the belief of the facts are in:
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some degree founded on human testimony, but
then it may be urged that the persons relating .
the circumstances, having no theory to support,
had no motives to induce them to misrepresent
what they believed to be true. It is possible
also that the men may err through ignorance;
but this is not very likely, since it requires no
great portion of intellect to discover the differ-
ence between a vegetable soil and gravel, or to
distinguish pebbles from sand. Mr. C. Wyche'
of Crowland knows how the matter-stands, and
1 have no doubt but he will investigate the sub-
ject closely; for if this. can be proved to be a’
fact, some very elaborate theories mmst vanish. -

v
4
wsoovosrresooe

TYDD St. MARY.

Tipd St. MARY, or Tide St. Mary, so called
because the tide once came up hither®, is a.

. Tll/il derivation.is confirmed by a part of the parish’
being called Tydd-gout (from tide go ext), and which'is'
VOL. 1I1. 4
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small village in the wapentake of EHoe, in the
. parts of Holland, about eight miles s. E. by =.
from Holbeach, This perish is in the Duchy of
Lancaster,

Domaday Account.

Iu Tite (Tydd St. Mary’s) earl Aigar had five
carucates of land and ene oxgang to be taxed.
Land to three ploughs. The king has there one:
plough, and sixteen villanes and five berdars
and one sokeman baving eight ploughs, and
eighty acres of meadow. Value in king Ed-

ward’s time eight pounds. And one fishery with_

" a wood, which paid four peunies less than wse-
venty shillings. The whole is now worth fif.
" teen'pounds.

In Tite is a berewick of this manor of two ca-
tucates and one oxgang of land to be taxed.
There are now there eight villanes and one soke-
man having one plough and two oxen, and thirty
acres of land.

Camden and the author of Maegna Britanuia

stear the Shire Drain, made in the time of Elizabeth for
the purpose of draining Thorney Fen;—it divides the
un%ues of Lincoln and Cambridge, and fills inte s:u-
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say that- Nicholas Breakspeare, who was after-
wards Pope Adrian the 1Vth, was once rector
of this parish; but Stowe in his Summarie of the
Chronicles of England says, that * Nicholas
Breakspeare, an Englishman, was borne at Lang-
ley in the eountye of Harforde, sosne to Robert
a-yonger brother of the house of Breakspeare
(which Robert after the death of his wife, pro-
fessed himself a monk of saint Albons, causing
his sonne to provide for his owne preferment)
this yong man passed isto France, was shotne a
monke, and after chosen abbot, went to Rome,
was consecrated bishop of Alba, made cardinal,
sent legate to the Norwayes, where he reduced
that nation flom paganisme to christianitie, aud
after returned to Rome, where, as Anastasius
was dead, be was chosen pope bythe name of
Adrian the fowerth.”

THE CHURCR

is a rectory, valued in the king’s books at 171.
6s. 5id. Patron the King. The steeple is a
spire, standing at the west end, and contains five
bells. The church is ancient, is moderately
large, and has stalls instead of pews.
It eontains the following inscriptions:.
F2 :
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Here are deposited the remains
« of
Sigismund Trafford, Esq.
‘Whose plain apd exemplary character .
was this;
.. He was tender and indulgent to his wife, kind
and affectionate to his refations, easy and hu-
mane to his dependants, hespitable and friendly
to his neighbours, a lover of his counlry and al}
mankind, o .
In a word,
He was in all respects an honest and a worthy
man ; : oo
In testimony of which truths,
-and under a grateful sense of their real force,:
His widow -, ..
has caused this monument to beeréctcﬂ '
He departed this life Feb. 1, 173, aged 47.
" Here is also another (in Latin) to the memory
of Johrr Trafford, Esq. who dled in 1719,
On another: e
In a vault beneath are deposxted tbe
remains of Sir Clement Trafford, Kpight,”
- Of Dunton Hall*,

® % Dunton Hall,(says Stukeley) in the pinsb of Tydd,
bas been magmﬁcently rebuilt by Sigisanind T rd:
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I the County of Lincoln,
‘ Lord of this Manor,
Wiio married Miss Jane Ssuthwell, dcughtef of
Edward Southwell, Esq. of Wisbeach,
Bywhom he bid issue Stgismund and Jane
now Hving,
and departed this life on the 1st of Jan. 1786,
- in the 40' year’of hiw age:

VREESCHQOL;

Abu! the year 274D, a Free-School was fourid-
ed for the instriletion of a limited number of
poor children, by a donation from Mrs. Martha
Teafford, who died a few Jears 536 at the age of
00 years. Sifice the o¥iginal foundation, from
the morease it the price of laitd, &c. the annual
alount of the donation i¢ six times greater than
§e:was it that titse, and.tie number of ehildren
has been proportionably increased. Several
teachers of considerable ability have been mas-

ters here for a short time; and in 1786, the pre- ~

séatiable master, Mr. Jas. Abbot, was elected to
do the duties of this institution.

% who has likewise mclond a considerable park
with a brick wall”

Itis now pulled down, and a farm house buﬂton the:
acite, out of the ruins.

r3
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In the year 1588 Mn. W. Metlley left about
twenty-acres of land to the, induptrious -poor of
Tydd, ‘who receive no ralief from 'thie parish ;—
this land, with what.was - gaifed from the com-
mon and waste lands.from inclgsyde,- -anjouplp to
40 acres, which is let for more than 120l. per
aBpym. Co -

Ravenbank iz a ﬁm ngu way passmg
through the mlddle of the level from Ely to Wis-
beach, by Spalding,  over Bfidge-end causeway
to Sleaford ;—Dr. Stukeley traged it.frem Tydd
to Cowbit, and observes that in so'me wyitinga it
is properly called Romanbank, -and, to coxrob-
orate this supposition, he.observes. also ithat. the
Welch, pronounce Romag Rbyffain.: . .,

: The old Rempp. bank passes: {rom lem«h
through this place, to Lopg Suttan, thenge.to
Lutton, Gedney, Pyke, and so..on. te:Fosdike
Wash and the Resetvq;r. . g o

'

MODERN STATE. -, .

Tydd St, Mary is a pleasant vnllage on {bc
road leading from Long Sutton to Wisbeagh, aud
is situated three miles from the former and six
from the latter place. Sir Clement Trafford was
formerly Lord of the Manor, but it has recently
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been purchbased- by. Charles Hursthouse, Esq.
The parish contains 5032 agres, the average rent
of which, is ghout . 40s. per acre for small and
35s..for large farmp, . The poor yates are about
3s, in the pound.: /The pripcipal proprietors of
land here are C. Hursthouse, Esq., Mr, W, Stan-
ger, Mr. John Stanger, Mr. Jos. Radcliff, and
Mr. W, Liix. . The fences ar¢ mostly difches,
snd the tithes are pajd by cqng)oslthn. It is
fing ru:hgmmg and ‘coxn land. | K

' LONG SUTTON.

——E— :
- LoNG SuTTON, er Sutton St. Mary’s, isa
plessant village in'the wapentake of Ellae, in the
parts of - Holland.  about 41 miles east .of Hok
beach. .

Jobn of Gaunt owned Sutton, and otbet vast
manors in this county. + Thete were also lands
here beld of the bonoyr of Croun of Frieston.—
Inquis. Wap. Ellow, 1 Edw. 1II. feod milit. 42
offic,.armor._p. 32.
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The town took its name of Sutton, or. Soutl
Town, from being south of Lutton, which is m
much’ older place. Sutton is sitwated on - the
‘west side of the Roman bank, to whith, some
centuries ago, the tide used to flow, This vik
lage has no doubt been much larger than'it is at
present, for about a mile from it is a place called
Swutton two Crosses, from two stome crosses hav-
ing been built there: Lere are about twenty
houses, including a pubRc-hotse, - There is alsd
another place, about half a mile east of the town, |
called Little London, cantxining about seventy !
houses, pleasantly situated on the Roman bank., ‘
In the Hall six ecres, a paslure dtia very small
distance s. E. of the cburch, are the foundations

of a large mansion howse, which formerly belong-

ed to, or was the residence of John of Gaant ;—

it has been moated .réund. Sutton onée don-

tiined a momastéry, ealled Kotel, the soke of
which lay. in the King's manor at 'l‘]dd- L i
Mary 8.

ThE cmmcn. o |
-wlneh is dedicated to St Mary, isia vmnge, !
‘valued  in the khig’s books at 40l.; patron-the f
Rev. T. L. Bennett. The steeple, which is a

|

|

\

\

|
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spire of frame-work o‘f wood, covered with lead;
stands at the s. w. angle, nearly detached from
the church. It is 54 yards high, and may be as.
cended to nearly the top, from whence the spec-
tator has an extensive prospect of Cross-Keys
Waush, and the adjacent country ; it serves also
for a sea-mark. In it are five musical bells.,
At the east end of the church is a curious circu-
lar window, coustructed entirely of glass and .
dron. :

On.a pane, ia one of the windows of the south
aile, is a painted figure of a kuight in armour, in
the act of being stung by a serpent. The inha-
bitants have a tradition that this is John of
‘Gaunt, who, they say, lies buried in the south
aile ;—this, however, is erroneous, for that pow.
erful nobleman was buried .in the choir of St
Paul’s,-London. - ,

We noticed the following inscriptions :

On a marble mogument in the east end of the
south aile. .

Near this place are interred the last remains
of Mary the wife of Joshua Scrope, Esq, Lord of
this Manor; who after a long illness, which she
bore with religious submission, patience, and
fortitude, yielded her latest breath on the third
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day of Feb. in the year 1705, in the 47h vear
of her age. She was the only ehild and heiress
of Thomas Vivian, Esq. of Cornish extraction,
who was heir at law, i right of his mother, .to
the Hydes of Langtoft, Lords of this Manor,
Her mother was Mary Countess Dowager of De-
lorane, daughter of Gervase Scrope of €Cocker-
ington, Esq. a liveal descendant of the Lords
Scrope of Belton. She succeeded to the inheri-
tance of the estates of that ancient family, in
this county, under the wilt of er uncle Fréderic
Jawes Scrope, Esq. in the year 1788,
On a plair’ stune in the flood of the' middte
adle, , :

Here lyeth the body of- Ann Merden, late wifé
of John Morden, Vicur of Long: Sutton, and
daughter of Anthony Toemson, Dr. of Divinitie;
Parson and Vicar of the same parish, who de~
ceased the twenty sixt of Nov. anno DPom. 1675,
in the 46 year of her age, waiting for a glonous
resurection,

In the north aile—

Lyeth the body of John Bailey, Surgeon, whe
was murdered in the spring of 1794,

On the stone is this ejaculation:

Alas! poor Bailey.
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{The perpetrators of this bornid act have never
yet been discovered.)

On a marble tablet in the north wadl,

In memory of Amy the beloved wife of Man-
riee Delamore, . gent. and eldest daughter of
Henry Bly, gent. and Jane his wife, of Buraham
Overy,-in the ce. of Nerfolk ; she departed this
life Dee. 17,:1986, aged .32 years. She had-eles
ven childven, three only survived ber, viz. Willi-
sm, Henry, and Sarsh.

Another is erected to.the memory of W, De-
lamore, Ksq. who died Nov. 19, 1742, by hie
wife, who died the 11th of Octeber, 1761, aged
72-years. ’

Another, to the memory of W, Gregg, who
died the 10th of Dee. 1763, aged 51; also of
Rebt. £ivegg, his son, ‘who died April the 18th,
¥184, aged 63.

Anxdther beaufiful one is erected to the memo.
ry of Nicholas Wileman, gent. who died 24¢h of
June, 1768, aged 63; alse of Mary his wife,
who died Nov. 30, 1740, in the d0th year of
her age. )

On the south side of the chuarch, in the widll,
(outside) are several monuments, and a vaul$
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beneath, belenging to the family of the Wallets®,
several of whom lie here interred.

Here is a besutiful octagenal font, handsome-
ly carved, and supported by a stone pedestal
and 'four wooden pillars. Here is also an ex-
eellent organ.

. Near the s. w. angle of the. cburch‘yard n
an angle of the road, f4.the base of a stone cross,

Several charities have Lieen given to this pa-
rish ; one of which is by a Mr. Allen, who left
some lands in Sutton St. Mary’s for the support
of an organist, alsa for putting out two childven
every year as apprentices, and for the relief of
the poor. .

THE SCHOOL.

About eighteen years ago the inhabitants came
to a resolutien, by a new decree, to apply forty
pounds a year, to be paid out of Philip’s charity,
to the support of a school-master, tlie person
not to teach more than 40 poor children. It is
governed by a commiittee of seven, among whom

® This ancient family resided in a good house, abbut
& quarter of a mile nearly cast of the church, now ioha-
bited by Mr. Hutchinson,
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are the churchwardens and the officiating minis-
ter; the other four are chosen amnually. The
school reom is over the south porch of the
church,

A convenient Methodist Chapel has been late-
ly erected by subscription.

MODERN STATE.

Here are three manors; the largest is panor
of Sutton Holland, and parcel of the Duchy of
Lancaster, and belongs to Francis Taylor, Esq.
and Hugh Jackson, Esq.; Guanock manor be-
longs to Miss Catherine Copeman ; and Cranwell
manor, which is very small, belongs to — Green,
Esq. The principal proprietors of land are
Admiral Bertie, Redmore Allenby, Esq. Miss
Pauntfort, Porter’s heirs, Mr, G. Clark, and Mr,
W. Hutchinson. This parish, including the
hamlets of Lutton, St. James’s, and St. Ed-
mund’s, with the marshes and commons, con-
tains by admeasurement 21360a. Or. 27p. ; the
average rent of which is 40s. per acre. The
tithes are paid by composition, and are liable to
be taken in kind, The fences are principally
hedges, and the soil is a rich loam, but it varies
in different parts of the parish, as in some places .

VOL. 1I. G
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it is silt, and in others clay. Itis, genetally,
" both good pasture and uruble land. The partish
rates in 1803 amounted to 996L 18e, 5d. at
®s. 3d. in the pound. Sutton common has beerr
inclosed about 24 years, and is now an extendive
~ tract of rich fertile land, producing exceilent
crops of corn of every description.

Near a creek and house now occupied by Mr.
Russel Mumby, called king’s heuse,.in Sutton
wmarsh, King John is said to have lost his bag.
gage, &c. in crossing from Lynn to Swineshead
Abbey, ia the year 1216.

SUTTON WASH,

On the road to Lynn, is three miles from Long
Sutton, and nine from the latter place; it eon-
sists of about 80 houses, including three inns,
the largest of which, kept by Mr. R. Mills, is
neat and commodious; and is resorted to in
summer by invalids, for the benefi€ of sea air
and bathing.

Some few merchants and ship-owsers reside
Lere, who have large warehouses, and import
coru, coals, and timber. The inhabitants, kow-
ever, principally consist of the captains of coast-
ing vessels, pilots, custom-house officers, and
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tide-waiters. Most part of the land belongs. to
the governors of ‘Guy’s - Hospital in London, the
rent of which is about 24s. per acre:. the stew-
ard, Mr. R. Shearcroft, resides here.. The land
baving been gained from the sea,. is silt, some of
which is strong enough for bricks ;—it produnes
exgellent crops.of corn, mustard, cole seed, and
all kinds of pulse; sometimes it yields five quar:
ters of wheat, or ten quarters of oals per acre.

Heye is a Methodist's Chapel.

At this time (1818) surveyors are employed in
taking levels .for .the purpose of cutting a river
from Wishbeach to the west side of the wash, or
-estusry, over which is to be a bridge, after en-
deavaurs have been uped to make up the old
-wash land as far as the proposed bridge ;- this,
together with the new bridge at Fosdike 'Wash,
will he, velren eompleted, of essential benefit to-all
this part of the country,. ‘The meditated eanel
for draining Wittlesea Meer s intended to falt.
dnto the Quse, and pass through this place.

About two years ago a horigontal windmilt:
was ereoted here, but it-did not answer, and it
is mow converted into a granary,

a3
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SUTTON - s'r. JAMES,

In the wapentake of Elloe,: in the parts of Hol-
land, and in the parish of Long Sutton, is a
hamlet about four miles s. w. of the latter
- place.

From the remains of anhqnity in this neigh-
bourhood it is probable that this hamlet has
been much larger than it is at present. About
_two furlongs from the church, westward, in a
quadrivium, stands Ivy Cross (on Ravensbank),
ten feet diameter at the base, with four rows of
steps up it, each of which is abont a foot high.
Jts form is octangular, and on its top is one en-
tire stone, 36 inches square, and- 10} -inches
thick, in the middle of which staids a pillar sup-
ported by four buttresses rudély carved, and
which the ravages of time have almost destroyed.
Nearly three quarters of a mile 5. w. of this
is another cross, in an incliving posture, ‘some-
what sunk in the earth. Tradition says this was
a market-cross, but it is far more probable that
these. crosses were erected either as boundaries
or stations, or else for the purpese of religion,
in the ages of superstition.
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THE CHAPEL

is a curacy not in charge, of the olear yearly va- .
lue of 8l. 9s. 3d. the patron of which is the vicar -
of Long. Sutton. Between the steeple and chan-
el is a space of twenty-two :yards, which space
was formerly the bolyicf the churth.  In the
present chancel, which has lately been repaired,
there are no monumental inscriptions; the height
of the tower steeple is egnal to'its distance fiom
the chancel. Small as the number of inhabitants
in this place must be, they are, meversheless, di-
vided in their religious principles, and a Method-
ist's Chapel has lately heen erected. The body
of the church has beem down miny years.

The foundations .ef the south porch, and of
«thé sonth.and north walls of .the nave, are level
-with.the ground, and frqm them it appears to
kive besn. dbeut twcnty»uvo yards long, and
fousteen hroad. ;

The hamlet centains about 2834 acres, the
avéesagd!rent being 2l. per acre. Tle soil, for
the miost part, is strong clay, and produces ex-
cellént erops of <o, and is moreover very good -
-for grazing; bug'it 8 much incommoded in win-..
ter by whater, for want of a proper drainage. .

G 3.
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SUTTON' ST\ EDMUND.

St. Edmund’s is a straggling village in the
parish of Long Sutton, about 83 miles k. by N.
of Croyland, and 10-miles w. of Wisbeach.
The parish rates in 1803 amounted to 386l. 15s.
6d. at 3s, 4d. in the pound.

THE cnarnm‘

is an elegant structure, and was buiit about
.fourteen years ago; itis a small but neat chapel
of ease to Long Sutten. It is endowed with
Queen Anne’s bounty, and.is a curacy net in
charge ; patron, the vicar of Loag Satton.

The principal proprietors of land are Mr. Edw. -

Diggle, Mr, J. Harber, Mr, A. Whitshead, Mr.
Chas. Ringston, Mrs. Taylor, Mr. J. Taylor,
&c. &c. The soil is part clay and part moor,
is exceedingly rich and fertile, and will feed. the
largest oxen, Itis principally used for.grazing;
—the whole hamlet is well drained by two wind
engines, which throw the water into the tlm'e
drain.

The whole nnnber of acres is’ aboutm the
average rent of which is- pearly 40s, per. acre.
The fences are mostly ditches, . The hamlet is

S
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divided by four straight droves, called Guanock
Gate, Broad Gate, Hall Gate, and Lutton Gate.

A great part of the-above information, respect-
ing Long Sutton, was communicated by Mr. W.
Ruant, Officer of Excise.

LUTTON,.

Or Sutton St. Nicholas, is a hamlet in the parish
of Long Sutton, about a mile and a half to the
-north of this last-mentioned place, and five miles
E. by N..of Holbeach.. Lutton was formerly the

residence of many wealthy families, chiefly mer- =~ -

chants, who, to avoid the plague whiclr raged in
London. in 1603, left that city and settled in
this neighbourhood. One of the most eminent
of these was called Parke, and many of this
family lie buried in the middle aile of the church,
though several of tlie monumeatal inscriptions
-aze now cevered by the pews.

Domesday Account..

In Luctene (Lutton) Earl Algar.bad four cat-
ucates of land to be taxed. Land to two
ploughs. The King has there six oxen, and six-
-teen villanes with four plonghs, and one fishery
of twelve-pence, and sixty acres of meadow.
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Value in King Edward’s time eight’.pounds, the
same now. ' ‘

Dr. Richard Busby, the celebrated master of
Westminster school, was born in this parish in
the year 1606, Ile was indebted for the fitst
rudimen® of his education to the Whelby family
(vide Holbeach). As no person of the name of
Bushy now resides any whére in this neighbour-
hood,.it may be reasonably iuferred,. that either
the family removed to another part of the coun-

try, orit is become extinct, for no traces of it.

are to be met with. This celebrated teacher re-

ceived " a classical education ' at . Westminster-

school, as a king's scholar, and. afteswards. aé-
quired great reputation for his classical know-

ledge at Oxford. ~He took his degrees-of M. A.

i 1631. In 1640 he was appeinted: mastor of
Westminster fsehool, which post he held, i the
highest reputation; foq 55 years; he was much
famed as a flogging master, but he is said to have
made many excellént scholars. ‘He was zealous-
ly attached 'to church and - state, and was.émi-

nently charitableiboth in public and private life. .

He died in the year $695, at the advanced age'of

81, and wes buried in Westminster Abbey, where

- & monument has been erected to bis memory.

Lem
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The people liere say that Dr. Bushy gave the
pulpit, in Lutton ghurch, to the parishioners, in
1702, and that he sent workmen from London
to put it up, and also that he beautified the
church in severa} parts ;—in this, there must be
. some mistake, perhaps the pulpit was made and
put up after his death. Be this as it may, it is
very handsome, and is inlaid very func:fully; nt
is dated 1702,

A person of the name of Readhead who was
born here, and who died in the year 1770, was
much attached to his bottle, and lest people
should say “ Here lies drunken Readhead !” he
- ordered that his coffin should be placed in an
erect posture, with the feet downwards; and this
whimsicality of his was punctually complied
with. He was interred at the s, E. corner of the
church, aud' bas a'mutal monument.

THE CHURCH, OR CHAPEL,

is a small heat bandsome building, dedicated te
St. Nicholas; it is a chapel (oot in charge) to
the vicarage of Long Sutton. The steeple is a
conical ‘spire, 159 feet liigh, The body of the
church is supported by fine slender pillars, and
it is ornamented by seme fine Saxon arches.
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“In the aiiddle aile we nom'ed the fqllowmg
curious mscnppon- : .o o

Thy busy and Inquisitive Eye,

Seems to Demand what here Doth Lye;.

If that I must disclose my trust,

Tis greate, lamented, prudent Dust ;-

If yet unsatisfied thow’d knaw,

And eurg me further, Read helow.

Here lyetl the body of Mr. Ruben Park,
Qf, Lutton, who deceased she 10 of July, 16869,

In the @3 wear of bis gd. .~ -
Hence Quarreli nature, tell she shall’
Répeat her Clymﬂermall. ‘

. MQDERN BTAF’EH

“This pasish-centains about.348¢ acres, the-
average rent ef which is' shout 48s.’ par.agte.. . -

The lords of this manor are Francis Taylor
and Hugh Jackson, Esqrs. -The printipal pros
poietors of Japd are the Gondrmais of Gilsts 1os-
pital, Redmore Allenby, Esq. Mr, W. ‘Taklor,
and Mr. John Gibbons. The tithes. axe; next
year, (1815) to bé paid by composﬂmn, the same-
as at Long Sutton, -

The soil is.exceedingly femlv, prodwchg abum-
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dant crops of wheat, and other grain, it is also
excéllent grazing land. The finest part of the
parish is that lately embanked and taken in from
the sea, called the Salt Marhes, vonsisting of
about one fourth of the whole parish; it he-
longs to Guy’s Hospitul, The hedges of the
new inclosure are the finest and best in this pah
of the country ; the old inclasure is principally
fenced by dykes. The Réman Rank passes
through the middle of the hamlet. The parish
rates in"1803: amouvuted to 3121./75.-10d. at
2s. 1d. in.the pound. '

Stukeley thinks that tlis town is as ancient as
any in folland, and that it took its name from
the general drainage of the country, which was
here “united .in one -chawnel ; ' they call such
places lodes or lddes to this day, hence Lode
Tows er Lutton.

Mauch of this information was communicated
by Mr. Macann.

Having mentioned Guy's Hospital, the follow-
ing account of its founder may be acceptable to
some readers.—Mr. Thomas Guy, ‘to whom we
are jndebted for the endowment of the. hospital
which bears his mame, was originally a booksel-
ler on London Bridge, aund a singular character.
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The circumstance to which we owe this charity,
originated in the following manner: Mr. Guy
being about to marry his housekeeper, the day.
previous to that on which the ceremony was to
- have been performed, he had employed some
paviers to repair the pavement as far as a parti«
cular brick, which he pointed out to them. The
housekeeper being present when the men were at
work, observed that there was a place further on
which wanted mending: the men remonstrated
that they had po orders to go furtber than Mr.
Guy’s direction ; to which she replied, *“ Never
mind Mr. Guy, I will take the consequences ;”
on which account she lost a husband, and the
public gained an hospital, :

Those men who have been great, in whatever
sitaation, excite curiosity, and claim attention ;
the name of the following desperado is still fa-
miliar"to many in these parts, as being one of
the most notorious thieves that ever disgraced
his country; he finished his career on the gal-
lows at York, in 1780. We allude to Richard
Turpin, who_ lived some time at Long Suttof
under the fictitious name of Palmer;—this hero
once sold a horse to a farmer of this place, for
ready mouey, and found another who had credu-
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lity enough to sell zim another horse on the se-
_curity of some trinkets which Turpin had stolen
from a Jew pedlar, just before, when he was dis-

tributor of hand-bills to a mountebank doctor.
L

Crrerrsrorsss

GEDNEY. °

—DDB—

GEDNRY js a village in the wapentake of El-
loe, in the parts of Holland, about two miles
east of Holbeach. The name seems to be deriv-
ed from Gaden-ea, (aqua ad viam) ea signifies a
watering place for cattle, and roads are frequent-
ly called gates; hence gate—en-ea,,or Gedney.

Domesday Account.

Manor. In Gadenia (Gedney) Earl Algar had
eight carucates of land to be taxed. Land to
four ploughs. - The king has there six oxen, and
eighteen villanes with three ploughs, and thirty
acres of meadow, and a fishery of twelve-pence.
Twenty quarentens long, and twelve broad. Va-
lue in King Edward’s time eight pounds, now
six pounds. ’ :

VOL. II, H.
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Some lebourers of Mr. James Long, found,
ahout three years ago, when'diggieg smong some
-¢ld feundations, an eblomg box, made of sume-
thing tesemblimg roften botes, ‘'with an oval hol-
low, in which was a piece of white composition,
that fiilled the hollow, but which was broken

. with the spade with which the man was digging.

- 'Fhe upper part was undoubtedly the lid, but it
now remains fixed nearly at right angles with the
top of the box. Also, near the same place, an
-eld coin was found, dated 1578, en onme side,
¢ POSVI DEVAD,” on the other a crowned head

. and the date are all that can bemade out. Near
this place, which is balf a mile N. E. of the
church, are some subterrancous passages, Jead-
ing, it is supposed, to the abbots’ manor-heuse.
Mr. Long further observes that there have also
been dug up in thisfield soane lasge stone coffins,
by which it -appears that a religions bouse-for-
werly stood here, or.else here must have been
the burying ground te oue,

ABBOTS’ MANOR-HOUSE. ,

“The abbots’ manor-house, which stood about
200 yards north of the church, is now down, and
its former situation can scarely be detesminetl ;

Y
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abbofs, assisted by charitable donations. In the
chancel window is a religious in his habits.”

The pillars are light anc nctagonal, and paint-
ed in imitation of marble. 'The font is a poly-
gon of’sixtccn sides, with fluted columus. Here
is also a handsome singing gallery, supported by
fluted square pillars. " 1n the cenive of the south
door is a miniature representation of Christ’ on
the cross, with his mother and some otber women
standing by; this is embossed in the oak, The
same door has also a curious copper lock, with
an ancient inscription, and over it is cut in the
oak, in large Saxon capitals, PAX CHRISTI
SIT HUIC DOMUI ET OMNIBUS INHAB-
ITANTIBUS IN EA; HIC REQUIES NOS-
TRA ; and under four black shields, in capitals, :
IN. HOPE. The altar piece in this church,
which came from Boston, and which was the al-
tar piece in that church more than 70 years ago,
is a handsome addition to this fabric, and not
miuch inferior to the one which fills its former

“situation, ‘The pulpit is neat, and the cushion
and hangings are crimson velvet, bordered with
gold lace.

- We noticed the following inscriptions.
On.a fine marble monument, where Mr. Wel.

-
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sents part’of 'a Warrior upon a-tomb,’ but this
~secms not to be much noticed, nor is any inforar-
ation glven concefmng it, nor is there any in-
scrlpuon onit. - .

"Hete are dlso several monuments of the Whit:
ley family, ‘dne to-Mr. Edw. Whitley, gent. ano-
ther to Mr. James Fish. Here is also a hand-
some achievement belgngiug to Mr: Peter Sers,
who was’ lately interred-here, with this motto,
i T Ceelo quies.

" Mr. Sers'was the largest farmer in Lincoln
shire ;—he ‘owned and rented nearly 2000 acres
of land, all of which'was in his own occupation.

The church is dedicated to St. Mary Magda-
len; it is’a vicarage, valoed in the king’s books
at 301 11s. 103d. Patron the King. /Phe rée-
tory (a dine cure) is valued in the king’s books
‘at 231. 115 02d. Patrons, the King two turns
and W. Clayton, Esq. one turn,

In the time of the great rebellion Dr. Ledo-
wick' Wemmys, or Weems, prebendary of the

“fourth stall of Westminster abbey, had’ the do-
‘native of this church, of which he was deprived
by the house of commons, April 22, 1643 ; and
‘Mr. Robert Rich had the vicarage, : from which
he was also rémoved at the same time ; but Maz,

NIRY
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Rich lived to the restoration of Ciarles.11. and
had the good fortuue to regaim his vicarage.

The manor of Gednéy belonged, 37 Hen. VIII.
to the lord St. John, (with the soke of Holbeachy
but it was sold to.King Henry at. 20 years. pur-
whase, besides the woods belonging ; the king al-
lowed 501. and the advowson of thie church, for
which. his majesty phid 13l. 6s. 8d. The pan
sonage is a donative, and the vicar hath the cure
of souls” (Magna.Brilanaid. )

MODERN STATE.

- The lord of the manor.of Aﬁbat and’ Pawlet
is Jos. Bellamy, Esq. Attorney, Wisheach ;. of
‘Buplin,"Lovd - Castlereah ; and. of Welby, Sam.
TFeniard; Bsq. of Bostom. The parisk contains
‘abbut 9000 acres, the average rent of which is

-mearly 40s.-per-aere. - The fences.of.the new iu- -

clesure are dliefly thorn hedges, but the old in-

-closute, ercept somwe part of the marshes, are

‘surrounded either by dykes or dead fences.
The soil is part.elyy and .partiipani.’ The old
indlosure js.as five grazing land as any in Eng-
-Jand ; 1the new inclosyre:is chiefly arable, and
produces extremely fihe crbps of most.kinds of
grain, The marshes are extensive, and many
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respectable farmers reside these in elegaut man.
sions, comveniently situated in the cenires of
their respective farms. Some of the principal
of these are Mr. John Brows, Mr. las. Sers,
Mr. F, Brown, Mr. 8cétt, Mr. Hardy, Mr. Gar-
ton, and Mr. Burgess. Nearer to the town are
the houses of Mr. J. Hutchinson, Mr. R. Bella-
my, Mr. M. Athey, Mr. Jas. Long, Mr. Joba
Long, Mr. John Millington, &e. The salt
marshes, containing ahount 2200 acres, wepe em-
banked and inclesed by the ancestors of ‘the-
Bertie family, in the time of Charles the first ;
but in the troublesome times which almest im-
medintely followed, they were throwan aut again,
and so remained for 35 years; hawextr, .is. the
time of Charles the second, they were vasiovadl
By jparliament to their proper ownme - The

tithes are paid, part in kind, end .part by.com-

position. 'The pegish rates in 1803.amounted to
522]. 8a. Bd. at As..8d. inthe poyod. The go-
.meral mode -of tillage keve is:two crops and one
ifallow. The principal preprietors of Jand are,
‘beside” the lords of she megor, Mr. J. Hutchin-
son, J. G. Yernon, Esq. Mux. R. ReHamy, . Mr.
M. Athey, and Mr. Johs Esven. -
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GEDNEY HILL

Is a strageling place about-two miles west of Sut-
ton St. Edmunds. )

At Gedney hill, a chapelry in Gedney parish,
several coins of Antovius have been tound, also
121 the same hamlet, about two milvs north of
south-ea bank, is a pasture called the high doles,
a square double moated, where ancient founda-
tions have been dug up, and some Roman coins
found. One acre here, parcel to the abbey de-
mesne, formerly belonged to the almoncr of
Croyland, Another such moated square is in
the parish of Sutton St, Edmund’s, about the
same distance from south-ea bank, ‘where the’
same things have been found.

Here are also some lands called monk’s dole ;
also about 274 acres, six score to the huundred,
as an old terrier expresses it called Prior’s field,
which formerly belonged to the priory of Spal-
dimg. ,

Ascrig grange, near Whaplode drove chapel,
is a high piece of ground, square, and moated
" round, in and near to which, several Roman
coisys and urns have been dug up;—this is
near, Catscove, now catch colt corner, and these
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have been supposed to be castella to secure the
possession of this part of the country ; they lie
in a right line in the most southesly part of
‘Elloe. _ :

At Anytoft in Holbeach, is a like moated
square, where foundations, urns-and ceius have
heen dug up; and Mr. Jehnson of Spalding bad
the head of a spear which was. found' bere, as
well as several Roman ccius. = Maay Roman
ceias have also been found at Giggles-hura, sud
in the sea dike, betwean. Fleet and Gedney, a
sword was found which appeased to be Romaa.

THE CHAPEL

Is a chapel of ease to Gedaey, and endowed
with lands, part gifts, and part Queen Anme’s
bounty ; Patron, the feoffees of land given for
charitable uses : the chapel is dedicated to the
holy Trinity. Itis a small neat maders huilding,
with a handsome tewer coutaining five bells,
The church yard is an eminence, and when Cow-
. bit bank broke in 1764, and again in 1771, this
was the only place to which, the inbabitants of
this part could fly for refuge from the fury of the
watery element,

~
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*. fleot, and signifies a place to which the tide flows.
Like Bicker, this village had once a haven, where

- ships rode at anchor, -but the sea has been re-
-treating for several centuries, and it is now total-

-+ ly excluded by the junction of land in Holbeach
and Gedney, at the west.point of the parish. ‘

Formerly, near the old Roman bank, in this
parish, were several “beacon hills, but they have
been cut down to make bricks of ;—these hills
were found in almost every parish of south Hol-
land, and from their relative situations, were
probably designed for the purpose of giving sig-
nals by fire to tlie abbeys of Creyland and Pe-
terborough, in cases of emergency; such as the
appearauce of the Danes, and other banditti,
who often infested these parts, and committed
horrible dépredations. Some precaution of this
kind was absolutely necessary, and this method

. is .adopted by.the British government, to -give
alarm in case of invasion at this time. -

Harrington Hell, mentioned by Dugdale and ‘
other ancient writers, was pulled down a few
years ago. by Mr, Jonathan Andrew, who then
owned the estate, and who huilt on its scite the
furm bouse which now belongs- to. Mr. John Ash-

- 1&y. - The old-house, as well as the present new"
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ene, was alwiys known by the mimve of 'Flet:
Hall; it stands near Harecroft! lane; not fir-
from the church. This estate once belonged to

the Parke’s of Lutton, and; together with the

Bull iaeg. ayid sonme other estates in' Fleet, was
séttid on:Miss Parke ou: her marriage. with: Mri.
Johif Gresa:of tlsis places Ivafterwards, by se-
veral alienations beeame the property of Mesnes:.

Raywent snd Westby, and, on the demth: of thes.

former, a bill in chancery was filed:by his: Iseivees
atldw; for a petitiory sxd:sade ;——a sule teok place
it the year 1800 or: 1801, of 1lie low vataves,: wwa-
ddr an order of the sait court, what Mr.: Robers «
Andrew; the. father of Mt Jonatham: Abdeewy.
purchased the Haltrestate, Iw:the:.thaw of the+
great. rebellion, i 1643; Dr. Huzlewood wew-
rector of this place, awd. bédagr disaffceterdsats
the chatiges. which- then- tock: plage, beth:in
church and state, he was.net'only removed from
his rectory, bus.hating an.estate-of his own,
that also was put under sequestration, and he
himsedf was obliged to fly for:his.life...

“Flete gave name to a noble family. Hers.
near Ravensclow a: large ar with letters rownd:
it was found, covered with an-osh board ;.itiwee-

VOL.. 11. . -X
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full of Boma;z coins. - Of the lower empire,
~ chiefly Gallienus and the thirty tyrants.”,

, . THE CHURCH - . ,
_1Is rathersmall but very neat, and is dedicated te
St. Mary Magdalen ;* (vide Carlile's Top. Dic.)
it is a tectory, valued in the king’s books at 151,
Patron the Rev. R. Dods. . It isa little remark- -
able that -the steeple and church are separated
- about four yards. o S
The rcctory, &c. formerly belonged to the
monastery ‘of Castle . Acre, in-Norfolk, and was
granted by letters patent under the great seal of
England, dated 2 Oct. 16 James I. to George
Earl of Buckingham, his heirs and assigns for
ever, by the description, of all the Advowson,
donation, &c. thereto belonging. -
In the chancel are the following inscriptians :
' Marmeor o
Hoc juxta recubat cadaver

® Mr. Burges; who publishe'd an engraving of this
church, supposes that it was dedicated to three sisters,
one of whom built the steeple, another the nave, and
the other the chancel. This informatien 'was no doubt
given hbini by the late rector, the Rev. J. Ashley, who

was -a scholar, imd wbo wrote several papers to differ
periodical works, under the signature Atticus. ,
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Triste Wilhelmi Jaii, celebris
- Gentis extinctze manet ampla virtus
Sola superstes.
Rebus afflictis miserisque fida -
Hospitali pane reluxit aula, -
Conjugum et rara pietate, solus -
Defuit Haeres. -

Cum decennalis quiter isset orbem
" Sol, et accessit trieteris una,
Proximis triste ingemuit valete;

" Quid valet orbis?
Desideratissimo marito
Jan: viges: sept: 1706
" In ceelum reverso
Posuit Elizabetha JAY
Uxor maestissima.

Beneath is interred all that was mortal of the
Rev.. James Ashley, 22 years rector of this
Parish ; a man whose admirable and highly cul-
tivated powers of mind were only equalled by the
generosity and goodness of his heart; who after @
life spent in a conscientious discharge of the sa-
cred duties of his profession, though worn down
- with continved affliction, which he bore with
christiad fortitude, calmly resigned his soul into
the hands of his maker, Aug. 7th, 1806, aged 68 ~
years, : . .
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CHAPEL.

Here is also a,chapel belonging to the general
 baptists,.it stangs on the xight baod side of the
turnpike pead :l¢ading to Lopg Sutton. The
Rev. W. Burgee,who. died inDec. 1813, was for
many years the.offiointing .minister ;~he was a
worthy man,:and .his waral _character was said
to be withont .aminglé stain.  This gentleman
was also gelebratgd.as an;Engraver ; ke and his
son have publisbed. xiews.of.mony of the church-
es in this part.of,, Lincalnshirg, also of Lincoln
and Ely cathedrals,.&c. .whigh ypossess great
merit,

THE SCHOOL.

Tbe schopl was . -andowed by Mrs.Magy Dea-
“mnwf Retesborqugh,-by 2 (deed ,kearing.date
1S¢R$:.80,. ¥127,.dn which she shegueathedito cer-
tain Trustees,. a house:and 46.acxes. of -Jand,
.lying in Holheach, for .the; puxpase. of ;payipg. a
.Schoolmaster for. teaching-twelve poar, childran,
. -whose xegpective. pareats -aze. not.worth in ygal
180d peryonal estates 506 atithe time the, children
e admitsed.inta the ghool.

+/Khe m&.tmbemhtato radavite,
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- and cast accounts, and are chosen by the
. Trustees, . i
The full namber of the trustees is mine; the
Rector of Fleet is always one, and the owner of
" Mr. Deacon’s estate of Peterborough, situate
in Fleet, whether He be-an inhal#ant or not, ano-
ther ; and the othess are to be elected out of the
most respectable inhabitants of Fleet. The names
of the present’ trustees: are: the Rev. R. Dods,
-'T. Seawell, Esq. and Messrs.J. Wrickley, R.
Johnson, T. Manton, W. Rayment, and W.
Sharman. The present very able and respectable
master, Mr. J. Coop, was elected Nov. 28, 1806.
The school-réom was formerly in the vestry of -
the church, buta new one was erected in the
- Year 1813, on the north side of the church, large:
enough.to.held one hundred children,

MODERN STATE. ° i

Thiomas Seawell, Esq. is Lord of the Manor
of Fleet dominorum, and Mr. Jonathan Andrew:
of the Manors of Fleet Harrington, and Fleet
Fitzwalter. The parish contains about 6000
acres, the average rent of which is.from 30.10 40
shillings per acre. The soil is various, cou:isting.
. of sand, loam, and clay, the average quality og
13 )
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«whigh issvery geed. 1The peinsipal propristars
. ofland are the Duke of Somerset, Sit JosiBagks,
18 ; Freemantie, yEsq.AT.0Seswsll, | Esq. My. W
>SeangerondsMrs#. :Bates. :The poerantes,are
rgenerglly sabsut12s, @d. én :4he npowsid.
stithesare sullfect sot.beutaken in.kind,- butdhe
upresent Recter scosptsa -eompositien in; kiew of
sitloem,
1The eemmen was: intlesed by -amactpast in
tthesKear 794,
tFhe .fences ;in . #his pazish ase .punmptlly
.ahitehes;thougli-bere are many finequick hedges.
" +Sir Jos. /Banks, +bart..P.,R.iS. haga, decoy
hpee -foreatehing wild fowl ; :it.is:near.to a.place
roalled 'thesLvots. »In the winter season.a-great
»quantity. of «wild : fowls .are taken,..and sent to
supply the Losdon.and ether markets.
In Fleet marsh, T. Seawell, Esq. has a rabbit-
warren, which produces great numbers, and which
«are generully disposed of either .in the.neighbour-
»hoed,en at:the nearest markets,
* The land in this.parish is low, and tha.presenl
.idraimage is.bad ;. so-thatit is. not so valuable as
_ &he.neighbouring parishes. .
*"The turapilceroad caled Hargatesleading iom
:Spalding-to Tydd, passes thraugh the sorth.end
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of the parish;..it.was .begun in the Year 1764,
oBefere this, soad ;was.made, travellipg here was
«very dasgecoys to passengers.. Ecnce the follaw-
wing ¥esse.

““Bea you-carly, be vou;jate,
“ Be aware of  Fleet Hurgate.”
-Stakeley thipks that this rond, s well .as.eld

Spalding gate, is of Roman origin.

otovorvsvessn

HOLBEACH.

.. HoxBBAGH, or.as it .wesformerly ealled Qld-

.heche, togk. its .name from .30 odd Peash,, mear
" wmhichithe town.was bujit.

-Holbeach is a small market tawn,in the wapen-
.take of Elloe, in the parts.of Holland, . ahout
.seven.miles from Spaldipg. The market .is, on
Thursday, and here are:fairs, on the 3%th of
- May, the 17th of September, .amdsthe 16sh, of .

October. It is a mart governed.by:the.statates’

- . of Lynn Mart, April.and: October. .
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] Domada;y Accoimt_. ,

In Holebech (Holbeach) 1s soke of this manor
eight carucates of land and six oxgangs to be
taxed. The King has there twenty-six sokemen
and five bordars with eleven ploughs, and eighty
acres of meadow. This soke is estimated at
seventéen pounds, besides the above mentioned
pumber. | ‘

.In the same Holebech (Holbeach) and Copeldde
(Whaplode) there are five carucates cf land to be
taxed, which<arl Alan held; they are now in
the King’s possession,

- Berewick. In Holobeck (Holbeach)-and Co-
. polade (Whaplode) Earl Algar had one carucate

of larid to bé taxed. Lar}d' to six oxen. Berewick
. in Flec (Fleet) Earl Alan has it, but the King’s
* servants claim it for the use of the king. There

are three villanes with three oxen in a plough.

Soke. In the same, Earl Algar bad thirteen

- carucates of land and six oxgangs to be taxed.
Land to nine ploughs:and two oxen, The soke
belongs to Gadenay (Gedney), Earl Alan has five
carucates of this land. Landric holds it under
- him. He has there two ploughs and twenty-nine
.. villanes with five ploughs, and eighty acres of
weadow. It is worth eight pounds. 'This is re-
covered as belonging to the King,



HORBEACH, 03

- Manor. “In" Holeben (Holbeach) and Copelade
(Whaplede) St. Gutlacus had and-has one caru-
sate of land to be taxed.’ Land-to six oxen. There
is -now one -plough in the demesne, and- three

-villanes - with:balf a.plough, and twelve acres of
‘meadow. Value in King Edward’s time twenty
-4hillings, 'the same-now,

«Maaor. -In Holebeeh-(Holbeach) and Copelade
Whaplode) Alestan bad-two carucates of land aid
1wo-exgangs-to-be tuxed. ‘Land to-twelve oxen.
‘Wido has there one plaugh, and-four villanes aiid
one :bordar.with -one -plough, and-ten acres of
‘meadaw. Value -in ‘Kipg ' Bdward’s -time -one
buadred shillings, now eight-pousrds.

:8ix carucates of land which the/King's servants
+ claim -in’ ffolobech (Holbeach) lay in the:King's
manor of Gadenai (Gedney.) Earl &lan new-has
.them of the.King's. gift for one.manor,  ~ ‘

“In this.town formerly flourished the ancient
*families.of Fleet, Daeres, Harrington, Barrington,
“Welby, andrMoulton.”

An ancient guild of Carpus Christi stood near
‘Barley pit,. where-is-now a house.onee-belonging
0 Moses:Stukeley, who awned the estate. John
deKirkton founded a hospital in hisown messuage,
by licence-of King Edward the 111, dated Novem-
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ber 16, for a warden, chaplain, and Sfteen poor
people; he endowed it with several lands in
Holbeach which he held of the abbct of Croy-
land, who by licence permitted the same to be
annexed to this hospital of All Saints in Holbeach,
" for which he paid 201. this formerly stood on the
ground now occugied by the Chequer Inn, op-
posite to the church. I remember (says Stukeley)
the old stone work and arched doors and windows
.with mullions, which were taken down, when the
house was rebuilt by my father; many’ of the
carved stones were also laid in the foundations of
the houses which he built near the bridge: sé
Dugdale's Morasticon, .

The old cross in the market place was pulled
down 1683. Ila 1283 Thonms de Multon Lord
Egremont obtained a masket and fair for Holbeach
October 3d. 1n .he 87 of Henty III. at Windsor,,
and probably built the market cross.

A brass seal was discovered here under some
ruins ; on one side” was the ﬁgure of a man, on
the otleer. three cocks and a porcillis. Also’

. some years ago, a brass box was- found fifteen
; feet deep in the earth ; it was inclosed in,a wooden
one, and eontzined some ancient silver coins
and manuscripts: The coins were sold by the
finder to a trdveller; the writings he burnt be-

N
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-cause he could not read them, and the box he
sold for old brass to a pérson who disposed of it
to Mr. Samuel, a Jew, in Lincoln.

In the year 16968, digging in Mr. Adlard
Stukeley’s garden, they found a brass seal; a
" manin long robes with twa escutcheons ; on one
three cocks, on the other a porcullis, the legend
Sovrabla Deus oler. 1n the' Year 1698 an iron
spur was found with a very long shank.

The Rev. Maurice Johnson of Spalding, in a
letter to Dr. Stukely, (see Reliquize Galeanz pt.
2. p 93) says “ your own parish Holbeach affords
ene remarkable article in the parochial charge,
where the last year the churchwardens paid 41. 6s.
for the destruction of the urchius or hedgehogs
at but one single’ penny a piece, and the present
officers have paid ahgve 801. on the same account
already, the vast flocks of cattle in this noble
parish and some coney boroughs, have drawn

those creatures from all paru hither, as one

would think.”

THE CHURCH

isa large handsome building, conslmng~of a

nave, ailes, chancel, porch, and spire steeple ;
and the north porch bas two circular towers,

! )

Y
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_with -embattied, parapets; at its extreme angles.-
The chancel is, paved - with..black- and. white .
. marble, and here is a.good painting.at- the aktar.-
piece;. representing. Christ instituting. the Lord's
Supper. * Christ: our \passoxer is crucified for

us, therefore,. let us keep the:feast.”

In the walls:of the chancel are several marble '
monuments;one of which is erected to the meomosy.
‘of Samuel Richardson Esq. who died ‘in 1736
anotherto Sigismund Richurdson, Esq- who died
in 1747; and asotlees to Mr, PhilipAshley, who:
died in-1794.

In the south-aile-is one:to.the'. mémory of .
Adlard Syuire Stukeley;  Esq: who- died::1368;-
and another to Sarab Stukeley, who died-in 1730.:

1o the chuteh yard is the following; curious. ins.
soription em.a grave stome.

‘ Redeens the! Tone.- .

In memery of Mary the wife of- John Middie~
ton; who departed-this life August ye 8th 1323,..
she’d 20 young teeth after 72 years-old, add as.
76 her corpse was laid in mould,

The following was extracted from the register

- bwoks

1% ye'north aile.of this chith; nedr to-the:

olidneel stendy-an afrcient monitment ereetdd v
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memory of Sir Humphrey Littlebury® as appears
ouly froin the arms engraven thereon. 1imagine
be was slain in the wars between the house of
York and the house of Lancaster. Alsoin the
middle aile, before the reading desk, there is a
brass plate, with the portraiture of a woman, but
the characters are almost worn out ; to perpetu-
ate which, read as follows: Orate pro anima
Domine Johanne Welby, quondgm Filie Rich-
ardi Leake Militis nuper Uxoris Tho. Welby
Armigeri: Obiit XVIIl die mensis Decembris
Anno Dom. MCCCCLVIIIL. Cujus anime pro--
pitictur Deus.”  Wik. Jepson, Vic. '
“ In this church (says Stukeley) formerly were
organs and fine painted glass.” There is, how-
ever, at this time (1814) neither organ nor paint-
«ed glass. :
Here are the arms of the Holbeches, vert, six
“escallops argent, three, two, one. Also those
of the Littleburys; upon his shield is his coat,
argent, two lions passant, gardant, gules,

¢ This monument is now removed to the west end
of the north aile ; it is a large stone effigy of a wan, ly-
ing in a horizontal position, the sculpture pretty good.—
Humphrey Littlebury, who lived at Penny Hill, near
Rips Place, was superintcadant of the works to the ah-
bey of Croyland.
* VOL. Il 4
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In ,152.9 ® New organ codt 8l. 8s. .aa. The or-
gan was, takon down in 15668; alsoy in lm W,
‘Enat of Lynn. ep;. - atd Henny Nele of Holbeacls,
" gave the saints’ belle  Amothér guild-of St.
Thomas; anetler of our. Lady. The vestiy om
" the south side of .the choir was ‘tilten down
__1567. There was formerly a ehapel dedidatdd
o the Virgiu Mary at Hotbeach Hurn; n¢ar the

_avvient seat of 'the Littlebarys; it was stiadifiy
- jn 1515, There wus-also anvther chapel stderd-
ing thereabouts, dedicated ¥o St.. Nicholes, aad
another in Wignal's Gate, tiear Holbeach Hal,
by the river side, dedicated to St. Peter. Abbut
1719 1 saw (says Stukeley) mauy corpses ding up
in the yard at making a ditch there. There-wm
slso agother in the fen ends. ‘
The church is dedicated to All Sam(s, it &
avicarage, valued in the king's bedks ut 201, '5s.
10d. Patroq, the buhop 06' ‘Lineoln: ’

SCHOOLS

A frée grammar school was founded here bya
licence from king Edward II1.. who .granted cer-
‘win hands for its support.—This enddwhrent Bjp-
. pears 16 ‘be now lest; the school-room wis pris-
Wbty a¢ te West et “of the -¢buféh. Rioilier
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schaol was feanded here by George Farmer, Esq.
of $t..Andeew, in the county of Middlesex,
ahout the, year 1670, * This gewtleman left landa
a0d tegements in -Holbeach and Weeaton, which-
now let for 1391, per ann. The managerment i¢
wested in nime trustees;—thy master must be
wither a M. A. or B. A.; and the childrey are to'
be taught what is deemed most unﬁll for thell'
fature destination in life.

A very spacious scheol-room is naw (1814)

eracting, and the echool will, in futare, be con-

ducted on an extensive seale.
‘This town is famous for being the birth-place

of Henry Rands, alias Holbech, who wasbrought -

up in the abbey of Ramsey, and afterwards took
the degree of doctor of divmity at Cambridge.
He was constituted suffragas of Bristol to Eati-
mer of Wiproester 1487, made déan of Worcester -
164, translated to Rochester in 1544, and foom

thenee to Liacoln in 154%. This bishop was
one of the compilers of ¢he Liturgy. He was
well skilied {n the learning -of those times, and
particularly in the Hebrew language, in which
the English literati, at that time, (according to
Exasmus) were particularly deficfent. He eoni-
piled an Hebrew lexieon, which was very correct

* K3

1
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. for the times he lived in; and Johs Pitts com-
plains that Robert Wakefield, the first Hebrew
professor at Cambridge, couverted it, without
acknowledgment, to his own use. He died A.C,
3H6%

. Williom Stukeley, whose name and memory -
are respected by every true lover of English
antiquities, and whese literary disquisitions
will be always considered. curious, and therefore
interesting, to a certain class of readers and am-
ateurs of baoks, was a pative of this town. He
was descended from an anciewt family in this

~ cpunty, and was born here November 7th, 1687,
After receiving the first rudiments of his educa-

" tion under Mr. Edward Kelson, in the free
school of this town, he was admitted of Bennet.
College, Cambridge, where be made medicine
and botany his peculiar study. - Taking a degree
ia physic, he removed to Lendon in the year

- 1717, where, on the recommendation of his

. friend Dr. Mead, he was elected a fellow of the
Royal Society, and was one among the distin-
guished number who, about that time, revived
the Society of Aatiquaries. - To the latter he'act-
ed many years as secretary. He was also made
a menber of the College of Physicians, and be-
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@me one of the cemsors.  After vesidiag jn Lon-
dea 2 fgw years, be retived to Grantham, in Lin-
colushire, st which place he married and settied,
Afllicted with she gout during the winter, it way
his custom to travel for big health in the spring
or summer ; and iy these joupmies be aequired 3
particular and zealous lpve of antiquisios. Fhis
is manifested by the reseprches and observitions
which are coptained in his vatudble wosk, #.Phe
Itinerarium Curiosum.” Finding -bis beajth in:
adequate to the futigue of his profession, e
turned his view te the cburch, and was ovdeined
at Cvoydon, hiy 20th, 1990, in the Octpber
foMowing he wag peeseyted ¢o she liviug of Al
@aints, in the town of Stqmford, end was aften
wards Rector of $t. Petery, and -Mastes of
Browr's Hospital, in the same place. Heéhad the
wffer of spvegal better divings, which he declined.
die mwas preseiited with the Jiving of Bomerby, g
_ ahe Puke of Aneaster, who alse appeinted him
ome of his chaplains. About the time of these -
promotions, -he published an aceount of Stoms-
dicnge. At.the instanee of the Duke of Monts-
gue, e resigned bis preferments in the covatry,
nd, in lieu of them, aecepted the Rectory of 84,
MBegge's, Queen 8quare, London, He wap seizell
3
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with a peralytic stroke, which terminated fatally
the 3d of March, 1766; when, by temperance
and regularity, he hadattained his seventy-eighth
year. Thus erided a valuable life, sedulously
spent in endeavouring to illusirate the obscure
remains of antiquity. Hisearly writings presaged
what might justly be expected in maturer vears,
and the lovers of antiquarian studies were not
disappointed, He had a sagacity peculiar to
great genius, joined with unwearied industry. But
in his investigations be appedrs too partial to a
favourite hypothesis, and toe fanciful in his de
sctiption for the impartial enquirer after trath, .
His character has been given by his friend, Mr.
Peter Collinson, and printed in the Gentleman’s
‘Magazine for the year 1765.

On 16th of July 1745 died at Holbeach, Mr.
Samuel Trotheringham, one of the people called
guakers, but no bigot, a man of considerable
fortune, and eminent for his learning in general,
as well as mathematicks, more particularly alge-
bra, and the doctrine of fluxiens and chances,
(though no gamester)! he was the:first man ia
England, who invented a elock with two minute
hands, one shewing the true time, and the other
the apparent time, at all seasons of the year,
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decording to the ecéentricity of the earth's orbit
and obliquity of the ecliptie, as seitled by Dr:
Flamstead ; which was made by Mr. Joha Ber-
ridge, late of Boston, now of London : he was
affible, and charitable, of an engaging conversa-
tion, and courtepus behaviour, to people of all
persuasions. Gent. Mag. July 1745,

MODERN STATE.

. The Lords ofthe Manors are Samuel Tunnard,
Esq. of the Manor of Holbeach,* and W. Butt,
Esq. Manor of Holbeach Lord D’Acre. The
. principal proprietors of land are the Duke of
Somerset, Lord Custlereagh, and W. H. Free.
mantle, Esq. The parish coutains about 21000
acres, the average rent of which is from 30 to 48
shillings per acre. The soil is of various kinds, -
and the whole leugth of the parish is nearly 20
miles. The. fenees are partly hedges and partly
ditches, and the soil in some. parts is extremely
fertile. = .. .. . .

The tithes are liable to be taken in kind, but
they are paid by composition.

The town is ounly small, but in the marsh, and

® The crown alse claims the paramountship of Hole
beach, , o e
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jui Almost every other part of this extensive 1ord-
ship, we meet with very fine large houses, occu-
pried by #he faxueu many of whom live in gweat
apuleace. .

., From tse mncient chwrchwardens’ accounts
in Holbeach, befove the time of the Reformation,

from anuo.1453, many curious remarks may be .

made, in relation to prices of things, wages,
myperstitious customs, old fanilies, and the like:
a specimen of whieh is here anuexed for the
smusement of our readers.

A Bogke of the stuffe in the Cheyrohe of Hel-
eneh ol by Chyrchemerdyns of the some ao-
ewrding ko dhe injunctyons of the Kynges Me-
mg,‘ : . Co.

o e - &

An. duai. M. geeec, ulvii?. Pyt to
. Auateny Heydon the ¢rynite with
the tabernacle. oo .vvvvevevees He il
4. to W..Calew ahalder the taberma-
cle of Nicholas and Jamys...... ».  whil.
fit. to-Wm.-Davy on tabernacle of .
our lady of pytye......covoo. .. il
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- s
It. to Wm. Calow the.younger on .
- other. tabernacle of our lady.... iii.

It. to Antony Heydon the ymage of
the ADtony..u.eesoeiversnons

It. .to Humphry Hornsey on sygne

It. to Aulony Heydon on other sy gne
and a lytyl tabernacle..........

It. to Wm. Calow the younger the
tabernacle of . Thomas Bekete. . iiii.

It. to Wm, Davy the sygue whereon
the plowghe did stond........

It. to John Thorpe -a chyst in St,
Jamys chapell...coovvenvasnas dis

It. to Lincone howld woode. ...

It. to Nicholas Foster the banke -
that the George stoade on......

It. to Antony Heydeon ij alters .,.. ii.

It to W, Stowe jj lytyll tabernacles

It. to Henry Elman on lytyll taber-
nacle ...,.. copvresessacssons -

It. to John Thorpe for Harod’s coate:

It. to Wm, Calow the younger all
thapostyls coats and other raggs viii.

It. to Henry Elman for vii baner
clothes.ouvrevarsienenssnenns ix.

103
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xX.
vi.

xx.
viii.

xvi.

itii.
iil,
viii,

viii,

i,
xviiis

iii.
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It. to Antopy Heydorn on blewe
clothe ®Seveces00sc0eb escann s
It. to Swmithes on pece of howlde

saye...... 2R vsssserPreBres

1. to Richagd Richerson the crosse

aud other gydys cvv ot corennas .

It to Mr. Byllyshy ij talalys . .v...
1t. to Autony Heydon for the coats

of the ijj kyangs of Culoyae .... -
It. to Humphry Hornesey the canye.

Rye that w3s born qver the sucra-
ment ;-oooovono.-o-—\to--;-a

It. to Wm. Calow thelder and Jobe
Thorpe iiij awlde psntyd clothes
1t t Auiony heydom on woed caa-

£

dlestyké e vmeres setceiengus

It. to Wm, Callow the younges oy
lytyll be" cesesessne cceprsce
It. to Antony Heydon on otherytytl

. bell 9eccea. secaseveviyVLTLL

It. ta Wm. Dhtvy for the tabornacles
that stodé a¥ the end of the by
alter, .oiieiiaivnniniionnann,

i s -d
- Sm, e - B i,

viii.

viif,
e
fiiL

V"
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s 4.
A. D. m. ce¢cee xWvii.

It. to Wm. Calow the youuger on

rod of'iyron ..iiviiiiicenees ¢ iiii,
It, to Robt. Gyffon for ij barrs of

IJPOfl oo'¢s eeensasnscsnseseee Vo
it. to Antony Heydou xx. score and

x huad. of latyn ut iis, and xid. the

BCOTE sswecssins sanassesss IXiXe 3 @b,
It. to Richerd Richierson ij lytyl .

tabefntelen .vuve i vives innen viii.
i, of John'Suger-for the chyrcire lond 1i. vili.
#t of the butial'of M, Byllyshy .. dii. iiii.
1t.of JohnMuys wyffe for the:-Dracon il
It. of Alys Boyds ebt to xps cor-
© pysigilde .. Cevedienseatons il.
dt. foren bell .......... Txviii. i
At. for seyten vestments and trashe -

it the chest in frinete quere soldto

DAVY -ivevsanons vocovrraness XUNiL i
1t.of Wm. Burnis for pilows ..., .. xvi.
It. of Wih. Galow the younger for

OYFDE estereivedvonenve soevees KRs

Loow i

" Sm, totelis xxviii, -iiii. iti. ob,

-More superstitions ornements of ‘the ‘chavéh
were sold ia queen Elizabeth’s time, 1560.
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“  WHAPLODEL.

WHAPLODE, in the wapentake of Elloe, and
parts of Holland, is a village about 2} miles west

- of Holbeach. This town is ancient, and it is
_ distinguished as having been an appendage to the
_ahbey of Croyland, by the names Cappelade,

Qnappeiade,'and Quaphlode; the word lude, or
its equevalent fode, seems to imply that one of
the principal outlets from Croyland waters; was
by this cape, or headland, and hence thé name
of the place, Cappelode. ~

Whaplode, in its original state, was mhlblted

- by afew fishermen; who had erected their huts on

this eminence, for the purpose of carrying on
their daily employments of fishing aud fowling
with more convenieace than they.could other-
wise have done hy coming from a more distant
sityation, For this privilege some acknowledg-
ment was made annually, or perhaps oftener, to
the abbot of Croyland for the time being, as lord
paramount of these domains ; and, as a proof of

 this statement, we may observe that the prineipal
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Manor in this patish still retaigs: the- namie-of
Whaplode Abbots. As the inhabitants of this
cheerless spot were manifestly of the lowest order
of nmankiusd, -it became aécessary, towards their
meatal improvement, to imbue their minds with
the principles of ‘religion -and morality ; for, in
all ages of the world, this has been: the most
effectunl- polisher of a-barbarous people. - Te
efleot sor useful and desirable a purpese; one of
the early abbobts- of Cloyland ereoted: a .smadl
chapel for divine worship, and although we have
ue- autbientic: records of the timte: when. it was
‘built or the matesials of which it was.construdted,
yet there is little doubt but that it was originally
formed of wood, and cevered.with: thatel,- a3
. Spalding and many others in the sante jurisdietipn
are known. to have been. When the waterd begea
to retreat, and dry land appeared in this neigh-
bourhood, it became - the residence of people of
wmere -elinence, such as the Irby (Lord!Bostem)
sol Maynard families, and the wooden . ohapel
was- then taken dowh, aad the present.stone
church erected;in its room. King Johawhen on
his mareh from Lyan to Swingshead a.shettdime
previows 1o his death-establisbed .a«tollat: Helb.
beaoh-bridge, which isstil] Lken ofall perseds

YOoL. 11, L
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' passing-over it (excepting the fishermen of Whap-
lode aud Fleet) during one fortnight before, and
one fortnight after Michaelmas, in every year.

-In the appendix to Gough’s history’ of Croy-
land, is an account of the ill treatment of a monk
the abbot’s steward, sent by the abbot of that
place to Whaplode, to prevent the inhabitants
from cutting down some trees, near the church,
which belonged to Croyland abbey; the poor
fellow was roughly hmdled and was very near
being murdered,

In the year 1439, violent rains broke down the
banks, and drowned Whaplode common. Stuke-’
ley says, I have been told that at Theophilus
Grant's house in Whaplode, vear Gorham’s holt,
aqueducts of clay, ene let mto another, havé
been dug up.

. THE CEURCH
was built, and the vicarage appropriated to the
abbot of Croyland, in the year 1268, and it is
the most ancient church in this neighbourhood.
It is of Saxon architecture, and having been fre-
quently enlarged, is become one of the largest in
thie flourishing and populous district. Part of
the clurch is well pewed, and, excepting the
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seats on the north side, the whole i8 in good con-

" dition ; the pulpit is good, but the cloth which

covers it is extremely shabby. Here is a large

stone font, lined with lead. The chancel is neat,

but ‘comains not a single seat for the communi-
caufs to sit on!

In the south transcept, near the west end, is a

, monument, without any date, erected to the

memc;ry of Sir Anthony Irby aud-Alice his wife,

I3

whose recumbent efligies. are .well executed.

About this monument are six effigies of children,
“but in a very mutilated state; over the whole is
a very heavy stone canopy, surmounted with a
stone shield and crest. The canopy is supported
by ten composite columns, which are now giving
way under the pressure of the weight with which
they are boaded. 'Fhe iron.railing with which it
is surrounded defends it from external injury,
Near this monument hangs a knight’s helmet,
over which a banuer is displayed, the device of
which exactly corresponds with the stone shield.
In the upper and south windows are these:

" couts of arms. Barry of six azure and argent;

Azure, a bend gules, charged with three roses

argent; Argent, two lions passant gardant gules,
: L2 ’

.
~
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"Litilebury. In the east window of the north:
chapel, Littlebury, and Or, a fess between two
ehevronels gules; . and Sable, a fret argent, Har-
rington: Azure, on a bend gules, tlfree roses
argent, as before.

The steeple stands cnmplelelv on the outside
of .tlte south side of the east angle! but a com-
saunication with it and the body of the church -
has been lately made by a door-way, which has
been broken: through the side wall, near the s,
E; angle,

The five bells.in this steeple ase hung so as te
turn, when riaging, the contrary way round. to
bay others we have ever seen. The chureh is
dedicated to St. Mary; patron the king; it is a
#icarage, valued in the king’s baoks at.16l, 14s.
9}d. The Rev. P. Fisher, D. D. master .of the
Charter-house, rector of Elton, Huntingdon-
shire, and incumbent of a stall in Salisbury Ca.
thedral, is-the present mcumbent.

i

THE scuoot., &c.

-In ‘the vear 1708, Elizabeth -Wilson left a
mll estate, which new lats for 121, a year, to
the schoolmaster for the time being, to teach as
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‘many of the poorer sort of childien to.resd, ss-
the salary amounts to at- twapeace per week,
The school-room adjoins the chureh. )

An ancestor of Lord Boaton, built six alms
houses, for six poor widows, with an.allowance
of teupence a week to two of. them;—and from
the same sourse, thirteen twopenny loaves are
given, to as mavy poor persoas, who attend di-
vine service in. the church, every.sunday from:
the beginning of November to the end of April,
This.domation oaly occurs once in two years,

MODERN STATE..

The Lord of the Manor of: Whaplode abbots,
is the Rt, Hon. Lord Eardley; of St. Johu of
Jerusalem, the Rf. Hon. Sir Joseph Banks, as
" Lessee of the crown; of Whaplode Hagbeach,.
W. H. Freemantle, Esq. and Selipa his wife; of
Whaplode Kirk Fee,.the:Rev. Mr. Johnson, D.D..
of Whaplode Knevitts, T. Foster, Esq.; and of.
Whaplode Pipwell,. or.Pipewell, Mr. W. Smith.
Part of the Manor of ‘Ashweek lies in this parish,
which belongs to his Grace the Duke of Somer-
set. The parish is now (1814) under a survey, of
course the exact. number of acres cannot be as..
certained; but it is known to contain gbows 11000/

L.
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#erds, '6f ‘every variation of ‘quality, the soit in
sbme places being -strong clay, end . jo. others
silt. Many parts - of ithés parvish -censist of *fide
+7tl land; capable-of produeinig a last of.oats on
‘an’ gere, or- of  feeding -an ‘ox and :two “sheep.
The general - mode of managing the ‘aruble land
s, two cropis amil one-fatlow, Fhe average remt
is 40 shifllings an aere.. The fenees are diteches
-and qmckaet'hedges. ‘The tithes are eonpound
‘ed for at so-much peracre,
. Tho eatliest:account upen-record bf eny-tithe
endowment, relative to this parish, is in an in-
strament madé by Hugh bishop of Lincoln and
Pope ‘Honorius, in’favour 6f the coavent of
*Croyland. This'must have taken place a-shert
“time before the year of Christ 1200; asthe ubove
*bishop of Lincoln ‘died fn- that  year. The next
“account s the ‘endowment of the vicarage, by
Richard Gravesend, formerly bishop of Lin-
coln, who was consecrated in-1258. 'This en-
‘dowment leaves to the convent of Croylunid, the
“tithes of wool and tamb, flax, ‘hemp, and-eorn in
“the shotk. All othér-tithes, of whatever-des-
" criptioh, are distibetly given'to the viear.
“* At the'reformation, tire great:tithcs were given
“to the Governérs of Oakiram and Uppiaghem
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wehosls, and they are the present imprepriators.
fTise: principal.proprietors of .Jand in this parish
are the lords of the manors. The parish rates,

in 1803, amounted to 789l. 6s. 10}d. at 3s. 1d.
in the pound.

WHAPLODE DROVE

1s an hamlet to Whaplote, about 6 miles &.
N. E. from Croylaud. Here is a chapel dedicat-
ed to St. John Bapéist it is a curacy (not in
charge) and is endowed with lauds of the annu-
al value of 400l. hut it kas.nething te do mlh
tithes of any kipds
The Rev. J. Blundel, xector of Gwyhud.u4be
present incombent cupaie. .
+Beveral clusiers of hauses are seattered: about
-én different.parts of-thie parish, the -principel.¢
iwhich are, one.at the fen ends, abeuti3 ,milcs
‘froms ¢he church, valled 8t. Catherine’s ;i thereis
also another, ubout the same gistance frem the
-chusoch, on the rond w0 Fesdyke Wish, called
the Saracen’s Head, from the cis cumsiance of two
- Inus having each of them the:Saricen’s Head for
asign: this place conisins-as many inhabitsts
-asi{Whaplade Drove,, -

& . T |

Y
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The turnpike road from Holbeach to Spalding
passes through Whaplede, and here is a daily
post. \

Laga a2 22 2 d

MOULTON.

MoutrTow, which probably took its name
from a mill in its vicinity, is & neat village in the
wapentake of Elloe; in the- parts of Holland,.
about four miles west from- Holbeath:. .

- According: to the best authorities, Moulton-
began, frem a desolate waste, to rise into. snme-
thing like a village, about the vear of Christ-
1100, under the direction. and jurisdictien ef:

- Thomas de Mulkton, lord of Egremontjand lord of .

- Holbeach; 'This- account is confirmed from the
eireumstance of this nobleman . serving the office
of high sheriff of the county ef Lincolt-from the -
year 1106 to 1109;—one of his ameestors also
obtained a market for Fleet; 9 King John. This
baron resided at Moulton, in & house which is
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unmarried. In consequence of this, one third
of the estate was divided between Fitzwalter and
Harrington, a moiety to each; and the manors
are now called Fitzwaiter, Harrington, and the
moiety of Dominorum.

Several of the Multon family were called
Thomas, and one of these obtained a market and
fair for Holbeach, 37 Heory I11. (1253). It was
the father of this baron who gave the church of
Weston to the convent of Spalding (vnde vol. i,
p. 241.)

“ Maulton Hall (says Stukeley) whose ruins I
have seen, was the seat of Thomas de Multon,
loid Egremont, a great wan in these parts; bis
pame is among those of the barons who signed
Magna Charta.”

Here is a place called King’s Haﬂ but how
it came by that appellation, we have not been
able to ascertain.

In a green Lane, in this parish, stands a small
stone, [called Elloe Stone, which gives name to
this. hundred ; it stands about the middle of it.
This was formerly the main road across the

country, now called Old Spalding Gate.

“Old men (says Stukeley) tell us that here
was formerly kept an anoual court, I suppose a
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eonvention sud dis, of the adjacent parts, to
treat of their general affairs: a wood hard by is
called Elloe Stone wood.”

At Moulton was found an oblong” prismatic
piece of beryl, or river chrystal, in form of a
cantharius, supposed by some persons to be an
amulet, Dr.-Woodward supposed it -was a magi-
cal glass,” and some others have thought that it
was a British ornament for horse trappings, when

set in tin, like one which Sir Hans Sloane had.

Mr. Johnson showed it to the Society of An-
tiquaries, in the year 1788. At the same time
he showed a copper military ring divided into
eleven oval divisions, in the cehter IHS, to re-
mind the wearer to say ten pater nosters, in the
same manner as a Maltese ring had ten round
knobs, and a crucifix in the centre: one of these
was found in the vicar's gardeil.

Roman vessels and urns, of fine white and red
earth, were found in ploughing at Woods, three
miles south of Moulton, in the year 1721, They
were dug up near Ravensbank, and several of

® Similar to the ope described by Aubrey, when ke
says “ the magicians now use a crystal sphere, or pearl,
which is inspected by a bay, or sometimes by the quer-
ent himself.? Vide l&u:l. P- 129, where it is engraved.

<
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them were afterwards in the possession of Ms,
Hardy of Nottingham. Dr. Stukeley had an.usa
found within ten yards of thjs bank.

*“In the year 1683 the parishioners of Moulton,

upen pretence of beautifying the chureh; and by

virtue of an order from the deputy chancellor,
set up the images of - 13 apostles, St.. Paul being
one, and the Holy Ghost in form of a-dove over
them, .
After this, they petition Dr. Barlew, the bish-
op of the dioeese for his apprebation. He deni-
ed -their petition, hereupon the. chancellor an-
pulled the order of- his deputy,..and the images
were removed or defaced. Upon-whigh-the per-
sons concerned, appeal to the prerogative cour,
the bishep was cited by the dean. of the arches,
to shew cause why he suffered such images to be
defaced. On this occasion his lordship wrote-a
breviate of the case, wherein he proved, from
many aathentie records, injunctions and statutes
of Edward VI, Elizabeth, James, &e, and. also
from. the bgok of homilies, that images in
churches, painted on cloth or wall, are unlaw-
ful, repugnant to the Christian religion, and

-oentrary to the.articles-of - the- etrunch - of * Earg-

land. . Upan seading. this case.the prosecution



MOULTON. nt

" aginst ‘the bishop was immediately stopped.”
0ld Whig, Sept. 30, 1736.

On the 9th of Dec. 1765, a sudden and unex.
pected ' tide inundated the salt marsh and com-
mon at the northern extremity of this parish, and
drowned 2092 sheep, 7 beasts, and 13 horses,
belonging to the inhabitants of this place.

THE CHURCH,

with Moultos echapel, is valued in the king’s books
at 28l. 13s. 4d. Patron, the Rev. M. Johnson,
It is dedicated to All Saints, and is a vicarage, -
This structure, which is remarkably handsome,
was built about the year of Christ 1300, and the
beautiful spire at the west end, is of a more-mo-
dern date; it contains a peal of b hells, the ten-
‘or was cast so late awthe year 1806. The inside
is well pewed, and it has lately been fresh paint-
ed, and otherwise ornamented by the present
churchwardens. In the west end is a very hand-
some window, which has a grand appe‘arancq,:
* from the middle aile, by viewing it over the sing-
‘ing-gallery.  The font is curious, and several
scripture pieces are painted on its sides. On
one is a representation of Adam and Eve, and the
seipent with the apple in its mouth; on another
YOL. II. M
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Phersoh and hi kosts are drowning ia the M
Sea. Here are only two mural mepuments, hoth
of which ave in the middle aile, Ome is

Sacved to the memory of William Cerby, whe
died the Dth Dec. 1748, aged 6% Prudencs
Cerby, relict of the above, who died the 86th
June, 1768, aged 87. William Corby their son,
who died the 21st Jupe, 1778, in the 32nd year
of 'his age.

Blessed arve the dead who die in the Lord.
" The other is

Sacred to the memory of Alwe, the daughter
of Heosy and Aliee Boulton, late of Stixwosid,
#n the county of Lincoln, who was bom Sep. ist;
¥122, and died Dec. 6th, 1784,

On the floor in the ehausel:

" Here lyeth the body of Mr. Rebert Heath,
Vamr of this place, who departed this iife Moy
Bth, Anso Dom. 1685, aged: 4% years. Here
lysth the bedy of Mrs. Mary Heath, the wife of
Mo. Robest Heath, who depasted this life April
the 7th, Auno Dom. 1708, aged 83:years,

On the floor, at the-east end: of the church::

Jobannes Haeroxi funere digaus appliari bi
40 Damine requicseit, 1760\
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. 1a the widdle aile:

In a vault beneath this stone lie the rewmaind
of Johu Hardy, Gent. born Feb. 25th, ¥709,
died Nov, 26th, 1788, Also, on his left side
lies Alice Tatam, she died Nev. 22d, 1788, agetl
9 years; and also John and William Fatam, who:
stied iufants, his grandchildren.

Awother : .

Beneath this stone kie interred the remains of
Mrs. Ann Tatam, the widow and selict of M.
William Tatam, and daughtér of Jehn Hardy,
Gent. who departed thie life the 3rd day of Fe-
bruary, 3807, aged &7 years. :

Auother:.

Edward Huoniugs, Dec. 18th, 1733, aged 36
years, and aie infant son. Elizabeth the dasungh-
ter of Robest and Elisabeth Butter of Spaiding,
merchant,, and wife to she abeve Edward Hun-
nings and Charles Helland, both of this parisls,
Nov. 14th, 1780, aged 71 years, Frumoes S
sanna daughter of James and Elizabeth Soeath,
of Spaldinfg, and grandaughter to the above Edb-
ward and Elizabeth Hunnings, an infant.

Another: .

Uuder this marble was buried, February the
26th, 1763, the Rev. John Chapman, master of

M2
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the free grammar school in Moulton, aged 67

On his left hand was buried, June the 30th,
1761, Elizabeth his wife, aged 51. And, on her

Jeft hand was buried, November the 4th, 1749, ‘

‘Ann their daughter, aged 24.

- Another: .

Martha, wife of Edward Hunwnings of Bostos,
in this county, and daughter of Matthew and
Martha Clarke of this pasish, grazier, December
11th, 1787, a];:ed 26 years.

In the south-west corner: . .

" ere lyeth the body of John Rea, Gent. who
departed this life October.the 29th, 1676. -

MOULTON CHAPEL,

In the parish of Moulton, is at a considerable
distance south of the town, and about 6 miles N.
2. by N, from Croyland. Here are.a few strag-

gling houses, and an octagonal chapel ; a chapel -

not .in charge to . the vicar of Moulton, who is
the patron. Over the door is the following in-
scription : g
Deo R.F. 8. 8.
ECCLESIZ ANGLICANX
Ex VI. Rer. ResTIT F.D.
A 8. H. 1722,

e ———
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THE SCHoOL, &¢,
John Horrox, of pious memory, founder

of the free grammar school ¥ Moulton, did, in -
‘s lest will bearing date Sepember the YOth,

1560, give certain Jands te the saitl schoel for

ever, to the valwe of 84l. per-ann. and certain

lands ¢0 the poor of Moulten for ever, naw let

ot 10l @s. @d. por ann, which the -pious care

and management of the sucteeding feoffees have
purchased the yenrly.yolus of 34. mave to the
use of the snid poor. The benefaction board,

&om which the ahove was extracted, ales com- °

memorates several other dam Jﬁﬁ to the
poer of this parish.

The-doenation to the free schoel, at this time, .
eonsints of 248a. 1r. 7. which was valued by the -
eommissioness .at 2011 48e. 20d. but it makes.
shout dowble that sum. The several donations .

belonging to the peor amount at this time (1814)
$ 81a, 1r. 81p. valued at 76L. Pa, 9. but this
is only half what they make. .

Mr. Joha Kiaderley, engineer, who projected
mod carried into execution the cut leading to
Wisbeach river, called Kinderley's cut, was bu-

M3
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ried in Moui;on church-yard ; according to the
inscription on his tomb, he died in 1702.

MODERN STATE.

‘The lord of the manor of Fitzwalter belongs
‘to the Rt. Hon, Lord Boston; that of Harring-
ton to the Rt, Hon. Lord Eardley, with a moiety
of Dominorum to each of them. Here are also
the manor of St. John.of Jerusalem, which be-
longs to the Rt. Hon- Sir Joseph Baunkes, and
Goddards, which-belong to -Mr. Henry Holland
of Moulton, The manor of Spalding and its
members, .belong solely to Lord Eardley. The
tithes were exonerated.- at the time of the enclo-
sure, which took place in 1799. The. parish
contains 11148 acres, which let, on an average,
at 40s. per acre. The s0il in this parish varies,
being part clay and part silt; the clay soil is the
best, and is fit for either ploughing or grazing,
The general mode of cultivation is, to plough a
few years, and tlen lay down with seeds; “or
else, to fallow onee in three years, with a crop
of cole-seed; which, in general, is very good.
Part of the parish produces gosd hemp and flax,
and some of it is very rich grazing land. The
feaces of the new inclusure are, generally, quick
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or thorn hedges; the south of the parish is prin-

cipally fenced with ditches. A narrow ‘screed -

of Jand in this parish runs westward up to Bro-
ther-heuse, in the parish of Croyland ; Moulton
has also the privilege of taking fresh water from
the River Welland, which, in dry seasons, is of
essential service to the inbabitants,

Y

WRANGLE.

WRANGLE is a village in the wapentake of
8kirbeck, in the parts of Holland, about nine
miles N. E. from Boston, It is within the liber-
ties of the Duchy of Laucaster.

“ Wrangle (says Stukeley) an ab A. S. Wear la-

. cus, and hangel. armulo lacus arundinibus 06—

sita?”

Domesday Account.

In Weranghe (Wrangle) are ten carucates of

hnd to be taxed in the soke of Drayton. Land
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to five ploughs. Seven sokemen have thers owe
plough. )
Manor. In Weranzle (Wrangle) Adestan had
- two carucates of land to be taxed. Lawd to one
plough. Wido has. it, aud it is waste on .ecult
of the flowing of the sea.

In this parish are two hills, moated round, on
which houses have formerly stood, and part of
the foundations may now be ascertained. One
called King’s Hill stands near the common, the

_other, called the Ivory, is on the border of
Friskney parish, and this latter, in the year

1676, was in possession of the heirs of Sir John.,
Dineley, Kat,

*  About the same time Sir Charles Croft Read,.
“Knt. had censiderable pessessions in this parish ;-
Tre owned Wrangle HeR, new in-the occuputien
of Mr. Render, bat this bull and farm now be-
fong to 8t. Barthelowew’s Hospital, in London,.
o which it was left cither by Sir Charles or sae

of his descendants,

Thomas Woodcock, Esq was.lord of this ma~
nor in 1676 ; this gemleman was owner of seve-

“tal lends, &e. here, as West-creft, King’shill;
-and Woodtqft, bat the manor is new in the hands
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of the heirs of Rebecca Wright, and at their de-
cease it reverts to John Rooper, Esq. or his
heirs. In the reign of James the first the manor
of Wrangle-belonged to the king, who let the
fishing sands opposite this parish, in Boston
deeps, one for 40d. another for 6 shillings, and"
another for a noble.

Wrangle had formerly a haven, and it came
to within balf a mile of where the church now
stands. Tradition says that bere was formerly a
market, and that it was kept on a piece of ground
called the thorough.fare, and also that the haven
came up very near to this place.

The following curious document proves that
the manor of Wrangle belonged to Queen Eliza-
beth: _

To the Rt. Hon. Sir Francis Walsingham,
Knt. Chancellor of hker Majesty’s Court of
her highneses Duchy of Lancaster :

Humbly sheweth  unto your honor, your pore
and daily Orator, John Stephenson, of Wrangle,
in the County of Lincoln, her majesty’s farmer
of all the demesne, or demean lands, of her
highneses Mannor or lordship of Wrangle afore-
said, part of highneses duchy of Lancaster.
That whereas her majesty by her highneses Itres

Y
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patente and unde the seale of her highnes duchy.
of Lancaster, bearing date about the towe and
twentyte day of Novem, in the twentethe ninthe
yere of he majesties raigne, amongst other things
in the said lters patente conteyned, did grent and
demise unto your said orator, a cerfaine pasture
and pischary called the mere, otherwise Wran-
gle mere, and the scea and the dytclies and fish-
. eries of Fossett and " as prell of the de-
mesnes, or demene lands of her highnes said
manus of Wrangle, aod which hath allwaise se
reputed known and taxen, and always continued
in the possession and occupation of her mnjesties
farmers who always pecved and took thie pfiites
thense ia sach manner s the times and seasons
of the yere would pmite and suffer them, that is
to say, sometymes by fishing, sometymes by
takeiug the pfiite turbarye, sonsetimes by grase-
ing of her puikes. sometymes by brovage or
agistment of cattell, sometymes by such ether
wayes and means as the tinves and seasons did
afford unto them, yet nowe so it is, may it please
your Honor, one Ju. Goedricke, Jn. Woodrofe,
Jn. Hobson, and Simsa Wattson, have of late en-
tered into the same, ptending.title to their claim-
ing the same by color of cemon, and have udt
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saly themselves entered threrein, but aise by
certain practices confederating them selves te
gether, wysh divers others have stirred the rest
of the inhabitauts of the said toune of Wrongte
to enter into the same, and te claim the same as
common belonginge to the said toun, whereby
your said orator is not only likely to be debarred
thrufe out of the same, being leased vato him
by her majesties itres patent aforesaid, and te
tose the pfiite and commodities theresf duveing
the time of his saide leas, te bis greate loss and
hinderaumce, being unable otherwise to pay unte
%er highnes the rent resseved upon her gracious
“said lease, but allse her majesties likely to be
disherited of the same for eyer, without speedy
remedy be provided, therefore in tender consid-
eation whereof, may it therefore please your
- honor to grant unte your said orator, her majes-
ties most gracious writ of privy seal unto ker
highnas court of duchy camber, at Westininster,
to be directed to the said Jn. Goodricke, Jn.
Woodrofe, Jn. Hobson, and Simon Wattson,
cemwmanding them, and every of them, att a cer-
taive daye, and under a certaine paine- thereby
to bee limitted, psonally te appear before- your
bonor in her majesties court of duchy chamber
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at Westminster, then and there to answer to the
promises, and to avoid such furthere orders
therein as to your honor shall seeme meet and
convenient, and your orator shall daily pray te
God for your happy life long to continue.

THE CHURCH

Is a Gothic bmldmg, but much lighter and
haridsomer than many others in this ‘neighbour-
hood ; it is supported by some slender octagonal
-pillars. The pulpit appears to be old, but it is
beautifully carved, and’is made ‘of oak. The
font is supported by an octagonal pedestal, o
an ascent of three steps. In the tower steeple
are six bells. Several windows in the north
aile contain painted glass; in the one at the
<east end,” there are some human figures at pray-
er, and some Latin inscriptions ;—the colours
are, some of them, very brilliant.

The singing gallery was given by Mr. Francis
Goodrick, in the year 1778.

The church is dedicated to St. Peter and St.

Paul ; it is a vicarage, valued in the king’s book’s
at 9l. 18s. 61d. Patron, the Rev, R. anht,
-who is the present vicar.
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The living was formerly a rectory, and belong-
ed to the monastery of Waltham Abbey,

We noted the folowing inscriptions.

In the floor in the ehancel :—

Here liethe ye bodys of John Reed snmtnne mar-
chant of Calys, and 'Maigaret his wyfe, the
wiche John decessyd ye XXIIII daye of October
the yere of our Lord MCCCCE and III, the said
Margaret decessyd ye XXIIII day of March,
yere of our Lord MCCCCC and 111,
They for man, when ye winde blows,
Make the mill grind,
And eu on thy noune soul have,
Thod in mind that those,
Geuys what thy hand yt shall thou finde,
Aund yt thou leuys thy executou, comys
far be hyude
Do for your slefe while yt.have space ,
To. pray thee of mcy ahd grace, in heaven
to have a plaee

This is Found the' edge of the stone :—the in-
babitants here have a tradation that this John
Read was a great onflaw and a robber.

In' the soiith wall of the chancel is & monn-
ment, and close by it two recumbent figures,
‘*M’s man in armour, the other 3 wman.

soL. il, ' »
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parishes of Leake and Wrangle for the mainte-
mance of two,men sad twe.women, called mem-
‘bers of the Bede-bonse, To this donation there
have been sexeral additivns made by others, and
the whole now .ameunts fo 13¢L.. per annum,
The Bede people .have a,weekly. allowance of
one shilling. Acgording to. Mr. ,Alluong will,
the bede members were to go to Leahg and
Wrangle church alterngtely, in tbe forengen aid
afternoon of evary day, and there Tepeat gertain
prayers prescribed by the Wll} i but this religi-
ons ceremony. has beep long omeq dispensed
with. Also one of the Bede-men, who could
plainly read Latin and English, was to tead the
.same prayers, three times every day, ina little.
eratory, or chapel, on the premises where the
Bede houses stand. Beside this, he was to be
master, and teach.the Latin and English lan-
guages, not only to the children of the parish, -
but to any person whatever who might be desi-
rous of learning those.languages,. C e

Here are also three cows always kept on the
premises for the use of the Bede members.

They have also given to each of them at Christ-
‘mas, five shillings in lieu.of five yards of white.
cloth, at one shilling per yard, which was te

‘.1
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The Bede-houses stand dn an eminence, called
Joy's- Hill, gn the left-band side of the road lead-
ing from Leake to Wrangle; at the back of
these houses the [olh sea bagk went between
these two last-mentioned parishes.

A little past the Bede:houses, on the road to
. Wrangle, is a neat Methodists Chapel, which
was built by the late Mr. Jobn Gilbert, for the
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exonerafed on. the enclosuse of the common,

which took place about three yess ago. The

pnncnpd proprietors of l;nd are, Mrs, E. Chap:
~ flin, the lords of the manor, the Rev. R. Wﬂglﬂ,
¥Mes. M. Bllckwntth. lnd Welby (] bem

' LEAKE.

LeAKs ‘is 8 smill village in the hondred. of

. $kirbeck, in the parts of Holland, about 8 miles

N. B, from Boston. - Leske: signifies a*'watery
- marshy place, says, Stukeley; it is from the
- Dutch word kck, and signifies a bmch or holt
: vlucb lets out water, . .

. Dmedqy Acmt o
In Leche (Leakg) are twelve carucates of land
to be taxed in the soke of Drayton., Land teo
ten ploughs. Thirty two sokemen, and thirty
villanes, and fifteen bordars have there elexen
ploughs, and twenty-six salt pits, and thirty-four
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scres of meadow, Of this sokp twe of the Earl's
- yassals have two carucates,. and therein twe
-plaughs, and ove bordar, and. ﬁftm salt m '
aud ten villanes with one plough, .

In 3n extraet fmn-tlle parish bo_oks. wade by

the Rev. Jaceb Conington, at the time he wae
vicar of this church,.in 1869, it is said, * That
" - Leake steeple .was begum tp be builded A. D.
1490, and was. finished A, D\ 1547, so that it
-was in building. 67 years. The sum of money
‘received by the churchwardens, during all the
time of the building thereof, amounted.to 350k
34s. 10d. er thereabouts.” This.was taken from,
the accounts iw the church- chest at that, time,
but those accounts are now Jost, :

On a hill near the Floars alngh;rhom foma"
ly steod; the haven eame up close to this place;

The house now occupied by Mr. Brooks is

moated nearly all reund, and has been entirely
s0; it was formenly called The Great Chauntree.
This has evidently been a religipus house, from
the various religious relicts that bave been oby
served here within the memory of some of the
oldelt inhabitants. M. Brooks found a stone
font in the moat, a few years ago, but it is now



w tEAKR!

dedtrdyed. THS hods My have béedi a etisipét
OF dask ta-thé Presett CHitch, but ‘of this we
MVE 1o eettile prbo®s. - The Va5t Miistor of A8
Chauntree, or ds tre witd talYed Chptlinis, wut
Thowas Paynson, and this was in the year 1529.
- - Neéar the low o Fhdilig Froi Beiifibgtod to
Witigle; ¥botit'a hile Had 4 BAIY teavly ddst of
¢ thiireh; is #in ancidnt dtotle Buiding,’ calied
the #out Homise.' ‘This b daid to- have been 4
Fliidhs hodse,  biit thelé is ¥earcely dify ¢Hind
0w 16Tt to bINE the FaEY, ortoiifor hs wht
R HadiBedws Heretth hiv Pecerds fespedtidy’ it:
bt ft 18’ pruBeBHy older - thd ahe Predidt patis

- Surch; wddwas bl place of relisibds worship !

ab®dhde H iff sl dEZNE: LoVt BOAE by MY

following circumitRhcé ;i H&rd oF Pd; B

JoNRY SN Helnging 0> Bhe LRGN YAAE be-
Mgy 16 the bmu whe B«m e Moat md
Mrtv: '
' TH thfﬂa& Way IR PBssbwisy O e
HRIFoF Mr} ThOmAd Browd, But Lord: G«yaef
# e predént: swer, - TH followisg Abcouk
otith dxtictetf frdnt st Aerd-bodle: # It Rrifioidd
- AU o uvesadagy, ‘Ruei By the infhe® bF L.euke
Mot Fotive, Anft furty adiés of pisrired, Betivieh
e Litnds of 2=== Dby towird¥ the smu nd

—————




LEAKE, 141

lnds of W. Erskine towards the north.” This
was in 1690.
‘The Moat Houu has beea much larger thc '

. walls are very thick, and the windows small, so

that it has ruther a gloomy appesrance within.

~In oné of the chambers.are four coats. of aris;

6n a board over the fireplane; but the embla-
soning being gone, it is-not an easy task.to make
out to.whom they have beloaged. ‘. Qpe is.somes
thing like the arms of Swith of Elsham, (See
Yorkes Unjon of Honor.) Anothcr chamber is
wainscoted, and aver and roupd the fireplace is
some. curioys . carving. in' the: oak ;——beautiful

K folinge and human figures, embossed and gilt;

mpﬂ  Jive had. a very grand appearance, Aa
old’ rusty basket-hilt sword, and a kind of horse

pistol, are the only moveable antiquities which
now find a place in thia yenerable pile. It is at
present covered with thatch instead of lead, and
the porch, .or former entrance, is tnnsformed
intoacellar,, .. . -

At a very short dlshnce from the Moat
House, on the right hand side of the low road
leading to Wrangle, is a house called Derdy
Hall, which no doubt took its name from its

. Passessor, Derby, who foymerly lived here. In
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the.guble bud: is‘a ebat of onwh, Fhichispyicens
to be brick, a chevron and three lecplinds’hemds
acrescent, which ese 1ast 'very dstingdishkible.
.The building stands pamly w she pansh <of
.ledke, and tire other past in Levevion, :
The folowingaoconat of he vicuts, &e. und
mbsseys of thé great Chounivea, was commuith
 eated by Mr. R. Plam, who ks dam ¢herk of
~ dwe parish doorc thaw five xod ity vedrs.
"Thomas CHRA, Wics?, ive. voti ol e tr LESR
Throwius Paywsén, !h;)dm, ceviareie, 1488,
" Allen Reml, vichn, (visv.vvenrinonsnt HIGR
Thomes Codvil, reetdr; .Lueois.savhee TGO
Thentas Colvid, Gicar, died. .4 svs ot oorn ISR
déhn Colwily, vicsr, isovvessonobeicren MBHK
dehn Geekn, Vicay, W, Gertiy, phicit, and
Richard Robiws, smaster of the. great.
© Chauntree, veisicivttebnioinisyes 1200
Thouias Buynson, gapelsnts 4. ivvvv. DOTS
8ir W. Qurtis, capelation, ;4.0\ oies 1698-29,
Thomas.Paynson, capelanus, ....%svv 03 $380
William Curtis, ¢apekashs, .iv .o ot io o B8RS,
Jobn Greem, vicar....cov.vivi ey 1527:28
Thomus Puynsow, eapetanus, i o1ivs.14. 10204
Nickolas Stevenson, cusate ... i i 1860-81s
. Thomas. Brown, vicwr, was borg at Bray-
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" toff aad\wias.industed: into; this wie
Carege. ab 38 years of i9ge.. o v0ioee. PG
Authony,Wisom, visar, ....,... “evi'ss 1616,
Edward Heywood, vicar, - .eoiiieeeses 1081,
William Weight, viear, ...c.ce.vee0.: 1684,
Henry Coniagton, vieas, ... ool ico.o. 16848,
William Weight, viean, ..i. 0000000000 1858,
Frapois Lawsem curate, .o............ 1680,
Jacoh Coningten, earate, ....c.ve..... 1871,
Jacob Conington, Nicar, .vc.veeseesas.. 1693,
Richard Baily, vivas of) Wrangle, officiul -
PEQABIRPODE, ‘ooeh iussececoveses 1720,
Rivhagd Kirls, cymmte; . .00 000evoeneeee 1121,
Richard Baily,-durste). vican of Wrangle, 17224,
Skiayst Baily, cusafe. lty seqpestmation,.. 1728,
Skinner Baily, viean, ....vc..c%vee0r.. 1729,
John Packen, vicag; P: Hacket, curdte, .. 1784.
George Hogarth, ourate; .o..eeven... 1765,
George-Hazsison, corad, ...oeeeeeee.. 1767,
George Harrison, vicas) cieo vevepiaors 17,
Thomes. Arkeld, curate-3cmonths;...... 1794,
Ricliard; Wrigls, wioar of Vrangle, curate, 1¢04.
R. Wright, vic: o6 Waangle; cur by seques. 1705,
R. Holgate, vicas, R. Wyight, cusste, .. 1798.
Wilson Banks, custte; - ...oiaes,one., 1811
John Butt,. vicar; Vi Baaks; curate, .... 1812
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The following is an acrostie by the Rev, Ja
eob Covington, vicar of Leake, who died 1_71'0:
1 ncluded sleeps, guite spent iw’s race,
A n old weak trumpeter of grace; .
. C onfined to silence, till th’ alarms .-
. O f lowdest trump sounds to erms !
. B lest, when both soul and body’l be
" . € onjoined, and. raised by th’ potent three, °
. Ob! may we not their saeved will
. N eglect to.practice. or fulfil,
1n veil of tears, or mount of jay,
. N ew. hymns. of praise our. tongues employ. -
. G raot, Lard, onr tongues may bear their parts;
T o sing in concert with our hearts. v
O ur friend thus pray’d while living liere,— :
N ow sings bis part in.yonder sphere.
¥ ncontro¥d stand some popish teicks " . . -
J:n thirteen bundred sixty six,” K
C ontrived the painful wretch to starve, :
- A nd.largely for the lazy carve;.
R ectors.were then new nam'd, and bore
‘O f Leake ere since the style of poor;
F aiot-hearted Vicars, sans recruit, .
- L eaves made their lot, instead of fruit.’
B nforced mute to.stand oft times' . . - - '
.. A midst oppressions lowdest crimes,’

1
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K ept duty crapt, if me;xdicant,

-E ntangled or ensnar’d through want.-

That charity’s monstrous all wust say,
“Which robs St, Peter, Paul to pay,” -~ '

The antiquity-of the following document res-’
pecting the endowment - of the vicarage of
Leake, entitles it to attention:

' Dotatio Vicarie de Leek.

'l‘empore Domini Johannis Rockmgham olim’
Episcopi-Lincolniwe, qui ccepit preessé Ecclesize’
cathedrali beate Mariz Virginis meolmm 7mo.
die Kal.  Julii 1363. : S f

Portione vicdrii pertinente dicte Ecclesiz de’
Leek salvd deditd pariter excepta, quam quidem'
partionem in summa petitionis infra scripte de'
fructibus ejusdem Eeclesize pércipiendum volu-
s, ordinamus decernimus et declaramus debene
consistere in perpetaum. Co

* Imprimis ne eriatur materia dissentionis et dis-
cordiz inter dilectos filios custodem et Collegium’
Capeltanorum unius-Cantarie infra clausum Ec-
clesiz nostre Lincolniz factz etipsum vicarium
vfdinamus quod Vicairus qui pro tempore ibidera
faerit ad dictam Vicariam per dictum custodem’
et collegium preesentatus et ad eandem admissus
ad omnia opera dicte Ecclesiz incumbentia et

voL. I} o ‘

)
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subeunda percipiat siogulis annis de dracsibus
Ecclesimde Leck aute dictze quadragista marcas
Sterlingorum per mapys cystodis et. colleghi ad
quatuor anui texmines per mquales-porticues per-
salvendas, iz, ad festum sancti Michaelis Arch-
angeli dccem marcas, ad festum natalis Domiyi,
decem marcas, ad festum Pascuz decem marcas,
ad festum vo@ avnunciationis sancti Johannis

. Baptiste decem marcas sine delatione ultériori.
Et -dictus vicarius qui pro tempore fuerit in ea-
dem omnia ouera ordinmia et etiam extraordina.
Tia p}o rala sug portionis subiet et perpetuo sup-
portabit, refectione Cancelli dicte Ecclesize dun-
taxat excepta quam ad dictum custodem et Capel-
lanos dicte Cantarie volumus et ordinamus per-
ipetuis temporibus pertinere.

Item volumps et ordinamys statuimns et ‘ls-
cernimus quod Vicarius dicta vicariz qui erit pro
tempore habeat in perpetupm infra Rectoriam

. dictz Ecelesim Mansionem congruam et sufficien-
tem ubji perpetuo babitabis. )

Potestatem autem portionem dicte \'wana
addeudl, diminuendi et si quid in permissis
ghscusum vel ambiguum contigerit illud decls-
ragdi et ipterpretandi supphendi et corxigendi so-

B
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Iiis suceessoribus suis et Capitalo nmostro Lin-
colniz - quo{ies opus Yuerit ex'pressere' serva-
mus. Quorum omnium lestimonfum Sigillut-
nostrum - prssentibus ut appensum, dat quoad:
consignationem apnd Bougden. 6to- die Junii,
anno . Pomini 1366 et nostree consecrationis 4to.
Hw®e copia extracta fuit regesteric Domini
Episcopi Lincolnie et examinata 23to die
Muaii A. D. 1688.  Bumptibus propriis
Jacobi Conington cleri cei et Ecclesie dicts

Wicarii,
Johani Walker Notar publicus.

THE CHYRCH

¥s an #mcient gothic structure, with a low tower
steeplé, containing five bells. The fontis oce
tagomal; and supported by an octagonal pedes-
tal; it is a.neat chancel, and ttie body of the
Clmrch is well'pewed. It isa discharged vica
tage, va'ued in the King’s books at 131, 5. 8d.
Patroy; the Governors of ‘Oakham StHool, kuto
land; the Church is dedicated to St. Mary.
" Thie oldest Registeris the following ; —Elizabeth .
Crauforth was baptized the 181li. of Dec, 15753
!rom whicli time the Registers are perfect. TIn
one of the south windows in the chancel, is'a.
20
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recumbent marble figure of a man in armor,
which has not however escaped white washing ;
It is not known who it is intendcd to represent.

In the chancel floor are the following inscrip-
tions.

To the memory of Eliz. daughter of Rich.
Johnson of Ripingale, wifc of Mr, R. Gilbert
of Leverton who died in 1732 aged 35,

.- Also one to the memory of R. Gilbest Esq.
late of" Leverton, who died in 1760, aged 70
years.-

Another to Mrs. Eliz. Blishury, mother of
Mrs, Eliz. Gilbert, who was interred i in 1720
aged 55,
~ On aoother ;—Here Iye'h the bady of Ms.
Dymoke Derby, interred Jan. 26..1701; Dorcas
Derby his eldest Sister, interréed on his right
hand Dec, 31 1701; Eliz. wife of Mr. Rich.
Parlabean his youngest Sister, interred on bn
left band.

Feb. 14 1701; Mary, daughter of the said
Richard and Eliz. Parlsbean, laid upoo ber
mother’s feet Feb. 19, 1701.

John Derby, younger Brother to the said Dy~
: lnoke, interred in St. Laurence Church yard,
in_the City of Norwich, Aug. 3 1791, Al
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these persons diéd of the small'pox, ~ ' 4" 7

‘Readlr prepire, death’ will spare 'uo'iie #five)

- Of seveir of oné bloud are shin'6, - -
Peborah Parldbean, and Johr Amp‘lefom' s\rrl
viving.

Under tfie singing gaﬂer\' on & mroral fromm:
ment °

Ina vault near this place, Ties the body of
the Rev. Geo. HarriSon, minister”of Leake 29
years, who died Nov. 30. 1796, agell 73 years.
Also three children, Joseph agvéd’ 6, Yohn
Crouchley aged 20, and Kitty aged 15. Like-

wise one grandchild, Maria Evison, aged 2. Mrs.

Harrison died at Liverpool and was interred Dec.
10. 1801, ir Warrington old €hurch, Lancashire.

In the floor under the singing gallery;—Ja.
cob Conington Clerk, minister of Leake 48
years and four months, interred Feb. 4. 1719,

aged 71 years; Also Abigail his w;fc, mterred :

Nov. 19. 1749, aged 71, years,

wonmm z‘rAn;. .

s

Thelord of the manor of Leake is the:Rewm
CGhirrles Gery i right of Ms wifé, The menor .

house i ‘mow occepied by Mr. Baston, ¥: ik

called soke of Skirbieck, and part: of the: howor .

‘03

.
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of Richmond. The number of acres in this
- parish, excludiug the,fen allotments, amount to
67563, which.let on an average for 35 shillings
per acze, It is a fipe ,vich soil, some of which
is silt, but the Ings are, principally, clay. The
fences are mostly ditches. It is excellent gra-
zing land, and very good arrable. The fen al
lotment amouynts to 1471a..3r. 32p. The princi-
pal proprietors of land are the Rev. C Gery,
F Johnson Esq. Mis. M. M. Buckwerth, F.
* Chaplin. Eaq, Col,. Elmhirst, and Mr. E. Dixon,

LEVERTON.

. LRVERTON, “Leofric oppidum ; he was,a po-
tent man (says Stukeley) thereabouts at the time
of the Norman’s coming, and gave to thie town.
much.common ;—his deed of gift is now.in pos-
session of the Rev. and worthy. Vicar, Mr. Wm
Falkner, which I bave seea”. This deed of &
Leofric, weare sorry to say.is.now. lost.. S
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- Leverton is a small village in the wapentake
of Sk:rbeck and parts of Holland, about six
ailes N. E. from Beston.

Domesday Accounf.,

In Leverton are twelve carucates of land tor
be taxed in the soke of Drayton, Land to as
many ploughs. Twenty-five sokemen ard fifZ -
teen villanes and twenty-four bordars lmve there
twelve ploughs There is a priest and- a charch,
and. sixty acres of meadow. Of this. soke twe
of the Earl’s vassals hase two carucates of land
ands three oxgangs, and: bave there three ploughs
at work, '

The following: persons appear to have been.
rectors of this parish, having signed the several
terriers, as suchy with the annexed dates, in the
Registry Cousts at Lincola.

Henry Peacham, .....cecocc... A, D. 1005
Edward Greuthead, (thus signed) .... 9 mber
Francis Bowman, «..ceccencesccoersss 1688
John Whiting, (buried 11 Oct. 1689)....1648
R. Edwards, cecaessececsceoses soneas 1681
Edmund Pinchbeck, (no date) .......... :
Wm. Falkner, (buried 21 Dec. 1727) .... 1708
Rich. Falkaer, (buried 14 Feb, 1780 £t 74): °
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Henry Linton,—North Mediety ........ 1784
Samuel Partridge, M. A. South Medicty .. 1784

This is a true extract takem from the Registry
Court at Lincoln, the 3d. of Nov. 1809, by the
Rev. J. Caparn the present Rector of Leverton.

THE CHURCH .

Is dedlcared to St. Helen, of whom Wheatly: re.
lates the following Lewend: vidt pa.-58.

“The 3d. of May is celebrated as a festival by
the Church of Rome, in mestory of tlie iuvention
of tlie:Groas, which is said to" be owing to thiy_
circumstance, [elenn, the mother of €onstaw.
tine the Great, being admonished in a dream to
search for the €ross of Christ at Jetusafens; took
" 4 jouraey ‘thither with that intent; and, Hvimg -
eumployed labouvers. to' dig- at Golgotha; ufied
opening the ground vedy deep, she fountt' threé
-@oodses, which.she concluded. were the ‘Crouses
of. otir Sayiour sad the two TFiidves; who wire
expcuted. with him ;~—hut - being ' at ‘a' lovs' té
lonow which. wis the Cross of Christ, she' orferl
odiithem. all three te- be applied: w a’ dead.
person.

- Two of them’ ﬁw story says; had no- eﬂbét bat
the thivd ryived the -body “to life, - whith was s
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¢vident sign to Helena, that ¢hat was the Cross
she looked for.”

Now at the east end of this Church, over the
chancel window, which is a very fine one, is a
large ancient Cross, and upon the adjoining ves-
try are two other Crosses, somewhat smaller,
but apparently of the same date, and order;
these were probably designed .to be emblemati-
cally descriptive of the abuve traditiovary
Legend. ~

The beight of the tower of this church, from
the ground to the top of the purapet at the wes-
tern extremity, is 65 feet, and, upon the ledd of
© i, is the following inscriptien; “The church
and chancel were new covered im 1728, John
Abrabam, Freeman Marston, Church Wardens.

In this parish formerly were two distinct rec-
tories, called the north and south medieties, and.
the tithes of the whole parish were equally divi- -
ded between the two Rectors. It had also two
separate parsonage houses, and tradition says
two Churches. On the 16th of May 1800 an-
act of parliament was passed for the consolida-
tion of the two medieties ;—and ou the 24th of
May 1810, an act was alsa obtained for the in-
closure of tlie parish.
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The cover of the Chalice, or saéramental twp
has a curious device engraven npon .it; vie.a
lever and a tow, evidently denoting, *in -hierogii-
phic characters, the nume of the itlage, Lever

* ton. Above these emblem:me figures-is the
date which is 1669.

Here isa very beauiiful font, standing on # -

octugonal pedestal.  The Church is well* pevwd
-and is altegether, very neat

The Clurch is in a perfect state, havmg ato
remote period received u considerahle repuir,
from which couse, ncither ihe body. of the
Chutch nor the steeple, . present- (estesnally at.

sleast) any field for the observation of: the anfi-
‘quary ; the ehameel bowever makes him ample
smeads, giving a grod specimen of ecclesiash
cal arclritectore of the fourrteenthr century, Ad-
Joining to_it, on the south- side, is-a vhantry,
© now used as the parish vestry, an ohject of no
incansiderable interest for his contemplation,
‘On or within the south wall of the cliancel, are
three stone stalls f most exquisite work ma.
ship, to describie the: lisaniies of witich tlle pea
secans not lo po'ssvss an adeguate power, A
beautiful engraving of these statls wis -given in-
the iast Volume of the i opographical Cahinet,
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! from a-drawing by the late W. Brand Esq.
For a great Iength of time this respectable ob-
Jectof antiquity had received repeated applica-
tious of quick lime, whitewash, or yellow ochre,
a3 best agreed with the churchwurden’s ideds of
cleanliness, and beauty, uutil it -became screen-
ed from the eye of common observers.

From this obscure and degruded state it was
recovered a -few ‘years ago by the discernment
and taste of the' present worthy Rector, the
Rev, J. Caparn, under whose direction it bas re-
ceived a careful and complete dressing.

In the chaucel floor, on a flat slone, is the fol-
lowing inscription.

Here lyes the body of Elig. daughter of Thos,
Danvers of Upton-and Caltherp, in com, Oxon
Esq. who by Nicholas Dymoke of north Kyme
in com. Lincoln Esq. her first busband, had issue
Sir Edward Dymake, Kt. whe performed the of-
fiee: of champion at the coronation of King
Charles the IL she died about the year 1640,

L ©On a square brick ase three H's in memory’ of
' Captain Hart, late of Boston. ,
It is 2 reetory valued in'the King's books at
- 1al. B8s. &d. Patron the Rev. J. Capars, the
| eldest register isin 1675, -

AN



MODERN STATE.

The Lord of the manor.is the Rev. Charles-
Gery, The parish contains about 8000 acres,
exclusive of the fen allotments, which is 555,
4r. 15p. so that the total quantity of land is
about 25552, 8r. 15p. which lets on an ave..
rage for 45 shillings per acre. ‘

The soil, in the west side of the pamb is
clay; the east side is fine grazing land. "The
fences are mostly ditches. The principal propris
etors of land here, are Abm. Sheath Esq: of:
Boston, Mr, Johnson, Col. Elmhirst, W. Inge-
low Esq. of Boston, Mr. Burton, Jn. Yerburgh'
Esq. and Mr. Hallam.

The tithes were exonerated on the inelosure
_of the fens. o .

. The commencement of the. present celftury
preduced the uccession of upwards of 390 acres
of rich' arrable and pasture land to this parish,
from the commercial and enterprising spirit of
A. Sheath Esq. of Boston, who undertook to
erect a new bani(, nearly three miles in extent -
from north to south, on the eastern part of the
marsh nearest the sea, at about the.disfaice e
half a mile from the former sea bank,_
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This great local aid natiomal improvement’:
ogst .upwards of 5600l. and was completed in-
1801, ever since that period, the land thes in-'
closed has beean produetive of excollelt crops of »

wheat, oais, &e.
1t is generally admitted that tkat man is a be-

nefactor to his Country, whose inventive geniug
can make two blades of grass grow, were only
one grew before;—surely not less -pruise is- due
to him whose expensise projeets have been thus ’
syccessfully carried into effect, and where wdves
only. swcceeded waves with -every flowing tide
for centeries past,. has istroduced’ the plough.’ }
By this. fostering parent of feitility, -thas pro-
perly directed, he bas called .those: sterile ‘sands
into vegetnble life; which.in the language of the
Royal Psalmist, have since stood so “thick’ wilh
carn. that lheymayhnghlndsmg g ’

- BENNINGTON *'

~—— N PR ARS: RO
v . .-

A ,smlllmmh in thé.w:penu'ho of Shirheck, iw*
b 4
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the pants.of Hdlland, is it} :miles from Boitom,
and pae-south of Levertow. Stukeley 'says'thse
the towns énding én Jmgiton, ingham, sre vo ehH- -
ed aslyivgrupon a Mead, or-lugs; henée Bm-
nington probably came from By-big. town, X
being adjoising to the Ings.

' . - Domesday Account,.

Bevewick engd soke, In'-Remingtone (Bénhiagi
tan) two.carucates of land: wnd two oxpamgs to be
taxedy, Land te thwee ploughsy Ten' oxgunge
ace iyland, aid ene carueatersole Of 1his Manor.
There is one plough in the: dembswe, -and "thiee :
sokemen and ove birdsr huve one plosgh, 'and”
tweaty acres of meddow, )

n \Beningtun' (Bennington) Earl Alan iy
ten oxgangs of land, but the jury of the wapen-
take say it belongs 10 Wilitam de Waren's- masve
of Carletun (Carlton)and Eail Harold his aute.
cessor had it so.

“‘Benington was the jointure of Clemencia the

second wife of Remdik BAudevil® carl of Ches.
ter, who was divorced from his first wife, Con-

This *nobleman son amd *heir of Hugh Kiveliock
was the sixth Earle Palatine of Chester, as also Earle
of Lincolne, He had two wives, first Constan _the
saly ¢fupberiiutohalie of Coniasj DEKESF HItIL"

o .




BENNINGTON. 180

tsuace, becanse:-the King muth. frequented - her
compuny, which was such an offence, and nneasi
-nesg fo bim, that the King himself allowed it and
coasented to it, ' -

How this manor passed into this family of the
earl of Chester, we do not find; but that it was
Bot givea them by the Couqueror Domesday .-
book assures us; where: We'"ﬁqd thet ‘Wm. De
Warren afierwards made earl of Surrey by King
W, Rofus, baving acoompanied King Wm, I,
in his expedition into England, and fought val-
jantly’for him against Harold ;—he being victor
and seon sfter King, conferred upon him, among
other lordships in other purts ofthe realm, this
of Besnington and Fishtoft a small village at the-
mowth of the Witham, Dy, Puller tells us ‘that
20 mice mor rats: wil} harbour at Fishtoft, inse.
much that Barms built: half in this parish and
.haif in another, the side that stands 'in ¥ishtoft,
shail’ be: freé froqy them,dud the other annoyed
taine, \yitli wl.lom he ha‘d ‘th,e2 Dutchv' of ﬁrita{;ne' and.
‘Earsedome of Richmond, his seéond wite was' Ciemens
cia, the Sijter of Geffrey de Fulgers, or Fyigitijs-&
nonie man of Normandy, but had ne 13sue by either of

m, leaving his foure sisters as;hbives unto him.

his Rauvdoiph was in great esteeme in the tines ¢f
Jiug Hemry the secodd, gh\g Nichdki’thie first, Kimg
Jubn, and King Heury the thjrd, ue,dind dano; \#

(York's union of Tenour.)
P2
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- with them, which seems something extraordisa

'ry and too strange to be true; however tis thi's

_ 1 furarbe; ® passes for sach among “the vnlgar.
(Magua Brztumma-)

W

THE CHURCH. .

Tl.e ¢lmch is & handseme and m.pechble
s gothic building, kept in excellent rqmn, and
very pe& PR N
.The living'is a. veetory, valued in the kmgl
.‘bool,ss at 331,35, 11}d. The Church is dedien-
.1ed 10- All Saipts; Patroti the Hon. Geo. Hobart.
. .The tawer.steeple contains six very musical
-bells, being the best in this neigkbourhood.
. The fond is octagonal and dtauds on a fight of
+steps, supported' by ‘an octegonal -pedestul. {t
is covered with sculpture, the design of whish
had very evidently un stiusion to the dedication
of the Charch, all the suints being carved in the
various compartments, except the east faee
where the Sculptor has thrown two divisions
into one, and with the impious liberties of these
times has attempted to personify the Deity!
There is wo date. &c on this curious pm of an-
quty, whereby one might. ascertain its age, but,
“from"~the style of ornament, a couJécture ]
=1
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_bazzarded. that it was erected about.the m‘(ﬂe
of the foucteenth ceatury. ~ o
Formerly thefe was a great. deti of piinted

‘glass in the windows of this Church, among

which, on one’pane, ‘was a fine head of William
of Weinfleet; but this verérabile relic, was stolen
only a few years'ago, by a plumber who was em

ployed to repair the windows. Anotber fine.
bread is in possesiion of R. ‘Waldgrave Esq but
it is not known who it is designed to repreunt.
Mr. Waldgrave purchased it for the sake of pre<
serving it from demolition. In one of the win-
dews is a figure of the’ virgm and child.

Many of the windows in the north and kouth .

sifes have straight ‘tops or.arches, *The’ living .
formetly- belonged. to Bii W. Ellis, who present-

o it to tbefamnly of Hobard Earl of Buchﬁg

bamshire.

In the Church yard on a gravestone is the fol-
lowing inscription: Sacred to the . memory of -
Mr. W. Purril, shopkeeper . of this parish; who .
died Oct. 25, 1727 A&t 67,

Bequeathing his estates for the endowment of
a_school, apd amply providing .for the mainte- .-
mance of a schooluraster, two poor men and two
paor women, belonging to tlm and the adjommg :

Pa;
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parish of: Leverfon; for ever, and denominating
the charity, which this perishable stbue can: but
.feebly recoid, Bmgton Bede. - - v -

MODEBN STA'I'E-

The lord of ‘the manor of Bay-iall or Bfn-
nington, is Robert Waldgrave Esq. The . parish
,cqntains 2400 acres, which lets on an average for
.35 shillings per acre, fen allotment 530a; 2r. 10p.
. The soil near the sea is' mixed, sand and lgam,
_and the best mode of cultivation is Turnipe, Bar-

leﬁ,.&eds, and ‘Wheat. The low lands are .

clay and loam, and the.mode of cultivation is
‘Beans and Wheat. The fences are pars hedges
. and part ditches. The tithes are-paid by .com-
position, « The principal preprietors of land are
D. Lance Feq. A. Sheath' Esq, Mr. Ja. Ealaad,
Rob. Waldgrave Esq. Dr. Johnson and the Mrs.
Buckworths,

 BUTTERWICK.

BUTTERWICK is a small villagé in the wapen-
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take of Skirbeek, in the parts of Hollamf, about
4 miles nearly east from Boston.

Here are few or no ancient buildings of anv
note, in a pasture, .a little way S. W. of the
church. are some foundations, but nothing is
known respecting them; the pasture is called
Sempering Garth. .

At the east end of the town, where there is
now a large pit, was formerly, in the merory
of man, a large hill, with a stone Cross about 10
or 12 feet high, on the top of it. .

Butterwick may boast of being at oue time
-the residence -of at least one man of learning.
“Thomas Grainger, minister of this place, pub-
‘lished more then two hundred years ago, a small
quarto volume, which was a parapbrase on the
Eeclesiastes. He called niinself a minister of
theword. This place was also the residence of
a respectable family of the name of Packharnis.

Domesday Account.

Manor. In Butruic (Butterwick) Wulward
bad twelve carucates of land to be taxed. Land
to twelvéploughs. - Wido had there two ploughs,
and thirty-six sokemen with nine carucates of
this land, and six villanes and ten bordars having
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fiftcen ploughs. There are two churches and
two priests, and one huudred acres of meadow.
Value in King Edward’s time, und now, -ten
pounds, Tallaged at ove hundred -shillings.
Soke and berwick. In .Butrewuic (Butter
wick three carucates of land to be taxed. Seke
snd inland in Ostone (Owstop.) Land te one
plough. One sokeman and six villanes have
there one plough, and one mill of four shillings..

THE CHURCH .
Is a very ancient small. gothic building, a kind-
of patched edifice, partly of brick and part sloneL
and seems to have bLeen repaired so ¢fien, that
little or none of the original is left, 1t is n viea-
rage valued in the King's books at 8L ds, 2d.
Patron, Lady. Dryden. It is dedicated to S, A

drew, The font is ancient and curious; it is.

supported by stone pillars. Here is a weat sing-
ing gallery, and the steeple which is modern,. and -
built of Brick, containg 5 musical bells.

We noted the following iuscriptions.
In wemory of Elizabeth wife of the Rev. Mr,.
Joshua Pinchbeck, who died Sep. 37. 1743,
-aged 44,

Alsq John, son of Josbus aud Edizdbeth.
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Pinchbeck, died August 28. 1714, aged 3 years,

Also the Rev, Jos. Pinchbeck B. A, wbo _died
June 28. 1764, aged 82 years,

In the Charch' yard is a tomb to the memory
ot The Rev. Edward Brown, Prebendary of
York, Rector of Kirk Saudal in that County,
and Muster of Butterwick School, he died Feb.
26. 1802, aged 65. S

Concerning a large Sycamore tree which now
(1814) stands in this Church yard, the followiug
account was extracted from an old register.

“In the year of our Lord, one thousand six

bundred fiftie aud three,

Then in the church yard wus aet a ly«.amore

tree,’

It was given by John Bennet, then Clurk.

freely and without let,

'And by Ww. Michallis then Churchwarden

was the tree set,

Whoever, therefore, shall presume this tree to

cut down, )

Let them remember Butterwick ancient renown

How that formerly over Frieston it hath borne

sway,

Bnt pow it is lurned the quite comrary way

¢ e
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THE SCHOOL, &e.

The free grammar School was. endowed by
Anthony Pmdlbeg.k Fsq. of this - Parish, abouf
the year 1664, who Jiberglly endowed it with
Lands in the several Parishes of Fishtofl, Butter-
wick, Leverton, and Friskpey, now let at about
200l. per annum, and will be cugsiderably aug-

mented by the recent inclosute.

While most other Semiuaries of this Descnp-
tion (by a two rigid Pertinacity to original Rules)
afford but little or no advantage to those justly
entitled to the benefit of them, too much praise
cannot be hestowed upon the Trustees and Feofe

_ fees of this Schoul for their zenlowsly adopting
that mode of Educution so particulurly consis-
teut with the present State of Socjety, by which
laudable Pign, the poor Inhabitauts huve the
huppiuness of seeing their. Children educated in
whatever may bhe useful in common life, while
the more wealthy of them may;, if they please,
bave theirs instructed in the learned languages
and every. liberal branch. of Sci ience.

MODERN STATE.

The Lords of the manor. of Frieston and Butter-
wick are Lye heirs of the late Lieary Ward Esq.
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The parish contains ahout 1388 acres of land, .

the average vent of which is 40 shillings per acre,
Itis nearlj- equally divided into grazing, meadow
and arrable, The mode of cultivation by 1he

plough, is, generally, two crops and one fallow,

but with vaniations, ‘The fen allotment is 33,
I, 34p. The fences are mostly quick-set

bedzes, 'The soil in most places is a rich loam,
but in ihe fngs it is glay. The farms are of a .

moderate size, and are chiefly occupled by the

owners, the prumpal of which are, Mrs, Hub-.
bert, Mr. Hamon, &c. g

vy « ’
Sy .o€ LI S N

FRIEST ON.

— e

'FRTESTON is'a very pleannt \ullage in the-

wipentake of Skirbeck in the parts of Hoﬂaud,
lbont 3 mlles E. from Boslon.

Domaday dccotmt. o

Soke. ‘Tn Fristuns (Fneston) lwelvc pqnu,n{u ot

lind to be taxed. Land to as many ploughs.

.
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"l'wenly sokemen and tweoty six vnllanes. lnL

f freen bordars have there fifteen ploughs. Twe '

. vassals of Wido's have five carucates and one

oxizang of this soke, and they have there two

plonghs and a half, and five sokemen and twelve
villanes having one plough and a half,

At this place was the ancient barooy of Croun,

“er'Credon, gnven to Guy de Croun b’ Wm. the

Conqueror, with whom he came mto England.
He had also another seat at Bur;on Crown, near
Sléaford, so called from him, as it ls now called
Pedwatdya from his’ dccendants “beside this be
had lands in Ashby, Ravendale, Wade, and Bli- )
ton, co Lin, 20 W, 1. as appears in domesday.
He possessed no lesi than 60” Lordships. The
priory of Spalding being refounded about this
time, by bis countryman Ivo Talbois, he gave
to it one carucate of land, lying in that town;
Histoire de Sable pa. 138.

Guy de Croun, in ohedience to dmne inspira.
tién, guve a certain parcel of his estates to Gop,
and St. Nicholas, for the soul of King William

and Maud the Queen, and for the soul of Wil
liam, that the Loyd would grant hig success in
his reign, and brmg him to 8 good end ; and
oﬁe c-.xrume of laud in Spaldingue, with tbc ap ¥

Vo,
]
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purtenances; his wife, all his sons and daugh
ters, and brothers, consenting to it, for the good

E ~ of his own soul. He likewise gave ten carucates

of land in Pinchbeck, to the abbey of Croyland,
and two carucates in Spalding to the same ab-
bey. To Guy, or Wido de Croun, succeeded
Godfrey de Croun, who was the first prior of
Frieston, Alan Croun, Baron Croun, brother to
Godfrey was in great favor with Henry I. to
whom he was great steward of the household.
In bis country, at Frieston, he was called Alan
open doors, because he kept so great a house.
(Lelands itin pol* 7.)

This man founded the priory of Frieston, for
Benedictine monks, and made it a cell to the ab-
bey of Cioyland, anno 1142, where his brother
Godfrey was abbot at that time. Alan was bu-
ried at Croyland abbey, on the south side of the
hich altar., Vide the Monasticon, Iugulphus
and Dugdale’'s Baronuge.

Maurice -Croun, the son of Alan, succeeded
his father in 1150. He was made keeper of the
Castle of Ancennis by Hen, II. and governor of
the provinces of Anjou and Main, and he was
also one of the plenipotentiaries on the part. of
the King, in the treaties between him and Philip

VOL. II, Q
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the august King of France. .

.-Guy de Croun, the son of Maurice,accompa.
nied Rich. L in his voyage to the holy land anne
11982, and was present at the treaty between him
and Tancred, King of Sicily. He coufirmed to
the nuns of Haverholm, pasture for nine score
shecp in Bloxam field:, even to the bounds be-
tween them and the abbot of Grelle.

Peironilla, the daughter of Guy de Croun,
married William Lonchanmp, and their son Sir
Henry de Lonchamp died in March 1274, and
was buried in Swineshead Abbey; but his heart
at Burton Pedwardin, before the altar, inthe
chapel of ihe virgin mary.

There is (says Leland Itin. vol. 8) a great Fee
gatery'd about Boston paits, by the pame of
" Petronille de la Corone, dowghter by Lykele-

hode de la Corone foundar of Frieston Priorye,

and buried at Croyland. :

“This Fee is-now paid to the lord Rosse; but
the Richmount Fee is greater there. 'There is

also another Fee, cauld Pepardyne; and that
“the lord Liusey had: and the owners of these

Fees be lords of the town of Boston.”  Petronil

had lands in: Holbeach and Quaplode, and in

Weston. (Inquis Elko I. Ed. It1. feod milit42.
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. offic arm. pa 32.)

_ Alice, the grandaughter of Petronilla, married
Roger Pedwardin, and this family, the Vaux’
the Lord's Ros, and the Markham’s, who were
their descendants, resided here many years. The
scite of Roushall, where the harons Ros lived, is
" in the parish ot Fishtoft. Stukeleys Itin.

Wm. de Rus married Margery, one of the co-
beiresses of Giles de Badlismere, lord of Chill-
ham. Their descendants were the barons Ros ;
wd the Manors earls of Rutland, married an
Lieiress,

Waiter Pedwardin married Thangharat, sister
to Thelwell Llewellin, prince of Wales, he lived
in the castle of Brampion, in Wigmoreland.
To him succeeded Roger Pedwardin the I,
who built the church of Burton Pedwardin, and
St. Mary’s chapel there, being on the north siie,
but the south aile together with the chapel of
%, Nicholas, wus rebuilt at the same time by the
parisheners. This was done in the year 1340,
Sir Roger Pedwardin, his son, died in 1368,
he obtained a bull for 530 days pardon, for all
benefactions towaris the church and chapel at
Burton,

Robert de Vallibus came into England ‘with

Q2
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William the Conqueror, and he was succeeded
succeésively by William de Vaux, Robert and
Oliver; John de Vaux owned the manor of
Friestou, and certain lands in Boston, by gift of

his mother in feodo talliatg ob. 1283: his daugh- -

“ter Maud was married to Wm. lord Ros, men-
tioned above.

In hilary term 12 Ed. 2. the abbot of Cray-
land came iuto the Exchequer, by F viar Orgar
de Freston his Comoigne and Attorney in that
behalf, and pleaded that he was unjustly and
unduly amerced as a baron &c.

Frieston is a straggling village, and about a
mile north of the church is a place called Al-
toft-end, or more commonly Altar.end; here is
a Public house, and several good farm houses,
in which some of the most respectable farmers
reside. -

The sea formerly came very near to Frieston,
but it bas now receded 1o about the distance of
two miles and a half; at this distance nearly
. east of the chugch lies

Fiieston Shore,

Which is a bathing place of considerable note ;
here are two good Inns, the Coach and Horses,
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kept by Mr. Plummer, and the Anchor, kept by
Mr. Cook. These Inns are pleasantly situated
pear the sea bunk, and, in the summer season,
are much frequented by invalids from the coun-
ties of Leicester und V«:1ﬁnaﬁam, who come to
bathe and drink the s:it wa‘er, and receive tor'
at least fancy they receive) much henefit from
so doing. Reing onlv ahout five miles from Ros-
ton, many of the inhabitants of that rich town,
also resort hither in the bathing season, and es-
pecially on what is called the tide sundays, to re-
lax their miads a little from the monotonous
uniformity which a constant attendance on the
‘same business naturally imposes. From these
Inus we have a good view of the Norfolk coast,
and the ships which are almost constautly pass-
ing at the distance of tlee or four miles, per-
petually vary the scene, and prevent: that sime- '
ness which otherwise would be very disagreeable.

. - The Priory: .
Was founded- for a Prier and some blac
nonks, in the year 1142, by Alen de Croun,’
Muricl bis Wife, and Maurice his Son, ‘and de-
dcated to St- Jumes. These gave the Churches
o' Freston, Butterwyke, Fost, Warnburn, aud:
Q3
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Burton, with all the 'Proﬁ's, Customs, and
Emoluments thence arising, to St. Guthlac in
Croyland, te be a Cell thereto for ever.

The east end of the preseut Church belong
ed to the Priory, which extended eastward to a
considerable distance; and 2s the foundations are
still visible, the scite may he traced. Part of
the offices still remain, on the south side of the
church, and form the residence of John Linton
Fsq. whose ancestors have lived here for a con-
siderable length of time, and by planting clumps
of trees, shruberies &c. have converted itinto a
most delightful spet.

The following is a List of the Priors of Fries-
ton, as far as we have been able te make them
out. . ‘

Godfrey de Crouu- brother to the founder

B R R T 4

Maurice de Croun son of the founder 1191

tRoger of Crovland veeeeseseneesess 1236

John de Kyrton ..v.cevvervacanees 1274

Thomas Kyme of Friskney «...covuee

Peter de Windon de Boston ....c.c... 1360

Allan de Pedwardine ...ccoveee,... 1384

¢ He wrote the life of Thomas a Becket.
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*Richard Upton  coeevivvenieeenes.. 1407
Rohert de Greslei ceeevee covesees 1427
§John de Wisheach ceecevveeccee... 1454

Richard Slefurth eceeecveeeee seenes 1327

THE CHURCH.

Which has been built at different times, is part-
ly gothic, and partly saxon, and displays a very
bad taste, by mixing gothic and saxon arches,
and colums of various orders, all in the same
building. On the south side of the ehancel is
a kind of ehantry, with a bason cut in stone in
the wall, for holy water. East of this is a large
place which appears to have belonged to the
priory, but it is now of ne use but to hold lum-
ber, such as coals, old wood &c. The font has
. a carious covering of fret work, and is very
handsome; it is octagenal, and stands oxra flight.

*Thomas Overton Abbot of Croyland, was succeeded
by Richard Upton, who had for ten years before been
Prior of Frieston, Tunner. He was elected Abbet of
Croyland in 1417, and died the 15 of May 1427,

§ Another account says that John de Wisbeach,.Prior
of Freston, was elected tosucceed Abbot Lytlington
Abbot of Croyland about the 14 of Feb. 1469-

He died Nov. 19 1476, Tiris prior obtaiued fremy
the Pope a Bull to allow the eating of meat in Lent..
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of three steps. In the chancel floor are the fol-
lowing inscriptions.

One to the memory of the Rev. J. l inton, late
vicar of this parish and Butterwick, who died in
the year 1782, azed 60 years.

Another to D’arcey Linton, who was acciden-
tally killed at Goree in Africa.

Another to the memory of John Linton, Clerk,
who died Jan. 6. 1773, aged 88 years.

In the middle aile, is one to the memorv of
W. Fydell, Alderman of Boston, who died in.

hie year 1731, aged 80 years.
Also one to the memory of Joseph Fydell, Al-
derman of Boston, who died 1731, aged 44 years.
Also another to Isabella wife of W. Fydell’
interred in 1747, aged 88 years.

THE SCHOOE, &c.

In the year 1728, a Mr. J. Ifolden left two
acres of land in the Ings, for a Schoolmaster, or
Dame, to teach the poor children of this parish
to read, and if no Master or Dame be found, or
the School not kept up in Frieston, the parish of
Fishtoft may claim it for the same purpose. Al-
so in1727, Mr, B. Morfort left-20s, yearly, to
be paid out of a piece of land lying iw Frieston,
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for the same purpose. Beside which the parish
pays about 10l. annually.

Here is also a2 Bede, and four poor people
bave 8. per ann. paid to them weekly, out of the
vicarage of Fishtoft,

MODERN STATE.

The lords of the Manor of Rooshall, other-
wise the Manor of Frieston aud Butterwick are
the heirs of the late Heury Ward Esq. of the two
Manors of Coupledyke Hall, Mr, P. Plummer;
of Poynton Hall, Mr. P. Pall; of Peachy Hall,
Mrs Allice Liuton. The number of acres in
this parish, excluding the fen allotment, is 4440
which lets on an average at 45 shillings per acre.
The soil, in the north of the parish is silt and
loam, in the south it is clay and loam. The
fences are mostly Quick hedges, Very fine gra-
zing land, and suitable for most kiuds of grain. -
The tithes were exonerated on the inclosure of
the fens. The poor.rates in 1803 were 4s. 10d.
in the pound. The fen allotment is 10iYa.
Or. 28p.



FISHTOFT.

FisHTOFT is" a very small village in the wa-
pentake of Skirbeck in the parts of Holland,
about 3 miles E. S. E. from Boston.

“The Lord Monteville had u ‘goodly great
aud ancient Manuor place at Fischetoft, a mil
from Boston; it is now sl yn ruine, and belen-
gitd"to the Lord Williughby and now to the
Duke of Scuthfolk, The Lurd Montevill’s lands
cam partely by hevree Generall to the Bekes and
thens by heyre General to the Willoughby's,

‘The scite of Roushall where the harons Ros
lived is in the parish of Fishtoft.” Leland’s Itin,

- The Manor house in which the Mountevill's
and Willoughby’s lived, is now down, it stood
on the grodnd where Mr. W, Whiston’s house
mow ‘stauds, at the distance of about half a wmile
north of the church, Rooshail is also down;—
the preseat Roaoshall is in the parish of Frieston.

The abhey of Cioxlind had a peusion of
eight pounds a year, from the church of 8t
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Guthlac at Fishtoft.

/

Domesday Acecunt,

In Toft (Fishtoft) are three carucates of land
to be taxed in the soke «f Drayton. Land ta
three ploughs, Seveuteen sokemen have there
five ploughs and a half, and twenty acres of
meadow,

Manor. In Toft (Fishtoft) Adestan had nine
carucates of land to be taxed. Land to as
many ploughs. Wido has there three ploughs,
and cne sokeman and nine villanes and one bor-
-dar having four ploughs, There is a chureh
and a priest, and one mill of ten shillings, and
sixty acres of meadow. Valuein King Edward’e
time eight pounds, now ten.

THE CHURCH

Is a very substantial gothic structure, built by
the abbots of Croyland, and dedicated to St,
Guthlac, whose whole length figure is in a niche
at the west end of the steeple. It is a Rectory
valued in the King’s books at 18l 6s. 8d.. Pat-
ron, the Rev. John Simpson.

Here is some curious fret work on entering
the chancel; the font is octagonal; and.stands
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on a flight of three steps; the church is well
pewed, and is altogether, very neat. 'The parish
chest in the vestry, is very ancient; it is well
fortified with iron hoops, and three strong
locks; it was once very thick, but the worms
have made their way quite through it, and it s
fast mouldering to dust,

We noted the following inseriptions,

In the chancel floor,

Near this placc lieth the body of Mrs Pru-
dence Kyme, who departed this life Oct. 232,
1718, in the 63 year of her age.

Also here lieth the body of Mrs Alice Kyme,
. who departed this life June 2 1723, in the 32

year of her age. :

In the Church-yard

Interred here lies Anne -
The wife, of Bryon John
son durieing life, the 25.
day of November, in 68
he lost this member.
- Again,
’ Now Bryon is laid down
by Anne, till God doth
raise them both again.
Mr Byron Johnson of Fishtoft, departed this
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life the 19. of January, and was buried the 22,
1668. B .

THE SCHOOL, &c.

Here is a small endowment for a master to
teach the paupers in this parish; the Lord of the ~
manor, some years ago, ‘gave upwards of 9 acres
of land, which let now for seven pounds a year,
and the money is paid annually to the school-
master,

MODERN S'I‘ATE.

Buxton Kenrick Esq. is the Lord of the man-.
or, which is called Fishtoft with Hiptoft. The
number of acres is about 3661, which lets on an
average at 50 shillings per acre. The fen allot-
ment is 528a. 8r. 16p.. The soil is principally
strong clay, and is very good for producing
wheat and beans ; near the church is some very
good grazing land. The fences belonging to
the old inclosure are mostly ditches, but the
new inclosure is fenced by quick thorn hedges.
The tithes were exonerated by land .in lieu on
the inclosure of the fens.

The principal proprietors of hnd are B. Ken-
rick Esq. Mr. J. Mowbsav, Mr. J. Physwk’s»

VOL. II. R
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‘heirs, Rev. J. Simpsor, Dean and Cbupter of
‘Westminster, Mr. W. Waite, Mr. W. Whiston,
S. Calthorp Esq. Messrs Gee and Clark &c,

T . QUADRING.

'‘QUADRING is -a small village in the wapen-
take of Kirton, i the parts of Holland, about
7} miles N. N. W. from Spalding.

In this place there ‘are no ancient Abbeys
Halls &c. except one old niansion, late the resi-
dence of W. Stukeley Ezq. which was purchased
a few yedrs age by the present proprietor Mr,

~'W. Mausson,

In a hamlet to Quadring called Quadring Fau-
dyke, was once a -chapel, but it is now down,
and has been for a great number of ‘'years: ‘when
it ceased to exist caunot at present be ascertained.

Domesday Account. .

In Quudkeuemngc (Quadring) inland of this
maner, ene casucate of land to/be taxed. Land
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ot one plough. Malger bas there eight villanes.
with ope plough. -

Manot, In Quedhaveringe (Quadring) Tur-
chil bad one carucate of land to be taxed..
Land to one plough, also with sac and. seke;, ex-.-
cept two oxgangs over which the Earl has the:
scke. Guert a vassal of the Earl’s, holds- this.
land, but the jurors of the wapentake know not
by what right, There are three villunes, and:
six acres of meadow, and two salt pits of twelve-

pence.  Value in King Edwards time ten slnlv .

lings, the same now.

Alured de Lincoln claims of Earl Alan one
earucate of land in Quedlmumnge (Quadnng.)
The jury of Holland accord it to the same Alu-
red, because it was his antecessors, and he was.
seized thereof in the time of Earl Ralph..

THB CHURCH:

Iy a very old gothic building, dedicated to St..
Margaret, it is a discharged vicarage,, united to-
the vicarage of Wigtoft, and- is- valued in the
King’s books at 101. 1s. 3d. Patron  the Bishop-
of Lincoln.

In this church there is a very,curious ancient:
font, with eight faces, on which some fancifal:

' P. 2.
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devices are cut, there is also a latin inscription,
but the peréons name cannot be made out.
“Pray for the soul of————who caused
this font to be erected.
On a marble monument, on the north side the
chancel, is the followiug inscription.
Here lies the body of Edward Brown Gent,
who dyed the fifth day of-Jan. 1737,
In the sixty sixth year of his age.
He delighted in being a fatber to the father-
less, aud them who had no friend; which good
_offices he always discharged with gieat integrity.
He was a hearty well wisher to the establishment
in church and state, and showed it on all proper
occasions. - i
. He built a house, which with some land there-
to adjoining, be settled for ever, for the master
.of the Charity school of this town to live in.
He died much lamented by all who where so
happy as to know him, but more especially by
bis most dutiful and affectionate daughter, who
caused this monument to be erected to his mem-
ory. . :
On a brass plate in the middle aile is a latin
inscription to Bristovius Brown who died 3rd.
Jan. 1683, "
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Ona mural Tablet at the east end of the -
north aile. Here lyeth the body of Mrs. Mary
Harryman, wife of Joha Harryman Gent. whe .
departed this life Oet. 12. 1712, aged 68 years.

Also near this place lieth the body of Richard
Harryman Gent. Interred Nov 16. 1719, Ztatis .
suze 48. .

On another.. Here lyeth’ ye body of Johm -

Harryman - Geat..who bad two wives and by
them 21 children, of which number he left only
7 at his death.. He dyed Oct. 2. 1708, Esati..
suze. 74
. THE SCHOOL,
- Héreis a charity School founded ‘by Thomas
Cowley Esq. of the Wykes, in the parish of Don-
ington, in the year 1721, witha salary.at that
time of 10}. per ann, . And Edward -Brown Esq.
an inhabitant of Quadring, approving.of this
charity, gave about 17 years afterwards a house
for the master of the Scheol to live in, with some
land thereto belonging for ever..

Which house together. with  forty pounds a
year is the salary new gives to the present mas-
ter, Mr. R. Naylor,
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MODERN.STATE. .

The lords of the mauor are the Trustees of
Cowley’s charity; Benjamin Smith Esq. for the
manor of Wykes, and also for the manor of
Monks Hall. The parish contains about 4000
acres of land, the average rent of which is 35
shillings per acre. Soil, a mixture of sand and
clay, and is good beth for grazing and tillage.

. The fences of the old inclosure are hiedges,
of the new, ditches. The tithes are exonerated
by land in lieu.

The principal proprietors of land are, The
Lord Bishop of Linceln, The Rev. Wm. Holmes
Mr. W Mussen, Mr. John Caswell, Mr. Thomas
Ducket, Mr. W, Cropley, and Mr. R. Baldwick.
The parish rates in 1803 were 3s. 8d. in the

pound. :
The ahove information was received fyom Mr.

W. Crane of Quadring,

P Y et iatad

BROTHERTOFT. .

BROTHRRTOFT is in the wapentake of Kirten
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also in the parish of Kirton, in the parts of Hol-
land, about five miles N, N. W from Boston.
Tradition says that this place was originally in-
closed from the fens by a grant to two brothers ;
heuce the name, Brother-Toft.

This hamlet formerly helouged to the Duke
of Newcastle, then to Sir Sampson Gideon,
then to Sir C. Frederic, who sold it to John
Cartwright Esq. who has latelv sold it off itr se-
parate farms. -

Brothertoft house, which is an elegant man-
sion, at a short distance west of the chapel, with
the farm belonging to it, being about the fourth
part of the lordship, is new the properq of
Thomas Gee Esq. of Boston,

Before the iuclosure of Holland fen, and at .
that time, Brothertoft contained fifty two houses
and a considerable number of inbabitants; buf,
-since that period, they have been on the de-
erease. To the peopte of this neighbourhood,
the inelosure of Holland fen appeared in the
most odious light—it took from them what they
esteemed their rights and privileges, and left
them as they theught, poor, miserable, and des-
titute of the common necessaries of life. They
had hitherto lived a kind of predatory life, kept
a few geese, and some of the most opulent a:
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few sheep,.and perhaps-a cow, or 2 mare which
ouce a year brought them a foal;—but they had
.had freedom to range over a large track of land
which they had hitherto evnsidered to be their
own property. A life of laziness is generally
preferred ;- and fishing, and shooting and other-
wise catching wild fuwl, may be- called amuse.
ment rather than labour. Henée, like the Abe-
rigines of narth America, they: lived a kind of
lawless life, almost in a state of nature, and
their. ideas, wild as their native. fens, were not
‘very. easily subjected to reason or control.
- About the year 1768, when the inclosure of
" Hollaud fen was about to take place, the inha:
tants of Brothertoft, as might be expected, were
among the first to oppose.it, and the fences that
were put down in the day-time, were, for 2 long
time pulled. up durieg the suceeeding night.
Several riots took plage (vide Kirton) much mis-
" chief wus comitted, and some.lives were lost ; in
a house now ocoupwd by a persen of - the name
of Ogleby, Captain Wilks, who.had been em-
ployed by Sir €. Frederic, was one amight shot ia
the face through the window ; sewne of his teeth
and one of his eyes were knocked out, but he
afterwards recoverad. The shot rebowading
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from the fire place, frighted some other men in
the room, and a person of the name of Ham-
mond crept under the bed to hide himself, at
the same time believing and crying out that he
was shot also, which was afterwards found not
to be the case. )

It is no easy task to convince ignorant people
that what may appear injurious to themselves,
way still be for the benefit of the public at large;
with respect to the inclosure of Holland fen,
many who had used every effort te oppese it,
lived afterwards to see their own folly. One
man in particular, who had gained only a scanty
subsistance by fishing and fowling, and whose
character was not of the first rate for respecta-
hility, after the inclosure had taken place rented
land, and accumulated much wealth. He
died lately posessed of property to the amount
of from fifteen to twenty thousand pounds; and
bad for many years been respected by all who
knew him,

THE CHAPEL,
Is a small place consistiilg of one aile and a
chancel, but no steeple; a single bell hangs in a
kind of cupola just above the roof, and the ropé
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descends into the vestry.

The chancel is only separated from the nave
by some railings. When the chapel was built,
we have not been able to ascestain: here are
some good stone saxon arches over the windows
which areevidently not mcdern, but they may be
. part of the ruins of some other building, for the
other parts appear not to be very ancient. It is
nearly all built of brick, and the roof is covered
with flat tiles, In the chancel is a part of a Pis-
cina. Hereis a good plain stone funt, which
bas the foHowing inscription cu the eight faces
“ This erected hy Thowmas Palmer and other mi-
nisters.” In the chapel are no monuments noy *
any inseriptions on the floex, The oldest regis.
ter is March 17. 1757. It is a chapel not in
charge, to the vicarage of Kirton. Patron T,
Gee Esq.  The chapel is private property,
and the minister, at this time, has an anoual
stlpend of 30l. a year, which is raised by sub-
scription, by the parishoners.’

MODERN STATE.

\

Thomas Gee Esq. of Boston is lord of the
manor. The parish contains about 880 acres
of land, the average rent of which is 45 shilliugs.




BROTHERTOF?. 191

per acre. 'The fences are qu-ick thorn hedges,
and ihe soil a rich loam upon either silt or clay.
The principal proprietors of lund are T. Gee
Esq. T. C. Gerordot Esq. C. Dashwood Esq.
Mr. John Burrell, and Mr. G. Beedham, The
land here is very proper for gardens, of which
there is a good number. Here is but a small
portion of grazing lahd.

This being a rich soil, the whole was bought
by Major Cartwright, about 25 years ago, for
the purpose of growing woad, The. temporary
houses, built of sods, and thatched, as well as
the lofty ranges of frames for drying the woad
when in balls, are all removed, Also the diffe-
rent machines used in manufacturing the woad,
and the different farming utensils invented by
the Major and Mr, Amos, have all'been removed

The octagonal ends of Brothertoft house,
were built-by Major Cartwright,

Not more than 50 years ago, when the drain-
age of these parts was not so good as it is ut
present, Brothertoft, and the lands between that
place and Boston, were frequently overflowed,
in the winter, season, aud one’ wide expanse of
water with here and there a bush or a house,

’
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was all that could be seen. .
The turnpike road from Boston to Swines-
head, and the intersecting Roads leading to the
adjacent villages, were covered with water to'a
considerable depth, of course they were dange-
rous for travellers to- find, and the villagers

brought their guods to Boston market in boats;— -

they could boat up to within a short distance of
the bridge, to a place called Rose-gath cor-
ner, near the brewery belonging to Messrs Gee
and Clark.

There is perhaps no part of England in which
improvements have been more repaid than in this
district, the land which lately was little better,
in many places, than swampy bogs, is now be-
come firm and dry, and the roads, at every sea-
son of the year, are passable, and at most times
very good. The soil in all this neighbourhood,
is extremely fertile and valuable, producing ex-
eellent crops of corn of almost every kind, while
some of the grazing land is capable ef fattening
the largest sheep and oxen; and all these bless-
ings may be attributed to the genius of the pre-
sent age, which_has been fertile in improve-
ments, as well as indefatigable in executing
large projects, by which means the necessary

—— e —— o
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eomforts of life have become more plentiful, and
the general state of society considerably ameli-
orated.

A complete drainage was the only desideratum
that was wanting in these and the adjacent fens,
and this has now been effectually accomplished,

under the direction of that able and experienced -

Engineer Johkn Rennie Esqg. who has made use
of proper means to convert miry bogs into firm
arrable and grazing land.

The Chapel in Holland Fen.

Holland Fen, to the N. W. of Boston, from
which it is distant 10 miles and upwards, is a
tract of land, containing about 22 000 acres,
and inhabited by a population of more than
8700 Souls. It is not situated in any single
Parish, but is divided and alletted to eleven dif-
ferent Parishes, called the Holland fen towns,
When the drainage aud inclosure of it took place,.
more than 40 years ago, which converted an un®
wholesome swawmp into productive Land, no
provision was made for the erection, and endow-

ment of 3 Chapel for the use of the Inhabitants,

who were at too great a distance from their

respective parish churches to be able to attend.
YOL. il s

———— .
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divine service. That defect, however, has with-
in these few years been happily supplied by a
Subscription, - begun” by the late Rev. Dr.
Charles Berigige, and his Nephew the late Rev.
Basil Bury Beridge, successively Patrons and
Rectors of Algarkirk; and since augmented and
completed by various Benefactors, among whom
may be mentioned the followisg. The Lord
Bishop of Lincoln, Mrs. Hutton, Duke Street
Westminster, the Rev. Mr. and Mrs. Twigge, Des-
by, Mr. Wm. Weeks, elhan’s Lands, the Mer-
cer’s Company, London, Rev. Mr. Swan, Vicar
of Kirton, Rev. Mr. Partridge, Vicar of Bostan,
with several others of the neighbouiing Clergy
and Gentry, and opulent Farmers in the Fen.
- With this Subscription, the Trustees appointed
under a deed executed by the late Basil Bury
Beridge, Patron aud Rector of Algarkirk, and
eurolled in the Court of Chancery, have been
enabled to erect a Chapel, to purchase Land, and
to make provision for a resident Minister; to
the great benefit and accomodation of the In-
habitants_of this very populous district. The
Chapel is situated in the parish of Fosdyke, near
to the bankof the north Forty Foot Drain, and is
a neat structure in the Gothic style; it was begua
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in the Spring of the year 1812, was consecrated
_by the Bishop of Lincoln ou Sunday the 5th. of
July following, aud was completed and opened
for diviue Service, on the 20th. of September of
that year.

A resident minister, the Rev. Joseph Mossop,
has- been appointed by the Bishop of Lincoln,
who had the first turm of presentation; but the
_appointment rests hereafter with the Rector of
Algarkirk for ever,

A parsonage house is still wanting, which,
from the insufficiency of their funds, the trusteas
have not yet been able to supply.

We were favoured with the above account by
the Rev. Dr. Hutton of Sutterton.

ovsorssvovsrs

FOSDYKE.

FoSDYKR is a small village in the wapentake
of Kirton, in the parts of Holland, abouto miles
aearly 8. E. from Kirton,

Fusdyke was so called from the Fossway, cast

82
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up by the Romans, which, touching upon the
borders of this parish, gpes on to Lincoln, where
it finishes its course. It was near this place that
King John lost his baggage &c. as before men-
tioned. ' ‘

About the 21st. of James the L. Sir T. Mid-
dlecot, of Boston, founded 10 alms-houses in
this parish, for the benefit of 9 poor women and
1 poor man, called the mastsr, The women
were not to bave hcen married, but this rule is
now broken through,

If a sufficient number of eligible persons can-

.not be found Fonyke, Algarkirk comes next,
sod afterwards the parish of Kirton,

4 THE CHURCH,

The old church which was similar to that at
Algurkirk, was taken down, on account of its

ruinous state, and @ new ond built, partly.out of

the old materials, about the year 1756. The
new church is a neat litile structure, with a low
tower steeple, containing one bell, The old
church had fve bells, but four of them were
sold to help to defray the expences of building
the new one. The present church contains @
ueat altarpiece sepresenting the wise wen pre-
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senting their gifts to the infunt Jesus; Rere is
also an octagonal font, very beausifully carved,
with angels in the compartments, awda pyramid-
al eover of hendsome fret work.

It is a cliapel, not in eharge, te the rectory of
Algarkirk, Patron, B. Beridge Esq. and dedica-
ted to All Saints. ‘ '

Thomas Torry was buried on the 9-of March
1'750. being the first corps that was buried since
the rebuilding of the church. Geo. Gollingand
Eliz. Dickinson, where -the first couple that
were married..

MODERN STATE.

Charles Chaplin Esq. is Lord ‘of the manor.
Fhe number of acres in this paih is 1760, the
average rent of which is 40 shillings per acre.
The soil is clay, and the feuces are mostly ditches.
- It is liuble to tithes.. Fhe principal proprieters.
of land are, the: heirs of the Rev. B.. Beridge,
Lord Geo. Cavendish, John Milnes Esq. and.
Rob. Carter.

. FOSDYKE BRIDGE
On the 14th. of May 1811, the Royal Assent:
was.given to an Act for erecting a: Bridge over
8
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the River Welland at Fosdyké Wash, and also
for making a publick way over the bare sands

. ¢ that pladoe.

The whole work s from a design of Jn. Renuie
Esq. and it is pltrum.'dby the R¢, Howa. Sir

-Joseph Bunks.

The money for carrying this very lawdalde
plan into execution, is mised by a company of
Gentlemen, who, by act of Parliament, act un-
der tlie navee of the company of Propri¢tors of
the Foedykd Bridge. The Bank om the east
side of the river, upon which is a spaciows Read,
was begun on Jan. 4th. 1813, and completed,
very much to the credit of Mr, F. Pinkerton
the contracter, Jan. 3rd. 1814,

Tht bank s situsted 20 chains east of the ein-
banked part of the river Welland; it extemds
from tlie foot of the bridge 42 chains south
acrosy tie sands, aad terminates at the Moulton
etsbankdent, where it enters the great rond lead-
ing inte Cumbridgeshire, Neorfolk, Suffokk ' &ec.

The average perpendicular height of the bask,
is 12 feet, and the road on its top is 40 feet
wide; its side towards the east, slopes 5 to 1,
and, on the west 4 to 3, making @ sverage
base uf 148 feet, The slopes are eovered with
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marsh flags, which, in the Summer Season, look
most beautifully green, and when the tide is
. over the marsh, flowing on bhoth sides the
bank, it has a graml and plensing appearance.
The road on the bank is well covered with chin-
gle, with a post and rail fence on each side, and
the whole is in every respect calenlated to eu-
sure the safety and accomodation of Passengers,
"‘The Bridge was begur Oct, 21st. 1815, and
was to bave been finished by May 1st, 1813
bur, from several unforeseen ohstacles, it is not
yet quite completed.(May 11 1814.)

The Bridge is built of English Ouak, of very
large dimensions, but from the plan on which it
is construeted, and the arangement of the tim-
ber, its appearaice is extremely - light; which
veflects the highest credit on the tuste and judg-
.ment of the engineer.

The Bridge bas eight openings, three of which
ure 30 feet wide, two 29, and three 27. Two of

- the 27 feet openings are placed on the side next
Fesdyke, in order to place the middle epening
- im the most convenient situation for navigation.

The Bridge is supperted by nine Piers, each

eonsisting of six Oak Trees. The trees for the
+ Piles are not sawn, but driven dewn perfectly
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whale, and are driven from 20 to 22 fcet into the
bettom of the river, in the fullowing manner, the
three Piers which separate the 27 feet openings,
are each. 30 feet long, and 18 inches in diameter,
those which separate the 29 from the 30 feet
openings, are 42 feet long, and 19 inches dinme-
ter; the middle Piers are trees of the same di-
mensions, but here double the number of trees
are placed in each Pier.

The Piers are secured bp 4 pieces of timber,
one foot square each, placed two on each side
the Pier, directly opposite each other, and are
very ingeniously let into the piles, and the piles
into them, and secured by iren screw bolts, pas-
sing through each pile; by which means the six

. piles in each Pierare connected as it were into
one, On-thetep of each Pier is a cell 15 inches
square, into. which the heads of the piles are
framed. o

" The wniddle Piers have each:two cells of the

same size, which are most securely bolted to-
gethes, to receive the weight of the draw leaves
which act upon them.. On the top of the cells

are placed, at proper distances, 8 Osk caps 16

feet long each, which are firmly bolted to the
cells.. Qn the top of these caps the joists resty




POSDYKR. 201

extending over the openings. The caps and
Joists are properly secured together by bolts;
the whole bridge is covered with thiree iuch Oak
planks, well spiked to every joist.

The length of the bridge is ahout 100 vards,
and its width 22 feet, from which is taken a foot
path; 4 feet wide, which is separated fromn the
road by a kirb of oak.

The fencing on euch side the Bridge is with
king posts and braces crossing each other in the
Centre of every pannel, which bas a very neat
and airy uppearance.

The Road way over the middle opening,
‘which is moveable for the wdmission of Vessel’s
mansts, coneists of two draw leaves, meeting each
otherin the centre of the opening; they form
the segment of a circle whose radius is 39 feet,
and will have a very giaiid eifect. These leaves
are each secared to-a cust iron axis, which moves
on plumber blecks, and are raised froin an hor-
1zontal toa perpendicular position, by a rack
wheel and pision the radius of the rack wheel
whick is fastened to each leaf, is 8 feet, the pin-
ionis 1 foot diameter, and works in a cast Iron
frame, which stands on the Bridge, and is wound
up with perfect ease by a common Winch.
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The leaves have each 6 ribs, or principal tinthers,
which form the joists for the middle opening,
and extend backwards from the axis, 12 feet, to
the underside of which is fixed a picce of cast
iron, of sufficient weight almost to counterbal-
ance the draw leaves.—The planking and fen-
cing precisely the same as that on the standing
part of the bridge.

Mr. Swith favored us with the prereedmg

description, and account of Fosdyke Bridge.

This bridge will be a very great accommoda-
tion to the-inhabitants of the surroundiag parish-
es, especially to those on the east side of the
Welland, who wish to attend Boston markets.
It also opens a direct and sife communication,
at all times, between the principal Towns in
Lincolnshire and those in Combridgesh:re, Nor-
folk, &c. aud will be found not enly a general
convenience, hut a general benefit to all this
part of the country. The road from Fosdyke
to Boston, it is expected will pass through Sut-
terton, and a Coach is also expected to rua
from Boston, through Cambridge, to London.

Account of the late high tide.
On the 10. of November, 1810, being the day
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before the full moon, a high tide was expected,
in addition to which, a strong north east wind
had blown the whole of the day; these com-

" bined cireumstances produced on this coast a
tide which rose higher than any that had ever
been remembered by man, or than ever had been
recorded in history, ’

The storm at Boston, {from five to seven
o’Clock in the evening, was violent, and mach
damage was done to the shipping in that port ;
the sea banks in many places were overflowed,
and in others they were broken, boats and pie-
ces of wreck were carried over them, the newly
made banks in the Salt marshes were swept
away, the greater part of the country was inun-
dated, houses were washed down, stacks of hay
and corn were destroyed, several human beings
perished, aud the number of sheep, beasts, and
horses that were drowned was immense.

The scene which presented itself on the ensu-
iu;';morniug to the inhabitants of Bosten, was

‘terific; towards the east nothing was to be seen
but the tops of bushes, amid the wide sea of
water which covered the fields as far as the eye
could reach.

During the night the distress of some of the
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inhabitants on the sea coast had been extremely
great; the water rusbing inte their houses em &
sudden, extingnished their lights and fires and
forced some of them into their upperappact.
ments, and some who kad no chambers in their
houses, lay, in their wet clothes all night em
their cupboard shelves, or clung to the rafters
iu tie roof, till aid could be procuréd ;—one
young woman at Fosdyke was dtowned, while
milking, a poor woman at Kirton, 85 years of
age was drowued.in her ‘bed, and a young man
at Fishtoft was drowned when attempting o
save his father’s sheep,

The Devastation was so great, that many
people were distressed, and the total amount of
the loss sustained by the different persons in the
neighbourhood, was estimated, on a very mode-
rate computation, at 30 0001,

To remedy as much as possible, the distresses
accasioned by this dreadful calamity, a very li
beral subscription was entered into Ly the land
halders,-and other opulent gentlemen, by which
means muych relief was offorded, and the total
ruin of mapy respeotable individuals also pre-
vented, :

The pasishes -which suffexed .most in -this
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weighbourbiood were, Surfleet, Fosdyke. Algar-
kirk, Sutterton, Kirton, Frampton, Wyberton,
Boston, Skirbeck, Fishtoft, Frieston, Butterwick,
and Bennington, and the amount of the relief

_given, to all these parishes, was upwards of 34571,
" The height of the tide was ascertyined in Bos.
ton, by this ameng other circumstances; for-
merly the water bad flowed into the church, and
covered the floor as fur us the screen, but on.
this occasion if covered the whole floor of the

. uave, up to the steps in the chancel. *Also from
a mark on the west end of the steeple, the tide
was found to have risen higher by four inches
and a half, than auy foriier tide had ever been
known to rise.

Ttis acknowledged lhat the supenor hexgln of
this tide, was occusioned among other circum-
stances, uaturs! to the production of tides, to
the confined space which the water had to spread
itself into, as it were, on account of the banks
which have at different times been made to ia-
close the contiguous marsh land,

Had uot many of these bunks given way, it is
probable that a great part of the town of Boston
would have been drowned; for, although the
banks did wany of them break,.aud suffer the

’ T
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’

water to spread into the adjacent fields, yet in
several parts of the town, the water was two
feet deep.

(Any person who may be desirous of further
information, is referred to a small Pamphlet plib-
lished on the occasion, by the Rev. S, Partridges
Vicar of Boston.)

Crerrvorersss

WESTON

— S D—

WesToN isa small village in the wapentake
of Elloe, in the parts of Hollaud, about 4 miles
N. E£. from Spalding;—it is in the Duchy of
Lancaster,

This place tock its name from being thé most
westerly of all the towns east of the Welland;
hence west foun, or Weston,

Here, says Stukeley, is the stately chapel of
Wykeham, the villa of the rich Priors' of Spal-
ding, built by Clement de Hatfield, prxor, who
died anno 1318.

William Littleport' built the church, which
was appropriated to the priory of Spalding.
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After the abbey at Croyland bad been burnt,
in the time of Ingulphus, Juliana, a poor we-
man of this place, is said to bave given a large
quantity of thiead, to make the monk’s vest-
ments withal,

Domesday Account..

In Westune (Weston) and Multune (Moultony
soke of ten carrucates of land and one oxgang
to be taxed. Land to as many ploughs and ox-
en. Twenty-six sokemen and thirty-one vil-
lanes and twenty bordars have there twenty
ploughs. "

Soke. " In Westune (Weston) and Multiine.
(Moulton) fiffeen cxgangs of land 1o he Yaxed.
Land to fifteen ploughs, Six villanes have half
a plough there.

The Church, )
Is a neat gothic building, consisting of a nave,
north and south ailes, a chancel and tower stee-
ple. It is a vicarage, not in charge, of the clear

yearly valueof 50 pounds ; Patron the king. It
is dedicated to St. Mary.

T2,
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" MODERN STATE.,

The Right Honourable Lord Eardley is Lord -
of the manor. Sir John Trollope is also Lord
.of a small manor, but no Courts have been held
on it for several years.

The parish contains 7000 acres of land, by
estimation, the average rent of which is about
28 shillings per acre.

The soil is in some parts silt, in others silt
mixed with clay, in others, clay alone. '

It is suitable for Wheat and Oats, and is good
feeding land. .

The feuces are, generally ditches. About 400
acres are tithe free, the remainder is liable to

tithe in kind,
The principal proprietors of land are, Lord

Eardley, and Sir John Trollope.
Decping Fen.

Deeping Fen lies to the eastward of Deeping,
and is in the wapentake of Elloe in the parts of
Hollaud, It formerly was Common and belong-
" ed to several parishes, and was drained and in-
closed by a company of gentlemen called Adven-
turers. About the year 1595, Thomas Lovell
.Esq. undertook the drainage of these lands, for
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whichhe was fo have had one-third part, if he ef-
fected the businessin a certain specified time,
which was te be five years.. Many comwmotions
succeeded, and Lovell lost large sums of money,
by which-he was nearly ruined? and the busi-
siess was at-length finally cempleted by a com-
pany of Gentlemen who afterwards undertook
it, and who were called Adventurers, The
taxable'lands in 1800, amounted to 10033 a. 1r.
6p; and the. whole of the-feus contain 302 81a,
tr. 24p. ’

According to M¢ Ward, who was Clark to the
trastees for inclosing this district—<It belonged .
1o several parishes, and is ‘partly holden by per-..
sous who ate free from drainage expences, by the -
matare of their building; and all the land is free
feom every other charge of assessment, and from
land taxes and ecclesiastical demands. Butthough
there is no poor assessmeént, relief is granted by
1he adventurers to some’ poor persans who do
properly belong to the district of : taxable land,
which éexpence-is mixed with the account of mo-~
nies expended in supporting the work. But as
to the free lands, which are about vne-third part
of the whole, every. separate farmer maintains .
his own poor, without any connection with others. .

T.3,
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I suppose there- are not-a great number settled
upon then, for being aware of the peculiar bur-
deu, I believe they make such contracts for hir-
iing, as ta avoid, as much as possible, having peo-
ple on them. [ have sent below a copy of the
clause in the uct of parliament, relative to the
maintenance of our poor, which will shew the
foundation of that business, and is all, I believe,
in any part of the act respecting it, viz. 16, and.
17. Charles II. p. 37. ‘Butall and every the
inhabitants that may hereafter be upon any part
of the said third part, or upon any part of the
said 5000 acres, and are not nble to maintain
themselves, shall be maintained and kept by the
said trustees, their heirs, and assigns, aud the
survivor of them, and never become chargeable
in-any kind, toall, or any of the respective par-
ishes wherein such inhabitant, or inhabitants,
shall reside or dwell; any statute or law to the
contrary, whereof in any wise, notwithstanding.’
The qualification is, being holder of 200 acres,
or upwards, ! .

There is no chureh in the district ; the inhab-
itants go to the neighbouring towns to church,

and many of them to different Dissenting Chap-
els.
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PART IL

et ——
OR THE DIVISION OF

KESTEVEN.

—_eem—

Kesteven, called by Ethelward Ceostefuc Silva,
situated in the southern part of Lincolushire,
is bounded on the north east bythe Witham,
which separates it form Lindsey; on the east by
the division of Halland; on the south by the
Welland, which separates it from Northampton-
shire: and on the west by parts of Nottingham,
Rutland, and Leicestershire,

The Wupentakes, in this Division, are ten, vis.
Aswardhurn; Avelund ; Bettisloe; Boothby,
high and low divisions; Flaxwell; Grantham;
Langoe, first and second divisions; Lovedon;

—— e
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Ness ; and Winnibrigs and Threo. These wap-
entakes contain seven market towns, and 183
parishes, l

Kesteven, being diversified with hills and val-
leys, with woods and rivers, and excelleat springs
of water; the soil alsoin many parts being rich,
it may be prenounced :0 be a most delightful
situation ;—here bountesus nature spreads her a-
bundant stores, and here the beauteous landskip
charms the senses ;—uamid a vast varity of objects,
the delighted eye swims in extacy, while the soul-
melts into gratitude on contemw p’luling such scenes
—gratitude to the Divine Being whose wisdom
shines in his works, and whose parental care and
goodness may be traced in the ornaments of his-
Creation. ' .

The south eastern part of this division was for-
merly a forest, and the eastern a fen, Dugdule
says (Vide pa, 194 Hist. of Tmbanking &c.)

“Of what extent the forest, was in these parts
of the province, and possésied by Leofrike, Earl
of Mercia, I am not able to say.: but it appears,
that King Henry I. for the pleasure of hunting,
doing much hurt to'the commonwealth, by en-
larging of forests. {as his brother King William.
Rufus had dome), did afforest these Fens between.
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Kestevea and Holard, vis. from the bridge of
East Deping (now Market Deping) to the church
of Swaiston, on the one side ; and from the bridge
of Bicker, and Wragmerye stake, on the other side
which metes divided the north parts, and the ri-
ver of Weland the south ; excepting the fen of
Goggisland, in regard it was a sanotuary of holy
church belonging te Croyland abbey: which
fen the Monks of that house, having licence from
the said King, did chose, for their own use, mak-
ing the ditches about it bigger than ordinary, for
the avoiding of discord.

And being thus made forest, it continued so,
until King Henry the Third’s time, who in the ~
xivth. year of his reign gramted unto all the in-
babitants within the. same, that it should thence-
forth be deafforested by these subsequent bounds,
viz. in length on the one side, from Swaytone to
East Deping, as Kares dike extends itself, he-
twixt Swaytone and East Deping. And, in
length, on the  other side towards Holand from
thebridge at Spalding. And, in breadth, on the
one part, from that great bridge at Spalding, to
East Deping. And, on the other side, from the
land of Swaytune, unto the bridge at Bikete.

So that all the Jands, marshes, and turbaries,
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within those precincts, were thenceforth to be
quit of waste and regard”.

Many parts of Kesteven contain Nobiemen and
Gentlemen’s seats, and the parts about Bourn,
Belton, Rippingale, and Denton, abound with
woonid. Here are ulso a variety of springs of ex-
cellent water, some of which are medicinal, though
but little used; it is much te be wondered that
the opulent inbabitantsof the division of Hol-
lund, do not go once in the sammer to drink
the water of some of the s'pas in Kesteven; and
bathe in their cold baths, for this would certainly
be as beneficial to the health of the bollanders,
as the drinking of salt wuter and sea bathing is
to the people of Kesteven, who, many of them,
visit the sea shores in holland every summer, and
say they find much relief by so doing. One rea-
son may be that at these spas in Kesteven, there
are no geanteel accommodations for visitants;
and another, thut the waters haviug not yet heen
analysed by the faculty, they do not think it
safe to recommend them ; else oue might be led
to suppose that a journey from the flat parts of
Holland, to the romantic bills of Kesteven, up °
which if the patients were enjoined to walk at
6 o’Clock every morning, to drink a pint of water
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and oceasionally to bathe, it could not sorely fail
to be as useful to any human being as drigking
quarts of sea water, and bathiug in that element,

seeessveenss . Pauci dignoscere possunt
Vera boua, atque illis multum diversa,

Juvenal.

COvovr s s s

STAMFORD.

Stamford is a very ancient inarket Town, in
the wapentake of Ness, in the parts of Kestevén,
situated ou the great nor:h road leading from
Loadon to Scotland, at the distance of 46 miles
nearly south from Lincoly, 89 N. by W. from
London, and 108 S. by E. from York. Being at
-the Soutbern extremity of Lincolnshire, it stands
on the north bank of the river Welland, which
separates it from whatis called Stamford Baron:
and this latter place is iu the county of North™
ampton.

Stamford is not more than a furlong 'disbant, east-
v
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ward, from the old roman road, or Herman
Street. This Town was, by the Saxons, catied
Steinford, i. e. Store-ford ; since which time 'it
has sometimes beeir ealled Stavfard, but, mote

commonly, of late, Stamford.
Mr Foster observes, that tlie roman way which

goes on from Caister, near Peterborough, te Lin-
coln, crosses the Welland at the south west
corner of this town, where is a stony ford, at the
bottom of Nun’s lape, from whence he supposes
the Town took its original name  in the Saxon
ankuage, viz. Steinford.

. According to tradition, Stamford was built
863 years before the birth of Christ, by Bladud
& king of the Britons, who, himeelf being a
philosepher, endeavoured to establish schoots in
‘this towa, similar to those at Athens; and baving
nvited hifhulaqveml‘of the most learned men,
airy were to be met with, the learing of the. heas
thens lourished at this place to the time of

King Lucius, whe was the fist that embraced
the christian faith here, by the preaching of F-
getive and Damianas, sent inte Britain by Bieu-
therus, bishop of Rome. After this, Stamford
became equally eminent for christian learning,
contained B religious houses, 18.parish churches,
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and 3 chapels; the people of the neighbouring
uations sent bither their sous to be educated,
and the universily continued to spread around
the beuign influences of leaming aud virtue, for _
several ocenturies; but at length the mists of
besesy began to thicken, the heretieal opiniensof
the Arians prevailed, and the university was dis-
solved by the decree of Grcgory bishop-of Rome,
about the year of Christ 727,

Concerniug this tradition, the poet Ifardinge
has the followmfv lines —

« Stamford he made, 50 callyd to thys dly.
In which he made a Universite,

Hys noble Clerks, as Merlyon doth sey,
Had Sctivlets fell of grent abilite,
Studieng over afl whiwey bo tmite;

Inall the seveh Rbéril-bétenee,

For to putidiade wisddmh ind sapielee.”

John Ross, the Warwitk Antiquery, who lived
towards the lattér thd of the centwry m which.
Hardinge wrote, inforiss as that king Bladud,
who in bis youth was a studént at Athens,,
brought with him from thenee, learned méen, and.
placed them at Stamford, near the fetws, where bie
founded a University, which continaed i}l the

time of St. Augustiue, A, D. 597, at whnse sug-

: v 2
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gestions Pope Gregory interdicted it, on account
of the heresies there disseminated. But, in this
instance, the credit of Ross is lessened by quot-
ing the authority of Hardinge. ( Jo. Ross Anti-
guarij Warwic. Historia Regum /ngl. cdit.
T. Hearn. Ozon. 1745, p. 23.)

In addition to these authorities for the exist-
euce of a University at Stamford, we have the
Tradgedie of Bladud, printed in the “First part
of the Mirror for Magistrates * (1575. fo. 43.b.)
and written by J. Higgins. In these verses the
ghost of Bladud says;— S e

“ Then was I chose king of this Jand,
And had the crowne as had the zest:

1 bare the scepter in my hande,

And sworde that all our foes opprest.

Eke for becanse the Greekes did use,
Me well in Greceat Athenslate;

I bad those foure I brought, to chnse
A place that T lizight dedicate

'To all the Muses and their artes,
. To learning’s use for evermore;
- . Which when they sought in divers parts,
At last they found a place therclore, '
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Awmidst the realme it lies well nighe,
As they by art and skill pid prove:

An healthfull place not low nor high,
An holesotne boyle fot their behave..

With water streams and springs for willes ::

Aud medowes sweet, and valeyes grene:

And woods, grbaves, gtarries, all thiig elsé N
For studénies Wealé, or pleasare bene,

Whenthey reported this to me,.

They prayde my grace that I would builde,
Them therean Universitie,.

Thie ftaits oﬂeas-mng for to yelde.

L builtethe Scholcs like Attike’s then,
And gave them landes to maintayne those-
Which were accounted feirned men,

Atrd cotid the gtoumdes of artes disctése.

The towne is called Stamford yet,

There stande the wallcs.vntill this daye ;.
Fomdastions ekeof scholes I get,

e ywet (m mmh-way it decdy?,

W‘hereby the lande rcceavul store .
Of learned clarkes long aftet ﬁut, &e.

$towe relates that Bladwd) tbe 2o of Rudbudi-
biass, built Stamfordy and - made i o univerdity,
which was supprecsed by the: buhop of Rawsrin.
St. Austiny’ time. a '
vl
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According to thesé accounts’ the town and
university of Stamford were built above a bua-
dred years before the foundation of Rome, which
is not at all probable; Caesar, who was in Britsin
800 years dfter the time in which the above events
are said to have taken place, tells us, that the-
Britons, in his time, wore the skins of beasts,
and died their bodies with woad; that the inland
inhabitants seldom sowed any corn, but lived
on flesh and milk, and that they called a wood,
surrounded with a bank and ditch, a town!

Foster also observes that if Stamford was s
place of such note, at such an early period, how
are we to account for its not being mentioned by
Nennius in his catalogue of british eities. Nor
does any Roman author mention either town or
city as being'in this place;— the Itinerary is
quite silent, and .Ptolemy, in his geograply of
Britain, mentions only two, cities belonging to
the Coritani, viz. Lindum, end Rate: the first of
whichis Lincoln , the second, by all antiquarians,
is thought to be Leicester; and what further cor-
- roberates tiis opinion, is, that o temnins of
- Britons or Romams ; ne encampments, no pave-
mesnts, 20 coins, bave evér been found here, but
what were either Saxen, or Nerman. -
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* 1ltis qlite needless to enter into the dispute,
¢éouncerning the early period at which a universi-
ty is said to have been first founded at Stamfoyd;
at that time learning was at a low ebb, all over

.the world except in Greece, and the state of this
dsland' was then not at all suited to literary pur-
svits, The whole is butatale, or as Leland sa)s,
“This i like a dreme ”.

Respecting the christian university, Camden
says, in King Ed. Il s’ reign, a university for
liberal arts and sciences was begun here, which,
the inhabitants looked upon as their greatest
glory. The occasion of establishing it was this;
there happeried to break out some het disputes
at Oxford, between the Students of the north
and south, which so disturbed the studies of
both parties, that great mumbers of them with-
‘drew from thence; and settled in this town. The
King being acquainted with these disorders, or-
dered the Students, by his proclamation, to re-
turn again to Oxford, which they -accordingly
did, aud so an end was put to this university,
whioh was so lately begun; aud from thence-
forward it was provided by oath, that no Oxford
man for the future should profess as Stamford.”

The avthor of Magne Britanniathinks that-
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there was an university here beford the time of
Elward FlI. because here ave he obmerves, still
the remains of two celieges called Rlack hell, .
and Bruzem-nose, on the gate of which: luteer,
there is & brazemsnose, and a ring through it,
like that ut.Qxford ; and it is evident thut this
colleze did not take pattern fromOxford, bur O=-
ford from this; for Brazenm.uose college iw- Ox-
ford was-net butlt before the reign of HensyVII.
whereay, this is allowed to e ap oid as the time
of Edward HI. Andas the Students from O
fond demoved thither, and staid onby d short time,
they cannot beé-supposed o have been the buikl.
ers of those places; noklring ¢onjd -be a greater
inducement fortem &0 go- thither,. than the
Knowiedge thut it was once » wniversity, sad:
that they should find colleges ready to- 1geeive
them, alrendy built so their hunds”, (" Mag. Brik. )
Noatwithstanding all tliese authorities,. doubts
will naturally ariee, fot it is a well knowa fact:
thut some authors have beest fond - of - recarding
weonderful things, and often mpom slight groands.
M. Blore, in his accon!, of public Sebablrand
"Hoepitals in Staimford, pa 7. justly ebserves tmt,
“If we deseend from. the fabwlews history of
. thes¢ renowned Prinees,, Bindud apd Lucius,
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towards times of which we have much more -ac-
curate information, we shall pass through many
centuries without obtaining anether glimpse of
this university: for thouglr I believe (say he) the
" Monasteries were in this, as. well as. in every o-
ther part of the Kingdem, the earliest semina-
ries of literature, yet, if the sience of the Con-
" queror’s survey may be received as admissible ne-
gutive evidence, there was not; even. for some
years -after the middle of the eleventh century,n
single monastic foundatien ia this towh, er any
establishment indicative of public provision for
thie culture of letters.” L )
‘Feoster very justly obsesves that there never
was, strictly spesking, a univessity here, for this
requires the supreme authovity for its incarpora-
tion, which Stamford never had. Peck avoids
mentioning this, and se fond was heof placisg a
university here, that his book.has for its title, A-
cademia tertia- Anglicana, that is, she third en-
glish university.®
® Harrington; the auttior of Drunken Barstaby, in
one of his journies to the north, mentions Stamford and

its nniversity im a sarcastic manner. Kt seems that
Stamford was then noted for beggars, for he says;

To Stamford came I, where I find
Purses are sold of every kind, ’
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“Peck,in bis Antiquarian Anials of Stamford,

( lib, ix, ) seems inclined to consider Heary de

Hasms, Warden af the White or Carmelite Friars

ia Stamford, and Provincial of his-order in Eng-

land, who died amongst the Carmelites at Stam_

ford, ou the 4. of the Calends of December,

(21 Nov.) 1299, as tise first promoter of the es-

tublishment of Sehools there, after the Conquest:

uwad is desirous to have i thought that the Gil.

bertine Schoel was an -imitation of Humua's ex-

ample, It must be confessed, however, that
Peck’s opinion seems not suppested by evidence
or argument, and that thi earkiest authentic ne-

tice” whish canl be produced, of the existenee of
2 Scheot at Stamford, under & regular establish-
-saént, is in' the licence greated by Joha D’ Al-
derby Bishop of Lincoln, in the year 1308, for

the performaince of ‘divine Service by a Chaplain,

dither secular ar regular, in the Chapel of St,
Mary, within the saner of Mr. Robert Luterel

(Reetor of Irnham) in the parish of St. Peter,

Punses there are, that cut a flash,

Purxes in plenty hut no cash,,

As many vermin as crawl o’er me,

So beggars are befoge ye. .
Where are the Schollars, Proctors, Fellows, College &
‘They’ve into purses cramard their tormer kwowledge,
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Stamford; which manor Luterel bad given to
she Prior and Convent of Sempriugham in Lio-
eolnshire, of the Gilbertiae ovder, expressly for
the recsption of scholers to b instructed in divina
learming and philosophy, for the augmentation of
that Conwent. .

Aad it seems higly probable thas the Stamford -
schools had, abeut, or soon after the time of
that foundation, attained censidersble repuia-
tion ; fer nean to the year 1309 lived Juhn Rep-
ingale, a native of Lineolnshire, and Friar of the
house of Carmelites ia. this town, who had taken
a Doetor’s degree in divinity at Cambridge, and
was. a2 man flourishing usder the encomiums of
piety and learning, and one who, by the study
of virtue, sought not his own advantage anly, but
libemise, by bis very learned Sermons, promoted
the travel of many in the road to spiritual per~
fection; so that it bas been affirmed of him, that
he as a public professar, for several years . rend
and .explained the master of the seatences to a
wel) frequented anditory, with goed applause;
and thet in all school disputes, he was mugh es-
teemed for the subtlety of his wit, the- seundness
of bis learning and the ripeness of bis judgement.
(Peck, lib, X. ps .2.)
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At this time also flourished W. Whetely, who
has been sirnamed (by Leland) Boétianus, from
the pains he took to exphin the book of Boéthi-
us. He was a2 man of excellent skill in bumane
Nterature and #iberul arts, acqaired by long study
under the best tutors at Oxford, aud improved,
by society and conversation with learned aren,
dafter his preferment to the parsonage of Yates-
bery. He erected Schools at Stamferd, for wlrich
he wrote a book (now in MS. in Pembroke Li-
brary, Cambridge; and at Merton College Ox-
ford) beginning ¢ Hominum natura multipliciter
est”—and ending, * Here endeth the boek of
Boéthius touching the discipline of Scholars, af-
ter this sort ordered and compiled .by a certain
Master who governed' the Schools at Stamford,
in the year of our Lord 1309,” in which be iater-
mixed much diseourse relative to University cus-
toms, the taking of Degrees, fouading ef Lec-
turés and other matters of Academical Govern-
ment. (Peck, lib.x.p. 2.—*¢ Pitts,”)

Cotemperary with the two former, we find W.
Lullendune, Warden of the White, or Carmelite

Friars in Stamford; who, about the year 1315, -

‘was appointed- proviacial of that Order in Eo-
gland, Cyprus and the Holy Land, and who

-
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wrote sermons, lectures in divinity; and cé‘m-
mentaries on St. Matthew’s Gospel; which Le-
land tells us,  remain abundant testimonies of
his erudition.” He died, as is conjectured,
about the year 1319, and was buried amongst
the brethern of his own Order at Stamford.
(Peck, x. 14. “Pitts.”) And about the same
time lived Walter Heston, a native of Stamford,
of the Carmelite Order, who had taken the de-
gree of Doctor in Divinity at Cambridge; “a
person so universally beloved for the uprightness
of his manners, and so remarkably knowing both
in sacred and profane discipline, that he some-
times taught Philosophy, and at other times-Di- .
vinity, as a Master and Professor in several mon-’
. asteries of his own Order, and ‘at length for his
prudence and other virtues, was chosen Prior of
" his own house at Stamford.” Aud nearly at the
sametime lived John Burley, a Carmelite, ¢ who
was brought up a scholar from his very cradle,
and who adorned the Monastery of Carmelites
, at Stamford with his profound learning,” and was
buried there amongst those of his own Order, in
1382 or 1333. (Peck, ix. 49. and xi, 6.) And
John Rodington, a Franciscan amongst the Grey
Friars at Stamford, who was instructed in Phile-
VOL, 1L X
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sophy and Divinity at Oxford, and afterwards
improved himself by study at Paris; and- who
wshone amongst those of bis own age with the ti-
“tles of virtue and erudition,” and died (the Pro-
vincial of his Order,) at Bedfoﬁ!, in 1348. (Pec?,

. 93, Leland, Bale and Pitts.”) o

“After such an assemblage of men of eminent .

learning, toraise the reputation of Stamford us a
seat of literature, and with the certainty that \
Schools had for some years been established there,
" it is not at all wonderful, that, on the breaking
out of a violent quarrel at Oxford, between the
porthern and southern Scholars, in 1333, a
great number of Masters and Students retired to
Stamford. )

“The members of the University of Oxford, a-
larmed for their credit by this secession, npplied
to the King through their Chancellor Robert
Stratford (afterwards Chancellor of England) and
the congregation of their Masters," to iob'ajn the
authority of Pope Benedict X1I. for suppressiog
- the concourse ¢f Scholars to Stamford : ( Peck,
xi. 11.) but the King imitating the example of his
valiant grandfather, preferred the exercise of his
ewn soveréign authoritv to the assistance of the
Pope, and on the 2d of August, in the 8th Ed-

’
ot ’
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ward 111, 1334, directed his own writ to the She-
riff of Lincolnsliire (J. de Trehampton) reciting
that Masters and Scholars had in consequence of
dissensions retired from Oxford to study at Stam-
ford ; and coumauding him to proceed to Stam-

" }‘ord and there to proclaim a prohibition for any
]m*son to sludr/ or perform scholastic exercises
elsewhere than in the bnwenzhfs, on pam of for-
feitiug all which they were capable to forfeit.
(Rvm Fud. iv. 621.)

This probibition, decidedly shows that Stam-
ford was not then considered as an University :
‘though it doés aot appear to have iad the ciiect
of completely suppressing the Schools: for the
King, on the 28th of March following, (9th Ed-
‘ward 1I1.—1884) issued another proclamation
(from Notfingham) by which it appears, that se-
veral of the Masters and Scholars, holding the
prohibition in contempt, had, afterwards, con-
finued fo study at Staniford and to perform scho-
lastic exercises there, to the disgrace of the King -

_and the manifest dispersion of the University of”

‘Oxford; so that for the suppression of their resis-

tance to his authority, he had ordered the She-

riff of Lincolnshire to seize their books and

goods in Stamford; which last proceeding had. °
X2
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not had the effect of dispérsing them, for that
the Master and Scholars still, by default of the .
Sheriff in the performance of his duty, continued
their exercises at Stamford as before; and that
special command was therefore given, to Wil-
liam Trussel, to declare the prohibition at Stam-
ford, to the Masters and Scholars there, and te
return their names immediately to the King for
their punishment : and in this service the Sheriff
was commanded to be assisting, with an assuranee
from the King to the seceders, that the latter
should have redress before his Justices for any
injury done to them at Oxford. (¢ Rym. Fed.
iv, 618.)

Trussel, in pursuance of this authority, took
an inquisition at Stamford, on the Feast of St.
James, by which it appears that a great number
of persons lrad contumaciously resisted the king’s
commands. .

Selden intimates, that the prohibition of schol-
astic Exercises at Stamford was carried into ef-
fect by the King's presence on the occasion
and if that were really the case, it should seem
the Professors and Schollars at Stamford conti-
nued refractory for more than iwo years afier
the last prohibition ; for we do ot find the King
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at Stamford until the 34. of June 1387, from
which day he kept his Court there (after his
journey to York) until the first of July following:
(Rym. Fed. fv. 761-—776. ) and indeed accord-
ing to Camden, the Schools of Stamford ¢onti-
nued to Rourish until the rage of Civil Wars be-
ttveen the houses of York and Lancaster, wheu
the northern soldiers stormed and ravaged the
town with fire and sword.

And after the contests between Stamford and
Oxfotd, the forimer nppears still to have beer
the residénce of several learned men, though
their connection with the Schiools cannot be as-
eertained with certainty. Amonjgst these was
Fohn Repingate, who was living in 1359, and bur-
jed here: anan noticetl as famotis in’his time':
(Camden’s Britannia,) and William Folville,
a Pranelscan, not ancelebtiited for many titles of
erudition, who died in 1384, and who was buried
Mre wnrbhgst the Monks of his own Order.

Henry of Huutingdon says that the Piets and
Scors lLidving ravaged the country as far as
Sramford, were thiere deféated by Hengist, when
Vortigern the king of thése parts gave him lands

_in Lincoinshire Yor the maintenance of himself
#nd his men.  As this battle was fought. in the
X3 h
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year 449, it proves that Stamford is a very anei:
ent place; however some historians suppose that
the battle was fought on the ground where
Stamford was afterwards built, but in support
of this there seems to be ne direct testimony.
Waulphere’s charter to Peterborough Minster,
is dated A. D. 640, aud if this charter be genu-
ine, it not only proves that a town was here at
that time, but also that the country round about
it was well inhabited, and the Saxon towns nu-
merous. However Edgar’s charter A. D. 973
- is indisputably authentic, and -at that time we
find it was a market town. Leland says that it
was a Borough town in Edgar’s reign, which be-
gun in A. D. 639, and Ingulphus informs us
that there were Terms held at Stamford in bis
time.
About the year 1017, Canute king of Den-
mark invaded England with a powerful army,
and among ether devastations, laid waste the
town of Stamford.
. The walls round this town were very likely.

built by the Danes, who, whien they had takea
the town, erected them as a defence against the
Saxon inhabitants, who were sure to vetaliate as
soon as they found an opportunity, What »
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miserable picture does the history of all ages ex-
bibit! War, repine, and plunder, have at all
times congtituied the most prominent scenes ia
the terrible drama which mankind bave always
acted ou the stage of the world ;—and although
we in this age of knowledge, may designate our
ancestcrs, a few centuries back, as barbarians,
yet a little serutinizing will show us, that as we
- act the same parts we are not much farther
advanced in reat civiliaation than they were.
¢ Lelaud says there were 7 principal towers in
the walls of Stamford, to each of which the free-
holders were alloted to watch and ward in the
time of ueed ; bat, according to Speed’s map of
the towm, there were .4 other less forts, whioh
"makes the tetal number eleven. The remains of
one of the 7 principal bulwarks, a little above
St. Peter’s gate, towards the north, is very appar-
ent; at the top of it were loop-holes to shoot ar-
rows through. Two of the larger, towards the
‘river, were called Beesfort, and Holm towers;
three others towards the north, east, and west,
were called White-Lower, Carp tower, and North-
bulwark. Beside these, the town was defended
by 7 principal, and two postern gates;—the
larger were St, Paul’s gate, St. Gorge’s, Bridge
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gate, Gledgate, St. Petersgate, Stogate, rid New-
gate. Oue of the postern gates, ‘joitied althost
1o Bridge trate, towards the east; the other ‘led
towards Tenter meadow, which Speed ¢dlls fhe
Water gate.” ( Harrod's Hict. Statﬁf«)rd. )

The Castie.. -

Harred -thinks that the Castle was built by
the Danes, soon sfter they had destroyed the
town in A. D. 870. In this bamile (see Algar-
kirk) tive stout Knight Harding of Ryall.was one,
who with all the Stamfordians; becasse they
were brave felfows, ‘and fit for active ser.
wvice, tesolved to keep the centre, as being the
‘most convewient situtation from whewee ‘they
‘might assist enher wing, &s Jmnmm:&'mgb
require. .

The Saxon Chroticle, and Henry of mm.g.
don, speaking of its being aftwurds taken' by Bkt
Iromside, in 942, say it had beewr 2 Tomk AMue
in their possessien ; hence we conclude: thet the
Danes had .4 garrison in it, which they withdrew,
and deinvlished the Castle. whien they were Hefore
conquered by King Edward, Sirnamed the Etder.

" This menarch had a sister nanied Elfetla, who
was married to Etheldred 8 Mercian Eatl; the




STAMFORD, 237

lady had = martial spirit, and Leland says that
she, as well as the King, had always .a large ay-
my in the field; that she frequently routed the
Danes, erected new towns, and fortified them,

Huatingdon writes that she built a town or
two every year, for 7 years together.

Leland, and Matthew of Westmnster, agree in
observing that in A. D. 914, she rebuilt the
Castle of Stamford, on the nortk bank of the
Welland ; but she had scarcely left it, when the
Danes retook it. Her husband however, (acegor-
ding to the above 8axon chronicle as well as
Marianus, Scotus, and Florence of Westminstes)
built a Castle on the sexth sidethe river,* attack-
ed the Danes in the ather Castle, forced them to
sirrender the town, and to dcknowledge his
sovereignty, This was A. D. 922. :

The Castle on the north side the river, stood
by the north road, where the Nun’s farm nowis,
Edmund Ironside divided the Kingdem with On-

* # Edward the Elder builta very strong castle on the
south side the bank, called now Stamford Baren, as
Marianns has it; this was destroyed in the war
between Steven and Henry II, and the very ruins of it
are no were to be met with, to point ont to usthe place
where it stood’ The book at Peterborough relates
Flcanor the wife of Edward I. after the conquest, erect.

“ed a house of Nnns, on the scite of this Castle,
(See Howgrave pa. 9.)
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- faf, a Danish Prince, and yielded to bim the cf-
tles of Lincoln, Leicester, Nottingham, Derby,
and Stainford, and from this lime these five cities
were called, by way of eminence, Fishurjzenses ;
bat, in 942, he retook them, und they rethained
in possession of the Saxons antil the invasion of
Swaine King of Denwmark, to whom they readily
submitted. Their inhabitants were probably
Danes, or of Danish extraction, whichk would
decount for the lenity shawn them, for the army
il other places commiiited the mhst deipetute
favdges, burhing the Houses and carrying iiity
cuptivity the ibh&bitauts df abbut 18 to¥tws &nd
villages ini this neighbourboott, ~ -

This invasion tock plice 1613, and hence
the reader may pefceive when the Chstle wais in
the hands of - thé-Saxons, that fs of the English,
tud when in those of the Danes. The lattér held
it tHf thie déath of theii tast King In'1041, when
the English again pussessed : the - Kivigdom, dut
in 1066, the Normans conquered the wholé isl-
and, and at that time this, place of course, with
all others, fell into their'hands,

When Henry Plantdgenet, afterwards Henry
II, waged war with Stephen, in A.D. 1152, Le,
says Huntingdon, the third time laid siege teo
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Stamford Castle; twice before he had been repuls-
ed, but now, after taking the town, those who
kept the Castle sent messengers to Stephen, who
was besieging Ipswich Castle, desiring him to
come to their assistance; but as Stephen would
neither come himself, nor send supp'lies, the Cas-
tle soon surrendered to Henry, who marched
directly to Nottingham, and soon took it because
those who held the 'Castle there had set it on
fire,

In the reign pf Bichard IIL. Stamford Castle
was overthrowu, and demolished, and the mate-
rials were employed to repair the White Friary,
The hill, on which it stood, was cast up by
bands, for, by diggiog, the earth plainly appear-
ed to be artificial, nat lying in nytural layexs,

The Carmelite Friary,

f

Or White Friary. stood a little way east frop
St, Payl’s gate, where the road divides for Ryall
and Utfington. From the extent of the walls
which are yet slamhng, this structure must bave
been large, and, au.ordmgm tradition, it was
magmf;cen; ; it was famqus also for its church,
and steeple, the latter of which was similar to
that of All-Saipt’s church. Speed says that it
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was founded by Edward II1.'but there is indispn-
table evidence that it existed in the 13. Edward
1. and the Friars had an smple confirmation of
privileges in the 11. Edward Il. 'They had also
grants from Edward III. in the 7 and 10. years
of his reign, and the arms of that monarch, still
" remain over the gateway of this house, and may
be considered as a venerable monument of Anti-
quity. 'This Friary was surrendered on the 8. of
October 1539 by its prior. In 15698, the scite
was in the possession of the Lord Treasurer
Burghley at his death, and it is now the property
of the Marquis of Exeter, his lineul male beir.

The Grey Friars,

Or Friars minor, was situated on the outside
of St, Paul’s gate, on the right hand side of tle
road leading to the White Friary, or to Deeping.
‘The outward wall of the inclosure is nov stand-
ing, (and bears evident marks of Antiquity)
whence g've may perceive that the monastery and
its adjuncts occupied a considerable portion of
ground. Al that remains of this building, is a
plain back gate in the south front. William
Earl Warren became possesed of the manor of
‘Stamford in 1205, and gave, after the interdict of
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the kingdom by the Pope, in the®. of King John,
one eultare of 5 acres without the cast gate of
Stamferd, from his demesne, to bury the bodies
of the tlead aud for making there an hospital and
hous¢ for the Friars and Pauupers, This is no
douht the foundation of the Grey Friars in
Stamford ; for there is no other situation with.
out the east-gate, which answers to the above
deseription. Thomas de Holand, first Earl of
Kent, who died the 28. of Dec. 1362, was buried
in the chapel to this Hospit+l, as appears by the
Will of bis widow Joan the Fair Maid of Kent,
where she desires to be huried in this chapel,
Rear the grave of Thomas earl of Kent, her first
husband. Fuller in his history of abbeys gives
the following account of the surrender of this
Hospital,* -
For as much as the warden and freers of the
house of St. Frances, in Stamford, comeuly cull-
. The first Lord Burghley in his Diary, says, that on
the 5. of Aug. 1566 Qreen Elizabcth was entertained
at his house at the Grey Friary, because his danghter
Anun was suddenly seized with the small pox at Burgh.
leigh. Hollingshed and Stowe relate that on Corpng
Christi day, in 1402, the Deril entered Danbury
church in Essex, at evening service, and greatly fright.

&d the congregution, and that he came in the hikeness
of a Grey Friar, with a tcmpest and thunder, which

. broke theSteeple, andscuttered half the chancel abroad.

Y
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. &1 fhe Gray-Treers, in Staaffotd, in the county of
* Lincolr, doo profoundly consider, that the per-
* fection of christinn lyviug dothe not consistein
+ the doine eeremonies, werying of the grey eoste,
disgeasing our selffc afler strainge fashions, dok-
ing und beckying, in gurdying our selffes with a

- gardle full knotts, and other like- papistical eer-
emounies, wherein we have been moost prineipally
practyced aud misselyd in times past: but the
" very tra waye to please God, and to live a.tru
christian man, wythe owte ull - ypocrasie, aad
fuyned dissimulation, is sinteerly declayryd unto

. us by our mastér Christe, his evangelists-and. a-
posties. Béing minded heaveafier to followe the
seme; conformyng our selffe unto the will aod

- pleasure of our supreme hedde under God in
erthe, the king’s majes'y; and not to follow
henceforth the supersticions treditions -of any
forincyncul potemtate, or poore, withe mutual
ussent and consent ; doo submytt owr selffes unto
the mercy of owr said soveraygne lorde. Aud
with mutual assent and consent, do surrender
.- and yielde ap unto the hand of the same, all owr
. said house of 5t. Franeis in Stamforde, comenly
. cally'd the Grey Freersin Stamferde, -with all
lands, teoements, gardens, mesdows, - waters,
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pondyards, feedings, pastures, comens, rexts, re-
versions, and all ether owr interest, ryghtes and’
tythes, aperteygning uuto thé same; mooste
huwbiy beseechyng his mooste noblé grace, to
dispose of us and of the same, as best schall
stone wythe his most graciouse pleasure, And
farther, freely to grant unto evry one of us his
licence undre wretyng and seul, to change owr
habites into secular fashion, and to rccéive such
manuer of livyngsas other secular priests comen
ly be preferry’d unto. Aund we all faythfully
schall pray uuto alighty God loug to preserve
his mooste noble grace, wythe encrease of moche
felicitie and honor. ' C
And in witness of all and singuler the premiss-

es, we the saide warden and covent of the Grey'
Freers in Stamforde, to thes¢ presents have put’
our convent seal the yeght day of October, in the
fhyrtythe yere of the raigne of owre mooste so-
verayne king Henry the yeight.

Futum' Johannes Schgmy, Gardian.

Per me Fratrem Johannem Robards.

Per me Johannem Chadworth.

Per me Richardum Pye.

Per me Johannem Clarcke. -

Per me Johannem Quoyte.

Per me Johannem Jarman,

Y 2 ',
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Per me Johannem Yoang.
Per me Johannem Lovel.
Per me Willielmum Tompson.

The scite was granted to Charles Brandon
Duke of Suffolk, but the Lord Treasurer Burgb-
ley died possessed of it in 1598, and it is now
the property of the Marquis of Exeter.

St. Leonard’s Monastery

Of Beredictine or Black Monks dedicated to St,
Leonard, stood about a quarter of a mile east of
$tamford.

The bulldmg was begun about the year 658 at,
the same time with Peterborough minster, but
finished before it. St. Wilfrid the elder, after-
wards bishop of York, founded it, and it was the
oldest conventual church in all South Mercia.
Wllfrld bemg educated at Lineoln gave it to the
Benedxctme monks of that city; he dled at Oun-
dle in 709 aged 75%.

In 1082 William the conqueror and William
Kairliph bishop of Durbam rebuilt it, and they

hd Wulfml brought two musicians out of Kent called
James, and Stephen, who introduced notes and singing
into the churches of the north of Englaud, which were
used before only in Kent; ta which caunty. thcy were
brought from Italy by Adrian the seventh abbot of St.
Austin’s monastery in Canterbury.
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gave it to the priory and couvent of Durbam, te
make a cell for the monks of that menastery; it
was endowed, with lands:called . the. manps. of -
Chuthbert’s fee, which.also helanged to the cathe-
dral- church of Durbam, for this was dedioated .
to St. Cuthbert, t sud the. moaks ware likewise
Benedictines. .

The side.aisles are bolb destroyed, wluch when.
standing made. the, front as broad aguin, and
must have heen a _beautiful piece. of. work. It -
was alsp above as long again as it. new. is, and
even then bayond the.nave steod the steeple. in .
which Lung the bells, and on each side that
were the. cross aisles; beyoud the steeple, stoad
the chair, so that, what now remaing is not the .
6£th part of the original building, and yet itisa .
good part. of - the nave of thechugch. It must
bave been -gloomy.from she narrowness of - it’s .

windows, und these were made more obscure by. ‘

the painted glass, but it was.enlightened by a .
goent number of lamps, which. were continually .

 burning.
-Sir Henry. de. Stamford, who was elected

t Cuthbert was archblshop of. Canterbury, and flou-
vished abeut 750; he introduced buryingin churches
_md churcbyards, which before was not pernuttgd

Y, 8,

\
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' bishop of Durham, resided here during the latter
part of his life, which ended in 1320, and he was
buried in the choir before the high ahar; he
was born on 8t. Leonard’s duy, elected bishop
on St. Leonard’s day, and baried iu 8t, Leo-
pard’s church; after his burial a light was seem
shining on his grave like a sun beam.

- Cells were used as a nursery for young monks

where they were sent to study under their seni-
* ors; also as a punishment for those who were
banished from their principal ‘houses; also for
the recess of eminent persons, who, being ill
tredted by the king, pope, or their own monas-
teries, chose to leave them and live here in re-
tirement, as the abeve Henry of Stamford did.

The abbot of Groyland hld 8l. per annum
out eof this priory.

In Speed’s map of Stamford there is mentioned
a Nuugery on the road to St. Leonard’s, but no-
thing ef this is now known.

‘“ A Priory of Benedictine monks (says Tan-
ner) Cell to the Monastery of Durham, dedica-
ted to St. Leonard.’ It was valued at 251. 1s..2d.
per annum, by Dugdale, and at 36l. 17s. by
Speed, and granted 5. Edward VL. to Sir W.
Cecil. It is now a furm house, belonging to the
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Earl of £xeter,’ aud with she swal manor ad:
Joining, is stiit called S, Cuthbert’s Fee.”:
{Tanner's Not. Mon.)

The Dominieans. -

* The monastery of the Dominicans, or Black
Friare, was situated on the left of the road lead-
ing from St. Georpe's-gate, to Tenter meadows..
There are no remains of it now, but part, if not
the whole of the church, was standing about the
year 1600;- its steeple was a strong quadrangn-
lar tower. Peck imagines this house to have
been founded by William de Fortibus, the se-
cond Earl of Albermarle, because, one. if net
more of his posterity, was buried here; this is in
conclusive evidence, for though Thomas, one of -
His Grandsons was buried here, William, anether

Grandson, was butied in the church of the Fri-
ars Prachers at Oxford, and that church was
certainly not founded'by de Fartibus. Who-
ever might be the founder, it is certain that this
. hospital existed here at a very early period;
for beside the burial here of Thomas de Forti-
bus, about 1241, we find that William de Pave-
i, by his will in 1243, gave in a legacy of 2
shillings to the Friars Preachers at Stamford;
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also that Eminay.the wife of Sir Geoffrey de St.
Midard, Leard of Qegetby im.Lincolushire, was
boried here in 1278. The seite was granted to
Rob. Bocher, and David Vincent, in the 88.
Hen. VHI. It belonged ‘after the dissolution
to the fumily. of Cave, and.afterwards to the
Cust family, -but it is now the.property of JLovd.
Browalow, as heit to the latter family.,

v

The Augmtzue or Austin Fuary.

The Austin Friary, was. en,the outside of St,
Peter’s gate, on the_left.side of -tbe road leading

to Leicester, on the west bamk of the Welland._

The building was asquare, each side being 80

yards in length. Mr. Faster says that he saw,
pillars, and a windaw. dug up; aud- Alderman.
Feast, in 1713, procured leave of the Ear] of Exer.

ter, to ¢ig stones to build a barn, and many of
these stomes were curiously carved with figures
of birds, beasts, fruits and flowers,

A seal wasalso dug up fineley engraved, with
this incription—Sigillum Domipi Thome Dei
Gratii Elphinesis Episcopi. That is, * the seal
of Thomas by the grace of God bishop of Elp-
bin”. It wasin possession of Jobn Maddisen
Esq. of Ketton, .
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Another seal was found as large as a half-pen-
my, representing the bust of a bearded man with
this ‘incription, "_S'igillum Hugonis Capéllarni”,
round the border.

Oupe Fleminge a very rich man of the towne
of Stamford jn L
der, asit is saic
Stamford, in the
Peter’s gate. Ar
was the perform
p-27.)

Richard Warner was the last prior, who with
ﬁve Friars surrendered this monaslery to Hen.
VIII. Oct. 6.1539. The scite was granted, 8.
Edward VI. to Edward Lord Clinten, and the
Lord Treasurer Burghley died possessed of itin
1598; it is now the property of the Marquis of
Exeter,

Fuller says that the friars of this order were
esteemed great and able disputants, and are still
remembered for their excellency at Oxferd,
where the act performed by the caudidates for
their masters is called the keeping of Austins.

* There were many more orders of Friars, but.
at the council of Lyons it was enacted that there’
should be but four orders of mendicant or beg-
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ging Friars, and these were the four of which an’
account has been given,

Ross says that there were three sorts of pover~
ty among them, one, which was the greatest,
was to have wvothing either of their own or in
common, this was that of the Grey Friars; ano-
ther was to have nothing of their own, byt some-
thing in commion, as books, “clothes, and food,
this was that of the Black Friurs; the third was
to have something of their own and sontething in
common, but ouly necessaries, such as food and ’ .
clothes; this wus that of the White and Austin
Friars, . ' .

The difference between a monk and a friar is
this, the first is one whose monastery is endowed
with lands for it’s support, but a friar is one
whose monastery has rarely any more land or
estate than the bare situation of the house and’
gardens, and they lived by the daily alms of the
people in the neighbourhood, and if any part of
these alms was left at night, they gave it to the
poor, who attended their gate for that purpose,
and the friars themselves lrusted to proudeme
for the morror.
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, Bruzen-Nose College,
Which Peck contends, is an earlier foundation
than Sempringham Hall, retains its name to the
preseat day. Its existence in an early partof
the reiga of Bdward. 111+ is ascertained, and the
style of what restains of it agrees, in point of dn-
tiquity, with thut peried. Whether this was a1-
tached to some of ‘the monastic foundations dn
the town, - or am independent éstublishment, we
sre left intotal ignoriance, though it seems mot
very improbable, 'that it was attdched: to the
Frapciscan ‘Riiars, from the scite of -which it is
separated by a iane only. It is situated on the
south side, and at the east end of the street now,
called St. Paul's Street, imwedintely within the
walls of the town; but nothing remains of the
original structure more than an arched gate-way
of stone, of very deep mouldings, 'su'ppoﬁéd by
clustered shafts; and having, until"ibout 'A: D.
1811, on'the wicker door, a brazen-head, Trom
which was “apendaut an iron ting, by way ‘of
knocker. ‘Acéording’to'Wood, ‘this College was
furnidhed with @ largé refectory or hall; 'and
Pick tells us he was informed by Alexander
‘Morris, (liviug in 1725) ‘one of ‘the workilien

a
-
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ewployed in tuken down the refectory, that it
was a strange wide place with a firechearth in the
middie, such as ‘were comwmon in the halls of
Colleges; and that there were many little rooms
about the house, with stone stiits lending to
them.. It wastuken down in 1688, by order of

the Cerporation, whose property it then was, .

and a néw house was etected on part of the scite
-which was for some years: used .as a school of
“industry, and has.since been. oceupied as a com-
- thoa wesk-house; ‘but the estate was sold about

five ‘or six 'years ago to-James Hurst; Esq. the

preseut proprietor. When- the : Hall was taken

down, it is'said the gase-way was placed rather
: forwarder towards the street. .

St. Leger's Hospital.

Thege was an Haspityl of this name in Stam-
-ford,.in the reizn of King Stephen, who gave to
it an acre and a half of land oug of the demesne
of his Manor of Stamford, (Festa de Nevill 346.)
This Peck seems %o, confound with another

_Hospital, foynded here by Earl Warrenin the

reign of King John. - (Peck, lib. vii. p. 7.) In
what part of the town the Hospital of St. Leger
was situated, or what description of persons it
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was devoted to receive, or what became of its

possessions, is not known. :
‘ Peterborough Holl;and Vaudey Hall. *
Peterborough Hall it is believed, was in the
fee of the Abbot of Peterborough, and on the
south side of the river Welland; but ro infor-
mation has been found to ascertain the scite of
it. * There is as little certainty as to the scite of
Vaudey Hall; but if we are to believe with
Peck, that all the houses in the town of Stam-
ford which bear marks of antiquity, are rem.
nants of Colleges and Hails for education, the
town must have been full of them.

Blaek 1Tnil.

Wood informs us . that * near All Saints was
- lately standing # house of great antiquity, catled
Black Hall, belonging to which there wusu
kitchen formerly standing, which, in its struc-
ture, shewed evident marks of antiquity :” and
Peck says, that it * stood north. west of All-Suiut’s
Church, hard by the steeple, and was lately
Knawn' by the name of the Talbot Inn. T think
it highly prebable, however, that Wood’s des-
dription applied to that building facing 1hé

z
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seuth door of AlLSaints’ Church, which Peck
‘on the authority of Mr. Richard Walburg and
other circumstances, believed to be Peterborough

,l!ali. The latter, by Peck’s description, \was a

fair large room,_ in which Mr. Rollo, cyrate of
8t. Jobo’s (of whom Peck was a pupil) kept his

| feast. It bad a large window like =
chun:h-mndow, at the north end, in which there
was much stained glass, particularly acock in
two or more places, such as Peck had seen often
* repeated in the church of St. Martin, which was
the Church of the Abbots of Peterborough It is
40 highly improbable, hewever, that the Abbots
of Peterborough should have had their Hall for
" “ghe retepilon of pupils within the fee of the
Lord of the Castle of Stamford, instead of hav-
ingitin their own proper fee on the south side
of the river Welland (tenagcious as those Abbats
qpesr to have beep, of a dnsnnct jurisdiction from
that which prevailed in the town north of the
Welland) that I cannot pcsuade myself to the
opinion of Mr. Peck and Mr. Walburg, but
wust refer the structure called Black-hall, which
" was taken down about twenty years before Peck
published, to some other counection than, depen-
dency on the Abbey, of Peterboreugh. (Blore,)
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Carinelites’ Sckool.

"'This i5 said to have been on the east side of
the Rectory House of St. George’s, and' to havé
been pulled down by the Earl of Exeter, about the-
year 1720: but some fittle of the ancient struc--
ture still remains, and in particular, a. very.small:
eriel window, now biocked' up. Rt was the resi-
dence of Mrs. Jane Cecil, the Lord Treasuret
Burghley’s mother, in the reign of Elizabeth, and
the houses an’its scite are now occupied by
Mr. Cule, Mra. Allin, and Mrs. Pilkington.

¢ Blore’s account of charities in Stamford. ).

Sempringham Hall.. .
- Itis well known that the manor of: the. Psior
of Sempringham, in-which the hall of the Gilbet-
tines was situated, was t¢ the westward: of
8t. Mary Bennewerk, and that the hall was in
the paﬁsh of St. Peter; 1-am inclined to think
(says Mr. Blore) that the house now occupied by
Mr. Reesby, baker, on the south side of the.
short street rising towards' St. Peter’s hill from.
the east, is part of the Gilbertine school. The
arched doorway of stoue, forming the entry to
Mr. Reesby’s house, is very ancient, and much.
like the entrance to a College or Hall.
. z 2
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This hall was founded in 1292 by Rob. Lut-
trell, rector of lrnham, for the educauon of those
youths who were designed for (xllberl;ne mpnks
at Sempringham, and therefore he gave them to
the Prior and Convent of those monks, who
promised to keep a number of Sludenls here for
the increase of their nonaslcry — and for tbﬂr

maintenance, Robert Luttrell gave them ~lanc!s in’

Stamford, Cottesmere, Ketton, and Castenon.

_ *““Robert Lutterell, rector of lrnham,!O Ed-
ward 1, gave the Mannor House, wlnch he had
in the parrish of St. Peter here, to ;hc Pg ripry
. of’ Sempnngham, whereupon here was “settled 2
small Convent of Gilber;me Cannons, Students
in Divinity er Philooop_hy'. This is the mqst ear-
ly certain account of the University at Stanford.”
( Tannes’s Not. Mon. )

Browne s AlmsRoyse, or Hoepztd.

Wu.x.mM BROWN, a wealthy merchant of the-

s!aple of Calais, whose famlly had been long re-
tident in the town of §tanf_ord having erected a
Chapel and divers buildings for the tegeption of
Chaplains and peor persops, in the parishes of
All-Saints and St, Andrew in Stamford, obtaived
letters patent from Kiog Richard 111, on the
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29th Jan. in the 2d. year of his. reign (148%,)
which were the ssme day confirmed in parliament,
for establishing an. Almshouse. for 2. Warden, he- .
ing a secular Chaplaia .and aCenfrater, also a se-
calas Chaplain to celebrate divineservice and pray.
fer the good estute of the King and Queen, duriag
their lives, and for their souls afterwards, and foc-
the good estate. of Wiiliam. Brows.and Mivgaret,
Ins wife,; durisg: their lives, and for their souls
afterwards, aceording to the erdinance of the
foowder; wifick. Almshouse was. to be called
“ Fhe, Almslouse of William Brown.in Stamwm-
ford in the county of Lincole;;"" and which War-
den and Confrater and their syccessors were. to .
be calied ¢ Wardens and Confraters of the Alms- .
bouse.of Willism Brown of Stammford, jn. the -
esunty of - Limeols;” aud were to be.a body.cor
pérate, and.ta have a cemmes seal; and powes -
ts porchese. landa grd. to sue and be-sued: and -
for” the support. of this.Almshouse, and. of the
Warden~ and Confrater, and . of .divers . poor of -
exchsex, ang for other works of charity, the foon -
der was epnsbled te. gramt to..the Warden and
Génfsater and their successars, estates of thean-.
wmal value of fity. maths  abeve reprises, not.
z B,
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beld bf the King in eapite, notwithstanditig . ¢he -
statute agaigst alienations in' mewtmain.

- Before this werk-was completed, liowerer,
William Browne, the founder, died ; having by
bis will, dated.the 17th Beb. 14889, ang prowed
in the Praeregutive. Conrt of the' Arehbinhop of
Cantbrbury, -in- the diouth of Mayv,i:1488, ap-
pointed Margaret' .his wife to be hig: exeboteix 3
wiio-was also dead is January, 1489-80, whew her’
will was proved in the Pradrog- Court : akd: sfter..
viastls - Thomas : Stokke, ' Cletk, .. her brether, .
theugh he had renouaced lis exeeutorship under
heg will; obtained leteérs palent from King Heary
VI .an the 28tk Nov.' in ‘the .9th ‘year . of his
reigu, (1493) which wet¢, the same duy, confirm-
ed fn parliament, for the -estiblishment 1of this'
charitable foundatien, with ‘sithilar Jpowers to. .
those containgd in the patent of King Richayd iil,
byt with directions.that .the prayers -should be:
for the good estate of King Henry VIL. and'Eli-
znbeth his Queen ; Reginald Biay, 'Knt. and Ca’
tharine his wife ; Thomas: i Blokke, ' Elisabeths
Elmes and William Eimes, whilst living, and fot.
their snula when dead ; and especialiy for tiisibad®
of; Willism Brawne and Margaret lils. wifime i ue



STAMEQRD.. 229,

Puvsuan} tol the anlbomv contained in the Ia«t-'
menuoned Ratent, 'Dnomds Stokke, Clark, on the
5th.Febryary, 9th Hen. Vl[ (1493-4) couveyed '
to Jgbn . Cottan,  the; Warden, and Wulhdm ,
Haukyn, the C,on[raler of phis Almshonse, and
their successors for ever; the Mauors of %wafold
and Nogth, Wuque m ,l,lpcp)mhlre, and o!hen
teyements, of the yalue.of lhu{y pounds per an-
nwR.atihat periad. .

. This establishment contlpued under the le.ncnt
beﬁ)m mentionéd,. un,t,nl the time, of l\mg J.tmes
L. who, on the 4l of May, . in the 8ih war_ o£
his Jreign, (1619) by other letters 'mtem refound-
ed the, A,lmphougc, lgy Ahg same. Of « The Hos-
pital of Williau, Brow ne of, §tapndford in lbe
caputy of Liggeln, of the foundatipy of, James,
Kipg of Esgland;” and disgeted that it shonld.
consisd. pf, i Wardey, pfionffater, fey poor -pud,
ueedy menadyanced inage, god. fwo poor qud
ueasdyr vamen, advapfe‘d iR 248, who , weTe there- )
by ngerporated by the ngme of « Tpe Wardcn,,
Comfraster, and poar.persops gf,gae Ho;pm.l of|
V;Ilum Brewne.in Staugdforg, in the;cou; aty o of

In, of the fol.mdatleul of . James, Kus o
England: :” and also directed, that, ip case, of a
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“vacancy by death, r'esignafion, ot removal, of
any Watden, Confrater, poor’ man, or womaw,.
of this Hospital, tlle: place should. be supplied
within. fourteén days by the ‘dean of Stamferd.
and Vicar of All-8aints in. Stamford, for the.
time being; or, in case of defanlt in their ap-
pointing, within. that. pcrmd then, within four..
" teen days dfterwards,, by the heir of the founder,
' William Browse, for: the time beibg; or, in ease
of default in such« heir aypom\mg, within . that,
period, then within fourteen. days. following, by.
(ke Aldermai (now. Mayor) of Stumford,_for. the:
time beéing; or, in.case of'deféult in such Alder-
man :ppomtmg, within thiat htnod, then’ within.
fourteen days followmg. by the: Blslmp ofLin-.
coln, for the time bemg. or, i ‘case - of .default
in the. Bishop's appointing, then, successivelydy.
“the Dean of Stamford a8d: Wicar. of All-Suiwts,
- aud’by the others,in rotationas befére:

Each of 'the twelve poor people id. the. Hospi-.
tal now recelvec five. shiilliigs ‘weekly;—~ench of
the tea poor ‘men. has. dsuit of clothes ands .
gown of blue .cloth yearly ;—and- each _ of. the.
women has a gawn and petticoat yearly. ‘They
are provided with fuel. C.
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The Hospital, which was finished by Stokke,
(1495) stands in- that part of the town ecalled
the Beast Market, and consists-of a Chapel and
an Audit Room, and of appariments and lod-
gings for the Wudcn! Confratey, poor men and
women. The buildiag is of stoue, and the frout
is a gaod specimen of the plainest style of arehi-
tecture which'prevaited at the end of the fif- -
teenth century; ‘and the-entrance porch is parti-
cularly handsome. The Clupel which is within
the parish of St. Andrew, 2unexed to the parish
of St. Michael, -was conseerated.by the -Bishop
of Ligcoln, oo the $20d of Dec. 1404, and eu
spapal. payment of @s. 8d. is wmade from the Hos-
pital 1o the Vicar of §& Michagls, in satisfuction
of his parochial demands. There is a great
deal.of styined glass. jp-the windows of the Chap-
el and Audit-Room : snd in, a wmdow of the
Cloisters, and amongst thé’ arms are those “of
Browne— Sable, three mallets or hammers, Ar-
gent, impaled »with’ Elees— Efshine, on three
hars,hqu'g‘ué'Sab. fiiteen el leaves, Or; and
of Elmes impuled wiql Iwarby—Efinine, a crosy
Sable. Audio the Cloisters is an inscription on
a b[ass plate, ln laun, which has been thus
Uunsfajed—
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4 This stiucture new docs many rooms eontaip:
May it for everflorish and remain!
*Twas buiit the old and helpless to support,
For poor, not rich, to be a happy port.
" He whose kind views look’d far deyond his day,

By this, we trust, wash’d all his sinp away. *
' The glory of his country, and this fowm ;
. 'The’ dead, his deeds recssd the name ofi-- BRoOWKE:
_ Inthis my house, if yon.my mem'ry prise,.

Direct your daily offerings to the akies.™

The seal of the Hospital represents a crowned

man, sitting uider a rich Gethic cunopy, with
a crucifixion before hjm; and benullj his feet
the half length of a man, whose. hunds ave closed
in the attitude of prayer; and uhider the latter
are the arms of Elmes; the wlw!c mdo.ed by
this !egeml $—

ﬁimllu : rotumes ﬁmmw ﬂmm!ma;

rie: Sotaunford’,

(Vide Blore, wt supra.)

THE CHURCHES; .
" Stamford once contained fourteen Parisk
Churches; viz. St. Clements, St. Marv ‘s Benne-
werk, St. Peter's, St. Andrew's, Trmnv, St.
Paul's, St. Steplien’s, St. Themas’s, St. Michael’s,
Cornstall, GreatSt. Michael’s St. Mary's, St.
George's, All-Saint’s, and St. John Baptist's.
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Beside the above there were §t. Benet’s Cha-
pely and St. Mary’s in the Gapnoc street, close
to Sempringham Hall; with seme others of
which we have been unable to obtain any infor-
mation. } .

Only five ‘.now remain; —some of the other
nine- were destroyed, or burnt, in A. D. 1461,
by the northern soldiers, the number was again
reduced at the time of the dissolution of menas-
teries, and by an act of Parliament made in
1547, they were further reduced to five. In the
time of Papacy the mouks used to officiate in the
churches belonging to. their patishes, and when
the monasteries were -dissolved, the parishes
which-had a livelihood bel onging to them, were
united for support of the future miaistry, and
those that had nothing were ruimed.

St. Clement, stoad near the gate called Sco-
gate, which, while it. was standing, was ‘ealled
Clement’s gate. In the veign of King John,
Lord Langvale gave this church to the Nuns of
§t. Michael, and they used Lo presont the viears

St. Mary's Benncwsrk, steod just withia Pe-
ter's gate, on the morth side, ina litle «lose,
The parish ‘which jit stood in, was alse salled
Bennewerk, .and the street jthe Gamnoc; before
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the ehurch ‘yatd stood ‘a College, or Hall, be-
Jonging to some of ‘the students "at-"Siamfctd.
"Phis church'wias destroyed by tlre northérn sol-
dieis, and the parish*was then ‘united to'St. Pé.
ter’s, the gate also changed its name from West-
gale to Peter'sate. It was a rectory, and the
Prior and Chapter of Durbam preseutea for it
was appropriatedito them.™

St. Peter’s, which wasa rectory,’ stood ob @
greet spot on the soutli side of Petct-bill, dud,
as appears fromi Domsday book,'belo‘h_gea Yo
Hamilton ; in this béok it is said (Hat the’Khig
had a carucate of Tund in St. Veéter’s parish, 4nd
half a carucate-in All'"Saints. “The parsonage
house is just. opposite the scite of -St. Peter’s
ehurch, and in it the vicar of  All saints usually
resides. From: Doomsday ‘also it appears that
St. Peter's parish was not in Lincolnshire; and
a3 Rutlird was ot méde a county umiil ‘the
sime of Henry HE; what is wow Rutland being
then part of . Nettinglramshire, and part of Ner-
thamptoiishire (Heory *TI made it out of these
. shires and gave it to his brothef*Richard, King -
of the Romuns.) “St. Peté¥s ihust have been
in one of ‘the¥e connties, wid ‘mostfprobably in
Nottioghumishive. « ‘Great part ‘of*Rutland and




~STAMFORD. _ o

particulary Hamilton church ‘soke, to- which St,
Petér’s church belonged, was part-of Nottidg-
bamshire, and if St. 'Peter’s parigh- was not in
Lincoluskiire, Brederbft, Behnewenk, und Broad-
heng, conid not be in, Lincolnshire, becdise ey
all Jie ibetween 'St.’ Peters parish and 'we Cou'n
ty-of RutTand. a !
Broadheot is'so eatled from its'breadtl; and
banks over hadging the river. ' Co
In A, D.128%; about sixteed towns ln Negtting.
hamwshite were made part of the county of Rutt
‘land. halU

Also abont A. D. 1289 Gerald de Vormahv!lle o

of the county of Rutland, on his Daughter’s m‘dﬁ’

viage with Gevffrey- de Mar, gavé her,’for he} |
marriage portion, 100 sbillings ‘of rent if'Bms:

pingliam, -before a great number of witiresses, as
they went to celebrate the nuptials in $t. Peter's
church, Stamford, by the following carious<in:
strument, which was read aloud at the church
door. '

¢« Gerald de Normauville, to all. his men and

friends, a5 well prsent as futare, greeting.,

Kuow all, as well present as future, that I Ger-

ald de Normanville, have granted and given to.

Geofiry de Mar, with Mary my Daughter, in
VOL. II. , AA

Say
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fianc marriage, an hundred shillings of rent in
the town of Empingham; to wit, in one mill,
%18, in three men, 9s, i Alan, 3s. in William
son of Ponne, 3s. in Ralf by the water, 3s. and
ope currucate of land with a toft and it’s proper
appurtenances, 20s. Witness Jurdan de Huma-
Rus that I have given to the same Geoffry, Mary
my Daughter, with my assent, at the doer of the
cburch of St. Peter of Stamford, the abbat of
»« . min, Gregory, and Geoffry the canon Rich-
ard de Pec, Geoffry de Normanville, Hugh de la
')bre, and Geoffry his brother; William de Che-

' “enmeres, Jobn de Normanville, Matthew his
‘drother, William de Monin, Hugh de Baenburc,
Geoﬂ'r_y de Normanville, and Simon his Brother;

. Hugh de Ja Mere, and Robert of Wyrcestre Rey-
sald son of Martin, with Herebert his brother;

- Gilbert son of Wace, Simon his Brother; Rich-
ard son of Turold, Hugh and Henry his soas,
Alan son of Noel.”® .

St. Andrew'sy the situalion of this church is
not known. ' ,
ﬁinily, and St. Stexhen's, stood without the

*The feudal customs, says Dalrymple, reduced the
eex to almost a state of insingnificance; the woman
offered by the lord to his vassal, sometimes waited
whele days in the “church, till her man bad either con-

geczed his rcpugnance or compounded for it._
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walls, at the east end of the town, and were des-
troged by the northern soldiers; the parishes
first united to each other, and afterwards both,
with St. Andrew’s, were joined to great St.
Michael’s. o

St. Puul's, stood at a little distance within
* St, Paul’s gate; the remainsof this church have,
" for many years, been comverted into a Free

School, '

On the wrgé of an arci;, in the north wall, be-
hind the wainscot, is the following inscription—
“ Hic " jacet Fustachius- Malherbe Burgincis
Stamford; in & deed of 1326, mention is made of
a mill that had belouged to this Malherbe, which
stood not far from 8t. Leonard’s.

St, Thomas' ; the situation of this church is mtj-
known, it was probably destroyed by the north-
ern soldiers. '

St. Micheel's Cornstal, stood in the street
leading to St, George’s gate, which, at that time.
was called Cornstalt gate; this church was de-
molished by the northern soldiers, and the par-
ish was aftervards united to that of St. George.
In 1230, a deed mentions, that one Clement,
the rector of this church, sold the vicar of
Mukesey a house in Cornstall .Parish, which.

AA2 '
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stood between one of Ernald de Castreton, and
one of Gilbert de Clive.

There was also a chapel, and village, at B{redo
crofl, as appears in someé old deeds, which men-
tion the selling or giving away some heuses and
dove-cotes there. Brederokt mill is mentioned
in deeds of 1304 and 1441. Leland says, that,
in the reign of Heary VIII, the Sessions for
Rutland were kept at Bredcroft. Those male-+-
facters who were condeained there were execut-
ed at Tinwell Gallows, for Bredfroft is in Rut-
land, aad the Gallows stood between Tinwell
and Empingham. The Hall, or Session’s house,
stood about a quarter of a mile on this side the
wash, on- t he northern bank ofithe mill. river ; the
foundations may- still be traced.. Leland. alsa.
sagys that Bredcroft was so called from the Bakere:
selling bread in it; for all the town bread was.
baked in. a public oven there, Ovens formesly
were built on the outside of towns to prevent fire.
Bredcroft, in an old deed, is mentioned as being.
in,St. Peter's parish; this was perhaps after Ben-.
newerk parish had united with that of St. Peter.

© Great St. Michacl’s Church.
1s an ancient building in which the north and

\\
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south chancels, being run out somewhat farther
than the north and aoulh ailes, give it the shape-
of a cross. The deep descent into it onall sides,
the plaiuness of the building, and its being pear-
lv in. the centre. of the town,, with so ldrnea
yard, arcall ‘indications of its Leing very old.
I had formerly '@ ‘small wooden tower, which
contained four very small bells. When this
\\oodeu tower was taken down, a stone coffin
gus found under it.  Croyland Abbey used ta.
receive annually twenty shillings from this
« hurch, and the patronage probably belonged 1o
ihiat abbot.  About 1705 the eastern end of the
choir, or middle chancel, being ruinous, it ‘was.
taken down, and rebuilt by the parishoners; in,
the wall many Pleces of sculpture, and broken
im ages, were found, which had” been thrown in.
to fill vp the interstices, and this circumstance
-shows that it had been repaired with the ruins.
of some other rel gious house, and when the
|§:‘a_risl|es of St. Andrew and St. Stephen were u-
nited 1o this parish, the churches were probably
used for this purpose, since their materials were
ordered to be made use of, either to repairit, or
to mend the bridges, or high-ways, as the -com,.
wigsioners might think fit.
AAS
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In this. cliurch bave been many ibscriptions;,
- and much paioted glass. On the north side the-
communion is an inscription to the memory of
Dr. C. Wilson and his mether;- bie died in. 1728;.
aged 40. Here are also many marble and: other
monuments, but not of sufficient consequence to-
claim particular.attention ;: Cap. Av Armstrong,.
who, after many years spent in.the service of his.
country, and - who alse published a map of Lio-
colnshire, was buried here, but nota stone tells.
where. he lies.. St. Michacl’s is.a discharged rec--
tory, with.. St. Audrew’s vicarage, and St._Ste-.
phen’s rectory united, valued in the King’s books.
at 81, 14s. 2d. Patrons, the: King, as Duke of:
Lancaster, one turn, the. Mayor, Alderman -and

- capifal” Byrgesses of Stamfurd ene tumn, and the.

Marquis of . Eexter two_turas. (Ecton’s . Thesex-
r™e.) .

St. Mary's Charch,.

I8 an ancient building, with.a plain spire stee- .
Ple, containing 6 bells; just where. the spire be-~
gins to.contraet, the four Evangelists are placed, .
at the four conners, under canopies.- The Prior-
and convent of Durham were the patrops of this.
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church, and had the ad¢owsoa of . if, it standing .
in.St..Cuthbert’s Bee.. .

At the upper-ead -of: the midlé chvir, .there.is .
an- ancient’ monsment of” curions werkmanship, . -
but without either; arms or inscription. A man-
lins in avmour. with . bis wife by bim. It isSir
David Philips,. who. fought} aguinst. Richard 111
at the bassle of Bosworth field. This Sir David
founded achestry in this. churcby Ia: the mid-~
dle aile, lies William Hickman, Alderman, who~
gilded this roof. .

In the Cotten Jibrary-is the-following. account:
of some expences towards this church.in 1427

L. s d’

Expended in mending the bells, ... & 6 6.

hid fof ooo..and inn',oo.o-ot‘o;o o l 2.
Wax bought to make two. torches,. 0.°15. 4°
A-.c‘l‘in,,c'ouac cowsesseossacere 0 0 %y
Paid Thomas Harpmaker for ma- }‘ o
king the schaﬂé)" escvesvens ) 0- 8 4

And for waking two torehes, ....... 0 110,
Glue, coeervssescsecsssocsesest 00 011
Readlead, ceveceeecsccsvosaesse 0 0 2.
Ip charges for bringing the. schafte, 0 0 8
A bell ropey. cossresececrassese. 0 0 8
Pro Nersis for the.schafte, oce0ee 0. 0 1.
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Alittle répe; soeevienvensovaass
For,,.... piea. [plomber:perbaps]
Cloth for the echafte, iov.veeasees

‘“fiﬁ“go soeeds voossvibocsevaae

Qiven the Plagors, ...c cooota sl

P‘U’ hngi“g “" ll!we‘, soeeniTan .’

Thred for tlte canopy, ..wevers ..
Mending the hoolts; 1..00000 s
For hanging thie napary aml towel
Ecather for the bell ropes, ........
Victoals for Richwrd [the] earver
aud- brﬂ‘he" llo'wsb"' cogace
Given to a .certain. carpenter a }
carver, to.inspect the rood loft

[Solut, vignario] of John Whitside, .
Puid Thomas [the] glazicr for men. } ]

ding the church witidow 'S, eoee

Paid John [the] roper for a‘bell rope,”

Paid bim for ahotlrer rope, .. .vvu..
Tiired bought for the vestments, ..,
Paid Agues Yonge and others, ....

Paid Thomas Basse for a Ba\\drg cl'( '

Paid Richard [the] CAIVET, voreoans
For a little bow for a bell, +¢e000
Wax far the comumon light, ......

. @
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N.B. The torches were large wax candles either
_to coatry in procession, or to be set on the high.
altar;, or before the crucifix, or some-image.

The shaft, or spire, was an ornament to adorn
seme image or shrine of a saint.

THe players were those that acted some reli-
gious stery. out of the Old' or New Test ament;.
ot Gorpus Christi day, which was alse the grand
day, both for sucls plays and-also for such- pro-
cessions.t- :

. It appears feom the will of Wm. Bruges Esq.
garter kiog at arms, that the parishoners had a.
treasury of jewels and vestments to be used on.
this occasion. .

. ‘Bba. canopie was: set over the high altar, over
alittle box of gold, silver.ivery or clirystal, con-
taining the consecrated host, which was carried’
in-procession with the canopy over it, to the pa~
rishoners in their last sickness, )

+ These scripture stories were termed Mysteries, and
weere the first Theatrical performances in England,
these sncceeded others called Moralities, in which
Virtues and . Vices were introduced as personms, then
came Histories, which had much of the otd Mysteries.in-
them, or else imitated them.

The first Comedy was written in 3551, and calledy\
Gammar Gurton’s needle. ’ . L

The first regular Tragedy was Gorboduc written 1n,
1565, by lord Backhyrst, in whieh domb shows preceda.
«d everyact. (‘Harrod p.126)
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'The priest, brother Rowsby, attended the’
carver to direct him in making some image or
ornament; be was afterwards parson of St. Cle-
ment’s and died-in 1466. 7

The rood loft was a gallery which every-
church had between the mave and chancel, so
called from the rpod, or image of the crucifizion
i it, which had also the image of Mary en its
xight hand, and that of St. John ou its left; .dur-
ing divine service, these bad large wax candles
burning before them, but whem it was over, a
curtain, was let dewn. befose them. -

Many, of the common people had. at this time -
no sirnames, but were known by their trades,

St. Mary’s is a dischasged vicarage, valued in:
the King’s books at 4). 18s,9d. Patron the Mar-.
quis of Exeter.

£

St. Gearge's® Church.

Was rebuilt about 1450.by W. Bruges, the first
garter King at arms, at his own expence; it~

* 8t. Geoge, the tutelar saint of England, was a
Cappadocian, and a Colonel in Dioclesian’s.army ; he suf~
fered death for the christian religion in 290.

When Robert son of William the Congueror laid siege-
to Antioch, then in possession of the infidel~, and which

- place was ahout to be relieved by them, St. George,,
. with a red cross in his banner, and a prodigious army
clothed in white attending bim, were seen (cscending
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consists of 2 nave, north and south ailes, and a
tower steeple, in which are 4 bells. This church
was formerly exeeedingly rich, beth in antiqui-
ties and jewels; of the former, were the portraits
of St. George, and Edward 111, with all the 25
first Knights, with their bearings and sureoats in
the chaucel window. In the east window were
Edward 111, the Black Priuce, and Henry of Lan.
caster, - all- kneeling before St. George. In
the windows on each side the choir were 25
Knights, not one of whom outlived the King,
who at different times installed 20 more, and the
number never exceeds 26, including the sovereign.
In the left side of the middle window of the
north.aile, is St. Catherine with her wheel in her

the distant hills, which caused the enemy to fly, and
was the occasion of his gaining the city, This was a-
bount seven hundred years after his martyrdom, and this
‘assistamce to Robert, dubbed him the tutelar saint of
England. His slaying the Dragon was derived frem

- Bellerophon and the Chimera, whieh was anciently an
emblematical device of the sun and its inflnence—when
the worship of the sun ceased, and that of Angels was
introduced, St. Michael and the Dra%on imitated his
contest with Satan— when the worship of Angels ceased
and that of Saints suceceded, then it took the name
of St. George, our Patron saint. The order of the
garter was first called the order of St. George. Rastel,
in his chronicle, inferms us that when Richard I was at
the siege of Acre, only 36 Knights stood before him,
and these he caused to were blue leathern thongs abount
their legs; and this was the origin Of the order of the

QGarter.
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hand, and under her a manand weman kaeeling,
with a label over them, wsctibed— '
Soncte Katherigat ora pro nobis,-
Iu the sight bang light is St. Margéret,’and un-
der her two persoms, with'a Jabel over them- o~
scribed.— : '
.Sancta Margeretta; ora pN nobis.
In several other windowy, are many figurea and
inscriptions, which~are-eppposed. o beas old as
the cburch. The jewels were also chiefly -the
gift of W. Bruges, conmsisting of curious. siiver
vessels, rich images, asd fise vestments, which
he gave while living, hiut the dc')na!ions meation-
ed in his will.dated 26, Feb. 1449, were both nu-
merous and ntagnificent.

In ihis church is David Cecil ‘Esq. of Stamo
ford, who“was ligh Sheriff for Northampton-
shire, in 1642 and 1548; he was alse- Grand-
father to the first Lord Barghlev.

Some of the paintings meuntioned by Peck are
. 8till 40 be seen in the windows, particularly that
of our Saviour blessing the elcmenta, by Eangton.

t St. Katherine was an Egyptian, and suffered death
by a whcetﬂlled with iron spikes, being rolled over libr

bedy.
t St. Margaret hved-at Almoch, lmfwas beheaded
in A, D, 378,
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st George’s Rectory, with the Rectory of St.
Paul’s united, is valued in the King’s books at
8l. 8s. 11d. } Patron, the Marquis of Exeter. .

All-Sgint’s* Church

Is a beautiful large fabric, comsisting of three
ailes and two chancels, one at the end of the
south aile, the other at the end of the nave.

The steeple is embattled at the tower, and the
spire is crocketed all the way up. Butcher says
it was Dbuilt by-the same Wiltiam Brown who
founded the Bead house by the market Cross,
but tradition says it was built by John Brown,
eldest son of John and Margnret Brown, who
were buried at the upper cud of the north aile.

A gilded brass Plate was fixed near the spot
with a latin ineription, whicl: may be thus trans-
luted.* Pray for the seuls of John Brown Mer
chant of the staple of Calais, and Margaret his
wife; John died 26.J ulj 144'2, and Margaret 22.

* The Empcror Phocas having taken the Pantheen
from the heathen Romans, dedicated it to the honor of
All Martyrs, these in process of time were called 4l-
Saint’s, and a dav set apart for them by the church,
which is the first of November. .

Stukeley and Bishop Cumberland, were both vicate'
of All-Saints church, .

YOL. 11, BB
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Nov. 1460, on whose souls may God have wercy.
‘Who builds a church to God, and not to fame,
Will never mark the marbie with his name.

William Bsown, who built>the Bead beuse,
and his wife lie here— their figures in large -
brass plates, on marble, in St, Mary’s chapel,
where the alter formerly stood, represents them
with Yolded hauds, as in the attitude of praying.

His bead is bare, and over it is engraved on a
scroll  “ X. me spede ” (Christ me speed) Over
hers, ” Dere lady help at nede ”

_Underneath are two latin incriptions, not
worth the trouble of reading.

In the south chancel is a marble monument, in
memory of Thomas Truesdale, who lived in the
same house that Mr. W. Brown had formerly
lived in, and who also founded a Hospital in the
same town; his wife Elizabeth was daughter of
Joba Tooley Gent. of Boston.

JIn the same ehancel, on a blue marble slab,
with the figure of a woman in brass, is an inscrip-
tion, in latin, to the memory of Margaret Elmes,
who died 1.August 1471. .

The marble font is deemed a great curiosity.

About the year 1170, Aschard of Stamford,
who-was patron of this church, gave it to the
Nuns of St.Michael,
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All-8aint’s vicarage, with the rectory of St.
Peter, is valued in tbe king’s hooks at 12, 7.8}.
Patron, the king one turn, and Mr. Rogers two

- turns. (Ecton’s Thesaurus. )

St. Johw's Churck,

Is a neat building consisting of a mave, north
and south ailes, three chancels, and a tower
steeple, in which are 4 bells,

This cbureh was rebuilt in A. D. 1450. In
the windews is a great deal of painted glass, and
far a description of the figures, see Harrod's Hu-
tory of Stamford.

In the middie chneel is » blue marble stone,
with a latin inscription, to the memery of Hensy
Sargeaunt once rector of this eburch, who died
24 June 1497.

Ia the south chancel o a brass plate, is an
inscription to the memory of Nicholas Byldysden,
and Kataryen his wiffe, she died A. D. 1499.

The Rectory. of St, John’s with that of St. Cle-
wment’s is valued in the King’s books at 8l. 8s. 61d.
Patron, Marquis of Exeter.

Staveley says that the Saxons genen“y built
their churches with a descent into them, but the
B B 2’ .
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Normans with an ascent; hence, when weé meet
with one of the former, we may judge it to be
very antique. The oldest churches are small
and low, with no steeple, having .only a small
arch at the west end, to hang the bells in, the
ropes of which go through holes in the roof inte
the middlg aile.? :

The form of churches at first, as well as now, says
Wheatly, was oblong, to resemble a ship,we being tos-
sed up and down 1n this world asa ship by the sca;
they were also always divided into two parts, as at pre-
sent, viz. thenave and the chancel, the latter standing
at the eastern end, and divided from the nave by neat
rails called Cancelli, from whence it had it’s name ; the
priest only entered this, and used to perform the whoie
ehurchservicein it, for reading desks were not estah-
lished till the beginning of the reign of James I, (about
1602.) the chancel being then judged too far off for the
whole congregation to hear the minister, who had begun
to speak English instead of Latin

__By the acts of the 34th and 35th of Henry VIII, the
New Testament in English was forbiden to be read by
women, apprentices, journeymen, and serving men.

The canonical hours of the Catholics are 7 ; that at
Six o’ clock in the morning is called the Prime, that at
Nine the Terce, that at Twelve the Sexf, that at Three
in the afternoon the None, that at Six the Vespers, Nine
the Complines, Twelve the Matins acd Lauds. Though
they generally add the Ninth to the Sixth heur, hav-
ing both offices then,

The Scripture Saint’s days are called Doubles ; then
at their Matins they bave thrce Noctarns, (i. e, niue
psalms and nine lessons) and two Antiphones.

The Pope's saint days are termed Sensi-dcubles, ard
have three Noctarns also at Mattins and one Antiphone.

On S mples they have one Nocturn of twclve psalmg
and three lessons. :
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Country Feasts, or Wakes, are usually kept on
the sunday after the Saint day, whose name the
church bears; formerly they were kept on the
day itself. They were called Wakes because
the people used to keep awake, saying prayers,
and singing hymns, all the night preceding the
Peast. They were established by Pope Gregory
the grest, A. D. 800, in imitation of the ancient
‘Agapee, or love Feasts, and were kept in sheds
wrade of the boughs of trees, placed round the
church, and lasted eight days, = - ’

Spelman derives the word Wake from the
Saxon Wak, which signifies drunkenness, and a
medern observer would probably think this to
be the true derivation—for religion has not the
Jeast-to-do with them, whereas drankenness has,
a great deal.- '

Doomsday Account.

In the time of King Edward the royal bdroubg\
of Stamford paid tax for fwelve hundredsand a
balf, "for the army and navy, and for Danegeld..

On Ferias or. commen. days the same service is used
as on Simples, excepting the cominemoration.

A Nocturn consists of three psalms and three lessons,
excepting en Yemples and Ferias, when it contains.
tévelve pealms aad three lessons.

BB 3
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'There were thiere,aud are; six wards, five of them
in Lincolnshire,  and the sixth in, Northamptoo-
shire, which is oa the other side- the bridge; and’
it still pays aH customary dues with-the others,
except gable and toll, which the Abbot of Peter-
borough bad and has. In these five wards, in
the time of King Edward, there were one hun-
dred and forty one mansions, and balf a mill,
which paid all customary dues; and there areas
many at present, except five which are waste
on accountef the wotk of the castle.

In these wards are six mansions which in the
time of King Edward paid all custemary dues,
but at present they. pay. nathing. Brand has-
four and Ulchetel the. son of Merewine two.

In these wards. are. seventy-seven mansions
belonging to sokemen who have their.own lands
in demesne, and who may chuse a patron where
they will ;- over whom the King has nothing else
except the pecuniary punistiment of their faults,
and heriot and toll, and one mill of thirty shill-
ings, which be took from Eustacins de Hunting-
don, He was one of the sokemen.

In Stamford, in the time of King Edward;
there were twelve lagemen, who had sac and so¢
in their own houses, and over their vassals; ex-_

'
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eept-geld and heriot; and forfeiture of their be-
dies of forty ores ofisilver, and except forfeiture
for theft. They have the. same now, but there
are ouly nine. One-of them has seventeen man-
sions. under. him, and half a mill of fifteen shil
lings. Another of fourteen. mansions, one of:
which. is waste..
A third,. two- mansions, A fourth, twe man-
sions. and a half. A fifth, five mansions A.
#ixth, four mansiems A seventh, three mansions.
An eiginh, one. The ninth, three; but Hugh
Musard teok two to himself
" In these wards there are stilk twenty two man-
sions, and two churches, with twelve acres of
Jand ‘of - the value -of fourteen. shilings, which:
Ernuin the priest- bad in-the time of King Ed-.
“ward., And'Ezi bad: one mansion.. Eudo Da
- pifer has there twenty-three mansions. The-
King, as superior, had all customary dues from.
them, but has not now.

In the same town Azor-bad, in the time of
ng Edward, seven mansions, and half a mill.
Gunfrid de Cioches now has them. To these .
belong seventy acres without the tows. "

Edward Cilt had fourteen mansions and seven-.
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ty acres without the tows. Countess Judith
pow has them,

Queen Bditha had seveaty mamsions, which:
lie in Rutland, witk all customary prestations,.
beside what the bakers. paid. To these belong
two carycates of land and a half, and ene plough.
“is employed, and forty-five acres of meadow
without the: town. Kiog Willism new .has it,
and it is wosth six pounds a year: in. the time of.
King Edward four. peunds.

The Abhot of Peterborough hed and bhas in.
Stumford ten mansions bebenging to Lincolnshire
and one mill of. forty shillings, and five uhllhnos
from houses and.from eight aeres.

Lewin had nine mansioms Alured now hew. -
them. Lewin had likewise one mansien suhject
to all customary payments, which Wide. de Rem-
budcurt now bas untaxed.

Fastolf had. one free chucb. under the Kn‘,
with eight acres..

Albert had one church of Si. Peter, with two
houses of the abbots, and balf a carucate ef
Jand which lies in Hemeldume (Hambleton) in
JRutland, Value ten shillings.

‘The King bas six, hundred aores of arable land,
witheut the town, in Lincolnshire.
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The lagemen and burgesses have twe hundred
and seventy-two aeres, without customary pay-
ment.

In the time of King Edward, Stamferd paid
fificen pounds; at present it is let for fitty
pounds. For all daes to the King, it now pays
twenty eight pounds. '

OWNERS OF THE TOWN.

Dugdale says that in 1155 Richard lord Hu-
wmet, constable of Normandy, obtained of Heary
1L the lordship of Stamford, the borough castle,
and all appurtenances, excepting what belonged
to the abbot of Peterborough and Wm. Lanvalei,
and that he had the gift algo of Ketton, and Dud-
dington lordships, but Wakerly then belonged ta
Lanvalei whose son was a great benfactor te the
nuns of St. Michael in Stamford.

" Richard Humet was sheriff of Rutland from
1164 to 1189, his son Wm. Humet, lord of Stam~
ford, about 1203, gave the sa’d nuns some of his
Jand in Bredcroft, by a deed in the possession of
the earl of Exeler, his seal represents him armed
cap-a-pee on horseback in full career, a drawn
sword in the right hand, and a shield on his lefg
arm.
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King John made him justice of England, but
on some pernicious advice which he gave him in
Normandy, he fled, and when he returned to Eng~
land, bis majesty seized his lands with the town
snd castle, and about 1208, gave thew to Wm.
earl Warren, whose ancestors were earls of War-
ena a town in Normandy, who fes ne loss ef their
lands could be brought toadhere to the kings of
France, . '

This earl was thefifth of the name of William,
and beside the manor of Stamford, be gave him
the manor of Grentham; and ke castle and hon-
our of Eye in Suffolk, to make him smends foe
the loss of his lands when Nermandy was coms
quered by the French, but he was not to tax the
ighabitants of Stamford without the kiag's pres

eept. : -

" In1215 he got this momareh to sign Mags
na Charta at Runnimede, yet in his wars with
the French king’s son; he deserted hits, where-
upon John ordered him to delives up his castle.
at Pevency. In 1220 he wus shetiff of Surry, in
1282 he paid Henry I1I. three hundred marks
for leave to marry his daughter to Hugh de Al-
bini earl of Arundel, a minor.

. He had then sixty two knﬁghts fees in the repe
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of Lewes, and thirty and a half in the rape of
Pevency. -

In A. D. 1238, in consideration of a goshawk
given to Simon de Pierpont, he proeured leave
for himself and heirs to huut the buck, doe, hart
Lind, fox, geat, cat, or any other beast in Pier-
pont’s lands in Sussex ; he gave the nuns of St.
Michsel forty shillings per am. out of his mill

at Wakefield, and died May 26, 1240,

The Bull rurming.

Tradition says that this W. Warren, as he was’
standing on his Castle walls in Stamford, and
looking on the meadow, saw two bulls fighting
for a cow, a butcher to whom one of the bulls
belonged, happening to come into the meadow
just at that instant with a large mastiff, set the
dog on his owa bull, who -drove him into the
town, which he no sooner entered, than all the

“ dogs, both great and small, followed him; the
bull, now rendered furious by the noise of the
people, and the fierceness of the dogs, ran over
every one that chanced:to be in his way; this
bronght other butchers, and more people to-
gether, who made such a clamour, that it reach-
ed the earl in his castle, who mounted his steed
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aud rode to see the occasion of it, when he was
so much delighted with the tumult the bull made
that he gave the meadow in which he saw bim
fighting as a comion te the town butckers, to
feed their cattle after the first, grass is eaten, on
condition that aunually, on that very day, they
should find a mad bull to continue the sport;
which day was just six weeks before Christmas
day, and the meadow is still called castle mea-

dow.
Mr. Butcher says that'the night before the

. great and important day, the butchers at their
charge having procured the wildest bull they
can get, put him into a stable or barn, belonging
to the chief magistrate, and, the next morning,
proclamation is made by the bell-man through-
out the town, that no person, on pain of impri-
sonment should offer any violence to strangers;
but as the town is a great thoroughfare, aud it
being then term time, a guard is sppointed to let
passengers pass through it without hurt or moles-
tation, that no one is to have any iron on his
club or staff when he pursues the the bull; when
the proclamation is over, and the shops and gates
are shut, the bull is turnéd out of one of the

’
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chief magistrate’s house, and then men, women,
and children of all sorts and sizes, with all the
dogs inthe town, run promiscuously after him»
spattering dirt with their clubs on each ethers.
faces, so that oue would think them to be so
many furies started ont of hell.” o

After the death of the above William eail
Warren, Henry 111, *kept the town &ec. of Stam-
ford from John his successor, fourteen years,
giving them to his own son Edward I. who gave
them to John, who in 1247 married Alice, half
sister to Henry IL. and was one of the chief cap
tains in his army at the hattle of Lewes, when
the king and his son Edward were taken prison«
ers b‘y the barous ; the harons got a grant of all
his lands excepting the castles of Rigate and
Lewes, but after his Majesty had got the victory
at Evesham he regained them, and the abbot of
Peterborough was forced. to give him 1001, to
get out of his hand his manors of Castor, Tinwell,
and Thurlby.

* Henry IIT being poor, mortzaged the town of Stam.
ford to William de Valence, a Poictoven, and when his
sen Edward married Eleanor daughter to the Kinz of
Castile, he settled on them Ireland, Gascony, Wales,
Bristol, Stamford, and Grantham, hence it is that Pot-
ter and Baker say that onr Kiug's eldest son is Prince
of Wales. Healso rave 120 acres of land to William de
Havering to find straw tor his bed-chamber.

VOoL. cC
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Thege is a.deed of his for protecting the auny
of St. Michael’s, in passession of the Earl of Exe-
ter, with his seal, ou one side are his arms,

- Cheque, Or & Azure; on the other himself on
horseback, the borse instead of mail being cover-
ed atl over with Cheque, .his;shield, contary 1o
custom, on- -his right arm, with.his arms upon it,
his body without armour in chng x_\obe'xeady_
ing to his feet, aud fasieped by agirdle to hip

waist.
In 1270, baving a trial in’ Westmiuster ha)

with ‘Alan lord Zouch, after reprombful wor: s
they came to blows, when he and his fo"nwers,
. bemg privately armed, they awsanlled lord un(h
,n open court, wounded him, and killed hls ‘fathe »
after this he fled to his castle at R‘gale in Surrew
and refuslng to submit to ‘be brought te tnal
Prince Edward took some forces with him, and
went to his castle, when, being persuaded by the
earl of Gloucester, and lord Henrv son of the
king of the Romans, he went out to mee_l the
Prince, and implored mercy, when, say§ Ty'rrel,'
le was tined 50001. to the king, and 20001 to
“lord Zouch, and be, and fifty of iz followess
who were found’ giiilty, were sentenced.to walk
from the Temple to Westniinster hall, and ¢
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make oath #at they Wad mot acted so from ma«
live, ' but from sudden passion.

' Loved ZoucH soou 4hier died of his wmmds

‘At the coronistion of Edward ). earl Warren,
wiﬂa spversl mote earls, dndthe king of Scotland;
1¢¢ loaseiflve heidied hotses; for- those, to keep
whe coul |Céatelr threm; when ' Edwart ‘returned
from-Guscoigny, lie entertained bim so nobly at
bis eastle et Rigate, that-he forgave him a thou-
sawd maiky ent of the above fine, - )

In 1207, he gave the burgesses of Stamford
leave 10 choose their- chicf mugistrate, but with
this ‘condition, hat be’ should be sworn ecither .
befure him or lis steward, as uppears from a mu-
nizécript abstract of several churters of Stamford,
dated June tha1rb 150% T p;uce m Whleh”’ ’
he was sworn was that in. which the court leet'
ismow kept. -

- In- 1277, Edward, by the statute of Quo Wir'
ranto, commanded thiise who held lands and te-
temeirts of'him, to show by what: right they-held
‘thém, that they might return 1o him by escheat,
and: then be redeeined ;—this was an drbitrary
measure which did not succeed, for, says Holing.
shed, “When this earl, who was greatly beloved
by ghe people, was called, perceiving that so one-

cc2
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spoke aguinst these proccedings, he, ¢nbeing ask<
ed by what right he held his Junds, suddenly
drew an old rusty sword, and tald the justices
that be held them by that instrument, and in-
tended to defend them by the sauie, for, says ke,

William the Conqueror did not conquer England
alone, but our ancestors helped him to coaquer.

their lands with the sword, and with the ‘same
will I defend them against. all who would take
them frem me, and thus this weusure was put
4 stop to by the courage of one stout man,”

On December 15th 1286, says Stowe, he lost
his son William in a tournament at Croydon,
whio was by the challenger intercepted and cruel-

ly slain, leaving his lady Jean big with child,
who - was delivered of John, his son qnd beir, no
June the 20th following,

In 1296 he and the earl of Wanvu,k beat !be
Scots, pursued them eigbt miles, slew ten thou.
sand, and retook Dunbar castle,

In 1296 he was made goversor of Scotland

and on September 11th, fonght them wnear Ster_

ing, but was defeated with theloss. of :six thom-
sand men, for lord Cressinghuwm imprudently
passing ever the bridge, when the Scots found as
wmany had come over as they could conquer they

bl __J
—— el . A et .. . e . M. .
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-closed: it. up; 30. thit thiey showld neitlfer.rethrn
mor any merd.opme totheir ausistance. . -

.. Sit Masmeduke, Thwang, wha had first: passed
i1, having driven a wing of;the bpemy ahd chased
them 3.lopg. way, pesceiving the' dissrens: of: the-
English, returved with a few, in ordes -to repass
it;. and: actually cut his way through. and: saved:
Ris company, but-ope of his nephews was woubs .
ded, having his hosse killed, ander hig.

. Lord Cressingbam being slgin, the Scots hore
him sych malice that they flayed him; eanl Waz.
zen leaving Sir.. Marmaduke in- Sterling castle,
with promise.of assistance, if he wanted it, redo
sa fas} to Beswick, that when his-ged way, put:
into the staple, he:ngves tusted ment more.

- 'Khe-eagh died September: 27th 1003, aller be-
hrad been earl of Surry. fifty-four years, and was.
buwied. iy Lywes abbey ;- his. 5ol was-prayed for
all over the kiugdom by the king’s orders: oue
of bis daughtess. was married to Balial kivg. of:
Scotlaad.. : ‘ ' .

Jébn bLisgraadsan succeeded him as earl of
- Syrry ayd lord of Stamford, apd before he was
_ oftage, Edward 1. t offered him his niece Joan.
t9. wifé, 3pd be, married her. .

* t In 1774, 467 years after the deagh of Edward I, hie.
" _eoffin was opened — he Lad on, a gold and silver tissae _

cc3
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. In 1815 the bishop of Chichester excoemmuni-
cated him for adu)tery, whercapon he weént to
him with seme armed. men; four of whom threat-
ened the bishop, but the bishop's . men fell upon
them and teok both them and the earl-and -put
them in prison, '
' He was divorced this year on pretence of a
former contract with Maud de Nereford, a Nor-
folk lady, though it was on mutaal dislike; he
. had no children by his wife, but allowed her740
marks per anoum, and made the king his heir.
. 'The year after he obtained a regrant of some
of his possessions in favour of John de Warren,
son of this -Maud his concubine, and his heirs
male, and in default of such heirs to the right
heirs of himself; with the remainder to the king
aud his heirs, ‘ '
From the above John, the son of Muud, are

robe, under onc of velvet, both fresh. The jewelsa~
bout him were very bright, in one hand he had 'a sceptre
and dove, in the other a sceptre and cross, which was
vefeet long — he had a crown on his head, and highands
" and face were entire; he measmred in length six feet
two inches. Here was pomp nearly in dust!— When
Edward ravaged Scotlnd, he brought from Scome the
stone on whick the Scotish Kings bad, previous to that
time, been crowned. It wasfixed on a chair in West-
minster, and ‘our Kings sit on it at their corronatita
— the stone is 22 inches long, 13 broad, and 11 thick,
of a blge color, with red veins. '
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deseended the Wurvens of Poyuton of Clieshire.

1n 1317 Alice Dacy, wife of the’earl of Lan-
caster; being at Caneford.in Kent, was forcibly
curried off by a knight of earl Warren’s family
1o his custie at Rigite, but as' they ‘were carry-
‘Sng her, between Haulton and Farhham they per-
ceived some banneérs at a distance, which, though
they belonged to some pJuple gofug’ in process-
#om round the fields, yet thinking ‘they belouged
to the earl of Lancaster, Ihiey‘ fled und left her
alone, byt returned on perceiving their wistake
and bronght With them a little lame add deform: d
man, called Richard de $i. Martin, who afffrmed
himsed 10 be her husband; averring’ that 'he
had been contracted to her and had carnal kuow-
ledge of lier, which she also openly confessed, so
that she who was a rich heiress, and- had " liither-
to born’ an ‘unblemished character, was now
Tooked npon as ‘a lewd infamous woman, and
her husband dishovoured, whicl occasioned a
divorce. T

In revenpe, the earl of Lancaster démolished
earl Warren's castle of Sandal and’ Wakefield,
and wasted all his manors on the other side of
the Trent.

In 13830 the farmers of his tolls at Stamfor‘d-
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dewanded 1ol for waggons,. cactstand: horses,
passing thropgh- Berasck, Wethesp anpd Witter-
ing, which belonged to thsalbot of Pmbomcb
but they were Sined, (;oq,;qm
0. 134p, be ppsisted. ﬂalmtm»i,smland#
» a'w« ERRSREe, sy that he, coplyziest on kim the
parldamaf Syrathgre., .. . . -
In 1347 he martied Lyphel de. deaad though
hiy {wmey,cpunmss digd. nat die ik 1361, fnl
she puthivedtheean). A B
In 1346 be seitleqd, un '\“ud }wmquuhmg, fqr
" her life, the.castles, tywns and . mspors of Koy
\inshucy wag Ssndah the, manors of. Wakefield,
Hatficld,. Seugeaby, . Bredjmel, -Fishlgke, Dew-
bury, and Halifgx, ang afteg,her, death..ta Johs
2nd Thomas h's. sous. by her.and. !I'W beips
: gnale,!\mh remainger tp his vight.heirs, . - . ..
His sgal yﬂixgd 10 this deed tenmgnk,hp is
a gown, sm’n’ in a ¢hair, beldigg  bayk.in bis
left band. witl). this ingcriptipn, Bigillum Comitis
Warenie, et' Strathernie et Comitis Palagii. Op
the reverse he is’ on bgrqeb@&,k,,a anard in bis
yight baagd, and a shield, with bjs arms o9 it op
‘his left, with this msunptwn, Sigillym Johapyis
‘Warenie & Surreye, Domini de Crqmfield &
Yale, - S :

vy o
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.By an indenture the sume year betwéen Ed-
ward 111, and him, it was agreed ifhe hud a ehild
‘bry bis wife Isabel, that the child, whether male or
female, should be warried to one of the blood
yoyal, but if be had .no issue by bier, then all his

custles, manors, lands aad tenements in Surry,
Sussex:and Wales should devolve to ene of his
majesty’s own' sons, but on condition that such
son amd:his heirs should heur the name, honour
and arms of Warren, and ‘that lsabel should
have for hfeall she wbeve possessions, save the
castles, which the king might bestow on any of
his sons, allowing her .a_re¢asonable equivalent.
On Jone 3uth 1347, be died aged sixty, with-
out lawful issue; und was buried acoording to his
will in-Panerass church in.Lawes, vnder & raised
tomb near the high:altar, leaving his sister Alice,
wife to the earl of Arundel, his. next heir ia:
blaed. S '
- By am ioquisition, taken after his decease, he
was faund to die possessed of the following lands.
" The manov of Tyburn in.Middlesex, the man-
ors. of Stamford, Grrnthum, end Great Paunton
in Lincolu: hire, the castle of Lewes, the lordships
of Cokefield, Clenton, Brighthelmstone, Rottin-
den, Hounderden, Nortkess, Radmild, Keymer,
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Middieton, ‘Allingten, - Wartly, 'Pyeatnb, l’ld-
dinghow, and Seferd in Sussen. e, :
1 The town:and. castleof Rigate, the muners of
Dorkgng,..Bokélnnd and Beuhesworth iz Surry.
The mandrs, of Towbridge,. Waonton,:. Winter:
_ bourn;, aod Ambresbury.in- Wiltshise: - . The: can-
tde-of Avre, and the marop of Beestunythe man-
ws -of Gymingbam . and ' Middlewood, .witls
the huadreds of Malbow and Brotdes .Crass iw
Noxfolk. Tle manoi of Medmenhim -in. Buek<
ghuawbire, the magos of Catefuscsad Slopc-
wick inDorssishire.

The manars of Coviugsbury, Huﬁ«ld aad
Wahefield, -in: Noskehive, the manovs et lieu-
'nmm aud Chaplten in Semersetshire, -

151227 William de . Bunen was crested ewit of
Nositbempton, sng soon after kil a-gant of the
estle, singnor, .and itown Af Stamford, with the
lordship of Grantham, in reversion (for.earl War:
_ Ten pas-to. held ies: duding -his. life) sheovthe
maner, end castlesof Fothingay, uad the vadtle,
and mauer, of Oulhin, with: seversd otlsesmunvrs
. Mis nooesiop was calléd. Bokyn; which W the
Nomn, lsnguege; bignifies a brard, :betause Te.
wore.8" long besdsd :wheti he ¢aniesaver with the
Ceaguedor, ¢onlury te:the Ndrumo cistuni, | *.
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This William was.a fnost valland soldier, for.in
295, in b battle wilk the Erduch, near Morkis,
wrys, Holuished,. “ The Prenwh: General:Charles
deBlais; and Willias: de Bohnng fought 0. lowg
with bynd: sirokes, J(liat day;, thaf.so wman'buta
Jaar ecuild give mora praise; to-ome thixa the dther,

Thuee times.Heing hoth: wesry, they withdrew
tobake: hreatl,. and thén-fél) te it again, with
spear. and. shield, sword, dud tasget,. but the
‘Freaeh being romted;. the 'right. wasthy -ahd
stout Charles de.:Blois; . was: forced -to gy, after
wany bad been slyin.on hath sides. *... . . .,

1 the famons.hatidesof Cressy, ‘Edward + made
shsee division:of: his arney’s thee first was .coin.

+ Edward P11 daimed the crowhi. of France, becatrie
his mother was.the :Freach King's: daughter; but the
French chose ?6‘1- ‘their Monarch the French King’s bro-
ther, and contendel that it was riglit ancardibg te the
Salic low. . Edward igsistcd that this law extended on-
ly %6 femaleés themselves, and not to the male descend-
ants of temaes,. This beigg a new casg, necasianed
niuch bloodshed, for our monarch at that time possessed
a8 nsoh tevesory in. Fradee as. the Rrench. Kiag did.

Ip this rcign, the counties in England allowed their
méhibers in Parliament four shillings a day — cities,
and %orquhs_ allawed theirs, two. . The eape is now aw

tered. .
- Woltaire sxysithat Jeffvy, who was the i¥st of'the name
of Plantagenet, and father to Henry 1I, was so called
from his Being fbdd of wearing a* sprig of broom in hid
honuet The Playtagenets were generhlly tell, agd-the
Staarts lowofstature ; all of both names were -bad Kings,
" The!Stuavts drived. their name from. ‘one Walter, who
was teward to jﬁing,?lqlcqlm. A "o .
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manded by the Prince of Wales, the second by
Bohun, and the third by him-self. “The huttle
was won by the English. . The next day anotber
great army came agaiust them, who, not know-
ing of. the defeat of the_Freuch'on the proceed
ing day, intended to plander thew, but Bohum,
and the earl.of Norfolk, after a long and terrible
fight, routed and chased them rine miles, and
kiled two thousand of them. Soon after this,
while the English were repairing the bridge of
Poissy, an urmy of French opposed them, when
Bohun afier killing a thousand, drove them away
At the seige of Calais, he kept the coast, and bea
off the small boats that endeavoured to relieve
the besieged with provisions, and when the French
;Admiraladvanced to its relief, he put him to flight
also when the French king came hy land with
{he same intent, he with the Duke of Lancaster,
attacked them in the -ear, and slew many.

In 13562 he conquered the Scuts, and teok the
castle of Lolbaban with other fortresses; he died
September 16th 1360 without issue, when

. Edmund Langley, fifth son of Bdward 111, he--

came lord of Stamford, yet, when he was ouly
six vears old, his father had granted bim alt earl

Warren's castle, manors and lands beyood Trent,

with the castle and mauor-of Fotheringay. '
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_Tu 1362 he was credted earl of Cambridge, arid
the uext year ohfained @ grant in fee of the
castle, manor, and.tdwn of Stadiford, and traner
of Grentbam.

In 1373 he numcd Idabel one. of the klng of
Castile’s daughters.

Jn 1396 -he was made constable of Ddver cas-

tle, and: lord warden of the cinque ports,

&0 13890 a friar gecused him of treason to Richs -

ard II, when bis brother Thomas of Woodstotk,

afterwards doke of Gloucester, rushed into the
kiug’s bedchamber, and swore he would kil any

one who laid-treasen to his t.harge, nor did' he ex-
cept his majesty.

In'1386 Bichard H. créated hinx dukie of Yorki

T 1309 his eldest,son Edward was .créated
.earl of Rutland, and liad w grant of the castle,
town, and masor of Qukbaw, with the sheriffalty
of Ruthind, and soon aficr he was madé con-
stable of England. -,

1n 1392 his youngest son Rlchard earl of Cam-
bridie, who wae the kmgs godson, killed lord
Clifford.

I the same year hs wife Tsabel died o great
petfitent; befug very vain, and some what.wanton’

inher yauth;: be then married Joun. the etrl o‘
Kent's daughter.

voL. I, . DB»

’
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In 1307 being at Stamford, he ordéred his ste-
ward’s and bailifPs officers to see thatnobody. in-
jured the nuns of St, Michael’s.

In 1398 his brother the duke of Gloucester
was smothered at Calais by private orders of the
kingto the earl of Nottingham ; when the mur-
therers told him it was the king's pleasure that he

* should die, he replied, if so it is welcome ; there-
fore after a priest had confessed him, they made
him lie on a bed, add held another over his mouth
till he expired, Roger Denys and Cock of the
chamber hslding down the sides, and three
others it the same time koeeling and praying for
bis soul. . o .

He was *tb’é k,{hg’s_ uncle, - and a well- meaning
man, but’ofs toachot and fiery a disposition .for
bis majesty:to brook. - . * o

In 1399 his eldest soh was created duke of

Albemarle, + Richard 11. made the duke of York _

t In the reign of Richard II, the fashionable folks
wore shoes of such aleugth that they eould not walk in
them without fastening the toes to their Knees, which
thsgh did either with silver chains, ribbauds, or lace.

e present age is wiser. ‘Thé ladies also, in the a-
bove reign, wore two pyramids on their heads, on each
side. Parodin describes them as rising an ell above the
head, in form of a spire steeple, having sharp tops, te
whith were fastened pieces of crape, which floated loose-
z dewn their backs — these were as becoming as theis:
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governor of Ireland, yet he deserted him, favour-
ed the duke of Lancaster, and proposed the de-
posing-of-Richard in parliameut.

I the first parliament of Henry IV. lord Fitz-
water and twenty more lords accused his eldest
son Edward of being the cause of his unicle the

" duke of Gloucester’s death, and threw down
their hoods as gages to prove it by combat.

He replied, that if the duke of Norfolk said
80, he lied, and would prove it with his body,

~-and threw down another hood, which he borrow-
“ed: but the duke of Norfolk was then in banish-
ment, and Jzred not return, however Edward was -
adjudged to lose the title of the duke of Albe-
marle, retaining that of the earl of Rutland only,
‘and many of his possessions were takea from:
him, and many of the commons also would hawe:
put him to death, for he was extremely disliked,
whereupon he with other degraded lords, conspis-
ed the death of Heury IV. to which they bound -
themselves by an indenture. ]

Going to dine with his father, with the coun-
terpart of this indenture in his bosom, his father
perceiving it, wanted to know what it was, but
refusing, his sire insisted upon and teok it from

Aim, whcn‘seeing what it was, he in great rage up-
»D2
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" braided him with treason; far he hadbecome sure-
ty for bim in parliment, he therefore immediately
rode to Windsor, to mform his majesty ; Edwanl
seeing his danger, rode direcily another way to
the king, and alighting at the castle, ordered ‘it's
gates to be locked, telhng the porter that he must
earry the keys to bis' majesty, and approaching

“ him. he fell on his knees, imploring mercy, and
revealing the whole' conspiracy, obtainéd a par-
don, the father came soon after with the iudenturé,
he died the year alter, and was buried near lm
.wife at Langley. '

Beside Stamford, he had the manors of Yar-'
well, Nasington and’ Southorpe, and was lord of
Tividale, S

The above Edward, being twenty- six years of
age, succeeded him as lord of Stamford and mu
wery shortly restored to 'his*former possessmns,
and the title of duke of York, yet his own sister,
"Jord Spencer’s widow, accused him of an inten.
tion of murdering the king, by scaling the walls of
Eitham by night, the Christmas before, when
bis majesty lay there,’ and if any knlght or
esquire would fight hin, fm her, she would cod-
sent to be burnt if he was conquered.

Oue of her esquires, called Williani Maidstone,

V-
>
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cast down his hood, and profered combat with
the duke, wlo cast down his, and "accepted the
chaltenge, but he was sent to the tower, yet set
at liberty the year after, when many thought he.
bad been dead in prison.

In 1474 his brother Richard was ereated eari-
of Cambridge, and with other noblemen was be-
headed the year after, without the nortli gate of"
Sou'bampton, for conspiring the. deatli of Hen-
Vv

Edward commanded the van: of ‘the army st
the battle of Agincourt, where there were only
9000 English, against 140,000 French; a little.
befere the battle, mounting a hill, he sent David.
Gam; & welch commander, to reconnoitre the:
enemy, who told him that there were enow to be-
killed, enow to be prisoners, and enow to run.
aivay;- this: the: duke told'the king, who rbdg»
forth to view them, when the duke advised him,
that the night before the battle he should order
each man {o fix a stake in the ground, sharpened.
‘at-both ends, to keep them.off, which.was done}
he also desired te be in the frent of, the battle,
and was se, where by much heat and crowding,
being a fat man, he was smothered to death on-
October 25th.1415, and buried at Fotheringay..

D D 3.

.
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Edward leaving po issue, he was suceeeded . py
lord of Stamford hy his nepbew Bichard sow
of Richard ear| of Camhgidge, Jately beheaded,
who was oply thres years old, and created duke
of York-the next year, and on the desth of Ed-
mund Mortimer, earl of March, this Rickard
Plantagenet was found tp be his next heir, and
from thepee sprung hia future pretensions te the
crown; 1 be wis when a youth made Copatable
of England; Speed says he never was a trye
subject to Henry VI. and was a most subile man.

He was made regent of Frapce, and sent word
to the Frepch king, that be was come. tp fight
him, if he would ¢qme ont of his. entrepchments,
but as he refused, he passed a river to fosee bim,
apd the Frepch withdrew ip the night; be follow.
¢d them, byt they atill declined fighting,

. Ip 1448 be was mage lietenant of krpland for
ten, years, apd gaiped.grent favour with thy ksish-.

¢ 'Thé Yorkists were the true heirs to the throne, for
:h::dnlf whe‘::as ?he Lancute.tf i?:e ?«::?e:::i’:gfftno:

B S
r is hurly burly strife
An o #’ d bgny a::od;r;; chll(i
a lqr reav
An?l me house with blood defiled.”

fn ﬂ“i‘ canmtabue 100,000 men were slainin twelee
attles!
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The duke df Somerset sticceeding him as Re-
gewt of France, Sir Davy Hall, one of York's
captains, defended the cidy of Caen against the
French king, but a stoue shet. inte it, happened
to fadlbetween the dutchiess of Somerset and her
children, which 30 affrighted her, that she per
" suaded hes husband to surrender the town.

In 1450 Cade's. rebellion was set on foot by
York’s friends, te sound she people's minds, for
Cade calied himsedf Mortimer the duke’s ‘consin.

The next year the duke himseif rabsed an army
to oppose his sovereign, under pretence ‘of re-
movingevil counsellors, but on promise of re-

* dress, if be:proved his charge, he dishanded his
army aud yielded himself to Henry, and took an
oath never to eppose him; yet, in 1483, having’
gained the Nevils to his side, vis. the eurl of Sa-
Hsbwry and his son the earl ‘of Warwick, he ob-
tained abselution from the Pope of the oath he
had taken,

The king was in St. Alban’s, which was de-
fended by lerd Clifford, sostrongly, that he
could not force it for a long time, but Warwick
and his men broke in by the side of the garden
in Holywell street, between thie sign of the key
#nd the Chequer—these sounded a trumpet and
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shoited a Waurrick! a Warrick! when abeut
noon, Yerk aud Salishury broke in, atthree
different places, and tere up the barrigrs, when
2 most bloody battle ensued. -

All the king’s Captaifis were killed; the Doke
of Somerset was slain under the sign of the cas-
tle, and neat him lay the earl of Northumbe:-
Lind, with many other Noblemen.

To save himself from a shower of arrows, the
kiag fled 1o a peor man’s house, but he did not
" arive before one had pierced bis meck. York
‘being told where be was, bastened to eomfort
him, when tbe king begged of him to order his
,men to put an end to the marderous business,
which was immediately done. .

York took: the king to Westminster, when one
of the king’s men dssaulted ove of the earl of
‘Warwick’s men, who sorely wounded the agressor-
and then, fled ;—the king’s servants waited for
the earl as he was returning in his barge from
parliament, and attacked him with.swords, spits,
and fire forks, when, afier many of. his men
were hurt, be escaped in a wherry, and hastenipg
to Yorkshire, set all again in a blaze. -

In 1459 York’s son Edward earl of March,
afterwards ,Edward 1V, while his father wasis
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- Ireland, fought the king at Northampton, took
him prisoner, and the tower of London was de-
livered to the.earl. o
York being at Sandall in Yorkshire, came out -
of the town with 5000 men against the Queen’s
army, consisting of 18000, not perceiving their
number—after he had got to some distance from
" the town, two bodies of men in ambush, closed and
prevented his return, when in balf an hour he
was )ulled this bappened on the 30th of De-
cember. Lord, Clifford ordered his Lead to be
cut off, aud | putting a paper crown upon lt, sert
it to the Queen, who was very merry with it.
' Chﬂ'ord observmg York’s youagest son, a boy

aboi - wten eae g uge, reticing from the field
with r's chaplains, foliowed, and
stab 1eart, as be knelt for mercy,
fear him of speech

i0 many, that he was aftex-
warc ""( York’s head, with those
of of nohle-x, was set on the gates
atP bedy was buried there, bug
efter noved to Fotheringay,

Edward carl of March, bis eldest son, now he-
camé lord of Stamford, who on the Candlemas-
day following, with 23,000 men, met his cnemies
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near Mortimer’s cross, not far from Hereford,
when three suns appearing to jo'n in one, gave
his men courage, and he gained the victory with
the slaughter of 3, 800 of the enemy, for which
reason, says Holingshead, he gave the sun for_bhis
badge.

In these times travelling was extremely dan-
gerous without & pass from the nearest army,
for there were three in the kingdom at once. A

Edward gave the castle and town of Stawmford
to his mother Cicely, duches of York; * after
ber decease it remained in the crown, till the
reign of Elizabeth, she granted them to Wm.
Cecil first lord Burghley, who was a great favor-
‘ite of queen Elizabeth, and an honor to his coun-
try. From him they descended to Ann daughter
and coheir of William earl of Exeter, who mar-
ried Henry - Grey, created earl af Stamford by
Charles I. He died 1673, and, his son’dy-
ing in his life time, he was succeeded by bis
grandson Thomas, who dying 171£-20 without is-
sue, the title went to Harry, son of John, the
third son of the first earl, who dying 1730, was
succeeded by his son Harry, who died May 30.

* This lady lived to see three of her children crowned,
and four murdered — she was buvied at Fotheringay.
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1768, and was succeeded by his son George Har-
) ry Grey, Earl of Stamford, and Warrington, Lord
Grey of Groby &c. ,
In 1747, the earl of Exeter purchased all 1he
lands in this town which belonged to the Earl of
Stamford.

Remarkable Events.

In A. D. 449, the first battle which the Sax-
ons fought after their arrival in Britain, was at
Stamford, where, says H. Huntingdon, the Picts

" and Scots fought with spears and lances, but,
when the Saxons furiously fell on them with
their axes and lopg swords, they immediately

fled.
In September 870, Stamford was destroyed by

the Danes, who at the same time murthered all
the monks that remained in Croyland and Peter-
borough abbeys, and burnt the abbeys them-
selves to the ground.

Ingutphus says that the younger monks of
Creyland having cast their rich vessels into the
abbey well; and seeing the blaze of the towns in
Kesteven, fled in hast, leaving the old monks,
who were all slaughtered.

In 922, King Edward the elder gained a vie-
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tory over the Daneés on Wittering heath. Seve.
rdl Saxon coins have been found i an entrench-
ient on the side of Burghley. park, which ea-
trenchment ran down to Southdrperill,

In 1128; The Siaxon- Chronitle, and ‘Hugo
Candidus, relate, that as soon as a certain wick-
ed abbot had got possession of the abbey of .
Peterborough, a great * T
and saw a multitude
hunters, that had with
fierce dogs, and that 1
aud black stags, both i
in all the woods betwee:
ford, that the monks
horas in the night, and that this lested all Lent.®

In 1189 at midlent fair, says Knighton, a mul-
titude of young fellows, who had enlisted to go
to the Holy Land, pillaged the Jews, and killed
several of them, while the rest gotyinto the cas-
tle, and with difficulty escaped.}

The iownsmen and ‘those who came to-the fair
> ®Such tales as these were once’ betievied to be tfue,
and things equally as strange, and ay, false, are believed
by themultitudé in A.D. 181¢. Credulity, when. sup-

ported by Ignorance, will, it seems, diwayh bring Absur-
dity te perfection. .

¢ The Jews arrived ﬁut in England in the i'eign of
W. the Conqucror about A. D. 1068,
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were so far from opposing this outrage that some
joined them; one John who was the most busy
fellow in it, went to Northampton and left part
of his money in his Jandlord’s hands there, who,
in order to keep it’privalely, murthered himn, and,

In 1189, they were robbed and persecuted in several
places, and at York, many destroyed themselves.

“The Jews having, for safety, retired into the castle,
it nufortunately happened that tiie govenor went out of
the fortress, and, on his return, was refused admittance
hecause they feared he had entered into an agreement to
deliver them up; on thisaccouat tiicy were besieged by
an immense maltitnde ; and, being at length reduced to
the greatest distress, held a cowcil, in order to devise
what measures it was best toadopf. They had already
offercd an iminense sum of money to ransom their lives,
but it had been rejected.  In this extremity a foreign
rabbin who was come into Engiand for the purpose of
3nstructing the Jews, stood up. and harangned them in
the following words : ** Men of 1srael, our Gaod, whose
Jaws [ have prescribed to you, commands that we should
always be ready to die for these laws; and now, when
death looks us in_the face, we have only to clrose
whether we shonld prolong a base and intamous lite or
embrace & gailant and glorious deagh. If we tall into
the hands of our enemies, at their will and pleasure,
we must die; bat qur Creator, who gave us life, did also
enjoin that with ourown hands, and of our own accord,
we should devoutly restore it to him again, rather than
await the cruelty of an enemy.” Many of the Jews ac-
ceeded to the dreadfull connsel of the rabbin ; but the
rest would not agree to his proposal, therefore, they
withdrew, and ehose rather to tvy the clemency of the
ehristinns. ‘The rabbin havingdirected that those who
possesied the greatest firmness of mind should first cut
the throats of their wives and children, Jorenus began
the execution by performing that burbarous act ¢o hin

voL. 1I. §$8s
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when it was_dark, threw bhis body out of thé&
town where it was found in the morning, and
known, bot the landlord escaped by ﬂigl‘t.

In 1194, there was a tournament betweenm
Wansford and Stamford.

" In 1197, it was commanded that after midlent-
fair at Stamford, no one should sell any cloth of
Jess width than two ells within the lists.

In 1200, Hugh bishop eof Lincoln died at Lon-

don, and in bringing his-corpse from therce 1o~ *

. Lineoln, says Capgrave, four wax candles being
carried by children, neither wind nor rain were
able to extinguish them, and when they ciame to
Stamford, a shoemaker bowing his head nnder

own wife and five children. The example was followed
by the rest of the masters of families, and the rabbin
himself cut the throat of Jocenus, as a peculiar mark of
hopour which he chose to do him above therest.  In the
mean time, those Jews who had chosen life, laboured to
ext‘::;%nish the flames, at day-break they appeared
. en walls, and in the most lamentable nmanber told
.- the horrid catastrophe of their brethren, as a proof of
. which fact, they threw the mangled bodies over the
wall. The christians pretending to be moved by their
- solicitations, obtained possession of the eastie, but they
were no sooner entered thau they massacred every one
- of those poor creatures, who to the last moment cried
eut for baptism. W, of Newbury says, that five hun-
. dred men, with their 'wives and children, had taken fe-
fage in the castle, and therefore, more than two thou-
. nnd'penons must have perished in this horrible camn-
.ages!! : .
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the bier, says Matthew of Westminster, after
tianking God for letting him have the honour of
setting his shoulder under so holy a man; begged
that his soul might that night be with the souj
of the good bishop ; he then went bome, confes-
sed himself, made his will, recieved the sacra-
ment, and died presently after.

In 1215, Easter-week, a-numerous army and a-
bove forty Noblemen, assembled here to oppose
king John; there were 2000 kuights in this army,
and it marched through Edmondsbury to Lon.
don.

" Among other acts of oppression, the king, says
Knighton, had just before been guilty of the fol-
lowing acts of injustice.

A baron, by name Eustace de Vesci. having &
beautiful wife, who lived in the country, his ma-
jesty dining with Eustace at court, and observing
his ring, told him- that he had got just such a
stone, and that he should like to have it set ex-
actly like his;—after procuring the ring, he sent
it to his wife, in her husband’s name, conjuring
her to come to liim immediately, if she would
see him alive; she instantly set forward, but hap-
pening to meet her husband on the rcad, the
_ plot was discovered, and he imposed a common
§82
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harlot on the king, who,.the next morning, told
Eustace that he bad slept with his wife, and that
she was a vers' pleasant bedfellow; but when
Eustace told his majesty the truth of the matter, -
he was so exasperated that he threatened to mur-
der him, and he ouly escaped by flying to the
north.

Robert Fitz Walter, another baron, had a
daughter as handsome as Eustace’s wife, and as
he could not prevail over her chastity, he sent a
person to Duninow, were she lived, with orders
1o poison her, which he did in a poached egg.

However by his charter at Runimede, the June
following, he dispersed this storm.

In 1227, Richard, earl of Poictiers and Corn-
wall, having quarrelled with his brother, Hen.
I1L collected an army and drew many nobles to
his assistance at Stamford, among whom were the
the earls of Chester, Gloucester, Warren, Here- .
ford, Warwick and Ferrars; these sent a haughty
message to the king, and insisted on his making
his brother amends, and restoring Magna Cliar-
ta: his mnjesty meeting them at Northampton,
peaceably finished this contention,

In 1290, The Jews growing odious by lheu'
avarice und usury, their synagogues at Stupford
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and ITuntingdon were profaned, says Leland,
and their farniture and noble libraries sold by
outcry; there were thein 15,060 of them expel-
led the kingdom: their houses and bonds, sxys
HoHingshed, 'were confiscated, but they hid a
licemce to tuke with them all their money and
moveables,* '

Many of the richest hired a ship, on which
they put on:_ board their treasure; when it had
got to ttie mouth of the Thames, the master of
her cast anchor till the ebb left her on'dry land,
then, walking with the Jews on shore for recreas
tion, he stayed till he was privately intormed

" that the tide was coming, lie then hastened to the
ship into which he was drawn by a rope..
* The Jews not knowing this till some time after

\

* King John tormented them fog their money; onc of
them being obstinate, and refusing to ransom himself,
the King erdered that he should have ose of his teeth,
drawn every day till he complied; —— vn the seventh.
day, says Stow, he gave 10. 000 marks of silver,
epry I11 teok from a rich onc at. Y9rk, 24. 000
narks at one time; hefore this he had at different times
' him of 30,000 marks of silver, and 200 of
id. .
I(:: 1274, those who lent moncy on interest, were or-
dered to wear a breast-plute, to siguify that they did so.
From 1291 to 16535, they were hanished the King-
derp, but, in this year, Oliver Cromwels restored tham.
Ry a treaty with Manassch Ben Israel,

8§52
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cried to him for help, but he told them that they
should cry to Moses, whe had cenducted their
ancestors through the red sea, for he was sure
if they did so, he was able te assist them—they
ctied-indeed ! but as Moses did not think proper
to assist them, they were all drowned, for which
many of the mariners were hanged. A Tourna.
ment mas held this year at Stamford.

1291 Nov. 28th Eleanor queen of Edward Iss,
attendiog her husbaad in his journey to Scotland,
died at Hareby near Lincola.

. Some remains of Samford cross, called Queen’s
cross, were left in 1646, but ia the civil war it
was quite demolished; it stood about 240 yard.n.
north of the gate called Scogate.

Butcher says that. she founded s mumnery at
Stamford, whickk might be that mentioned in
Speed’s map, '

1n 1809, A Parliament was held here.

" In 1326, Knighton says that Isabel, queen of
Edward 1L assembled here many prelates ,earls,
barons and nobles, who infoermed her that they
could not permit her to go te the king.

In 1827, Edward IlI. was at Stamford and
Oundle; the abbot of Peterhorough spent in pre_
sents to him 341, 7s. 4d.
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In 2 Parliament beld here April 24, it was en-
gcted that 100 marks per month should be assign-
ed the déposed king Edwurd II.

In 1382, An Act of Parliament passed here in
favour of fereign mercbants treading to England.

In 1337, a parlianent was held here;—Ed-
ward HI. being bere, he: on June 25. coufirmed
Albini’s grants to Newsted hospital, at the bridge:
of Wasse, i. e. Guash.

. On July 182. be was here also, when he signed
an agreement with the ' easl of Hainhault, which
was dated ot Stamford.

- In1877, Ricbard 11, held a great couucelof
war here about an expedition inte France, when
Stamford and Leicester were, at their own ex-
pense, tofit ous @ burge-called a ballinger.

in 1892, Richard II. held two councils here,
one to punish the Londeners, and to debate about .
a war with Frunce, for the -Londoners had not
only refused to lend him 1000k hut alwost kill-
ed his mressenger, a Lombard, he therefore signed
an order dated at Stamford May 28, Lhis year, to
the justices at Westhinster, to arrest the mayor,

.ond sheriffs, with some of the wealtby- citizeps,
on which John Hinde the mayor was: sent te

Windor custle, one- of the sheriffs 1o Wallinge
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ford, and the other to Oditam castles; . the eiti-
zens were commitet! to other prisons, and. it was-.
determined that the Londenexs showld have no:
mayor, but one of his mafesty’s. knights, to” nile
them, their privileges and liberties to be revnhed,
and their bavs abrogated. .

‘Fhie other council was to m”ms the Wick."
IHfites. Thbse: douncils were held at the White-.
Friary, where the king lodged.

" Tn 1465, Fdward IV, came here, being the year
#fter e had incerporated 'the town by letters
patent, aud he was entertaived by the aldermaw -
John Brown, R

- After the battle of toose coatfight, wh:ch bap-
pened this ‘yellr, (see Bourn). his aisjesty ordered:
that the town should bear the seyal arms on g
strcoat, i, . Mars, three Lions padsant ‘gardant
Sot, impated with the former arms.of the eatls
Wierrens, viz. Checkey, Suphire and Topaz.

Thearmy of Murgaret queen of Henry VE
bowmmanded by Andrew Tidllop, suys Stow, de-
siroyed Stamford, Granthans, Peterborough, and
a1l ’ 1he towns quite te-5t. Albun’s, and that toe.
sparing néither ehurches :nor religious houses,
but -tovl uway every thing worth carriage, as
though they had been Turks, and mot Christiang,
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The towns near to Croyland carried their most
valuable things thither, and that town escaped
their fury.

All the vagabonds in the country. herdmz ina
great body aﬂerwuds. did as muth mischief as
the soldiers.

Leland says that these soldiers burnt much of
Stamford with it’s records and privileges.
Camden relates that they broke. into. the town,
and destrayed every thing with fire and sword,
and that it never recovered it's farmer digaity.
Peck says that jt thea lost all it’s old records and .
charters, and that they destroyed Bennewerk,
Cornsta}l, §t, Thomas’s, 8t. Stephens’ and Trinity -
churches, with All Saints’ church in .St Martin’s,
and that the towa probably suffered more for
belonging to the house of York,

.In 15688, Henry VIlI, came through here in
his. progress to Lincolnshire, and was entertain-
ed by the aldermun, Henry Lacy, and as other
towns presented him with mouey, on his return, »
this also gave him 20l. .

In 15630, Henry VIII. passed through Stam-
ford again, in his journey to York,

In 1558, The town Hall over the bridge was
built, by the Alderman John Haughton,
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In 1565, Queen Elizabeth passed through, in

her progress to Limolnshire, and dived at the

- White Friary, when, as soon as she left the house,
it fell to the ground.

L

In 1602, king Jsmes, on his first leaving Seot- *

land, passed through here March 24, when the-

aldesman and his bretheren attended . him on
Lorseback, riding on their foot cloths, and the
coramon counvil in their gowns.

October 10th @ plugue begen and remained a

year, when in All Saiuts’ parish there died of it -

19 and 7 fled, 16 iu St. John’s 10 fled, 27 in 8t.
Michael’s 11 fled, 32 in St. Mary’s 15 fled 2
~ Butcher says that 718 died, taking in St. Murs-
tin’s, perhaps,

In 1633 Charles 1. in his journey to Scut!nnd,

where he went to receive the crows of that king- -

dom, passed through in state, the alderman on
horseback bearing the mace before him, and the
first compauy on borsehack.also in theit rebes
upon their foot cleths. -

In 1643, Charles I. and his Queen, after stay~-
ing two nights at the easl of Westmorlind’s at
Apethorpe, passed through, the alderman Lear-
ing the mace before thiem.

1o April 16841, a great raim and high westerly
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wind made the W&lland flow half way up to St.
Mary’s church, it filled the lower rooms of the '
Bead-house, in St, Martiv’s, with those of the
George lun, and drowned some of the herses .in
the stable, the walls and roof of one of which
were thrown down, avd a horse might have swam
all over the yard, all the lower rooms of the
Water street were filled, ecattle, timber &e,
were caryied away, yet no human beiugs lost
itheir lives,

About the end of Jaly anether plague began,
'und' continyed till the March following, with
great mortality; it was impgined that between 5
and 600 perished, for on uccount of the civil
war, the vegisters were not punctpally kept,

In 1643, Charles 1. was here in hi

0 his way to
York, and issued a proclamaiion ngainst the
papists,

The renowned parliamentary general, Oliver
Cromwell, marched to Stamford after taking -
Croyland and plandering Peterborougb minster,

" mear which, as his horse was mounting a step, he
fell, and rising struck Cromwell’s head .against
the lintel ofa door, with such violence, that Le
was carried to his house almost dead.
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In 1644, Potter says, that, on July the 18th.
€romwell stormed Burleigh House,

In 1648, June 7th there was an insurrection of
the royalists at Stumford under the Rev. Dr.
Hudson. . _

Between 1653 and 1672, was the interval in
which the Stamford Half-pence were coined, for
. during this period, not only towns, but private
persons, made their own half.pence and far-
things, which were culled tokens, as copper
mnuey was extremely wanted in exchange, but
alter the above date, Government took the coin-
age into it’s own hands,

The tradesmen kept sorting boxes, with seves
rul divisions, and when'a quant ty ef” at'r'y man’s
or corporation’s tokens were colleéte'd,'tbey then
took them to be exchanged for sitvef.

The Stamford H.lfpeuny was of copper, about
the size of a six-pence, and very thiu ; on oneside
were the town-arms, with this inscription‘around

them,
A STAMFORD HALFPENY TO BE,
On the reverse was a wool-puck with these words
round it,

e
CHANGED BY Y OVERSEERS.
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1-have also. in my possession (says Mr Lowé)a
tradesmen’s token very much worn, this is les#
tban the corporation ‘hallpenvy, and wmade of
brass, on one side may be distinguished a coat
of arms. and the word THOMAS;on the reverse
are the words, IN STANFORD 1650, round

R
T M ia the center.,

in ¥658, Another jdil by the bridge, the ser-
jeant’s house, and the dining room adjoining the
town hall, were built.

In 1606, King William passed through. and,
1697, Mr. Yarnold of St Alban’s obtained a grant
from the corporation, to convey water by engines
from the river-to-a cistern at the market-cross,
in order to sapply the town with water, the
reversion of which he sold to Mr. Feast, who per-
oeiving the work would jirave very expensive, con
trived the present cunveyance from the spring at
Wothorpe, and: at proper-places fixed fire-cocks,
to prevemt the breaking of the ground, and cut-
ting the prain plpes on any such melancholy oc-
sasion as five.

- 111722, Doctors Coleby, Wilson, Denhaw,
vith' Mr. John Hepburn a surgeon, erected =
soid ‘batir:for the use of the public at an easy ex-
rencq. - ’

voL. IIL rr
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In 1726, a fire broke out in Scogate, Which
two hours destroyed in buildings, corn, hiy and
fmplements in husbandry, to the amount of 10001,
and had notthe wind' blown from the town, it
would have been in the atmost danger. W
shall how proceed to the modern institutions.

Truesdale’'s, Hospital.

« THoMAS TRUESDAL, of Stamfbrd, an At-
torney of extensive practice, who by a life of
beneficence, had done honor to his professien;
Wy his will, duted on the 20th October, 1700,
founded an Hospital in the town of Stamferd,
for the maiotenance of six ancient poor men of
the parish of All-Saints and St. Joha, ia Stam-
ford, and endowed it with estates in lands, tene-
ments, and titles, in Moreton, Basten and Stam-
ford, in the county of Lincoln; which at the
time of his death, (the 28d Oct. 1700,) were of
the annual valpe of 821, 9s. 4}d’. : and, thereby,
vested those estates inirustees and ‘their beirs;
-im trust to provide lodgings upon part of the pre-
mises, situated in Scogate, for the poor men who
were the objects of his charitys to pay ta each
poor man two shillings. and sixpeuce weekly;
to provide for each of them a cloth gown or suit
af cloth yearly ; to keep the premisses in repair ;

N
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1o satis(y them-elves for their trouble; and to ape
ply the surplus money (if any, after bearing the
charges abovementiomed) in the purchase of
coals, to be eqnally distributed amongst the
puor wen, ” (Blore. )

¢ The poor had 2s. 6d. but now have 3s. 6d.
weekly, and clothes made for them every year.

A nurse was last year put upou the establish-
went at 3s. 6d. per week to attend thew, which
was to be her whole employ. A chaldrou of
coals is allowed and sent in to each person, and
more if they are ill. They have an apotWecary
by the year, without any expence to them, and
they go to,one ,or .other of the churches in the
town every morning, (Harrod.)
' Snowden’s Hospital, .
RicuABRp SNOWDEN, Clerk, Minister of the
Church of St. John in Stamford, by his will, dat-
. ed on the 20th of May, and proved in the Coa-
sistory Court of the Lord Bishop of Lincoln on
the 27th of Decrember, 1604, gave his, lands,
messuage, houses agd tenements, afier the de..
cease of his wife, unto scuen poor widows of three-
scare years of age, to be taken out of Stamford
for ever, by the Alderman of Stamford for the

FR2
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dime beimg, to have seven pence a week paid te
_ them for ever, so long as the world eadureth.

The Alderman was then the chief officer of
the Corpovation of Stamford, as the Mayor is at
present; and the Mayor 1s now invested with all
powers which were anciently in the Alderman
by. prescription or charters; and has; ‘thesefore,
the patronage and umnagemedtof this Hosphal,
exclusively of the ether members of the corpo-
Iation. K ‘ ‘

And there wes a further donation to-thit Hos-
pital by the will of Mrs. Mary Torkington, ‘wi-
dow, dated the 16th of Ianuary, 2768, who gave
and bequeathed to the Mayer und Aldermen of
the Corporation of Stamford, and:-to.theirsuc-
cessors for the time being, the sum of Ten
Pounds, to be paid them within twelve months
pext after her decease, by her Executor.—In
"Prust, uevertheless, and 1o the intent and purs
pese that they the sald Muyor and Allermen
should, as.s00n as might be thereafter, put and
place out the said. sum of Ter Pouuds ot inteér-
est, upon geod sevurity ; and the interest, and
_proceet: thereof, farever, give, payand dispose
of, to and for the only use of .the poor of 8t.
Johw's Callis, situate amdl being in Stogate, in
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Stamford aforesaid, which she willed should be
paid them in equal shares.

* John Wamugton, of Stamford, Gent,, by bis
will dated the 23rd of May, 1807, and proved
the Gth of May, 1807, gave to the Trustees or
Managers for ihe time being of Snowden’s Hos-
pital or Almshouse, in Scogafe, in the parish of
St. John, Stamford, Sixteen Pounds per annum,
to be by them paid to eight poor widows, receiv-
ing the benefit of that Hospital or Almshouse,
by half-yearly payments, as the same shail be re-
ceived by them; subject nevertheless to any de-
ductions which may be made by the Trusfees
for the time being of his will, by virtue of any
powers to them therein reserved.

_ There are now cight aged women suported os
this foundation, who have lodgings on the south
side of Scogate, westwardly from Truesdale’s
Hospital.

. Murs Rebecca Onamberlm, widew of Mr W
‘Chamberlin of the borough of Stamford, draper,,
by her will gave to-the Mayor and Aldermen of
Stamford 2001. to be applied to eharitable uses,
and app lied one fourih of the income thereof to
be paid to the poor women or inhabitants of St.
John's Cal!is, by which name she desxgnated

¥rd .
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Snowden’s Hospital ;— the Mayor and Alder-
man invested the donation in the purchase of
four hundred pounds Stock, in the three per cent.
consolidated annuities, from which the poor in
Snowder’s Hospital, became intituled to three

pounds per annum, being a fourth part of ‘the in-
terest of the donation. ( Blore. )

\ et

mcom: of SNOWDEN’s HOSPITAL.

L. s d. .
Snowden'aRenta,.. tereceeiietneisiene .55 10 0
Mrs. Torkington, ......... Ceeesseresanene 010 0
Warringtor’s Donmation, ......... teereeesd6 0 O

Mn.R.Chamberlin’s,.‘..‘................. 3.00

Williamson’s Hospital.

Mr. Groxex WiLLiAMSON having, when
living, permitted certain poor persons to reside
rent-free in & certain house divided into several
small houses, situated on the south side of the
street leadiug to St. ‘Peter's,gate, in Stamford, in
the upited pavish of All:Saint's and 8t. Peter, in
Stamford: apd having by his will, dated 6th of
Dec. 1768, and proved in the Prerogatne Court
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of the Archbishop of Canterbury, on the 28ih
of janua}y, 17d9. devised his messnages, ware-
house and cellars, with their appertenance,.in the
White Meat-market, in Stamford, to his wife,
Mrs. Sarah Williamson, in féé';'léu:!.)jcct to the
payment of three several annuities of 4l. te Tho-
mas Pulford, 4l. to Mary Price, and 40s. to
Bridget Kmderley, for their ]lves respeclnely
all ' which annul!anls are dead : and having given
the messuage or terement, then divided iuto se-
veral tenements, occupied by six poor widows,
situated and being on S*. Peter’s hill in Stamford
aforesaid, with the ‘appertenances, then late the
estate of Mr. Theophilus Buckworth, to his wife
in fce: Mrs. Sarah Williamson, surviving her
busband by bargain and Sale, dated the 8th of
"August, 1770, aud enrolled in Chancery on the
14th of September followin

in Trustees, to the intent, ti

six poor widows should b

the houses on St. Peter’s b

tees should, from time to t

of such widows, in case of

therwise, by the admlssldl

parishes of St Michuel, A

St. George, i in Stamford:
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in the. White Meat market, the Trustees were
directed out of the rents thereof, (after tl:e an-
nuites should be discharged,) to keep the houses
occupied be the widow in repuir, and to apply
the surplus for providing fifty chaldrons of sea
coal yearly, to be sold to the poor of Stamford in
wiuter, at the summer price ; and to apply the

surplus, if any, to the beneﬁt of the poor wi-,

dows, de(luctmg ten shalhngs yearly, as an allow—
ance to themselves, at seltlmo their accounh.

James Hurst, of St.lmford Borough, Esq.,
who died in 1487, and was buried in St. Mi.
chael’s Church there, on the 21st of June in that
year, by his will bequeathed, to this Charity the
sum of Twenty.five Pounds, to whu.h a sum was
added in 1793, and therewith one. hundred
pounds four per cent. annuities purchased for
the increase of the funds thereof.

Mr. Joks' Warrington, by bis will, dated the
23rd. of May, 1806 and proied.in the Preroga-
tive Court of the Archbishop of Canterbury on
- the 61h of May, 1807, left Fourteen Pounds per
annam, secured amongst other chaiities, by oue
thousand eight hundred pounds, four per cent.
consolidated annuities, to be paid balf yearly, by
his Trustees, Mr. Jeremiah Belgrave, Alderman




*STAMRORD, 435

of Stanford; Mr.  Jonathan Millér, of Maiket
Deepaiw' and Mr, Thomas Lowtf; o‘meermo'
and "their successors, to be chdsen as’ theréin
medti«med Tor evet. * et
St. Pdfr’: or All- .S‘amts lioapntal or Cquu., "
This is a-vesy poor, structure, sitoated imme-
dimpely .bedaw thie vimwch:yasd .of! the- anclént
ehbiurab of 5t. Peter (near;the castiy) nd Swmford)
lpngsince destroyed; in the angle formed: by 4m
Jutichion.of the-two streets, oneg leading: from:tlse
Sheep- pens to St. Peter’s hill, or the church-yard
of 'St. Poter, aud, the othtr jeadldg from the
_White-Meat-markot, near AliSaint’s Ghurch, to
the enmd iphice; Huamind.says lie chould wetleatn
who gave this Callis, and stated that in his time
it ‘contained’ apartments for twelve women, who
hud each of them 2s.Bd. amiually, on midsum-
mer day, and a tiké sum on the feast of St. Tho-’
mas, the 21. of'Devember. 5
The Hospital is'so tertainty i the ancient
parish of St. Peter, that'it has very impropérly;‘
acquired the name of All- Samts Hospnal or’
Caltis. o O
Cuptain John Wyliihore gave 1¢1. to the poor’
of Stamford, to be disposed of as his Executors
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should think fit, who paid it into the hands of the
Corporation, and directed the interest to be for
the nse of this Callis. And if this be the John
Wyldbore, Gent. buried in St. George’s church
who died on the 3rd of November, 1674, this
may be considered as the earliest donation.
- 'This appears in the Corporatien list.

William Chamberlin, a capital Burgess of Staw -
ford, gave by Will, in 1702, twenty.pounds, the
interest of which to be distributed yearly amongst
such poor as shall livein that heuse called the
Callis,

Mz, John Palmer, Alderman, by his-will, dated
1707, gave 30l to be put out, the interest of
which.should be given to the poor of the same
- Calljs, .
~ Mrs, Mary Torkington, of Stamford-Borough,
in the county of Lincoln, widow, by her Will,
dated the 10th of January, 1768, gave and he-
queathed to the Mayor and Aldermen of the Cor-
poration of Stamford, and to, their successors for
the time being, the sum of tweuty pouuds, to be
paid them within twelve monihs after her decease,
by her Executor thereinafier named; in trust
nevertheless, and to the intent and purpose, that
they the ssid Mayor aud Alderwan, and their
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successors for the tim= being, did aud should as
soon as might be hereafter, put and place out
the said'sam of twenty pounds at interest, upon
good security, and the interest and proceed
thereof, yearly and evety year, for evet thereaf-
ter, give, pay and dispose of to and for the only
use of the poor of All-Saint’s Callis, on St. Peter’s -
hill, in Stamford aforesaid, which she willed should
be paid to them in'equal shares and proportion.

John Wm‘_ringtén, of 8tamford, Gent, by hiy
Will, dated the 23cd of May, 1806, and proved
the 6th of May, 1807, already noticed, gave the
sam of tweiity-four pounds yearly, to the Trus
tees or Managers for the time being, of All-Saints
Callis or Altushouse, on Peter hill, in the parish
of All-Suints, in Stamford, to be paid by them to
twelve poor widows, receiving the benefit of the
said Callis or Almshouse, by half-yearly pay-
ments, as the same should be received, out of
1,8001. stock, three per centum consolidated an-
nuities, standing in" his name in the books at the
Bank of England, and by his will given to Jere-
miah Belgrave, Jonathan Miller and Thomas
Lowth, his Executors and Trustees, fof this and
other purposes,
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And Mrs. Rebecca Chamberlin, widow, whe
died in 1797, by her will, already neticed, (p.
329,) left to the Mayor and Aldermen of Stam,
ford, 2001, to be put cut at interest, and a fourth
part of the produce thereof to be paid to the
poor women or inhabitants of All-Saints Callis,
which she, as well as others, erreneously state 19
be in the parish of All-Saints:—and the Mapox
and Aldermen: having invested this donation in
the purchase of four huadred pounds, three per
centum consolidated aumuites; a fourth past of

the produce thereof, amounting to three poynds
per annum, is added to the revenues of this, Hos-
pital. ’

L L. s |¢.

Wyldbore, .....ccoiieeiiiecenennnn 0 10 ©

" Wm. Chamberlin, ...... Berennanas 1 00
Palwier, ...ve.iiiiiiieeiiionacsinnes 1 10 O
Torkingten, ........ edbecannns cesscss 300
Warrington, .....ccocvveeceace heepe 24 0-@
‘Rebecca Chamberlin, ....... poseeses .3 00
L3t 0 0

There have of late been, and row are, seven
poor women in this Hospital.
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ALDERMAN HOPKIN’s HOSPITAL,
Or St. Peter's Gate Cullis.

Mr. JouN HoPKINS, - Alderman, of the bo-
'rough of Stamford, in his first mayoralty, ter-
minating at Michaelmas, 1770, originally pro-
posed and promoted the erection of this Hospi-
tal, which is a neat stone building of two stories,
consisting of eight rooms, on which the four on
the ground-floor have their entrance from the .
frent towards the west; and the four rooms of
the upper story have the entrance to each of them
separately by a flight of steps to a landing on
‘the east side. This building is situated on the
south side of the road from Stamfurd to Upping-
ham, on the scite of part of one of the ancient
;gates, which formerly were the entrances to the

town through the walls by which it was sur- .

Tounded. ‘
The total expence of this building is stated
to have been 3651. Gs. 8d,

L. s d.
“The Corporation contributed

the scite of the Hospital,and 70 0 0
The Earl of Exeter the Gar-
dens,and ..ooeviiiinaians 5 0 O
Mr. Whitley’s company of Co-
_ medians gave the fruits of a
voL, . L
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‘Le 8 4
Performance at the Theatre, 98 6 6
And Mr, Hopkins paid himself, 150 0 0
: ) 35 6 6

And he also paid the yearly deficiencies to

wrake up the weekly payments in his time, 20 15 8
" And Mrs. Catherine Gibson, late of St. Mar-

tin’s, Stamford-Baron, gave 200l. to’ promote the

endowment of this Hospital, which produced
4l. 10s. per cent. per annum, in 1785, when

-Harrod wrote, and it is now said to be secured
en the Black Sluice Drainage. And there were
in Harrod’s time two subscriptions from the two
Borough Members, at Five Guineas each, annu-

“ ally : and the payment to each of the eight rooms
being then 1s. per week, amounted to 201. 16s.
per annum, and consequently exceeded the pait_-
ly precarious income by 1l. 6s. which made the
amount of the deficiency which Mr. Hopkius bad
wade up to that time. '

" . And by the will of Mrs. Rebecca Chamberlin,
widow, who died in 1797, as already stated, this
Callis became intitled to one fourth part of the
income of 200l. by her given to the Mayor and
Aldermen at Stamford, to be put out at interest,
for the benefit of this and other charities ; which
sum of 2001. haviug been invested in the purchase

-
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of 400l. three per centum consolidated annuities,
the fourth part of the produce, or Sl comes a-
mongst the inhabitants of the Hospital, —Vide
p. 829.

RADCLIFFE’S SCHOOL,
Or the Free Grammay School.

WiLLiAM RADCLIFFE, of the Borough of
Stamford, who had served the office of Alder-
man, (in those days Chief-Magistrate of the town

.. and head of the Corporation,) in 1495, 1503,

end 1612, and died about the yvear 1530 ; made
provision by his Will for the establishment, in
the town of Stamford, of a ScHooL, in which
Poor young Children and Infants should be
taught freely in Learning and Manners, without
Salary or Reward from their Pareuts.

The pious design of the founder was ratified
by an Act of Parliament in the reign of King Ed-
ward VI., (1648) which vests the estates, given
by the Founder, in the Alderman of Stamford,
(who has been by subsequent charters converted
into a2 Mayor) and his successors for ever; o
the intent that he shall find an honest, able, and
sufficient learaed Man to teach freely within the.

G 6 2 '
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same town of Stasiford all such Scholars as shatl
from time fo time resort to the School-house, for
teaching such Scholars ; * and shall pay the pro-
fits of those Estates to the Master ; which Master
shall be appointed by the Alderman (now Mayor)
for the time being, with the advice and consent of
the Master of St. John’s College, Cambridge.

And the Act of Parliament directs that the
trade, form, and manuer of instructing and teach
ing to be used within the School, shall be allow-
ed and approved by the Master of St. John’s.

By a Charter of King Charles II. all manner
of goods, grants, demises, and other powers, in-
terest, and authorities whatsoever concerning

.pious or charitable uses, which before were vest~

ed in the Alderman of Stamford, are thenceforth
vested in the Mayor, Aldermen, and capital Bar-
-gesses, and under that authority, the Mayor for
the time being has since assumed the manage-
ment of this Trust.

The yearly revenues of this School appropriat-
ed to the support of the Master, were for some
years before, and up to Lady-day last, (1812)
upwards of 260l. aud from that day they are up-
wards of 360l.

Besides the provision for the support of the



STAMFORD, i a1

’

Master of this Scheol, there are eight Scholar-
ships in Clare -Hall, Cambridge, founded by
‘Thomas Earl of Exeter, in 16183, to which the
Scholars educated in this School have a prefer-
ence before atbers of equal merit : and Mr. Tho-
mas Truesdale, of Stamford, by will, in 1700,
left 501, the interest of which is to be applied by
the Mayor of Stamford to the use of free-bora
Scholars belonging to this School, and gomg
thence directly to the Uuiversity.
The yearly rental of the Estates belonging te
Radclifie’s School A. D. 1809, amounted to 8611,
@s. 0d. ¢ Vide Blore ut supra)

WELL’s SCHOOL
Culled the Petty School.

. EpwArD WELLS of Stamford, Shoemaker,
by his Will, made in 1694, gave to the church
and parish of All Saints in the town of Stamford,
Lis freehold dwelling-bouse, with™ the lands and
sppertén-.ices: In trust,  that the yearly rent
and benefit arising thereof, should faithfully and
duly he employed towards the maintenance of @
- Petty School within the said parish ; for sueh
childern as should be poor and free-born within
“the said town ; to the full and coupleta number of
. c¢ 3
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00 many as the vent af the said howee end land,
should discharge their teacking for: for. their
virtuous edutation and’ bringing wup in the fear
of God, good literature and means.

The property thus devised, consists of a mes-
suage, malt-house, out-building, garden and‘ap-
pertenances, inthe united parish of All-Saints’
and St. Peter, in Stamford, on the south side of
the Street between St. Peter’s Hilt and St. Pe
ter's Gate; being in length of front, on the nortl,
about one hundred and eight feet, two inches; and.
on the seuth, towards the Back-lane, sixty-one-
feet, ten inches; and being in length, from St.
Peter’s-Street to the Back-lane, one:hundred.
and twelve feet and one inch; with three acres
of land in the open field$ of Stamford ; the whole-
of which property is now let, at the yeasly
rent of ten pounds.

THE BLURB-COAT SCHOOL.

This school had its commencement abeout
the year 1704, and the Corporation was amongst
its first encouragers, by providing a School-Honie
and lodgings for poor childeen, and by a contri-
bution of 60l. (in three years’ subscriptien)
which with 790l." contributed by divers well-dis-
posed persons.of. the town and uneighbourheod,,

L]
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and other sums subseribed annually and other-
wise, became a fund for the maintenance of “the.
School and'Scholars.

Ouit of these sabscriptiens, - an cstate at Hbgs,
thorpe, near Alford, in the eounty of Lincoln;
was. putchased, whicli estate (since the inclosure
of the open fields, &c. of Hogsthorpe) consists
of a house, barn; stuble, and granary, and of se-
‘venty acres of land, all in Hogsthorpe, and part
thereof near to the house now- eccupied by.
Josepht Eldon. The precise time of the pur-
chase, or the persons to whom, or the uses or
trusts to, or upon which, it was conveyed. (says
Mr. Blore) I have not deen uble to discover.

The rent of this, when Harrod published (1784)
was 861, per annum,”and it so continued uotil,
Michaelmas, 1706. From the latter period the
rent was increased to 561. per annum: and it
continued at that rate until 1866, when it was
raised to 95l. per annum; which is the rent at
present pdid, cleai of taxes aud repairs of e.very
description,

The managers had, in 1785, arising from var-
jous benefaeticns, 3701. placed out at interesf:
but for the inclosure of Hogsthorpe, 2501, part -
of that sum in the hands of the Marquis of Exe-

2 A (
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ter, was g¢alled in, and 120l. stock, the remain-
der of it. was sold out, so that there is now ne
other stock in money, than 58l. thyee per cept
consolidated anpuities, given in 1802, by John
Glenn, frrmerly a schalar in this Scheel, in
gratitude for the, edueation which he bad receiy-
ed in it—an example worthy . to.be recorded.
It is also to be remembhered, to the credit of. the
inhabitants of Stamford in general,.that a liberal
- anuual subgriptipn has been for many years past
raised towards the support of this iastitution. -

Harrod, (p, 55.) speaking of this foundation,
states it to be for twenty-four children, whelly
maintained aud lodged in the Scheol: butin
(p- 375,) he says, that in 1794, it was. for thirty-
siz bays, who were clothed, and taught reading,
.writiog, and accompts. From the 31st August,
1807, to the 14th Nov. 1808, there were thirty
boys in the Schoel, and from the latter peried to
the present, there have been ferty boys. They
are admitted at ten, and permitted to continue
in the School until fourteen years of age. They
.are taught reading, writing; and arithmetic, and
-each of them receives ycarly, a blue cap, a blue
.coat, waistcoat, aud breeches, two shirts; twe

S
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stoeks, (or neck-cloths) twe pairs of stockings,
and two pairs of shoes. )

When John Carey had the cherge of this
Scheol, the salary was 20 pounds a year, and @
- chaldron of coals : when -8amuel Woods was ap-
pointed Master, the salary was raised to 30l. per
aunum, snd a chaldron of coals; and since the
number of boys admitted bas been.increased to
forty, the salary has been advanced-to 46}, per

aanum, and the allowance of coels té the Master’

has heen discontinued. .

The house on the scite of Brazen-nose.College,
was origigally provided by the Corparation &
the reception of the Master and Scholars, but
the Stewards of the School,now rent for the use
of the Master, a small house’ atd School-room on
the north side of. St. Paul’s Street, under thé
Marquis of Exeter, or his Trustees, at three
pounds per annum, :

L

Goverment of the Town, '

Leland says that ¢ Stamford was previleged
in the days of Edward1V. fora borough as con:

cerning a place in parliament, and aswuch pri-

vilege has been given to it saving privilege for

»
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treason, as hath been giver perhaps to any town
in England,”
Edward the fourth in |he ﬁm year of his reign
4. D. 1461, by his charter, directed to George
Chapman, the first incorporate alderman, and
others, both of the npper and lower bench, then
called the comburgesses and capital-burgesses
(being then the first and the second twelve, as
they are more particularly named in the said char-
“ter; butsince inlarged by a later charter, to the
aldermaa and twelve comburgesses, and to the
number of twenty-four capital burgesses) did in-
eorporate ihe saii- {6%3, bath in name and deed,
- by the name of the alderman -and burgesses of
Stamford; and hereby gave, or rather coufirm-
ed unto the same, many great and profitable pri.
vileges.. As to be freed from the sheriffy’ juris-
diction; and from being put on inquests out of
the town; to have the return of all writs: to be
freed from all lords lieutenauts; or their depu-
ties, in respect of taking of musters, s touching
the .militia of the town; making the alderman
for the time being the king’s.imwediate lieaten.
ant within his liberties and jurisdiction; avd to
be, within the same, the second man in the king-
dom. To have oue, or more, mace, of gold or
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wilver, st his eboice, to be carricd before hins, -
for his greater honour and dignity. And to have
& common seal at arms, )
And the king also granted to the town further
to do and execute within the same and liberties
thereof, ut ab antiquo usi fuerunt, as of antient
time they had been accustomed ; which makes it
evident that this charter is but a new confirma-
tion of mere ancient prvileges. ’
Bat oer antient immunities appear ne otherwise,
than scatteringly here and there, upon the tower
roll; little better than mere circamstances, yet: -
pregnant evidences, of meore' antient privileges.
So that, at this day, we can shew none, under
any authentic warrant, beyond the first year of
the reign of king Edward 1V, But since the ob-
'taining of this first charter, the same hath been
eonfirmed by divers mspeximuses from all the
succeeding kings and ' queens that have been so-
vereigus to the time of king Charles, and many
new grants added, as the monday-market, the
three fairs of Simom and Jude, Green-goose
fair, and St. Jame’s fair, ‘The town hdving for-
merly but the friday market and the great Mid-
lerit Mart, the profits of which only belong to
the lord, but these latter to the corporation.
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By a latter inspeximus, there was grant ed to the
alderman and burgesses, to hold & court of pless
of all actions ¥eal, personal, or wixt, to the value
of 401,  Aud to hold sessions and goal delivery
for all criminal actions perpetrated and done
within the liberty; high treason agd petit treason
ouly excepted, By the first cbarter of Edward
the fourth, the alderman and burgesses may pur-
chase lands ; sue and be -sued, by the name of
the alderman and burgesses; and have granted
unto them all fines and forfeitures in sessiops,
and the goods of outlaws and felons. And be-
“dides these many other immunities, 10 no pur-
pose here to he related.

This town bath a power to send up two bur-
gesses to every parliament. .

In 1663 King Charles Il. made Stamford &
Mayor Town, granting a new Charter with addi-
tional privileges, confirming all former ones.

Wilinm Azlack was the fist Mayor chosen
out of 13 Aldermen, beside which there are
twenty four Capifal Burgesscs. The Alderman
and Burgesses continue their places for life, un-
less they be removed for some misdemeanor, by ‘
the major votes of the Mayor, Alderman, and
Capital Burgesses, of which the Mayor must be
one. (Howgrave.)
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_ Modern State.

The great north road leading through this
town, from London to Scotland, with the almost
continual passing and repassing of Coachds,
Stage, waggons &c. create much bustle, and the

_ perpetual influx of strangers, adds considerably
“ both to its trade and its wealth.

Being situated in a hilly part of the ¢ounty, in
the centre of arich and beautiful district, it is
nearly surrounded by Gentlemen’s seats; and
Burghley house, which is not more than a mile.
distant, with the park, which comes up quite to
the town, contribute much to thé interest, beau-
ty, and convenience of this place. .

The entrance into Stawford, both from the
uorth and south, being by a gentle declivity,
is rather handsome, and the whole town contains
many ancient buildings, the former grandeur of
which is still apparent, mixed with modern
buldings which do hionor to the taste of the pre-
sent age. Including St. Martin’s, Stamford
consists of six parishes, and as many churches,
which are so_situated that in some points of view
they have the appearance of a single Cathedral.
Stamford and St. Martin’s are under different

urisdictions, the former being divided from the

YOL, 1I. HHRH
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latter by the river Withm they are also in twe

separate counties, St. Martin’s beig in North-

amptonshire, and the line of separation is sup-
posed to be in the middle of the bridge.

Town-Hall. '
In the year 17%6, an act passed for widening
. the road from the north end of the. bridge toa
gate called Scogate inStamford when the corpor-
ation agreed to pull down theirold hall which
stood over the north end of the said bridge, to-
gether with severa) other houses, on condition that
the trustees-should build them a New Hall, being
that now standing near St. Mdry s church.
The two fronts are built of Stamford stone, and
" the whote building is divided into twenty two a-
partnents. The great room is 52 feet long, 25
wnde, and 19 high. A guard room, house of
correction, aad a gaol, are iucluded in the twenty
two apartments.
“ The gate, which was the old pmon was tak-
en down, and a-new prison built at the town

" hall. Oue good room for debtors in the keep- .

er’s house; for other prisoners, two cells 10 feet
by 8, and 7 feet 8inches bigh: the window in
each only 2 feet by 5 inches: and a bridewell
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room 16 feet by 8; ihé window here also is toa
- small, Uieing only 2 feet by 1t. 8in.” . .

' The Theatre .

Is situated in-StoMary'ssttpel{ widel was beis
gus 10, be bailizid: the year 1968 -aud:bhished ins
the-year ¥388. . The: expmnaes of jerecting teis.
edifice amounted to 806l. at the joint cost of
Mr Addeotian Clirk, add the late My, James
Whitley, but it is now the property of Mr. Gosli.

‘I8 is built after thie mauner of-ihe hendod
Theatres, is capable of containing'a largai audi-
ener,dnd.is techoned. the. odnplelest phoe\ of¢
it’s size in the kingdom. g R

knﬂdmm febt Ly 39 oulbt Mﬂbmﬂl&

77;« A:mnblyrﬂmm

Snuated near the Play House, is very.spacious’.

of the hr;l of Exeter,: - . .. \,
u H 2 N . Lot ed!
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FAIRS.*

CANDLEMAS Fair isheld on the .Tuesday be-
fore the 13th of February, for Horses and Stock.
of all sorts. '

Monday before Midient for Horses only.

Midlent Monday for Steck ofall sorts, it canti-
mues g fostnight for all sorts of Haberdashery,
&o.

Monday before. May the 12th for Horses and
Stock., :

Monday after Corpus Clmm. for Horses. and
Stock.

St. James's, OldSu!e; Angust the &th, forﬁwut
and Stock. ]

St. Bimon and Jude, Nd Stile, Nontlbu 0&
Horses, Stock and Cheese.

The Market is kept on monddy and fﬂdayg

® STRUTT thinks that fairshad thei:arhmtmum
feasts, for hawkers and pedlars first came, then

o er tradesmen set up stalls in the church-yard to
ply the number of people assembled from the adjacent,
v:llafes thesé Sunday fairs were not entircly abolish-
ed till the reign of Henry V1. when royal charters ware
grante:l ‘for fairs to be held only in towns where ma-
gvstrutes fesided, in order that they might suppress the

wita that fteqnentty happened, In 1617 all sortp
o diversions wereallowed and encouraged on Sundays
after the afternoon scnlcc, but in 1643 the parli
abolished these I'l0
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-(Fbes.time appaisted: for ‘thy Raees. has, for
mamp yeays: past, beew the Tuesdny, Wednesday.
and Thursday in the second week in June, - '

- Rite Soadacns bailo ki the year: 1900 and P,
an-elegant and well contrived edifice. . It measures .
40 feet by 18 on.the outside. walls, and -com-
mandsa view ofthe. wlitle of”the racé grovid:
H't'mi"tlié'tév}n’ to the'stand is abouta mile angl‘s
Al el At e T ] ¢ 1

The Cock:Pit was built ini ‘thie year 1725, by.
Wﬂ!ﬂ 'M’Exetet, ‘flither of '1h~énp‘re'.sént
earl, and is situatd at t!lé(.?'e'o‘rge'-fnn”'ii»nI $t. Mar—
1D BHIE of freestone, in an ;ctégb'pal.
form, ia each side of whicli are two niches arch.
& 9HiAP reader it ornamental; thte roof is also..
aftched foond, ariddellcately ceiled. ' It measures,
fOPtyReet-bvér, i computed to hold . near five
Hindd*Persons, and is réckoned one of the com-
pletest buildiugs of the kind in the kingdom.’

" On Friday Fehs 18th,; 18, t¥e sails of the
Biack Smock Windmill without the western end
of the town, were broKer From their stays by the
viglenog: of the wind,, and. by the mpidityaf the
fristion the, upper part.of it wanhosu. Fiuweld,

) H R 3!
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windmill was burnt, on the same day, to the
ground. UERI
Around the corporation seal, on which ave én-
graved ‘the towa arms; i the.follewing: inscripe-
tion. _ . ‘ .:‘l"'lY-"l HAR
816: COMMUNEA. BURGI: STAMSORDIL ;-
S . IPRORY NEPES (T AL T
: “ o TMPMQ,‘ TN BT
When not retarder .bhy: the-Waather; ariives.
from the South between Twelve and One._ iy the-
Aﬂcrnmm, ‘and arrives from the North about.

with the town that it necessanly fom o-m
of it. , A
SAINT Mglg'rm?s. “f' s

.'*’—_:w ]u~ )

Plcx says he does not find that St. 'Martin’s
ever was watled, bat yet thit it was: de?en&ed by

Tt
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fiwe gates, and a gastle; —if there were no-mwell;
oue might:be'led to qmestion the use of gates. -
. The fhet gate was in water street, formerly:
oaHed Est:by the water—it stood: at the end of
that part where the houses are ia double rows.

"Fhe :secomd was at tite: opmng leading towards-
Busghley, bythe Butts. - - .« o
_ "Fhe third wias between St. Giles’s: hospital and¢
the miain street, it stood en the higlest: ground i
the parish, and so was calied Highgate, ang the
Styeet from iiwas. oalled Bigh-Streot. . + - .

The fountk was against St. Marﬁn!l church,a
huﬁ-gh-wu‘mboNunnerym ST :

The f£fth wa# at.the: dontheend : of - the' bridge;
even: whith was.afterwards biiit.a smull chapel?

The.Castle: was built in 824, by Edward the
edet, aba shecki. upon that in Stamferd:belong:
ing to theDmmes; this 3wod where.the Nuns' fasms
mow is, on theedge of the Rowss ndrthvond Wherb
it. crossetl -the:riner; for-as:thefe.iwas: then no
bridge, and the whole river undivided ran there;
this being therpass.into the south, mythproﬁer-
atplldeforagamsom N

. Fhere: was a mint for ¢oivm henelm mgw; '
iag-,nd wrhsps'befhm vluclnou i Wl'j

-l;.' .’\
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ghanted to:the abbot . of Peterboreughy wita wes:
lord of this parish; therabeve menéndivih 1B cow-
firmed this. prisilege to the abbot; asdid after .
wards:Tuskili one of the Saxon. mtnvebs, dnd tbe
Popemlso ia dbad. .. - -, ' c 1
' iEdgu v alinedbp :suys, Wikt Eadger . do - gnnﬂo-
the. monastery. of Medeshanist@ciithredi perpitnadl
" pivilege: ofh wintat Sthmdords ! Thid) Me, Pedk.
aupposes tahave beete onlp acceniiiimation afitlimit

onfnigembefore gtinted by kiug Atbelstan. .
In Domesdq,hminlb&umghenphw~
Q'ulﬂpali*uf’ AN PR A NS HEL T \ ~y ‘_\ A l

The same. William-helda;ite. hidesond danlfpn.
virgsite! marei orilessiin-Stadford. - Ang abbot
Blenedieti pure bastd of 1den i (Lhes lanid: iw all ie
five- caprwésites::! 'Dhere.ame: heve sovenidem: vil-
laine, Withapsiat andsfsus-bordimess, svho ave.
fewsicamidatds.o - [Tchoanecaight nortssel maem
dow fobmerliyriet Saniwdnty shillibgsiowfon fom
tu : kisusiovheld.! them . Recsiniking. Fdwnndy .
e o bt an g L dw 2 B e 0

- shynoipntiy S4. w'mmlm,uhlbi ‘Slaos..
ford beyond the bridge, omStimfard senithuifthe-
Wallaall 5 the firsgivtion: ofi Seasfends Barfon .
beingao lntxas: el yean 11ab ; and:tie-bosoosr; of .
this name might be from it’s being part of those
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Yands which the uhbot of Peferboretigh held jrér °
Baroniam, to distihguish itifrom Stamford whick *
wils always-called ﬂhé King's Borough. - Nic

Who. Benedict was we éafinot find, but mee‘ '

. was abbot of Petérborough, and bem«*a favourite *
of king Edward; held abso four ofhier gbbeys, vz,
Burton, Coventry, Croyland and Thorney.

St. Mantin's in:Domesday is mentioned ‘as'beibg
the sixth ward beleinging: te Stamford, and’ s
said there to buve been in Hantobesvire: -~ |

1t appears from the above existet that there.
was ouly one priest, because $t. Martin’s chursh
was not then built, he therefore belongsd doiAtks

Sainte’ cburob. whichistoad in the. Wyter atweet, v
snd was dem'oyed by the:wortfiern soldiers, but !
us the parish grew more populdus, 8t;" Martin's .
chureh was built, and then All Saints’ parish' was.
d;vu!ed into two. . T

Ahout 1174 William Watenuue abbol of Petev- ,
borough purchased all St. Maztin’s, and redeemed:
with money fourteen howses with the gronnd ¥e¢- '
longing [to them in Stawford, wbxeh Q wmn
lml«vbt claimed as his inheritance,

to 1189 Richard 1. granted to the abbot of
Eelerborongh all St Martin's mth lbc ad;went

H

R
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taggly andimills, thechurches of 81.. Martia’s and
Al Sainta’ jn the spid ;parish, . the monastery of.
St. Michael, the. hospital of $t,, Jobn and 81 Thau.»
mas,, the house_of, tha, kloly - Sepuldiwe: and: St..
Giles's hospital, - ., g i ’ .

were formerly a great x;nany Jews.here;, wlio® were»
a-vetyldprewspenple. . o Bl oan

& gt Fpydits of 9t: Giles; wadborn 2t AtHenwubout

tllé?neg.wo&pmcm $a - Nasnee was: made Adbbot of.
Smes. . X R .

't The leprody was onde ke fiéquent in Englind, that
there, was scarcely \tg}ﬂg of nojes but.what had aleper
house helonging to'it, yet, what (5 very extraordinary,'
the-disease iyncarly ipowsvanished from: Europd. I
disappearance, hy iuedical inén, js attributed to the fre-
quent-dse of thié divr&tichedl tea, ufid the'wekring finen!
next the skin ;—the ancients were igrorant of teca, and
by weariug woplen next the skin, the perspirable mat

g
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* Yol unlidquisition: takeh “about ¥220, it is said
‘that 1ttt Yimg :bud- wiienated” from the lordship of
- Stimnford, five acreswitud, and given it 16 this
~hbne of lepers; whithi-was ‘aldo- balled ‘tire Her-
mitage arnd 8¢, Eeotard's. .

- 1n' 1300 the sbbof of Peterborongh gave Wil-
Jimi Ponrys of Stantfoid'the wardenship for Iife,
~ots oandition: thit he thiee fimesa week supplied

the cluiitry i it’sohtapel; keep up the building,
- of the honse, and bé avab other Lh‘arges of it as
- was of old- timé:accastomed.

- 301328, whow Adum' Boothyby lord abbot of

- Pererborowgh visited this and other religious

houses in and about St, Martin’s, we find’that
Bir Walter de Bernack was the warden.

© . 8t Puldher's, or the” honse of the holy sepil-

ehwe, wae a house of regular canons, of thé order
“of-theindly. sepuldhre, whose 'business here was
.‘tomentertait pilgrits and knights, ‘a3 they jour-
. neyéd toidnd frem Jertsatem, wher they wertto

vidit the:depulchre of  our Saviour threré; the

knights acedmpanied 1 PHgrint as 4 guard.

St. Pulohre's joined- the south eide -of the
«Gungcnhu;&ub'by w!mm or'when \fonnded' is'e-

" ter, b "long lodgi ngin |t became noxious ping
:}"d o 5: gkh, 'ﬂev&t«l luuu'nlulepetgpit»
on &¢,
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qually ucknown, the first mention of hath these
. houses is in the. depd ahovementiohed of Richardl.
~ Where the bead-honse ttom is;. there was, ahout
_ the year 1174, an hospitel.erected, }.lediclled‘lo
St. John the Baptist, and St. Thomas a Becket,
by_Brand de Fossatoy and owe Seward, for the
reception of paor travellers, who were relieved
with bread, beer, meat, and -lodgings, as: they
_ passed by, while some . monks,. sad other poor
constantly resided there; the monks per forming
divine service. The abbot of Peterborough was
their patron, and Pope Alexaunder Itl, recéived
. the house uader his ptotection. Tt extended 1o
the George Inn¢ .« | '
Richard  Humet Lord of S(alnfotd and Ber.
tram de Verdun. his: ward, gave to it »large
. piece of land, oo which the present, Bead-house
stauds, with the orchard and Geerge Inn, which
Inn once belonged to the abbot.of Croyland,
In the church yard belonging to.it, -Siwatd. built
a bandsome chprch—the chiapel -before this,
“steod over the gate soress, the hridge.

In 1299, Hugh Clissehy; .vicas-af ' &ll-Sdint’s
in Stamford, wasits warden, and:breugh hismis-
management, it was reduced to such [poverty,
that he pelitioned the abbot of Pewrbotugb to

b
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resign; the abbot permitted him, and gave the
- wardenship to Sir Robert, rector of Northburgh,
" who held it only four months, and then Clisse-
by was restored ; and as the abbot had taken
from the house, for fear of imbezzlement, books,
jewels, brazen and wooden uteasils, chests &c.
he ordered these to be restored also to him.
However when the abbot was dead, Clisseby
returned to his evil courses, on which account
he was deposed by the succeeding abbot. The
bishop of Lincoln and others, interceding for
him, he was restored, but not before he had-ta-
ken an oath to behave better in future, and tymg
himself down to several articles.

On part of the ground on which this hospital
stood, William lord Barghley, lord high treasurer
of England, in 1597, afrer he had finished his
stately house of Burghley, erccted an hospital
in St. Martin’s Stamford-Baron, in the same year,
and endowed it with an 1001, yearly, issuing out’
of the lands of Cliff-Park, to be employed in the
maintenance of a warden, and twelve poor men.
The warden to be aliowed three-shillings a week
and the twelve poor men, each of them two shil-
Jings and four-pence. The house to be repaired
eut of the said 100l a year; and the ward. e

VYOL, 1I, 13
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*und twelve poor are to have ev'e'i'y year & néw
~gown, and each of them a load of wood; and ‘if’
“alter this provisionis 'made, any overplus Te-
‘mafns, it is to go' towards the maintenance of

"$u¢h poor prisoners, as'shall be in the jail of

“Stamford.
‘All St. ‘Maitin’s being part of Rockingham
"forest, Robert Lindsey abbot of Peterborough,
with other knights and freemen, in the ness of
“Peterborough, about 1214, gave king John twelve
Tlundred marks to have'it and some cther places
*disforested ;—John’s Charter is to this purport—-
** We have granted to the abbot of Peterborough,
and the monks, and the tenants, who have Tands
~ and tenements in the ness of Peterborough, with-
" in the followirg bounds, to be disforested.

All the land tbat lies between the rivers Nen
“and Welland, as ibey meet in Croyland, and from
“'Wansford as the great road extends to Stupen-
destan, without the town of Stamford, and from
Stupendeuhn to the nunnery, in a straight line as
“far as the Welland, and also the nunaery iiself.”

"In1224 Henry lII. confirmed this grant and
" added fourteen mansions mn Stamford,

'What Stupeadestan’ means ¢annot be ascer-
" tained,
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S Moremy Chyreh,
Was first erected between, 1133 and. 1147, hy
Murtin,de. Vecti abbat of Peterhorough; who. de-
dieated, it 10 the saint of his. own nume, on thy
swog spot on.which 1he. present church stands..

In.1156:Wm, Watervill abbot of Petenboraugl,

© gwe it to the Nuns us.the cbarter expresses,, ‘“that
they might.have and possess, it.to their. propeg
uses, and that out of the profits of it, l.hey may
be.moze, plentifully sustained.”

But by way of acknpwledgment, they. were ta
pay sanually tem shillings.to Peterborough mins~
ter and. ever after this gift, the nuns always presert
edha vicar toit,

In aletter from the bjshop. of. meln. dated'
1289, it appears.that the vicar paid yearly two
marks, to. the nuns, on condition. that if the chap-
el of Burghley, in bijs parish ought to have ser-
vice performed.in it, they should be.at the charge
of it.

About 1340, in an old manuscnpt, mention is-
made of a custom time out of mind of the parish-
oners male and female, who belonged to St. Mar-
tin’s gild, assembled in this churchk exery. Martin,
mas-day, where after service was performed, and
prayers put up for their bretheren, sisters, and

112 :
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all benefactors, they met in a drinking roo-'
. ealled 8t, Martin’s gild- hall.
They had a bull to be used and sold for the
“profit of the fraternity; by this aceount, says Mr
Peck, it appears that the brethren and sisters of
St. Martin’s gild, bad always a bull-running on
Martinmas-day, a diversion for which the good
people of Stamford, continues hc, bave a parmn-
lar fondness.

In the reign of Edward VI. this mixture of bull
running tippling and popery was suppressed along
with all other gilds, by order of government;'
there had been an iutention of suppressing them
as long ago as the reign of Richard II. as they
were thought to be nurseries of conspiracies and
treasons against the government. .

- Opposite to the charch there was formerly a
chapel called Mary Magdalen’s chapel.

The present church was built by Bishop Ras-
sell and others in the reign of Edward 1V,

At the upper end of the north chancel stands
a meat piece of work, being a cenotaph, if we
consider it as erected to the memory of Richard
Cecil esq; father of the lord treasurer Burghley,
for though the effigies of the said Richard is
here set up, yet his body was not buried here, but
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- 8t. Margaret’s Westminster; and a monu-

ment, if we consider it as erected to tbe:m.ex;'nory,
of Jape wife of the said Richard, her body lying.
byried in the vault under this chayggl just by,
Uer som the lard tregsurer’s coflin.

THE INSCRIPTION,

Ih bappy momory of Richard Cecil, Eeq; and Jane
his wite. The said Richard was of the robes to King
Heary 8. and K. Edward 6, he deceased the 19 of May
153, & is interr'd in 8t. Margarct’s Church in West -
minster. - He war Sonne to David Cecil of Stamford
Esq. High Suerifi of the County of Northampton in the
33, & 34. Yenrs ot Kinge H, 8 & is buried in %t. George
bis Church in Stamford. -
¢ The said Javne was-Daughter and Heire of Wm.
Héckington of Bourne in the County of Lincoine Esg.
She fived 87 ycars, whereof she continued a Widow 3§
Years. She deceased the 10th of March 1587. Ske
was a very grave, religicus, virtnous, and worthy Mat-
rour; and délizhted exceedingly in the works of Piety
and Char:ty. She was crowned with mach Honor and
Gomfort, & (by God hik great blessing) she lived to see -
Mer Childern and her Childeiw’s Children, to the fourth .
& fift Generation, and that in a plentifull & honorable
suocessian, beinga luippy Mother of thatmost Honora-
ble $ir Wwm. Cecil Knight of the soble Qrder of the
Garter, Lo: Burghiey, lord high TRER, of England,
who-Jyeth here by ber. :

Margaret was first married to Roger Cgve. of Stam--
fofid Esg. of whom is des_cen(led's'lr"lqiov;(:gas Cave; and
after to Ambrose Smith of Bogworth Esq.

Elizabeth was first warryed to Robert Wingfield of
Upton Exq. ot whomis descended Ser Robert Wing-
field of Upton Knight; and after to Hugh Allington
Esq.

Anne marryed to Thomas Whyte of Tuxford Esq. of.
‘whom is descended John Whyte Esq. .

11.3
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- Under an arch, between the middle and north
chancels of the same church, is erected a curi-
ous monument of touch, porphyry, and other
marble, set off with rich embellishments; on the
north-side whereof is a Latin inscription, thas
rendered by Mr. Peck.

Sacred to God most good & great, & to memory,
The most honorable & far renowned lord, WillianrCee:f
Baron of Burghley, lord High Treasurer of England,
President of the Corr  +f War™ 77 ° 77 7 b = not
noble order of th
serene Elizabeth
of the University
the second comir
endowments of hi
lor to Edward the
Queen Elizabeth :
the greatest & mc
aboveallethers a)

. on, & providing !
wealth; by his P
scrvices to the n:

& when he bad li
to glory, hat not ...,
fell asleep in Christ.

He had two Wives, Mary,sister of Sir John Cheek,
of whom he begat one son, Thomas, now Baron of
Burghley ; and Mildred, - daughter of 'Sir Anthon
Cooke, who bore to him Sir Robert Cecil Knight, pri-

. vy Counsellor to Queen Klizabeth, and President of the
Court of Wards ; Anne, married to Edward earl of
Oxford ; and Elizabeth, to William Wentworth, eldest:
son of Baron Weatworth,
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. Against the ‘north watl of the chancel (bhelow

- the monument of Richard Cecil Esq. and Jaue,
his wife) is a most stately tomb of white avd grey
marble, erected for John earl of Exeter and Anw
Isis lady, darghter of William earl of Devon.
A work, in it's principle figures surpassing al-
most any thing of the kind perbaps in the
kingdom.

The Nu;mcry,

Was situated on the ground whereon the
castle had stoud, and was called Little Wo-
thorp; the abbot of Peterborough was antiently
Lord of the manor.

‘This munnery was of the order of St. Beunet,
and was also often called the convent or priory
of St. Michael, from the name of their church.

" It was founded in 1156, by William Water-
vill abbot of  Peterborough, who aulso built a
church there for them calied St. Michae!'s; he
collected forty virgins, but their number proba-
bly increased . they were to be subject to the
abbots of Peterborough, who put ia the nuns,
prioress and prior, They acknowleged their
_subjection by paying every Michaelmas a noble
fo the abbot for mending thejr books. Water-

.
N
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ville, gave them the revemues of 8t.. Mastin's:
ehurch ; this donation was made.before witness-

es iu St. Michuel's church in Stamford; he alsg:
gave them the thirds of the sevenue of St. Fix-
min's church at Thurlby, for whieh they paid an-

nually a nobde of silver, haléat Easter aod half-
at Michaelmas, to Peterbaroagh abbey, and they

henceforth always presented a vicar. to this-
ehurch, but now the ptovost and fellows of Ea-.
ton- college present the vicar,.

I 1170 Richard Hlumet, lord of Stamford,.
gave them St. Andrew’ church in Stamford, at
the request of William.de Colville baren of By-
tham; this donation. was made in the hall. of
Stamford, and the nuus alway afterwards pre-.
sented a vicar to this chureh. .

William. Humet, his son, gave them snnually.
ten mrarks out of this Jordship. .

Achard of Stamford gave them All Saints’
ehurch in Stamford, and they over after present-
ed a vicar to'it, '
~ About 1180.lord Hamon Piche gave them the.
‘tythes of St. Jo'm’s church at Corby.-

*  About 1195, Ascelina Waterville gave themm .
Walf the revenue of Upton chapel, for the use of -
their kitchen ;- she also gave'them the third of
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the above Corby church and five bovates of land
in Corby field near Swafield wood, towards keep- *
ing the anniversary of her death.

Her maried sister Matilda de Diva gave them
more of the above chapel and church; she gave
her maid Adelicia de Copeni w bovate of land
and some-houses in Corby, which: the maid after
‘gave also the nuns. Matildu’s seal to this dona-
tion is in the possession of the earl of Exeter,
and represents a whole female figure standing,
‘holding a flawer in her right hand; a robe falls
from the crown of her head behind her feet,-
with this inscription roundthe verge,' * Sigillum
Matildois de Diva. ;

William Humet's wife Lucy gave them half a
mark of silver out of her lands at Bredcroft to-
wards Keeping the anniversary of her death; she
afterwards gave them another half mark out of
Bredcroft: the original deed is in the possession
of the earl of Exeter.

King John gave them yearly a load of thoras,
or dead roots out of his forest at CIiff.

In thisking’s reign lerd Wm. Langvale gave
them St. Clement’s church in Scogate,

Hugh, sen of the above Maud de Diva con-
fizined his mather’s graot to them,
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Notwithstanding «ll these gifis, iu 1226 they
were poor, for in this year the bishop of Lin-
colu, in consideration of thein poverty, us. he ex.
presses himsclf, confirmed, them, in all \heir pos-
sessions.

1a.1228, Richard brather of. Henry 111, scut.,
latters,of prateciion.to tueaberiff-of. Ruihue ia.
their behelf ‘

Wm. ear) Wasren lond of ; Stamford:: whin-died
in 1240, gane:them,40a., ewery Miclmalmua, ang,
of his mill at; Wakefield, for- the: uge of thein
kjtchen, :

Anpther lord Hamon Rechewho died in. X244,
gave them more of Corby chunch; Whis deed:ia
in the el of Bxeter's,hpndas -

About this.tiwe Alite, de Watertvilie widow,
gave them a virgate.of. lands wilh-a, toft. and. a
«roft 38 Ashhy in Nocthamtosshire, worth eights
shillings a year, fer the keeping of, the anniver..
sary of her and her daughter Qeoily’s death.

"Ehe original: of this ceed and. the seal ton, are.
also in the bands of the seme. earl.

In 1284 they were fullen.into extreme paver-
ty, and as alienations aud appropriatiors of par
ish churches were inigquitous and shameful, so.
when the bishop of Lincoln confirmed them ia:
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their share of Corby church, he apologizes for it
by saying that'he grants it to their tearfull cries,
with which they continwally ‘weary him,-and to
-their'great poverty, which almost extends to the
‘misery of extrente want,
1n 1206 three of the muns were excomwmunicat-
“ ed for laying violent hands ou another nun 'in.
‘the samé House, ‘called Emma of Eston, i.-e.
Easton.

In 1539 their house was dissolved.

There are several traditions both of the beau-
ty of the Nuuns’ church-and the stately remains
pulled down, says Mr. Peck, in the memory of
man,

The man who threw down the first stone was
killed, and another had his leg miserably shat-
tered, _

Nans were usually consecrated by the bishop
or prior, who covered them with a veil, the ab-
bess, on pain of excommunicatipn, not daring to
attetpt it.

Formerly twenty-five, but now twelve years of
‘age nre thongh sufficient for them to take upon
‘them their vow, On the day of their admission,

-they were dressed in their rishest apparel, pre-
senited to the bishop with music playing, and ta-
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pers burning before them, and all other imagin-'
able pomp and splendor. But when they arrived
at the altar they were stripped of all their glori-
ous clothes, and ’tis almost impossible to ima-
gine what haste some of these young creatuses
made to put on themselves the habit of anun;
that done, the bishop put ou the veil and gene-
rally expresed himself in these word, Avusi,
FiL1A &c. which are so well translated, suys Mr,
Peck, by our old despised English poet, John
- Hopkins, that 1 beg leave to insert them.

O daughter, take good heed,

Incline and give good ear;
Thou-must forget thy kindred all,

And father’s house most dear.

Then shall the kingz desire

Thy beanty fair and trim ;
FPor why, He is the lord thy God,

And thon must worship bim,

to which thie people saying, Amen, the veil is cast
over her, and the religious women and virgms
present saluted and embraced her. After which,
the bishop praying for and blessing her, she was
conducted to hercell.

The lands of this nunserv reverting to the
crown, were, by Queen Elizabeth, granted to
William Cecil, baron of Burghley in, whose pos-
terify it still continues, .
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In 1398 Edmund duke of York lord of 'Sum-_
ford, being at Stamford, granted them letters of
protection, which deed, with a curious impres-

sion of his seal is m the hands of the earl of
Exeter,

Wothofpe.

In 947, Turketill, king Edted’s lord chancel-
lor, gave the manor of Wothorpe to the monks
of Croyland, so that the abbot of Croyland was
lord of the manor, and it was called great Wo-

thorp, to distinguish it from Little Wothorp,
* where the Nunnery staod,

The Latin description of it in Doomsday Liook
is thus translated by Mr. Peck.

Doomsday Account.

In Wothorp S. Guthlac had and hath one hide:
and an half towards payiug tax, the whole is twe
carrucates; one carrucate is in demesne and ele-
ven villanes and eleven bordarers with two carc
rucates, There are three acres of meadew and
one mill, which are let for five shillings. but are
worth forty shillings. In the same book is men-
tioned that the abbot of Peterborough held two
hides.of land here of the ubbot of Croyland,

YOL, 11, KK
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and Richard Humet lord of Stanford half a hide,

In 1109, Joffrid, abhet of Croyland, sent three
monks here, 10 whom-he gave the whole vitlage,
gevieral actes of {and, a water-mill, and the fish-
ery of the pool, and of his whole river also four.
teen natives in the village, and all the lands

_ thst they possessed &c. so that there was soona

small monastery here, beivg a cell to that of
Croyland ; one of these monks, viz, the prior,
was & very learned person; they frequently
pwached to the Stamferdiang aguinst Judaism,
taught their youtk, and procured contributions
for rebuilding Croyland shbey Jately burit,
. A3 there was a.college here called All Saint’y
college, which, at it's suppression, was viahred at
1, 19s. 4d, perbaps this was the cell of these
mounks, '

“There 'was abeut the same 1ime.a small Nun.
sery here of the order of 81, Benedict, but =
great plague raging in Engleud in 1349 killed se.
veml, and: the prioress aad sl the rest of the
muns, save-one, fled, so thet it-soon atter full in.
{0 great poverty, and for these reasons, in 1354
it was united to the Nunnery at Little"'Wothorpe,
- Thomas Holland earl of Kent, and Joan his
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wife were the patrons of these nuns of Great
Wothorp ; both these were buried in the Grey
Friary. 4 O
There. was @ village with a parish church
there, and the church belonged to them, so that
after the union of this priory with that of Little
Wotliorpe the revenues of that church and of the
old priory belonged to the latter, but these were
obliged to find a minister to prefosm duty in it,
vad the bishop of Lincoln ordered that the a-
bove revenues should be applied only to the use
of the sick in the infirmery of the house; and
to buy provisions for the cook, and for no other
purpose whatsoever; how long the church re-
maived is unknown, but perbaps till 1540, as
there was then a small village here,
The mansion house here was built by Thomas
" Ceeil first Earl of Exeter, which had a little wall-
«d park, and though the house is not very small,
(for after the restoration it was large enough to
bold the duke of Buckingham and his family
for some years) yet so mean did it appear in
comparison to the other, that it’s founder plea~
sently said that < he built it only to_retive te.
aut of the dust, while his great house of Burgh:
ley was a sweeping,”
KK2
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BIOGRAPHY.

George Gascoigne, an old English poet of cen-
siderable merit, died at Stamford—he was born
of an ancient family in Essex, apd was sod and
heir of Sir John Gascoigne, who disinherited
him, but for what reason is vot assigned by Whet.
stone his Biographer. He received the first rudi.
ments of bis education under a clergyman of
the name of Nevison, and afterwards removed
to Cambridge, as he himself informs us in his
“Steele of Glass”,

On leaving College he removed to Gray’s.
Ton, in order to study the law. In his youth he
wrote several amatory poems, whick he afterwards

. jncluded among his youthful follies, and sorely
lamented the mischief they might occasion.
While at Gray’s Ion, he gave himself up to a
fashionable life, and was abliged to sell bis patri_
mony, on which account he eutered inta the army,
"and prompted by the bope of gaining laurels in
_the field of battle, he embarked for Holland, to
fight for W. Prince of Orange aguinst the Spa
niards. He acquired comsiderable reputation
but a quarrel with his colonel retarded his carecr.
Having distingnished. himself in several actions
he was at length taken prisoner, aund sent te,
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England. In the summer of 1575, he accom-. |
panied queen Elizabeth, in oue of her stately
progresses, and wrote for her amusement, in the.
month of July, a kind of mask entitled, * ‘The
Priucely pleasures of Kenelworth Castle * but it
was oot performed. At his residence at Wal.
thamstow, accord‘nig to Whetstone, he wrale,.
soon afler his return from his progress, the
“Steele-Glasse,” the “Glasse of Goverment,” the-
the “Delicate Diet,” s “Book of Hunting,” and.
the “Doom’s day Drum,” which last was pub.
lished after his death. He left other peices be.
hind him, some of which were published in vari-
ous collections, but without his name-

He enjoyed the esteem of his poetical contem-
poraries, aud the patronage ofLerd Grey.of Wil~
ton, the earl of Bedford, Sir Walter Rawleigh, and'
other persons of distinction. His biographers
following the Oxford historian, have hitherto
placed his demise at Walthamstew, in 1578; but:
Whetstoue, on whom we-can rely with more cer-
tainty, infcrms us that he died at Stamford im
Lincolnshire, Oct. 7. 1577. He had perbaps ta-.
ken a journey to'this place, for change of air,
with his friend .Whetstone; who was with him.
when he died, which he did, so calmly, that the.

. XK 3
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the moment of his departure was not perceived-.
He left a wife and son behind him, whom he recom=
mended to the favor of the Queen, but with what
suecess, or what afterwards became of them, is
not known. The registers of Stamford, and
Walthamstow, have been examined withaut suc-
eess. His age, at the time of his death, is not
known; but it could not exgeed farty years.
His death was brought on by adisease which was
occasioned by chagrin and disappointment, and
these were probably heightened, or aggravated by -
penury. His works axe scarce, which accounts
for his being neglected by modern readers—else
in every thing he wrote he discovers the powers'
and invention of a poet, a warmth of sentiment
tender and natural, and as a satyrist, if nothing
remained but his,*Steele Glasse” he may be reck-
oned one of the first. A few years. ago a pam-
phlet entillted “A rememberance of the well-em-.
_ ployed life and. godly end of George Gascoigue-
esq. who deceased at Stamford in Lincolnshire
7. @ct. 1577, reported by George Whetstone,”
was discovered in the collection of. a deceased
gentlemen, a Mr. Voight, of the Custom. house,
London, and was purchased by Mr. Malone, It
consists of about thirteen pages, in small quarto,
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Black letter,. and contains many particulars that
were not known by his former Biographers,

“Robert Jolinson, the Son of Maurice Johnson;
" Mayor of this Town, was born- here; He was
educated at Cambridge, and beneficed at Euffen-
bam in Rutlandshire;- where tho’ he did most of
his charitable Actions, yet tis.an Honour to this
Place to be the Birth-place of a Man of such a
publick Spirit. He found; when he entered into
that County, that there was a great Want of
Schools, for the pious Education of Children ;
and to remedy it; ke set himself earnestly at.
Work, and by his artful Persuasions, so insinuat-
_ed himselfiuto the Heartsof the wealthy, even the
greatest Misers; that although lie found none,
Le left as nany Free-Scliools in Rutland as there
are Market-Towns, particularly at Gakham and
Uppingham,. where he. erected. good Buildings,
and settled good Endowments on them. But
lest his charitable Disposition should be less es-
teemed, becaase in these Things he dispensed
other people’s. Charity, and not his.own, (tho’
Time and Labour is a great Expeace) he was as
beneficent as” the-most charitable that he met
with, for he was a-considerable Benefactor to E-
manuel and Sidney Colleges ip. Cambridge ; te
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which last, he gave fonr Exhibitions, to be be-
stowed in Part of Maintenance upofi as many
Seholars, which came from his Free Schoels;
founded two Hospitals in the same County, and
gave a Stipend to the weekly Preachers at'St,
Paul’s Crots, London; and: tho’ never dignified
higher than Archdeacon of Leicester, he left a:
thousand Poinds a-year to his Posterity. He
died about the Year of our Lord 1616, (Mugnxs.

Britannia. )

Ead Ll Pl e

MARKET DEEPING:

—B, S

Market Deeping, or East Deeping, as_ it was-
formerly called, isa long straggling Town, in the.
wapentake of Ness, in the parts of Kesteven, a-
bout 12 miles from Spalding, and 8 from Stam-
ferd, on the road leading from Spaldil;g to Lon.

. don,

Doomsday accouut,
Kand of Atured of Ligcoln.—In Estdepinge
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(East-Deej:ing) four oxgangs of land to be taxed,
Land te half a plough. Soke of this manor.
Six villanes and two bordars have there one
plough and a half, and twenty acres of meadow,
aud one fishery of five pence.

Land of Geoffry of Cambrai.— 111 Manors,
v Est- Depinge (East Deeping) Elmer and Erne-
ber aud Fredgist had three carucates of land and
six oxgangs, to be taned. Luud to ws mony
ploughs and oxen, Two vassals of Geoffry’s
have there two ploughs, and nipeteen villunes
and four borders having seven ploughs, and nine-
ty-three acres of mesdow. Value in King Ed-
ward’s sime, and now, one hundred sl'»lhnp.
Tallaged at thirty.five shillings.

In the same St. Peter de Burg had five sokes
upon five manors of two carucates of land and
six oxgangs to- be tuxed, Land to as many
ploughs and oxen. Two vassals of Geoffry's
bave there ope plough and u balf, and twelve
villanes with three ploughs and a half, and one
fishery of twelve.pence, and seventy acres of
meadow, Va!ue in King Edward’s time sixty
shillings, now fity, Tallaged ut twelve shil-

lings.
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_%On the most southiern parts of Kestevei lies
Deepiug fen, which is wow ut least ten miles in
breadth,

The most aucient account that I have met
with is about the begiuning of Edward (he Con-

. fessor’s reiun—Egelric, whol:ad becn a monk

ot Pe'eiboreugh, but who was then Bishep of
Durham, made a. firm causeway of wood and
gravel over it, from Deeping to Epulding, for the
udvantage of pussengers, Elrichrode (says Ins
gulphus) a most vosily woik, butof exsraordis
nary Hevemity which uow duth, wad we long e
it shall last, will bear his name, .

At that time, part of this provinos wasa ferest,
as well as a fen, and possessed by Loofrie Easl
of Mercia; for he was then Lord of Brunne snd
the adjeining marshess From Laofric it descen~
ded t Hereward bis son, by whese doughter and
heir Turfride, it came iuto the possession of
Hugh-de Everwue, Lord of Deeplug, Rieherd:
de Rules married the enly duughter of Hugh;
e was chumberlaln to Wm, the Conquerar,
‘The anly daughter. and helr of Richard de Rulos.
murried Baldwin Fitz @ilbert, and his only
daughter was married to Hugh de Wake. Hugh,
became, in her night Lord of Deping and Bourpe,,
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. apd was pringipal Forester $0 King Henry 'TI1,
for liis whole farest of Kesteven, Richard de
JRulos, above mentioned, greatly improved these
_parts, by tillage and- breeding of Cattle, and
took in and inclosed a great part of the comman
fen adjacent, and canverted it into meadows and
pastures,

He likewise enclosed the {ands from the cllnp.
¢l of St, Guthlac eastward ta Car«dyke, and be.
yond Car«dyke to Clay-dyke without Cranmore,
excluding the river Weland with 8 mighty bank,
because every year.almost all hs grounds, lying
aear that river, were inundated by it, for which
veason this place is called Deepmg, meaning a
.deep meadow,

Upon this hank, he erected many Tenementa

sad Cottages, and in a short time it became &
" large town; to each house he alotted gardens
andarrable fields, By thys banking out the river
he reduced thase deep lakes, and unpassable fens
into fruitful fields, and pastures; and converted
the most humid parts inta pleasure gardens,
Having brought the soil intoa fertile candition,
he next converted 8t, Guthlac’sChapel (which
the monks of Croyland built, when the place
where Deeping now stauds was theirs,)into o

4
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Church, the place being now called Market
Deeping, By thelike means of embanking srid
draining, he also made a village dedicated to St,
James, in the. very pan of Pudlington, and by
much labour and expence, reduced itinto fields,
meadows, and pastures.” (Dugdale on Embank-
ment.) - ,

The Wridge at East Deeping, now market
Deeeping, was one boundary of the forest which
was made by King Henry I, for the pleasute of
hunting, and the distressing of bis subjects; the
boundary passed to Swayton Chyrch on one side,
and from Wragmere stake, and Bicker bridge, on
the other, which metes divided the north parts,
and the river Wellznd the south; except Croy.
land, which the mouks possessed, having a li-
cence from the King, It was not disforested tll
the 14 of King Henry 111 (A. D, 1280,)

The following is from the records of Croyland,

“Iu the dayes of William the Congueror, Rich-
ard of Ruloes, being married to the daughter
and heir of Hugh de Ever, (Evermue.) lord of
Rurne and Deeping, attempted to inclose parte
of the common fenn, 10 enlarge his: towne of
Deeping; which hee did not perforne, untill hee
had given to Ingulphus abhot of Croyland xx
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markes, to obtayne his good will and lycence for
the same. The said king William did confirm¢
to Croyland the charter of king Edred.‘ns, A.D.
1114, King Henry the L. did confirme to abbott.
Galfandus the charter of king Edredus, and did,
grant unto bim and his successors a larger privi-,
ledge then any before him; the same was after
confirmed by king Stephen, Henry the, Second
and king John; alsoe by Henry the Third in t.he
eleventh yeare of his raigne. B
In the 15 yeare of the raigue of. Henr) lhc

Second, it doth appear by the record, that there
was a suite betweene the abbott of Croyland and
Baldwin Wake, concerning the common of Gog-
gisland; which at last was recorded in this man-
ner: that is to say, “That the said. Baldwin
Wake at Linceln before Jeffery bishopp of Ely
and others did remise and quit-clayme from himg,
and his heirs for ever all right and title whiel
bee claymed in the marish aforesaid to the ab-
bott and his successors for ever, with certaine
teservations mentioned in the like case of Hugh,
_Wake, viz, in the eighteenth yeare of the raigne
of Henry the Third, the abbot of Croyland Hen-
..”nv Longcamp, and Hugh Wake the lord of Deep-
" ing, men ai controversie for the said Goggisland
VOL. 1l LL ’
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" Robert d A '
Grosse s
tioa the |
jury in
Tt may
king, Tt
‘of Deepii
tle at W o
‘their courts, that they did fish in divers watéts -
‘belonging fo ‘the abbott; and many other mat.
ters may bee a]ledged 'too long to write, which
jo fhe record may appeare : but they are record--
ed for notable injuries committed against the
abbott; insomuch that the inbabitants of Deep-
‘ing were threatened by the earle of Darby,’ then
"lyemg at Peterborow, to have their honscs bum-
‘ed, and themselves slaine with the sword as ene-
mies to the peace of the kiug, had they not hum-
‘bled themselves to the said earle, and produccd
pardou All which in the recard is set out at
large;. ‘alsoe many extraordinary facts commit-
¢d, insomuch that they are recorded for their
outrages to be “‘populi innati fureris;” snd that
- they are “diabolico instinctu seducti &c. .
The like objections may be made in hebalfe
t Joha earle of Somersett, lord of Deeping e-
BL2

*



888 MARKET DEEPING. -
1 e LI

gainst abbott Jobn L
land, in the dayes of
are likewayse recorde
-himselfe, being mad¢
his steward of Deepi
juries should be off
ministers, as in. the
pearetli.

It is not to bee
1 ever m

Goggish

" keepe |

1g; but e

th the ¢

n, which

custome

——-% sus uis owne
ing fenn had many

" rebearsed; but Deej
‘in Goggisland.”

" Inth

.and hj

“Wake .
East L
cewn a

K ?id Tk



MARKRT. DEEPING; s

Teut, igaim! the fresh water. ‘The ab'bot plead-
«d that the manor of Deeping belonged fo him®,
and that he had fished as the said Thomas had
slledged, because he had a tight so to do. But
totwithstanding this answer, the abbot was, by
Jurors, found guilty both of the trespass in fish-
iag, and ofbreakmg the bank, to the damage af’
ﬂ:e said Tho. Wake no less than 400 matks,
In the 40 Ed; I, the lady Blanch Wake coﬁ
plaiced: to the King, that, wereas she was p ‘o8-
sessed of the fen. called Deeping ea, 38 parcel af
' ting, which she held in ﬁower'
of. John, 2 at ﬂwt tnne wnfe to
'Prince..
‘of the said fen could not pro-
er course, by reason of certain
wly, made upon tlusq ctreqms. :

wnﬂm caenrd::. Masasr o
ﬂrnne a!ﬂmnl soldier in the time of :ﬁuom, gave.
Saithie divbey of Crwylnid “The manavf‘ g, with

200 he s 400 eott; d ¢ ¢h 3 £Tan
. e &uwe wfirtved By, goﬂé: Klng ot ercla.‘ in a el ar!‘
¢ :the 8y of the ends of
Afmm )e:rs aftwards, Beared e the uw .
. vtlh its appurtenances, and gave them to a person cﬂ!:
: whe_wes named, the office be
- l’ ius regis?, who fived to a greut age, an eﬁ

4o _his oo du?hm aaged to
‘:.r:l::::rn fnruthe use of Cm'yhnd abbeyl, bat. thg:
M(l not pavt Wit it.

LS
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of Burgo, and the abbet of the king of the old
feofment, Also Wide. Wake was enfeofed in
balf a knight’s fee.. Rulph de Wasprey, and An-
drew de Byrham in haif a fee.” (Teita de Ne--
ville.) o .
In the year 1402, William Wyting of Deeping
was pardoned for breshing down twe crosses,
which bad been set up .betwees Holland and

5o
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Kesteven, by five of the King's Justices, on the,
appountment of king Henry 1V.,

The Cdttk.

A mile from Deepmg Market, says Lelqnd ls
the rujns of ‘a castle called Mney, whereof
sum parte standitb yet, - It was be alt lekelyhood
the Lorde Wakes House.  Of late days it appar-
teynid to the Countes of Rnchmond, King Henry
the 7. Mother,

' The Lady Margaret, ‘Couvtess of Richmond',
had a survey and inquisition taken at her Castle
of Maxey, for ascertaining ﬂf bounds between
Holland aud Kesteven, whereby those of the
nelghbounuv Commons »were ‘also ascertained.
Being Lady of Deeping manor, and acting asa
commissioner of Sewers, sbe did great servnce
fo this part of the coumry

Maxey castle is now (1814) a farm bouce,
bujlt of stone, and - covered with slate=—it is a-
bout three quarters of a mile from the bridge at
fiaﬁel Deepu\g, and is in Nottbamptonshlre '

’Ibwn Hell. . ~.'-- .

The Town Hall is an old ‘stone bu;ldmw ‘at’
the west eqd of High S.’lregt._.ad‘)gmng to church’ -

\
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street, but when, and i»ywlwa hm buﬂt, we
cannot now ascertafn, :

Just opposite is themanor ouse, which is now
ag Inn, known by the name q{ the ¢ Bert)eo
Arms, and llerc the Couda are kept. ’

[ S
!bmmdM’arm
I |

" The manket day is op Wedncsday, ! it is
only small, The Fairs arel. on lhe wcond
‘Wednesdag in old May, 2. last Wednesday in
lul\ 3.onold Muhaelmas day, o

The Priorg. -
Here was @ priory, wh
age house, it is near the
The hell or entrance h
vaulted dome, with a st

The other part of the liou

The Churck. "~ " -
Is a very meat gothic building, consisting of &
wave, north and south ailes, a chancel, and tow-
er steeple, containing six helis. In the chancel
is a Piscipa,. and two plain stone Stalls; in the.
south wall is a marble monumeuf.i 19 the memo-
xy of the Rew. Andrew Barradale, who died ia
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1706. In the eastend of the north aile, is u tab-
let to the memory.of William Goodale, who died
April 9, 1718, pged 110. At the uge .of 50, he
married Hanmah his wife, who was then 25 years
 of age, and had issue by her, 15 Children, at kis
d-ath his youngest son' was 30 years of age.
Hannab his widow died April 21, 1723 aged: U2
years. On the somh side the nave are some
clusteted plllau and gothic arches, on,.tbe north
mle gaxou archen. , Hlere are nlso pide yulleries,
|nd a neat smging pllrry. The font is octagor
_nal and neatly carved.
The church is dedlcuted to St. Guthlac, it is
a rectory valued in the king’s books at 16l. 1s. 8d
Patron the king.

v

* The lords
earl of Liods
acres of lan
- shillings pe
ges. The ti
dark logm
Collyer is L
* Hereis n
are given an._
_poor boys.



. BT. JAMES'S DEEPING,
' | e " e - !
87, JAMEY's Durmo is conhgnoc}) to Mar

et Deeping, lying in thc wae nuht line, esat-
‘ward of it. -

The history «
That of Marker
- erected here b;
‘was afterwarda

The Priory, - -
cell_of Black
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marks a year, to be paid to the charch of St.
Guthlac, by the hands of the prior of St. James,.
in Deeping. Pope Innacent I11.. confirmed this
grant, with a probibition for any hereafter 10 in-
fringe upon the privileges granted in. thia Char-
ter, without iucurring theanger of Almighty Ged,.
St. Peter, and $t. Paul. Dated the 16. of the Ca~

lends of Jan. 1198, in the first year of his Poqu- ,
ficate,

The Church,

Isa very fiie structure; part of which is an.
ciem sud of different orders of architecture. It

consists ‘of & nave, south aile, a chancel, and spire
steeple. The original church here, was built by
the mounks of Croyland, at an early period. Be-
tween the nave and south uile, are some saxon
archis, supported by fine clustered pillars, neat-
ly ornamented.  In the chancel wall, are some
saxon archies and’ clustered pillars the openiogs
Bretween which are walled up. .

We noticed a few m-numents, one in memory
of Wiltisnt Wymondesold and Frances his wife,
snother t5 the memory of J. D. Hogard Esq.
Another to the memory of Thomas Hogard Gen-
tflemen, wha, died in 1794, Another 10 S, Sharp
Geutlemen; thso one to-Mr. W, Buck.
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- The !
the Sout

- very an
is neat, s
etremel
end is a
titioned
- "Phe ¢ i
ginal church, it contains several saxonarches wall,_
ed up, and being in 8 dilapidated state, it appears
altogether to be very ancient. The ¢hurch is
dedicated to S‘t.-Jamés, it is 8 discharged vicarage,
valuéd in the king's books at 5l. 7s, 11d. Pa.
frqn Sir 'T. Whichcote. '

MODERN STATE.

" The Priory is now down, and, on its scite, a
good farm bouse has been bnilt out of the old
materials; it stands on the north side the eburch.
in the sume pasture, N. W. of the chu}ch,,aug two
tumuli. . ] »

At a corner of the road, at a small distance
gouth of the church, is an old stone crgss, which

'® This church has beem proverbially called ¢ Kill
Parson”—the preseut worthy and much estecmed Cu-
rate, the Rev. Mr. Mossop,is, hqwgever,.an cxcep-
on, and we trust will long continue to be such.
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bas been, and is yet, handsome. The base is
about 4 yards square, and itssides are ornament-
ed with shields, and compartments.

" The king is the Lord of the manor, Sir Thomas
Whichcote is aléo Lord of another manor, and
Messrs. Smith and Laxton, are lords of the man- -
or of Wakes and Dean, The parish contains a-
bout 8703 acres of land; the average rent of
which it 40 shillings per ‘acre. Itis not liable '
to Tithes, The fences are thorn hedges, latély
planted, and the soil a good dark loam. The -
principal proptietoré of land are Sir T. Which-
cote, Messrs Smith and Laxton, Samuel Graves
Esq. &c

WEST DEEPING.
L
West Deeping is a small village about 2 miles
west of Market Deeping, and six east of Stame

ford. - ;o
YOL. I L L
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Doomsday Account

Manor. In, Wat-Depwg (West-Deeping)
Azor had two carucates of laud and a balf to be
taxed. Land to as muny ploughs. And Elmeriad
two carucates and a half of the same land 10 be
taxed, Land to as mauy plonghs. Geoffry of
Cambrai has there ten villanes having three
ploughs, aud four mills of forty shillings, and
one bundred acres of meadow, and ¢ight acres
of coppice wood, Value in King Edward’s
time eight pouads, now six. Tallaged at ten
shillings.

Frog Hall which stood near the present man.
or house, a little way east of the church, is .now
down ; il that remains of it is a stable near the
‘vead leading frem West Deeping to Maxey Cas-
tle, called Constable lane, but now stopped. The
manor house hus been very large, and moated
round; the moat is nearly prefect at this time,
and the house is lasge; the situation is low and
swampy. 1t was probubly the residence of Tho-
aas Holland, earl of Kent, aho was lord of this.
manor in 1388,

- % When the abbet of Croyland coald not pre-
vail with Thomas Holland eari of Kent, Lesd



WEST DEEPING. 308

of the manor of West De'eping, to desist from
encroaching upou his and thé prior of Spalding’s
estates, he applied to Henry earl of Derby, scn
of John of Gaunt, who was then in the wars in
Sjain, imploring hHim to mediate with the earl of
Kent, that he and his mimsters should cease to
barrass the ubbot and prior, and their and Lis
father the Duke’s tenants in Spalding, at least
till the Duke’s returns into England, and to sus-
pend all furiber prosecution till that time, that
they might be hetter able with his aid to defend
their vights.  With this the earl --f Keut c:.mpli-
ed, trusting that the Duke would never return, -
but in 1389 he did return, and « btawed of the
King, and bad an inquest taken of perambula-
tion, and the metes and bounds of Hoilind and
Kesteven taken by Knighis of both parts, and.
fully and legally determived and ascert: ined,
Notwithstandiug this, in 1399, the Devpingers
renewed and enlarged their encrouchments,
on which account the abbot applied again to the
Duke, who interposed in parliament in bis favor,
complaint being made, against the earl of Kent:
by the people of Hollsud ; and in 1392 the King
sent a writ (o John « ¥ Repyngale, steward, and
Johm of Holland teceiver of the said earl of
.LL2
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Kent, in the abbot’s behalf; this quieted the
business for a while, but during the time it was
in debate, Sir N. Clifion, Kt. another steward to
the earl of Kent, instigated the Deepingers,
and other men of Kesteven to make an insurreo~
tion, (vide Spalding p. 258) Heury earl of Derby
being then at Peterboro’ and being earnestly in-
treated for his assisiance, armed his own and the
Duke’s servants and tenants, and joining the
prior of Spalding, they jointly drove the Deep-
ingers from Croyland, and out of the parts of
bholland, at which time the outlaw (vide Spalding '
ut supra) being executed, it so frightened the
" Deeping men that they submitted to the earl of
Derby. The- wiuter following the abbot of
Croyland preferred his bill of Complaint te the
King against the earl of Kent, who within a
week preferred two against the abbots of Croy-
land and Spalding, ove against each, on the read-
ing of witich, the whole house of Lancaster stood
up, and the Duke thus addressed the King,
* My dread sovereign, some of the things here
now read, very ncatly concern me. aud. my fiee-
hold, for which (God guiding) 1 ought to stand
up as long as I live ; and when [ shull be dead,
1 will that wy son, to whom they will bereditari-
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1y devolve, dosupport them with all his might,
and by no means suffer injustise to be done”.
The king uundertook this quarrel, as he did .
that of Mowbray Duke of Norfolk’s appeal of -
treason against Henry Earl of Derby and Duke .
of Hereford, a little before the Duke of Lancds.
ter’s death; and having adjudged him to ban-
nishment for a term of years, the king himself
took possession and disposed of the estates, for .
the recovery of which, Henry returned and prov-
ing siiccessful, obtained the crown; and became
king of England. -
~ Thomas Holland was half brother, by the mo:
ther’s side, to Richard 1T, he was earl of Kent,
and lord of Wake and Ljdel. His daughter
Mdfgal'et marriéd John Beaufort earl of Somer..
sét, wha Was sohi of Jéhts of Gaunt, by Cathieritie
SWinfort » before marringe ; e was mdde le-
- gitimate in the 20. Richérd 11.
About 30 years ago (1814)a toll wag taken for ,
eyery Cdrrw'e, Horse, _ Beasl &c. passing
dlrough tlie town, for the purpose of keeping the

c . 'Catloﬁm Switiford. was daugliter of Paen Roet, &

aud widow to Sir Hugh melord! a Lin-
colnahlr:eﬁmgm By John of Gaunt she hea 4 chils
drea.—Catheriue and ber daughter Jean lic bupied in
Lincoln Catbedral

LL3
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‘bridges ever the- Welland in repair; the bridges

- arein the old road leading to Ancaster, aud. were

lately rebuilt by the crows.

In A. D. 1807, some men digging in. Deeping
Cemmon, found 4 buman. skeleton, at about 16
inches below the surface of the earth,.and near
itan earthen pot, containing a great number of
Roman Coius i—some of thcm were Coins of”
Augustus, Tiberius and the first Claudius, con.
ue'quemly more than 1700 years-old, but ihe irre-
gularity of the coins towards the exergue, made
it difficult, by the legend, to derermine what they

‘were. Around the head of.one is the following,.

IMP. C. VICTORINUS. P: AUG.

In all of them, the impression. of the head was.
exteedingly correct, and i1he matrices in. which-
they were struck, we may venture.te pronouace,
must bave been equal, in the beauty of their fie
nish to any of the preseut day. -

The Church..
Is a neat gothie building, consisting of a_nave
north and south ailes, a chancel and spire steeple
contaiaing 4 bells.. In the chancel are: three
plaio stone stalls, and a Piscina. The pillars are
round, supporting gothic arches, Here are

Lo

-
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somee very old oak. stalls, on which: are carved
different coats of arms, as the. freemasons arme
the three-feathers of the prince of Wales;.a Sal-
tire &c.. The pulpit.ie neat;, and here is a.good:
singing gallery.. In the S. W. corper-is.a fine
stone- font, with coats of amms on the several:
compartments ;. one. of which is the arms belong-
ing to the priory.at St. James's Deeping..

Here are some good monuments; on_one is
an inscription to the memory of Riclrard. Figg,.
gent, who died in 1722, aged 84 years. Another-
to the memory-of Richard Figg, gent. who died-
in 1785, aged 64..

The church is dedicated to St. Michael, it is &
rectory valued in.the king’sbooks at 9l. 17s. 11d.
Patson. the king..

. MODERN STATE.

The king is Lord of the manor.. The parish
contains 1248 acres of.land, the average rent of
which is 35.shillings per acre. The fences are
thorn hedges. The priocipal propsietors of land -
are; the king, Mr. Dove, and Mr. R. Figg,.

Biography.
At this Place was barn Dr. Robert Tighe. He
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was bred in the University of -Oxford, dnd aTrer.
wards became Archdeacon of Middlesex, and
Minister of AllraMows, Bdiking, London. He.
was an eéxcellent - Textwary, and profound Lia-
guist, aud was on that Accdunt employed by
King Jactéd' Ic in Tyanslafing the Bible, tho’ it -
mugt be 45 an Assistant, For Ms: Name 'is nvt
in Dr. Fuller's Catalogte. He died about the
the Year 1620, leaving to John Tighe Edqj. his .
Son, of Corby in this Cotmty, an Estite of
10001 per Amtum.  -( Mas. '.B_'ritr) . .
The depldrable Condition of *Mt. Prieitland,
aiul his Fawily, who was Rector of this parish,
M oné of the most -remarkble lastances of the
Crutlty of the rebellious times against the Epis=
copal Clergy. He was a.Maa of exemphiry
Sobriety, and other.Virtues, but .was forced to .
fly from his Cure by one Thorp, an Innkeeper of
this Towh;" at-the sigu of the €réwn, (whom he .
bad a tittle before daved fromn the Gallo'ts) be-
tause he heard, that Thorp had got a Warrant
from Sir Anthuny Erebury, a Justice of Lincolns
shire, t6 seize hif, Aftet hi Flight, ltis Living:
was sequestered, and Thorp, with a Parcel of -
rude. Sofdiers, came on Christmas Eve in
the. Evening, and turned out of Doors bis;.
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Wife and five Children, not suffering them to
take so much as a Bed along with them, to lie
on in that sharp Season. In the Barn they cou-
tinued till near Harvest, and had a Bed allowed
them there after some Time, but then, being
forced to remove, they betook themselves to the
Belfrey, and lived there some time upon the
People’s Charity, The Sequestrator, Mr. Map-
_ lesden, should have allowed them a fifth Part of
the Living, but would not, till Mrs, Priestland
made her Case known te Oliver himscif, and
thea the Lord Cluypool puid her, but lost most
of his Money, notwithstanding Mr, Muplesden
beld three Livings at that Time worth near 4001
per Anmum. In the Time of bis Sufferings,
Mr. Priestland sold his Paternal Estate, melted
down his Plate, and when the Times were more.
settled, taught a School, to maintain his Family,
till the Restoration of King Charles II. when he:
was replaced in his Reotory, but it was so dila-
pidated and ruin’d that it was worth little to him,
the eight Years he lived after, and his Widow,
after his Death fell into great Trouble about Din
lapidatons.  ( Mag. Brit.).

Lend 2 224 88 o

END OF VOL, 2,
L 222280 S
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ADDITIONS AND CORRECT!IONS..

PO IVOrerIvsed

Beside the account already given (in vol. 1.) res-
pecting Swinesheud, we huve heen favored with
the foilowiog, irom Mr. Root, who obtained the
particulars tfrom Mr, Geo. Hydes Sem.

Tu the Fold paﬂnré, now occupied by Mr.
Elhs, there was formerly a large Hull Belonging
o’ Thomas Wuo'mer Eaq. with g lerge runge of
Land, nd u chuch rond dowty to the greut Fithe
Batn, and where the said Barn iow stands was ¢
lurge Swun pnol ‘belonging to the wfofessid:
Geutleman,—he gave sowme landy to the Vicar
of Swineshead, There wasa lnrge steck of chnms<
neys stunding, about eight years siee belonging
to the said Hall, . The pasture is very hmy,
this lime. There wis formerly v lnne nesrly
opposite to the Black swen celld hy the nemé
of Crowson-alley, teeding to a River culled the .
old sonth Euu, and theré are stoné stepe down
into the said river, Thete wns also u River eals
~ led Hubbard Syke, butnow called the Scezth
and there iv a large’ Farm adjoimjug to it,called
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" ‘Sykemouth Farm, occupied by G. Holland Esq,

of Wigtoft, the aforesaid river weat from Kyume
viver, .and emptied itself into Swineshead old
south Eau, and the old Sonth Ean emptjed it-
self into Bicker Haven, umow called Wigtoft
marsh. There weve thiee stone Bridges over
the pld South Eau, in the parish of Swineshead,
the first was a lare Stone Bridge in the north

end, near to Mr. Marsland’s House, called by

the name of Beacon Toft Dam, near to Canneby
Hill ; there were steps down the river near the
Bridge, for the conveniency of loading or un-
loading Boats. The second was a Stone Bridge
near to Mr. Musson’s house, joining to Shop-

-man’s Whar(, and the aforesaid Wharf came up

to. Swineshead market place. The third was a
stone Bridge, about a Quarter of 8 Mile tower,
called Bullock’s Bridge, near to the stump Cross,
and it is supposed ihat the Stones wi-h which
Swineshead Church was bhuilt came up ‘the old
South Eau in boats, In Swineshead Drayton
was & House called Ball Hul!, and there was'a

very large Barn upon the Prewises, but it was

taken down last snumer (1813 and the Hall be.
ing in a very ruivous state, it was takeu down
this Spring 1844, it was law the Property of Sir
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Gilbert Heathcote, but now ~of M¢. Wm Ingall

Since the publication of Brotliertoft, the Au-
thor has been furnished with further particulars
of that place, serving to illustrate more of its au-
tiquity.

Tradition affirms that Brotherto ft, or what
was originally called Toft, was formerly a Pae-
caria to the abbey of Swineskead, as Toft Grange
was to that of Revesby; for which purpose it
wis very suitable, being so much elevated as to

be not subject to the floods that frequently .

throughout the winter, overspread the fens,

The Chapel is said to have been erected about
the year 1600, and that the greater part of the
materials were the ruins of a dilapidated Chapel
of ease to the parish Church of Conningsby,
which he{d stood on an elevated piece of ground
about a quarter of a mile N. E. from Langrick
Ferry, at a Place where formerly had been a her-
mitage.

The following extract from the works of John
Taylor, the water Poet, writter in 1640. may at
Jeast amuge the reader, though there is no res-
-on to believe the truth of his picture of the then
Brothertoft, since it does not appear to bave
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been ever subject to tythes or the repairs of bridg
es, or to have been governed as stated by the-
Poet,
“On Goosetoft, now called Brothertoft in Lin.
' colnshxre"-—

The Water Poet's description of Brothrtqﬂ. ,

#In Lincelnshire an ancipnt tewne dogh stand,
Gall’d Goostoft, that hath neither fallow'd langd,
Or woods, or any fertile pasture ground,
But is with wat'ry Fens inéompug round.
The people there have ueither horse mor tove, -
Ror flreep, nor oxe, mor-asse, nor pigor vowe ;
Mor coenrge, cands, whig, . whay, buttepmilke or. shaese,
Nor apy; other lining thing hnt.gepse,
The parsan,of Mg parish takes gret paines,
And $ythe geese.onely, are his labours gunu.,
If any charges there _mamst be defnye‘. :
O# intpésitrions on the tewne i Myd g
. e cubbition, v Afveins fix. the king, .
O oo rabwsh hridgen, ehpmbes, any thing,
Theo thme that haps of geese he, greatest mm.
Mwt to these 13xes pay so much the moge,
Nor can a man be raisde ta dngmt;,
Bué s Lis géetl imcrénse ad soltiply; '
And an nieifs. géese d“mhltw sad fmied,
Promofiier wrto effes they praveed, .
A g thet Iathbat with fwalve gesse bagas,
In time hath come {0 be & tythin
Awd with great eredit past ihat,
WL 13 NN
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@Hlis geese increasing) be hath bin headberough..
Then, (as his flocke in namber are accounted,)
Vnto a eonstable he hath bin mounted ;

Apd 30 from place,to place he doth aspire,

And as his geese grow more hee’s raised higher.
Tis ohply geese there that doe men prefer,
Apd;tisa rule, no goose, no officer,”

So long- ‘as the conmou continued open, it:
was the annual custom for the, Feti-reeves to.as-
semble on (the 8th of July O. S. and drive. te.
Brothertoft ‘such sheep. as were, fonnd in their-
wool, and. to.levy a foe.of-.four. .pence pes head .
. on such-as Welonged-to persous . baviag no Com-
mon-right, at which time commenced, and centi-
nued for a week the. feast or’ feshval called
Toft dnjt. .

QOn this’ occqnon Bsptbertoit way the resort of -
thousands of Persons.from Boston and the. sur-
rounding Villiges for whose accommodetien #-
bout'36 large Booths wete erected,’ where Ale,
and Provisions were vended, while many h{n-
dreds were eptevtained, dunng 1he week, bx the .
open dogr hospitality-of ibelnhabitants..

- Anciently tlie -Boaths wese: nmcui!u,cle

West of - B}éﬂi&to‘ﬂ' ‘bat,’ ﬁbmibkm{be 3!“:
1740 t.hg were ﬁxed on the East.-- . M
[ | 4 TN
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w At this peried meny. of. the. Inkabitanta, had
risen to what was then thomghs, ppulenge,~ pos-
sessing at least 100 Sheep with some horned cat-
tle and horses, and milking from 2 to 8 Cows—

The mansion- house already mentioned, was..
built by Mr. Thomas Saul, the founder of the
Baptist Chapel in Bosten, whose.Son completed
the building at hissole expence ; - the father hav-
ing. aequired at Brothestoft a handsome fortune, .
by the staple commodities of the. fens,—Fea-
thers, Wool, and Wild-fowl..

The. whole aunual rental of Brothertoft, while
in the. Newcastle family, was only about 1201,
under conditions by. which  the tenants were.
bound to all repairs.

Page.-150, Line 18 Vol. 2._ _For Leofric. read
Leofricii. .

165. Last Line but-ove, for Rev. J Capam.
read ‘“ the King.and the Rev, Sam, Partridge in al-
ternate turns.”

156. Line 5. Fo; 2655 and read 3558,
18. For arrable read arable.
157., 10. For expeasive read expansive, -

. [ Y



GoRRECTIONS.

Lo page ¥61 &o. in the socount of Beninglon,
Yor Waldgrave, road Waldegttve,

m?w. Marrat, |

-Beston.. -

N
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